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PART I

 
SPECIAL NOTE ABOUT FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

 
Certain statements in this report, other than purely historical information, including estimates, projections, statements relating to our business plans, objectives
and expected operating results, and the assumptions upon which those statements are based, are “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of the
Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. These
forward-looking statements generally are identified by the words “believes,” “project,” “expects,” “anticipates,” “estimates,” “intends,” “strategy,” “plan,” “may,”
“will,” “would,” “will be,” “will continue,” “will likely result,” and similar expressions. Forward-looking statements are based on current expectations and
assumptions that are subject to risks and uncertainties which may cause actual results to differ materially from the forward-looking statements. A detailed
discussion of the risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results and events to differ materially from such forward-looking statements is included in the
section entitled “Risk Factors” in Item 1A of this report. We undertake no obligation to update or revise publicly any forward-looking statements, whether as a
result of new information, future events or otherwise, except as required by law. Accordingly, there can be no assurance that our expectations will be realized.
 
ITEM 1. BUSINESS

 
Our Company

 
Sentio Healthcare Properties, Inc., a Maryland corporation (the “Company”), was formed on October 16, 2006 under the General Corporation Law of Maryland
for the purpose of engaging in the business of investing in and owning commercial real estate. As used in this report, the “Company”, “we”, “us” and “our” refer to
Sentio Healthcare Properties, Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries, except where context otherwise requires. We have qualified, and intend to continue to
qualify, as a real estate investment trust (“REIT”) for federal tax purposes.

 
Since inception, our business has been managed by an external advisor and we have no direct employees; all management and administrative personnel
responsible for conducting our business are employed by our external advisor. Since January 1, 2012, Sentio Investments, LLC (the “Advisor”) has acted as our
external advisor pursuant to an advisory agreement (the “Advisory Agreement”). Subject to certain restrictions and limitations, the Advisor is responsible for
conducting our operations and managing our portfolio of real estate and real estate-related assets. In addition, to the extent we make additional investments, the
Advisor is responsible for identifying and making acquisitions and investments on our behalf. Our Advisor has contractual and fiduciary responsibilities to us and
our stockholders.

 
We are structured as an umbrella partnership REIT, referred to as an “UPREIT,” under which substantially all of our business is, and will be, conducted through a
majority owned subsidiary, Sentio Healthcare Properties OP, L.P, a Delaware limited partnership (the “Operating Partnership”), formed on October 17, 2006. We
are the sole general partner of the Operating Partnership and have control over its affairs. The Operating Partnership owns, either directly or indirectly through
subsidiaries, all of our assets. We conduct substantially all of our operations through the Operating Partnership. Our financial statements and the financial
statements of the Operating Partnership are consolidated in the accompanying consolidated financial statements. All intercompany accounts and transactions
have been eliminated in consolidation.

 
On February 10, 2013, we entered into a series of agreements, which have been amended at various points after February 10, 2013, with Sentinel RE
Investment Holdings LP (the “Investor”), an affiliate of Kohlberg Kravis Roberts & Co. L.P. (together with its affiliates, “KKR”) for the purpose of obtaining equity
funding to finance investment opportunities (such investment and the related agreements, as amended, are referred to herein collectively as the “KKR Equity
Commitment”). Pursuant to the KKR Equity Commitment, we could issue and sell to the Investor and its affiliates on a private placement basis from time to time
over a period of up to three years, up to $158.7 million in aggregate issuance amount of preferred securities in the Company and the Operating Partnership. At
December 31, 2016, no securities remain issuable under the KKR Equity Commitment.

 
As of December 31, 2016, we had issued and outstanding 11,531,615 shares of common stock, and 1,000 shares of 3% Senior Cumulative Preferred Stock,
Series C (the “Series C Preferred Stock”). All 1,000 shares of the Series C Preferred Stock were issued to the Investor pursuant to the KKR Equity Commitment.
In addition, as of December 31, 2016 the Operating Partnership had issued and outstanding 11,551,615 Common Units, 1,000 Series A Preferred Units (the
“Series A Preferred Units”), and 1,586,000 Series B Convertible Preferred Units (the “Series B Preferred Units”). As of December 31, 2016, we held all of the
issued and outstanding Common Units and all of the issued and outstanding Series A Preferred Units. All of the issued and outstanding Series B Preferred Units
were issued to the Investor in connection with the KKR Equity Commitment.

 
In connection with the KKR Equity Commitment, we entered into a transition agreement with our Advisor and the Investor (the “Transition Agreement”) that sets
forth the terms for a transition to an internal management structure for the Company. The Transition Agreement, as amended, requires that, unless the parties
agree otherwise, the existing external advisory structure will remain in place upon substantially the same terms as currently in effect through February 10, 2019,
upon which time the advisory function will be internalized in accordance with procedures set forth in the Transition Agreement.

 
We commenced an initial public offering of our common stock on June 20, 2008. We stopped making offers under the initial public offering on February 3, 2011
after raising gross offering proceeds of $123.9 million from the sale of approximately 12.4 million shares, including shares sold under the distribution
reinvestment plan. On February 4, 2011, we commenced a follow-on offering of our common stock. We suspended primary offering sales in our follow-on
offering on April 29, 2011 and completed the final sale of shares under the distribution reinvestment plan on May 10, 2011. We raised gross offering proceeds
under the follow-on offering of $8.4 million from the sale of approximately 800,000 shares, including shares sold under the distribution reinvestment plan. On
June 12, 2013, we deregistered all remaining unsold follow-on offering shares.
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On June 19, 2013, we filed a registration statement on Form S-3 to register up to $99,000,000 of shares of common stock to be offered to our existing
stockholders pursuant to an amended and restated distribution reinvestment plan (the “DRIP Offering”). The purchase price for shares offered pursuant to the
DRIP Offering is equal to the most recently announced estimated per-share value, as of the date the shares are purchased under the distribution reinvestment
plan. The DRIP Offering shares were initially offered at a purchase price of $10.02; effective February 28, 2014, DRIP offering shares were offered at a purchase
price of $11.63 per share; and effective March 23, 2016 DRIP offering shares are being offered at $12.45, which is our most recent estimated per-share value.

 
Investment Objectives

 
Our investment objectives are to:

 
• preserve stockholder capital through our operation and possible future acquisitions of real estate and real estate-related investments;
 

 • realize growth in the value of our stockholders’ investment through:
 

• our acquisition and operation of stabilized, income-producing properties with the potential for capital appreciation and
  

 • the purchase, development or repositioning of other properties;
 

 • provide stockholders with current income from the operations of the properties we acquire (including the income from properties we develop or
reposition once they are stabilized) and from the interest income from loans we originate; and

 
 • evaluate options to provide long-term liquidity to our stockholders within seven years of the termination of our primary public offering. Our board of

directors will review our long-term liquidity strategy annually and a majority of our independent directors may decide to amend or suspend the
strategy if it is deemed to be in the best interest of our stockholders to do so. Long-term liquidity options may include, but are not limited to:

 
 • liquidating our assets,

 
 • listing our shares on a national securities exchange, or

 
 • another liquidity event such as a merger with another company.

 
We have invested primarily in existing leased properties as well as other properties where we believed there were opportunities to enhance cash flow and value.
We have also originated a development loan with an unaffiliated third party in which we have the potential to participate in the value creation and increase our
interest in the property. We cannot assure you that we will attain these objectives or that our capital will not decrease. We may not change our investment
policies or investment restrictions except upon approval of the independent directors committee. Decisions relating to the additional purchase or sale of
properties or the origination of loans are made by our Advisor, subject to approval by our board of directors.

 
We currently own twelve properties through joint ventures and to the extent we make additional investments in the future we may acquire additional properties
through joint venture investments. This is one of the ways we have diversified the portfolio of properties we own in terms of geographic region, property type and
tenant industry group. Joint ventures have also allowed us to acquire an interest in a property without requiring that we fund the entire purchase price. In
determining whether to recommend a particular joint venture investment, our Advisor evaluates the structure of the joint venture and the real property that the
joint venture owns (or will acquire) using the same criteria for the selection of our other real estate investments.

 
Investment Strategy

 
Our independent directors committee reviews our investment policies at least annually to determine whether these policies continue to be in the best interest of
our stockholders, except as specifically provided otherwise under the terms of preferred stock that we issue, we may change our investment policies without
stockholder approval. As of December 31, 2016, we had invested the proceeds raised in our public offerings and committed the equity funding received pursuant
to the KKR Equity Commitment. Our board of directors, including all of our independent directors, continues to evaluate the market for healthcare related real
estate acquisitions consistent with our investment objectives and to the extent our board of directors determines it is in the best interest of our stockholders to
obtain additional sources of capital for the acquisition of additional investments we may make additional investments consistent with our investment strategy. To
the extent we make additional investments, our Advisor will recommend property acquisitions or loan originations to our investment committee, which will
approve or reject proposed investments.
 
Our objective has been to acquire a long-term stabilized portfolio of real estate properties that consists of at least 50% core properties. We may also acquire
value-added and opportunistic properties and real estate related investments. We may acquire more value-added and opportunistic properties than core
properties, with a view to achieving a more balanced portfolio of properties through a combination of development efforts, refinancings and subsequent
acquisitions.
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We intend for our investments in real estate assets to be concentrated in the healthcare sector. And to date, our investments have been exclusively in the
healthcare sector. To the extent we make any additional future investments, we expect these will also be in the healthcare sector.

 
Healthcare real estate includes a variety of property types, including senior housing facilities, medical office buildings, hospital facilities, skilled nursing facilities,
outpatient centers, and other healthcare related facilities. In 2016, 20% of the GDP of the United States, was spent on healthcare needs and the aging U.S.
population is expected to continue to fuel the need for healthcare services. According to the US Census Department, the over age 65 population of the United
States is projected to grow from 15% to 20% of the US population between 2015 and 2025, with one in five US residents expected to be over 65 years old by
2025. Presently, the healthcare real estate market is fragmented, with a local or regional focus, offering opportunities for consolidation and market dominance.
We believe that a diversified portfolio of healthcare properties minimizes risks associated with third-party payors, such as Medicare and Medicaid, while also
allowing us to capitalize on the favorable demographic trends described above.

 
Although we have focused on acquiring and developing a portfolio of healthcare properties and real estate-related assets, we may also invest in other real estate
types that we believe may assist us in meeting our investment objectives. Our charter limits our investments in unimproved real property or mortgage loans on
unimproved real property to 10% of our total assets, but we are not otherwise restricted in the proportion of our portfolio that we must allocate to investment in
any specific type of property.

 
Acquisition Policies

 
Core Properties

 
We have invested in “core” institutional grade properties that are:

 
 • owned and operated with a low to moderate level of permanent mortgage financing;

 
 • of a high-quality and currently producing income;

 
 • generally leased to a diversified tenant or resident base, though we are not restricted from investing in properties occupied by a single tenant if the

property meets other key investment criteria or to a single tenant/operator for certain healthcare properties and have done so;
 

 • leased on terms that generally allow for annual rental increases, and
 

 • managed by companies that specialize in the specific healthcare service being delivered at a specific community.
 

Value-Added Properties
 

We have also acquired “value-added” properties, which include properties that are currently under construction and/or have existing building structures in need of
redevelopment, re-leasing or repositioning. We may acquire properties with low occupancy rates or vacant properties when we believe our leasing or
development efforts could add significant value. Our value-added properties may employ moderate to high levels of indebtedness, which will be determined on a
property-by-property basis. Our long-term investment objective for investment in value-added properties is to develop and transform these properties into the
same type of core property investments with lower levels of permanent mortgage indebtedness as described above.  

 
Opportunistic Properties

 
We have also acquired opportunistic properties. We define “opportunistic” properties primarily as unimproved land that we will develop. We construct or develop
these properties through the use of third-parties or through developers affiliated with our Advisor. We invest in opportunistic properties with a view of developing
a core property. Similar to our value-added properties, we expect to incur a moderate to high level of indebtedness when acquiring opportunistic properties, but
with the long-term goal of developing the property into a core property with a lower level of permanent mortgage indebtedness. The development of properties is
subject to risks relating to a builder’s ability to control construction costs or to build in conformity with plans, specifications and timetables. We may help ensure
performance by the builders of properties that are under construction at the price contracted by obtaining either a performance bond or completion bond. As an
alternative to a performance bond or completion bond, we may rely upon the substantial net worth of the contractor or developer or a personal guarantee
provided by a high net worth affiliate of the person entering into the construction or development contract. Our opportunistic property acquisitions will generally
be located in growth areas within our target markets.

 
Target Market Criteria

 
We acquire healthcare properties located in markets with strong fundamentals and strong supply and demand dynamics primarily throughout the United States.
Among the most important criteria we expect to use in evaluating the markets in which we purchase properties are:
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 • historic and projected population growth;

 
 • historically high levels of tenant demand for healthcare services and lower historic investment volatility for the type of property being acquired;

  
 • markets with historic and growing numbers of qualified and affordable workforce;

 
 • historic market liquidity for buying and selling of commercial real estate;

 
 • stable household income and economic conditions; and

 
 • sound real estate fundamentals, such as high occupancy rates and potential for increasing rental rates.

  
Leases and Tenant Improvements

 
For our investments in multi-tenant medical office buildings, a portion of any tenant improvements are funded by us from the cash on hand or through
borrowings. Additionally, when a tenant or resident at one of our properties vacates its space, it is likely that we will be required to expend funds for tenant
improvements and refurbishments to the vacated space in order to attract new tenants. If we do not have adequate cash on hand to fund tenant improvements
and refurbishments, we may use debt financing in order to fulfill our obligations under lease agreements with new tenants.

 
Mortgages, Debt Securities and Other Real Estate-Related Investments

 
Although we expect that substantially all of our acquisitions will be of the types of properties described above, we have also originated a development loan and
may acquire or originate other investments, including mortgages and other illiquid real estate-related securities. With respect to the origination or acquisition of
mortgage loans or other real estate-related investments, we will seek to obtain fixed income through the receipt of payments from these investments. We do not
expect that we will invest more than 20% of our long-term stabilized asset portfolio in mortgages and other real estate-related investments.

 
Our charter does not limit the amount that we invest in mortgage loans or other real estate-related investments and from time to time, the percentage of our
assets invested in these investments may exceed 20% of our total assets. While we have no intention of becoming a mortgage REIT, we may acquire or make
the following:

 
 • first and second mortgages;

 
 • convertible mortgages;

 
 • construction loans on real estate;

 
 • mortgage loan participation investments;

 
 • common, preferred and convertible preferred equity securities issued by real estate companies;

 
 • mezzanine and bridge loans; and

 
 • other illiquid real estate-related securities.

 
Joint Ventures and Other Arrangements

 
We currently own twelve properties through joint ventures and we may acquire additional properties through joint venture investments in the future, including
ventures with affiliates of our Advisor. Among other reasons, we have acquired properties through joint ventures in order to diversify our portfolio of properties in
terms of geographic region, property type and tenant industry group. Joint ventures also allow us to acquire an interest in a property without requiring that we
fund the entire purchase price. In addition, certain properties may be available to us only through joint ventures. In determining whether to recommend a
particular joint venture, our Advisor will evaluate the structure of the joint venture and the real property that such joint venture owns, or is being formed to own,
under the same criteria described elsewhere in this Form 10-K. These entities may employ debt financing consistent with our borrowing policies. See “Borrowing
Policies” below. They may also include ventures with developers who contribute land, development services and expertise rather than equity. We have not
established the specific terms we require in the joint venture agreements we may enter. We will establish the terms with respect to any particular joint venture
agreement on a case-by-case basis.
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Borrowing Policies

 
Debt Financing

 
When we refer to debt financing, we are referring to all types of debt financing at fixed or variable interest rates or some combination of both. For our stabilized
core properties, our long-term goal is to use low to moderate levels of debt financing with leverage ranging from 50% to 65% of the value of the asset. For the
value-added and opportunistic properties, our goal is to acquire and develop or redevelop these properties using moderate to high levels of debt financing with
leverage ranging from 65% to 75% of the cost of the asset. We may exceed these debt levels on an individual property basis. Once these value-added and
opportunistic properties are developed, redeveloped and stabilized with tenants, we plan to reduce the levels of debt to fall within target debt ranges appropriate
for core properties. While we seek to fall within the outlined targets on a portfolio basis, for any specific property we may exceed these estimates. While we do
not expect to utilize debt financing in excess of 300% of our net assets (equivalent to 75% of the cost of our tangible assets), upon the vote of a majority of our
independent directors, we will be able to temporarily exceed this debt limitation. It is likely that our debt financing will be secured by the underlying property, but it
will not necessarily be the case each time. We have and may enter into interest rate protection agreements to mitigate interest rate fluctuation exposure if we
believe the benefit of such contracts outweigh the costs of purchasing these instruments.

 
Other Indebtedness

 
We may also incur indebtedness for working capital requirements, tenant improvements, capital improvements, leasing commissions and, if necessary, to make
distributions, including those necessary to maintain our qualification as a REIT for federal income tax purposes. We will endeavor to borrow such funds on an
unsecured basis but we may secure indebtedness with properties if our independent directors committee determines that it is in our best interests.  

 
Competition

 
We compete with a considerable number of other real estate companies seeking to acquire, develop and reposition commercial real estate many of which may
have greater marketing and financial resources than we do. Principal factors of competition in our business are the quality of properties (including the design and
condition of improvements), leasing terms (including rent and other charges and allowances for tenant improvements), attractiveness and convenience of
location, the quality and breadth of tenant services provided and reputation as an owner and operator of quality properties in the relevant sector and market. Our
ability to compete also depends on, among other factors, trends in the national and local economies, financial condition and operating results of current and
prospective tenants, availability and cost of capital, construction and renovation costs, taxes, governmental regulations, legislation and population trends.

 
We may hold interests in properties located in the same geographic locations as other entities managed by our Advisor or our Advisor’s affiliates. Our properties
may face competition in these geographic regions from such other properties owned, operated or managed by other entities managed by our Advisor or our
Advisor’s affiliates. Our Advisor or its affiliates may have interests that vary from those we may have in such geographic markets.

 
Government Regulation

 
We, the properties that we own, and the properties we expect to own are subject to federal, state and local laws and regulations relating to environmental
protection and human health and safety. Federal laws such as the National Environmental Policy Act, the Comprehensive Environmental Response,
Compensation, and Liability Act, the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act, the Federal Water Pollution Control Act, the Federal Clean Air Act, the Toxic
Substances Control Act, the Emergency Planning and Community Right to Know Act and the Hazard Communication Act govern such matters as wastewater
discharges, air emissions, the operation and removal of underground and above-ground storage tanks, the use, storage, treatment, transportation and disposal of
solid and hazardous materials and the remediation of contamination associated with disposals. Some of these laws and regulations impose joint and several
liabilities on tenants, owners or operators for the costs to investigate or remediate contaminated properties, regardless of fault or whether the acts causing the
contamination were legal. Compliance with these laws and any new or more stringent laws or regulations may require us to incur material expenditures. Future
laws, ordinances or regulations may impose material environmental liability. In addition, there are various federal, state and local fire, health, life-safety and
similar regulations with which we may be required to comply, and which may subject us to liability in the form of fines or damages for noncompliance.

 
Our properties may be affected by our tenants’ operations, the existing condition of land when we buy it, operations in the vicinity of our properties, such as the
presence of underground storage tanks, or activities of unrelated third parties. The presence of hazardous substances, or the failure to properly remediate these
substances, may make it difficult or impossible to sell or rent such property.
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The healthcare industry is highly regulated by federal, state and local licensing requirements, facility inspections, reimbursement policies, regulations concerning
capital and other expenditures, certification requirements and other laws, regulations and rules. In addition, regulators require compliance with a variety of safety,
health, staffing and other requirements relating to the design and conditions of the licensed facility and quality of care provided. Additional laws and regulations
may be enacted or adopted that could require changes in the design of properties and certain operations of our tenants and third-party operators. The failure of
any tenant or operator to comply with such laws, requirements and regulations could affect a tenant’s or operator’s ability to operate the facilities that we own.
One of our properties is a skilled nursing and rehabilitation facility where the property operator receives most of its revenues from Medicare and Medicaid, with
the balance representing private pay, including private insurance. Consequently, changes in federal, state or local reimbursement policies may also adversely
affect an operator’s ability to cover its expenses, including our rent or debt service. Skilled nursing facilities and hospitals are subject to periodic pre- and post-
payment reviews and other audits by federal and state authorities. A review or audit of claims of a property operator could result in recoupments, denials or
delays of payments in the future, which could have a material adverse effect on the operator’s ability to meet its obligations to us.

 
Acquisitions

 
At December 31, 2016, we owned or had joint venture interests in 35 properties. All of these properties are included in the properties summary as provided under
“Item 2 Properties” referenced below.

 
We have acquired our properties to date with a combination of the proceeds from our public offering, from the sale of preferred securities in us and our Operating
Partnership pursuant to the KKR Equity Commitment, and from debt incurred upon the acquisition of such properties.

 
As of December 31, 2016, we operated in three reportable business segments: senior living operations, triple-net leased properties, and medical office building
(“MOB”) properties. Financial Information by segment is presented in Note 11 to our accompanying consolidated financial statements.

 
Employees

 
We have no employees and our executive officers are employees of our Advisor. Substantially all of our work is performed by employees of our Advisor. We are
dependent on our Advisor for certain services that are essential to us, including the identification, evaluation, negotiation, purchase and disposition of properties;
the oversight and management of the daily operations of our real estate portfolio; and other general and administrative responsibilities. In the event that our
Advisor was unable to provide these services, we will be required to obtain such services from other sources.

 
Available Information

 
Information about us is available on our website (http://www.sentiohealthcareproperties.com). We make available, free of charge, on our website, our annual
reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, and amendments to those reports filed pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of
the Exchange Act as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file such material with the SEC. These materials are also available at no cost in print
to any person who requests it by contacting our Investor Services Department at 189 South Orange Avenue, Suite 1700, Orlando, Florida 32801; telephone
(407) 999-7679. Our filings with the SEC are available to the public over the Internet at the SEC’s website at http://www.sec.gov. You may read and copy any
filed document at the SEC’s public reference room in Washington, D.C. at 100 F Street, N.E., Room 1580, Washington D.C. Please call the SEC at (800) SEC-
0330 for further information about the public reference rooms.
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

 
The risks and uncertainties described below can adversely affect our business, operating results, prospects and financial condition. These risks and uncertainties
could cause our actual results to differ materially from those presented in our forward looking statement.

 
General

 
Because no public trading market for our shares currently exists and all repurchases under our stock repurchase program have been suspended
since March 2014, it will be difficult for our stockholders to sell their shares and, if they are able to sell their shares, it will likely be at a substantial
discount to the estimated value per share. As such, our stockholders should purchase shares in our distribution reinvestment plan only if they will
not need to realize the cash value of their investment for an extended period.

 
Our charter does not require our directors to seek stockholder approval to liquidate our assets by a specified date, nor does our charter require our directors to
list our shares for trading on a national securities exchange by a specified date. There is no public market for our shares and we currently have no plans to list
our shares on a national securities exchange. Until our shares are listed, if ever, stockholders may not sell their shares unless the buyer meets the applicable
suitability and minimum purchase standards. In addition, in March 2014, we suspended all repurchases under our stock repurchase program and do not
anticipate resuming any repurchases under the program. Therefore, it will be difficult for our stockholders to sell their shares promptly or at all. If a stockholder is
able to sell his or her shares, it would likely be at a substantial discount to our estimated value per share. It is also likely that our shares would not be accepted
as the primary collateral for a loan. Because of the illiquid nature of our shares, our stockholders should purchase shares in our distribution reinvestment plan
only as a long-term investment and be prepared to hold them for an indefinite period of time.

 
The estimated value per share of our common stock may not reflect the value that stockholders will receive for their investment.

 
On March 23, 2016, our board of directors approved an estimated value per share of our common stock of $12.45 based on the estimated value of our assets
attributable to our common stock less the estimated value of our liabilities attributable to our common stock, divided by the number of shares of common stock
outstanding, all as of December 31, 2015.

 
As with any valuation methodology, our Advisor’s methodology is based upon a number of estimates and assumptions that may not be accurate or complete.
Different parties with different assumptions and estimates could derive a different estimated value per share, and these differences could be significant. The
estimated value per share is not audited and does not represent the fair value of our assets or liabilities according to generally accepted accounting principles
(“GAAP”). Accordingly, with respect to the estimated value per share, we can give no assurance that:

 
· a stockholder would be able to resell his or her shares at this estimated value;
 
· a stockholder would ultimately realize distributions per share equal to our estimated value per share upon liquidation of our assets and settlement of our

liabilities or a sale of the company;
 
· our shares of common stock would trade at the estimated value per share on a national securities exchange;
 
· an independent third - party appraiser or other third - party valuation firm would agree with our estimated value per share; or
 
· the methodology used to estimate our value per share would or would not be acceptable to FINRA or for compliance with Employee Retirement Income

Security Act (“ERISA”) reporting requirements.
 

The value of our shares will fluctuate over time in response to developments related to individual assets in our portfolio and the management of those assets and
in response to the real estate and finance markets. As such, the estimated value per share does not take into account developments in our portfolio since
December 31, 2015. For a full description of the methodologies used to value our assets and liabilities in connection with the calculation of the estimated value
per share, see Part II, Item 5, “Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities - Market
Information.”

 
Disruptions in the financial markets and uncertain economic conditions could adversely affect our ability to secure debt financing on attractive terms
and the values of the investments we make.

 
Despite improved access to capital for some companies, the capital and credit markets continue to experience volatility and disruption, and the health of the
global capital markets remains a concern. The banking industry has been experiencing improved earnings, but the relatively low growth economic environment
has caused the markets to question whether financial institutions are truly appropriately capitalized. The downgrade of the U.S. government debt has increased
these concerns, especially for the larger, money center banks. Smaller financial institutions have continued to work with borrowers to amend and extend existing
loans; however, as these loans reach maturity, there is the potential for future credit losses. 

 
We intend to rely on debt financing to finance our properties. As a result of credit market factors, we may not be able to obtain debt financing at attractive terms.
As such, we may be forced to use a greater proportion of equity to finance our acquisitions, reducing the number of acquisitions we would otherwise make. If the
current debt market environment persists we may modify our investment strategy in order to optimize our portfolio performance. Our options would include
limiting or eliminating the use of debt and focusing on those higher yielding investments that do not require the use of leverage to meet our portfolio goals.
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Disruptions in the financial markets and uncertain economic conditions could adversely affect the values of our investments. Instability in the capital markets
may constrain equity and debt capital available for investment in real estate, resulting in fewer buyers seeking to acquire properties and possible increases in
capitalization rates and lower property values. Furthermore, declining economic conditions could negatively impact real estate fundamentals and result in lower
occupancy, lower rental rates and declining values in real estate that we own or may acquire. These could have the following negative effects on us:

 
• the values of our investments in properties could decrease below the amounts we paid for the investments;

 
• revenues from our properties could decrease due to lower occupancy rates, reduced rental rates and potential increases in uncollectible

receivables;
 
• we may not be able to refinance our indebtedness or to obtain additional debt financing on attractive terms.
 

These factors could impair our ability to make distributions to and decrease the value of our stockholders’ investment in us.
 

We are dependent upon our Advisor, Sentio Investments, LLC, to conduct our operations. Any adverse changes in the financial health of our
Advisor, or our relationship with our Advisor could hinder our operating performance and the return on your investment. Furthermore, if our Advisor
becomes unable to continue in that role, we may have difficulty finding a qualified successor, and any successor advisor may not be as well suited to
manage us and our portfolio.

 
We are dependent on our Advisor, Sentio Investments, LLC to manage our operations and our portfolio of real estate assets. Our Advisor will depend upon the
fees and other compensation that it receives from us in connection with the purchase, management and sale of our properties to conduct its operations. Any
adverse changes in the financial condition of our Advisor or our relationship with our Advisor could hinder its ability to successfully manage our operations and
our portfolio of investments. If our Advisor cannot meet its obligations as they arise, or if it is unable to provide adequate service to us as required under the
terms of its agreement with us, we may have to find another advisor. If we are required to find a new advisor we may have difficulty doing so, and any successor
advisor may not be as well suited to manage us and our portfolio. As we have no employees and are entirely dependent on our Advisor to manage our
operations, these potential changes could result in a significant disruption of our business.

 
The inability of our Advisor to retain or obtain key personnel, property managers and leasing agents could delay or hinder implementation of our
investment strategies, which could impair our ability to make distributions and could reduce the value of our stockholders’ investment.

 
Our success depends to a significant degree upon the contributions of John Mark Ramsey, the President and Chief Executive Officer of our Advisor. Neither we
nor our Advisor have an employment agreement with Mr. Ramsey or with any of the other executive officers. If Mr. Ramsey were to cease his affiliation with our
Advisor, our Advisor may be unable to find a suitable replacement, and our operating results could suffer. We believe that our future success depends, in large
part, upon our Advisor’s and our facility operators’ ability to hire and retain highly skilled managerial, operational and marketing personnel. Competition for highly
skilled personnel is intense, and our Advisor and any facility managers we retain may be unsuccessful in attracting and retaining such skilled personnel. If we
lose or are unable to obtain the services of highly skilled personnel or facility managers, our ability to implement our investment strategies could be delayed or
hindered, and the value of our stockholders’ investments may decline.
 
If we are unable to secure new capital, we will be unable to make additional investments and the value of our stockholders’ investment in us will
fluctuate with the performance of the specific properties currently in our portfolio.

 
Pursuant to the Investor Rights Agreement executed in connection with the KKR Equity Commitment without the consent of KKR we are prohibited from
incurring indebtedness other than property-level mortgage refinancing, provided that (a) the resulting mortgage debt for a property will not exceed 60% of the
loan to value of such property, (b) the resulting mortgage debt will not cause our overall leverage to exceed 60% loan to value, and (c) the resulting mortgage
debt will not have recourse (other than bad boy carve-outs) to any entity or asset other than the specific property securing the mortgage (except recourse is
permitted if it is on a short-term basis). These restrictions may significantly impact our ability to secure new capital. If we are unable to secure new capital, we will
be unable to make additional investments which will result in less diversification in terms of the number of investments owned and the geographic regions in
which our investments are located. In that case, the likelihood that any single property’s performance would materially reduce our overall profitability will
increase. We are not limited in the number or size of our investments or the percentage of net proceeds we may dedicate to a single investment. In addition,
any inability to secure new capital would increase our fixed operating expenses as a percentage of gross income, and our net income and the distributions we
make to stockholders would be reduced.

 
If we are unable to obtain funding for capital needs, cash distributions to our stockholders could be reduced and the value of our investments could
decline.

 
If we need additional capital to improve or maintain our properties or for any other reason, we will have to obtain financing from other sources, such as cash flow
from operations, borrowings, property sales or future equity offerings. As described in the risk factor above, the terms of the KKR Equity Commitment restrict our
ability to obtain borrowings. Further, sources of funding may not be available on attractive terms or at all. If we cannot procure additional funding for capital
improvements, our investments may generate lower cash flows or decline in value, or both.
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The cash distributions our stockholders receive may be less frequent or lower in amount than expected.

 
We currently expect to make distributions to our stockholders quarterly. All expenses we incur in our operations are deducted from cash funds generated by
operations prior to computing the amount of cash available to be paid as distributions to our stockholders. Our directors will determine the amount and timing of
distributions. Subject to the terms of our dividend policy, our directors will consider all relevant factors, including the amount of cash available for distribution,
distributions payable to KKR pursuant to the terms of the KKR Equity Commitment, capital expenditure and reserve requirements and general operational
requirements in setting our distribution amount. We cannot determine with certainty that sufficient cash will be available to make distributions to our stockholders.
We may borrow funds, return capital or sell assets to make distributions. We cannot predict the amount of distributions our stockholders may receive. We may
be unable to pay or maintain cash distributions or increase distributions over time, and we may need to cease distributions to stockholders.

   
A limit on the percentage of our securities a person may own may discourage a takeover or business combination, which could prevent our
stockholders from realizing a premium price for their stock.

 
In order for us to qualify as a REIT, no more than 50% of our outstanding stock may be beneficially owned, directly or indirectly, by five or fewer individuals
(including certain types of entities) at any time during the last half of each taxable year beginning after our first taxable year. To assure that we do not fail to
qualify as a REIT under this test, our charter restricts direct or indirect ownership by one person or entity to no more than 9.8% in number of shares or value,
whichever is more restrictive, of the outstanding shares of any class or series of our stock unless exempted by our board of directors. This restriction may have
the effect of delaying, deferring or preventing a change in control of us, including an extraordinary transaction (such as a merger, tender offer or sale of all or
substantially all of our assets) that might provide a premium price to our stockholders.

 
Our charter permits our board of directors to issue stock or securities convertible or exchangeable into equity securities, with terms that may
subordinate the rights of our common stockholders or discourage a third party from acquiring us in a manner that could result in a premium price to
our stockholders.

 
Subject to the restrictions included in the KKR Equity Commitment, our board of directors may increase or decrease the aggregate number of shares of stock or
the number of shares of stock of any class or series that we have authority to issue and classify or reclassify any unissued common stock or preferred stock and
establish the preferences, conversion or other rights, voting powers, restrictions, limitations as to distributions, qualifications and terms or conditions of
redemption of any such stock. Our board of directors could authorize the issuance of preferred stock or securities convertible or exchangeable into equity
securities, with terms and conditions that could have priority as to distributions and amounts payable upon liquidation over the rights of the holders of our
common stock. Such preferred stock and convertible or exchangeable securities could also have the effect of delaying, deferring or preventing a change in
control of us, including an extraordinary transaction (such as a merger, tender offer or sale of all or substantially all of our assets) that might provide a premium
price to holders of our common stock.

 
Our stockholders will have limited control over changes in our policies and operations, which increases the uncertainty and risks of an investment
in us.

 
Our board of directors determines our major policies, including our policies regarding financing, growth, debt capitalization, REIT qualification and distributions.
Our board of directors may amend or revise these and other policies without a vote of the common stockholders. Under Maryland General Corporation Law and
our charter, our stockholders have a right to vote only on limited matters. Our board’s broad discretion in setting policies and our stockholders’ inability to exert
control over those policies increases the uncertainty and risks of an investment on us.
 
We may change our targeted investments without stockholder consent.

 
We may make adjustments to our target portfolio based on real estate market conditions and investment opportunities, and we may change our targeted
investments and investment guidelines at any time without the consent of our common stockholders, which could result in our making investments that are
different from, and possibly riskier than, the investments described in this Annual Report. A change in our targeted investments or investment guidelines may
increase our exposure to interest rate risk, default risk and real estate market fluctuations, all of which could adversely affect the value of our common stock and
our ability to make distributions to our stockholders.  

 
A stockholder’s interest in us may be diluted if we issue additional stock.

 
Our common stockholders do not have preemptive rights to any stock we issue in the future. Therefore, in the event that we (1) sell stock in the future, including
stock issued pursuant to our distribution reinvestment plan, (2) sell securities that are convertible into stock, (3) issue stock in a private offering, (4) issue stock
upon the exercise of the options granted to our independent directors, employees of our Advisor or others, or (5) issue stock to sellers of properties acquired by
us in connection with an exchange of limited partnership interests in the Operating Partnership, holders of our common stock will experience dilution of their
percentage ownership in us. Depending on the terms of such transactions, most notably the price per share, which may be less than the price paid per share in
our public offerings, and the value of our properties, holders of our common stock might also experience a dilution in the book value per share of their stock.
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A stockholder’s interest in us may be diluted if we issue additional units in our operating partnership.

 
Holders of common units of the Operating Partnership will receive distributions per unit in the same amount as the distributions we pay per share to our
stockholders and will generally have the right to exchange their units of the Operating Partnership for shares of our common stock. In connection with the KKR
Equity Commitment we have issued preferred units in the Operating Partnership with terms and conditions that have priority as to distributions and amounts
payable upon liquidation over common units and we may issue additional preferred units in the future. The holders of such preferred units will be entitled to
receive distributions in preference to our stockholders. In the event we issue additional units in the Operating Partnership, investors holding our common stock
will experience potential dilution in their percentage ownership interest in us. Depending on the terms of such transactions, holders of our common stock might
also experience a dilution in the book value per share of their stock.

 
Although we are not currently afforded the protection of the Maryland General Corporation Law relating to business combinations our board of
directors could opt into these provisions of Maryland law in the future, which may discourage others from trying to acquire control of us and may
prevent our stockholders from receiving a premium price for their stock in connection with a business combination.

 
Under Maryland law, “business combinations” between a Maryland corporation and certain interested stockholders or affiliates of interested stockholders are
prohibited for five years after the most recent date on which the interested stockholder becomes an interested stockholder. These business combinations include
a merger, consolidation, share exchange, or, in circumstances specified in the statute, an asset transfer or issuance or reclassification of equity securities. Also
under Maryland law, control shares of a Maryland corporation acquired in a control share acquisition have no voting rights except to the extent approved by a
vote of two-thirds of the votes entitled to be cast on the matter. Shares owned by the acquirer, by officers or by directors who are employees of the corporation,
are not entitled to vote on the matter. Should our board opt into these provisions of Maryland law, it may discourage others from trying to acquire control of us
and increase the difficulty of consummating any offer. Similarly, provisions of Title 3, Subtitle 8 of the Maryland General Corporation Law could provide similar
anti-takeover protection.

 
Our stockholders’ and our rights to recover claims against our independent directors are limited, which could reduce our stockholders’ and our
recovery against our independent directors if they negligently cause us to incur losses.

 
Our charter provides that no independent director shall be liable to us or our stockholders for monetary damages and that we will generally indemnify them for
losses unless they are grossly negligent or engage in willful misconduct. As a result, our stockholders and we may have more limited rights against our
independent directors than might otherwise exist under common law, which could reduce our stockholders’ and our recovery from these persons if they act in a
negligent manner. In addition, we may be obligated to fund the defense costs incurred by our independent directors (as well as by our other directors, officers,
employees and agents) in some cases, which would decrease the cash otherwise available for distributions to our stockholders.

 
Our Advisor does not have as strong an economic incentive to avoid losses as do sponsors who have made significant equity investments in the
companies they sponsor.  

 
Our Advisor has not made an equity investment in us. Therefore, our Advisor has little exposure to losses in the value of our stock. Without this exposure, our
investors may be at a greater risk of loss because our Advisor does not have as much to lose from a decrease in the value of our stock as do those sponsors
who make more significant equity investments in the companies they sponsor.
 
If we do not successfully implement our long-term liquidity strategy, our stockholders may have to hold their investment for an indefinite period.

 
Although we presently intend to provide long-term liquidity to our stockholders within seven years of the termination of our primary public offering, our charter
does not require our board of directors to pursue such a liquidity event. Our board of directors will review our long-term liquidity strategy annually and a majority
of our independent directors may decide to amend or suspend the strategy if it is deemed to be in the best interest of our stockholders to do so. Market
conditions and other factors could cause us to delay the commencement of a liquidity event beyond 2018. If our board of directors does elect to pursue a liquidity
strategy, we would be under no obligation to conclude the process within a set time. The timing of a listing of our shares on a national securities exchange, the
sale of assets or other liquidity event will depend on real estate and financial markets, economic conditions in the areas in which properties are located, and
federal income tax effects on stockholders, that may prevail in the future. If our board of directors were to adopt a plan of liquidation, we cannot guarantee that
we would be able to liquidate all assets. After adoption of a plan of liquidation, we would remain in existence until all properties and assets are liquidated. If we
do not pursue a liquidity event, or delay such an event due to market conditions, our stockholders’ shares may continue to be illiquid and they may, for an
indefinite period of time, be unable to convert their investment to cash easily and could suffer losses on their investment.

 
If we internalize our management functions, your interest in us could be diluted, and we could incur other significant costs associated with being self-
managed.

 
In connection with the KKR Equity Commitment, we have entered into an agreement (the “Transition Agreement”) with our Advisor and the Investor that sets
forth the terms for a transition to an internal management structure for the Company. The Transition Agreement, as amended, requires that the existing external
advisory structure will remain in place upon substantially the same terms as currently in effect until February 10, 2019, upon which time the advisory function will
be internalized in accordance with procedures set forth in the Transition Agreement. If we internalize in accordance with the terms of the Transition Agreement,
we would no longer bear the costs of the various fees we expect to pay to our Advisor under the Advisory Agreement. However, our direct expenses would
include general and administrative costs, including legal, accounting and other expenses related to corporate governance and SEC reporting and compliance.
We would also incur the compensation and benefits costs of our officers and other employees and consultants that we now expect to be paid by our Advisor. In
addition, we may issue equity awards to officers, employees and consultants, which awards would decrease net income and funds from operations and may
dilute your investment. We cannot currently estimate the costs we would incur if we became self-managed. If the expenses we assume as a result of an
internalization are higher than the expenses we avoid paying to our Advisor, our net income per share and funds from operations per share would be lower as a
result of the internalization than it otherwise would have been, potentially decreasing the amount of funds available to distribute to our stockholders and the value
of our shares.
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As currently organized, we will not directly employ any employees. If we, in accordance with the Transition Agreement, internalize our operations, we would
employ personnel and would be subject to potential liabilities commonly faced by employers, such as workers disability and compensation claims, potential labor
disputes and other employee-related liabilities and grievances. Nothing in our charter prohibits us from entering into the transaction described above.

 
If we internalize our management functions, we could have difficulty integrating these functions as a stand-alone entity. We could fail to properly identify the
appropriate mix of personnel and capital needs to operate as a stand-alone entity. An inability to manage an internalization transaction effectively could thus
result in our incurring excess costs and/or suffering deficiencies in our disclosure controls and procedures or our internal control over financial reporting. Such
deficiencies could cause us to incur additional costs, and our management’s attention could be diverted from effectively managing our portfolio of investments.  

 
Our equity commitment transaction with KKR dilutes the interests of our common shareholders and grants important rights to KKR.

 
On October 18, 2013, the first purchase of securities was completed by KKR pursuant to the Securities Purchase Agreement dated as of February 10, 2013,
and amended at various times thereafter, between us, our Operating Partnership, and the Investor. Under the KKR Equity Commitment, we could issue and sell
to the Investor and its affiliates from time to time over a period of up to three years, up to $158.7 million in aggregate issuance amount of preferred securities in
the Company and the Operating Partnership. As of December 31, 2016, no securities remain issuable under the KKR Equity Commitment and based on the
capitalization of the Company as of December 31, 2016, KKR holds a majority interest in the Company 57.9% of our voting capital stock as well as the same
percentage of our as-converted stock by virtue of their combined interests in the Series C Preferred Stock and Series B Preferred Units.

 
Disclosure concerning the terms, rights and conditions of the Series C Preferred Stock and the Series B Preferred Units, the transfer and registration thereof and
the other provisions of the KKR Equity Commitment are described in the Company’s Current Reports on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on February 12, 2013, December 30, 2014, January 22, 2015, February 27, 2015, April 1, 2015, May 6, 2015 and September 7, 2016. There can
be no assurance that the interests of KKR are aligned with that of our other stockholders. Investor interests can differ from each other and from other corporate
interests and it is possible that this majority stockholder with a stake in corporate management may have interests that differ from us and those of other
stockholders.

 
Risks Related to Conflicts of Interest

 
Our Advisor and its affiliates, including our officers, one of whom is also a director, may face conflicts of interest caused by compensation
arrangements with us and other sponsored programs, which could result in actions that are not in the long-term best interests of our stockholders.
 
Our Advisor will receive substantial fees from us that are partially tied to the performance of our stockholders’ investment. These fees could influence our
Advisor’s advice to us, as well as the judgment of our officers, one of whom is also a director. Among other matters, the compensation arrangements could affect
their judgment with respect to:

 
• the continuation, renewal or enforcement of our Advisory Agreement with the Advisor;

 
• public offerings of equity by us, which would likely entitle the Advisor to increased acquisition and asset-management fees;

 
• sales of properties and other investments (including, subject to the approval of our conflicts committee, sales to affiliates), which may entitle the

Advisor to disposition fees and reduce asset management fees;
 
• acquisitions of properties and other investments, which entitle the Advisor to acquisition and asset-management fees,

 
• borrowings to acquire properties and other investments, which borrowings will increase the acquisition and asset-management fees payable to the

Advisor;
 
• whether and when we seek to list our common stock on a national securities exchange, which listing could entitle our Advisor to a success-based

listing fee; and
 
• whether and when we seek to sell the company or its assets, which sale could entitle our Advisor to success-based fees.
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Our Advisor will face conflicts of interest relating to the purchase and leasing of properties, and such conflicts may not be resolved in our favor,
which could limit our investment opportunities, impair our ability to make distributions and reduce the value of our stockholders’ investments in us.

 
To the extent we make additional investments, we will rely on our Advisor to identify suitable investment opportunities. Our agreement with our Advisor does not
restrict our Advisor from sponsoring or providing advisory services to other programs. Therefore, to the extent our board of directors determines it is in our best
interest to obtain additional sources of capital for the acquisition of additional healthcare related real estate investments, we may be buying properties at the
same time as other entities that are affiliated with or sponsored by our Advisor. Other programs sponsored by our Advisor or its affiliates may also rely on our
Advisor for investment opportunities. Many investment opportunities would be suitable for us as well as other programs. Our Advisor could direct attractive
investment opportunities or tenants to other entities. Such events could result in our investing in properties that provide less attractive returns, thus reducing the
level of distributions which we may be able to pay to stockholders and the value of their investments in us.

 
We may purchase properties from persons with whom our Advisor or its affiliates have prior business relationships and our Advisor’s interest in
preserving its relationship with these persons could result in us paying a higher price for the properties than we would otherwise pay.

 
We may have the opportunity to purchase properties from third parties, including affiliates of our directors who have prior business relationships with our Advisor
or its affiliates. If we purchase properties from such third parties, our Advisor may experience a conflict between our interests and its interest in preserving any
ongoing business relationship with these sellers.

 
Our Advisor will face conflicts of interest relating to joint ventures that we may form with affiliates of our Advisor, which conflicts could result in a
disproportionate benefit to the other venture partners at our expense.

 
We may enter into joint venture agreements with third parties (including entities that are affiliated with our Advisor or our independent directors) for the
acquisition or improvement of properties. Our Advisor may have conflicts of interest in determining which program should enter into any particular joint venture
agreement. The co-venturer may have economic or business interests or goals that are or may become inconsistent with our business interests or goals. In
addition, our Advisor may face a conflict in structuring the terms of the relationship between our interests and the interest of the affiliated co-venturer and in
managing the joint venture. Since our Advisor and its affiliates will control both the affiliated co-venturer and, to a certain extent, us, agreements and transactions
between the co-venturers with respect to any such joint venture will not have the benefit of arm’s-length negotiation of the type normally conducted between
unrelated co-venturers. Co-venturers may thus benefit to our and our stockholders’ detriment.

 
Our Advisor and its affiliates receive fees and other compensation based upon our property acquisitions, the property we own and the sale of our
properties and therefore our Advisor and its affiliates may make recommendations to us that we buy, hold or sell property in order to increase their
compensation. Our Advisor will have considerable discretion with respect to the terms and timing of our acquisition, disposition and leasing
transactions.

 
Our Advisor receives commissions, fees and other compensation based upon our investments. Therefore, our Advisor may recommend that we purchase
properties that generate fees for our Advisor, but are not necessarily the most suitable investment for our portfolio. In some instances our Advisor may benefit by
us retaining ownership of our assets, while our stockholders may be better served by sale or disposition. In other instances they may benefit by us selling the
properties which may entitle our Advisor to disposition fees and possible success-based sales fees. In addition, our Advisor’s ability to receive asset management
fees and reimbursements depends on our continued investment in properties and in other assets which generate fees to them. Therefore, the interest of our
Advisor in receiving fees may conflict with our interests.
 
If the competing demands for the time of our Advisor and our officers result in them spending insufficient time on our business, we may miss
investment opportunities or have less efficient operations, which could reduce our profitability and result in lower distributions to our stockholders.

 
We do not have any employees. We rely on the employees of our Advisor for the day-to-day operation of our business. The amount of time that our Advisor
spends on our business will vary from time to time. Our Advisor, including our officers, may have interests in other programs and may engage in other business
activities. As a result, they may face conflicts of interest in allocating their time between us and other programs and activities in which they are involved. During
times of intense activity in other programs and ventures, they may devote less time and fewer resources to our business than are necessary or appropriate to
manage our business. There is no assurance that our Advisor will devote adequate time to our business. If our Advisor suffers or is distracted by adverse
financial or operational problems in connection with its operations unrelated to us, it may allocate less time and resources to our operations. If any of these
things occur, the returns on our investments, our ability to make distributions to stockholders and the value of their investments in us may suffer.

 
Our officers, one of whom is also a director, face conflicts of interest related to the positions they hold with our, which could hinder our ability to
successfully implement our business strategy and to generate returns to our stockholders.

 
Our officers, one of whom is also a director, are also officers of our Advisor. As a result, they owe fiduciary duties to the entity’s members, which fiduciary duties
may from time to time conflict with the fiduciary duties that they owe to us and our stockholders. Their loyalties to this other entity could result in actions or
inactions that are detrimental to our business, which could harm the implementation of our business strategy and our investment, property management and
leasing opportunities. If we do not successfully implement our business strategy, we may be unable to generate cash needed to make distributions our
stockholders and to maintain or increase the value of our assets.
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General Risks Related to Investments in Real Estate and Real-Estate Related Investments

 
Economic and regulatory changes that impact the real estate market may reduce our net income and the value of our properties.

 
By owning our stock, stockholders are subjected to the risks associated with owning real estate. The performance of an investment in us is subject to, among
other things, risks related to the ownership and operation of real estate, including but not limited to:

 
• worsening general or local economic conditions and financial markets could cause lower demand, tenant defaults, and reduced occupancy and

rental rates, some or all of which would cause an overall decrease in revenue from rents;
 
• increases in competing properties in an area which could require increased concessions to tenants and reduced rental rates;

 
• increases in interest rates or unavailability of permanent mortgage funds which may render the sale of a property difficult or unattractive; and

 
• changes in laws and government regulations, including those governing real estate usage, zoning and taxes.
 

Some or all of the foregoing factors may affect our properties, which would reduce our net income, and our ability to make distributions to our stockholders.
 

A concentration of our investments in the healthcare sector may leave our profitability vulnerable to a downturn or slowdown in the sector.
 

Our investments are concentrated in the healthcare sector. As a result, we are subject to risks inherent in investments in a single type of property and the
potential effects on our revenues, and as a result, on cash available for distribution to our stockholders, resulting from a downturn or slowdown in the healthcare
sector could be more pronounced than if we had a more fully diversified portfolio.

 
Competition with third parties for properties and other investments may result in our paying higher prices for properties which could reduce our
profitability and the return on investment.

 
We compete with many other entities engaged in real estate investment activities, including individuals, corporations, banks, insurance companies, other REITs,
and real estate limited partnerships, many of which have greater resources than we do. Some of these investors may enjoy significant competitive advantages
that result from, among other things, a lower cost of capital and enhanced operating efficiencies. In addition, the number of entities and the amount of funds
competing for suitable investments may increase. Any such increase would result in increased demand for these assets and increased prices. If competitive
pressures cause us to pay higher prices for properties, our ultimate profitability may be reduced and the value of our properties may not appreciate or may
decrease significantly below the amount paid for such properties. At the time we elect to dispose of one or more of our properties, we will be in competition with
sellers of similar properties to locate suitable purchasers, which may result in us receiving lower proceeds from the disposal or result in us not being able to
dispose of the property due to the lack of an acceptable return. This may cause our stockholders to experience a lower return on their investments in us.  
 
The healthcare properties we own may derive a substantial portion of their income from third-party payors.

 
Most of our healthcare facilities are directly affected by risks associated with the healthcare industry. Some of our lessees derive a substantial portion of their net
operating revenues from third-party payors, including the Medicare and Medicaid programs. These programs are highly regulated by federal, state and local
laws, rules and regulations and are subject to frequent and substantial change. There are no assurances that payments from governmental payors will remain at
levels comparable to present levels or will, in the future, be sufficient to cover the costs allocable to patients eligible for reimbursement under these programs.

 
Failure to comply with government regulations could adversely affect our healthcare tenants and operators.

 
The healthcare industry is highly regulated by federal, state and local licensing requirements, facility inspections, reimbursement policies, regulations concerning
capital and other expenditures, certification requirements and other laws, regulations and rules. In addition, regulators require compliance with a variety of safety,
health, staffing and other requirements relating to the design and conditions of the licensed facility and quality of care provided. Additional laws and regulations
may be enacted or adopted that could require changes in the design of properties and certain operations of our tenants and third-party operators. The failure of
any tenant or operator to comply with such laws, requirements and regulations could affect a tenant’s or operator’s ability to operate the facilities that we own.

 
In some states, advocacy groups have been created to monitor the quality of care at health care facilities, and these groups have brought litigation against
operators. Additionally, in some instances, private litigation by patients has succeeded in winning large demand awards for alleged abuses. The effect of this
litigation and potential litigation has increased the costs of monitoring and reporting quality of care compliance incurred by our tenants. In addition, the cost of
liability and medical malpractice insurance has increased and may continue to increase as long as the present litigation environment affecting the operations of
health care facilities continues. Continued cost increases could cause our tenants to be unable to pay their lease payments, decreasing our cash flow available
for distribution.
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Our tenants may be affected by the financial deterioration, insolvency and/or bankruptcy of other significant operators in the healthcare industry.

 
Certain companies in the healthcare industry, including some key senior housing operators, none of which are currently our tenants, are experiencing
considerable financial, legal and/or regulatory difficulties which have resulted or may result in financial deterioration and, in some cases, insolvency and/or
bankruptcy. The adverse effects on these companies could have a significant impact on the industry as a whole, including but not limited to negative public
perception by investors, lenders and consumers. As a result, our tenants could experience the damaging financial effects of a weakened industry driven by
negative industry headlines, ultimately making them unable to meet their obligations to us, and our business could be adversely affected.

 
We may be unable to complete development and re-development projects on advantageous terms.

 
As part of our investment plan, we develop new and re-develop existing properties. Such activities involve significant risks that could adversely affect our
financial condition, results of operations, cash flow and ability to make distributions on our common stock, which include:

 
• we may not be able to obtain, or may experience delays in obtaining, all necessary zoning, land-use, building, occupancy and other governmental

permits and authorizations;
 
• we may not be able to obtain financing for development projects on favorable terms and complete construction on schedule or within budget,

resulting in increased debt service expense and construction costs and delays in leasing the properties and generating cash flow; and
 
• the properties may perform below anticipated levels, producing cash flow below budgeted amounts and limiting our ability to sell such properties to

third parties or affiliates.
   

Newly developed and acquired properties may not produce the cash flow that we expect, which could adversely affect our overall financial
performance.

 
In deciding whether to acquire or develop a particular property, we make assumptions regarding the expected future performance of that property. If our
estimated return on investment proves to be inaccurate, it may fail to perform as we expected. With certain properties, our business plan contemplates
repositioning or redeveloping that property with the goal of increasing its cash flow, value or both. Our estimate of the costs of repositioning or redeveloping an
acquired property may prove to be inaccurate, which may result in our failure to meet our profitability goals. Additionally, we may acquire new properties not fully
leased, and the cash flow from existing operations may be insufficient to pay the operating expenses and debt service associated with that property until the
property is more fully leased. If one or more of these new properties do not perform as expected or we are unable to successfully integrate new properties into
our existing operations, our financial performance and our ability to make distributions may be adversely affected.
 
Reduced occupancy levels could reduce our revenues from rents and our distributions to our stockholders and cause the value of our stockholders’
investment in us to decline.

 
The success of our investments depends upon the occupancy levels, rental income and operating expenses of our properties and our company. In the event of
tenant default or bankruptcy, we may experience delays in enforcing our rights as landlord and may incur costs in protecting our investment and re-leasing our
property. In the event of tenant default or bankruptcy, or lease termination or expiration, we may be unable to re-lease the property for the rent previously
received. We may be unable to sell a property with low occupancy without incurring a loss. These events and others could cause us to reduce the amount of
distributions we make to stockholders and the value of our stockholders’ investment in us to decline.
 
Increased competition for residents may reduce the ability of certain of our operators to make scheduled rent payments to us or adversely affect our
operating results.
 
A majority of our portfolio is invested in our senior living operations segment which invests in and directs the operations of independent living, assisted-living,
memory care and other senior housing communities located in the United States. These types of properties face competition for residents from other similar
properties, both locally and nationally.  For example, competing seniors housing properties are located near the seniors housing properties we own or may
acquire.  Any decrease in revenues due to such competition at any of our senior living properties may adversely affect our operators’ ability to make scheduled
rent payments to us and may adversely affect our operating results of those properties. 

 
Rising expenses at both the property and the company level could reduce our net income and our cash available for distribution to stockholders.

 
Our properties are subject to operating risks common to real estate in general, any or all of which may reduce our net income. If any property is not substantially
occupied or if rents are being paid in an amount that is insufficient to cover operating expenses, we could be required to expend funds with respect to that
property for operating expenses. The properties are subject to increases in tax rates, utility costs, operating expenses, insurance costs, repairs and maintenance
and administrative expenses. If we are unable to lease properties on a basis requiring the tenants to pay such expenses, we would be required to pay some or
all of those costs which would reduce our income and cash available for distribution to stockholders.

 
Costs incurred in complying with governmental laws and regulations may reduce our net income and the cash available for distributions.

 
Our company and the properties we own are subject to federal, state and local laws and regulations relating to environmental protection and human health and
safety. Federal laws such as the National Environmental Policy Act, the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act, the
Resource Conservation and Recovery Act, the Federal Water Pollution Control Act, the Federal Clean Air Act, the Toxic Substances Control Act, the Emergency
Planning and Community Right to Know Act and the Hazard Communication Act govern such matters as wastewater discharges, air emissions, the operation and
removal of underground and above-ground storage tanks, the use, storage, treatment, transportation and disposal of solid and hazardous materials and the
remediation of contamination associated with disposals. The properties we own and those we expect to acquire are subject to the Americans with Disabilities Act
of 1990 which generally requires that certain types of buildings and services be made accessible and available to people with disabilities. These laws may
require us to make modifications to our properties. Some of these laws and regulations impose joint and several liability on tenants, owners or operators for the
costs to investigate or remediate contaminated properties, regardless of fault or whether the acts causing the contamination were legal. Compliance with these
laws and any new or more stringent laws or regulations may require us to incur material expenditures. Future laws, ordinances or regulations may impose
material environmental liability. In addition, there are various federal, state and local fire, health, life-safety and similar regulations with which we may be required
to comply, and which may subject us to liability in the form of fines or damages for noncompliance.
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Our properties may be affected by our tenants’ operations, the existing condition of land when we buy it, operations in the vicinity of our properties, such as the
presence of underground storage tanks, or activities of unrelated third parties. The presence of hazardous substances, or the failure to properly remediate these
substances, may make it difficult or impossible to sell or rent such property. Any material expenditures, fines, or damages we must pay will reduce our ability to
make distributions and may reduce the value of our stockholders’ investments in us.  

 
Discovery of environmentally hazardous conditions may reduce our cash available for distribution to our stockholders.

 
Under various federal, state and local environmental laws, ordinances and regulations, a current or previous real property owner or operator may be liable for the
cost to remove or remediate hazardous or toxic substances on, under or in such property. These costs could be substantial. Such laws often impose liability
whether or not the owner or operator knew of, or was responsible for, the presence of such hazardous or toxic substances. Environmental laws also may
impose restrictions on the manner in which property may be used or businesses may be operated, and these restrictions may require substantial expenditures or
prevent us from entering into leases with prospective tenants that may be impacted by such laws. Environmental laws provide for sanctions for noncompliance
and may be enforced by governmental agencies or, in certain circumstances, by private parties. Certain environmental laws and common law principles could be
used to impose liability for release of and exposure to hazardous substances, including asbestos-containing materials into the air. Third parties may seek
recovery from real property owners or operators for personal injury or property damage associated with exposure to released hazardous substances. The cost of
defending against claims of liability, of complying with environmental regulatory requirements, of remediating any contaminated property, or of paying personal
injury claims could be substantial and reduce our ability to make distributions and the value of our stockholders’ investments in us.

 
Any uninsured losses or high insurance premiums will reduce our net income and the amount of our cash distributions to stockholders.

 
Our Advisor will attempt to obtain adequate insurance to cover significant areas of risk to us as a company and to our properties. However, there are types of
losses at the property level, generally catastrophic in nature, such as losses due to wars, acts of terrorism, earthquakes, floods, hurricanes, pollution or
environmental matters, which are uninsurable or not economically insurable, or may be insured subject to limitations, such as large deductibles or co-payments.
We may not have adequate coverage for such losses. If any of our properties incurs a casualty loss that is not fully insured, the value of our assets will be
reduced by any such uninsured loss. In addition, other than any working capital reserve or other reserves we may establish, we have no source of funding to
repair or reconstruct any uninsured damaged property. Also, to the extent we must pay unexpectedly large amounts for insurance, we could suffer reduced
earnings that would result in lower distributions to stockholders.
 
We may have difficulty selling real estate investments, and our ability to distribute all or a portion of the net proceeds from such sale to our
stockholders may be limited.

 
Equity real estate investments are relatively illiquid. Therefore, we will have a limited ability to vary our portfolio in response to changes in economic or other
conditions. In addition, the liquidity of real estate investments has been further reduced by the recent turmoil in the capital markets, which has constrained equity
and debt capital available for investment in commercial real estate, resulting in fewer buyers seeking to acquire commercial properties and consequent
reductions in property values. As a result of these factors we will also have a limited ability to sell assets in order to fund working capital and similar capital
needs. When we sell any of our properties, we may not realize a gain on such sale. We may not elect to distribute any proceeds from the sale of properties to
our stockholders; for example, we may use such proceeds to:

 
• purchase additional properties;

 
• repay debt, if any;

 
• buy out interests of any co-venturers or other partners in any joint venture to which we are a party;

 
• create working capital reserves; or

 
• make repairs, maintenance, tenant improvements or other capital improvements or expenditures to our remaining properties.
 

Our ability to sell our properties may also be limited by our need to avoid a 100% penalty tax that is imposed on gain recognized by a REIT from the sale of
property characterized as dealer property. In order to ensure that we avoid such characterization, we may be required to hold our properties for a minimum
period of time, generally two years, and comply with certain other requirements in the Internal Revenue Code.
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Real estate market conditions at the time we decide to dispose of a property may be unfavorable which could reduce the price we receive for a
property and lower the return on our stockholders’ investments in us.

 
We intend to hold the properties in which we invest until we determine that selling or otherwise disposing of properties would help us to achieve our investment
objectives. General economic conditions, availability of financing, interest rates and other factors, including supply and demand, all of which are beyond our
control, affect the real estate market. We may be unable to sell a property for the price, on the terms, or within the time frame we want. Accordingly, the gain or
loss on our stockholders’ investments in us could be affected by fluctuating market conditions.

 
As part of otherwise attractive portfolios of properties, we may acquire some properties with existing lock-out provisions, which may inhibit us from
selling a property, or may require us to maintain specified debt levels for a period of years on some properties.

 
Loan provisions could materially restrict us from selling or otherwise disposing of or refinancing properties. These provisions would affect our ability to turn our
investments into cash and thus affect cash available for distributions to our stockholders. Loan provisions may prohibit us from reducing the outstanding
indebtedness with respect to properties, refinancing such indebtedness on a non-recourse basis at maturity, or increasing the amount of indebtedness with
respect to such properties.

 
Loan provisions could impair our ability to take actions that would otherwise be in the best interests of our stockholders and, therefore, may have an adverse
impact on the value of our stock, relative to the value that would result if the loan provisions did not exist. In particular, loan provisions could preclude us from
participating in major transactions that could result in a disposition of our assets or a change in control even though that disposition or change in control might
be in the best interests of our stockholders.

 
If we sell properties by providing financing to purchasers of our properties, distribution of net sales proceeds to our stockholders would be delayed
and defaults by the purchasers could reduce our cash available for distribution to stockholders.

 
If we provide financing to purchasers, we will bear the risk that the purchaser may default. Purchaser defaults could reduce our cash distributions to our
stockholders. Even in the absence of a purchaser default, the distribution of the proceeds of sales to our stockholders, or their reinvestment in other assets, will
be delayed until the promissory notes or other property we may accept upon a sale are actually paid, sold, refinanced or otherwise disposed of or completion of
foreclosure proceedings.

 
Actions of our joint venture partners could subject us to liabilities in excess of those contemplated or prevent us from taking actions which are in the
best interests of our stockholders which could result in lower investment returns to our stockholders.

 
We have entered into joint ventures with other third parties to acquire or improve properties, and we may do so in the future. We may also purchase properties
in partnerships, co-tenancies or other co-ownership arrangements. Such investments may involve risks not otherwise present when acquiring real estate
directly, including, for example:

 
• joint venturers may share certain approval rights over major decisions;

 
• a co-venturer, co-owner or partner may at any time have economic or business interests or goals which are or which become inconsistent with our

business interests or goals, including inconsistent goals relating to the sale of properties held in the joint venture or the timing of termination or
liquidation of the joint venture;

 
• the possibility that our co-venturer, co-owner or partner in an investment might become insolvent or bankrupt;

   
• the possibility that we may incur liabilities as a result of an action taken by our co-venturer, co-owner or partner;

 
• a co-venturer, co-owner or partner may be in a position to take action contrary to our instructions or requests or contrary to our policies or objectives,

including our policy with respect to qualifying and maintaining our qualification as a REIT;
 
• disputes between us and our co-venturers may result in litigation or arbitration that would increase our expenses and prevent its officers and

directors from focusing their time and effort on our business and result in subjecting the properties owned by the applicable joint venture to additional
risk; or

 
• under certain joint venture arrangements, neither joint venture partner may have the power to control the venture, and an impasse could be reached

which might have a negative influence on the joint venture.
 

These events might subject us to liabilities in excess of those contemplated and thus reduce our stockholders’ investment returns. If we have a right of first
refusal or buy/sell right to buy out a co-venturer, co-owner or partner, we may be unable to finance such a buy-out if it becomes exercisable or we may be
required to purchase such interest at a time when it would not otherwise be in our best interest to do so. If our interest is subject to a buy/sell right, we may not
have sufficient cash, available borrowing capacity or other capital resources to allow us to elect to purchase an interest of a co-venturer subject to the buy/sell
right, in which case we may be forced to sell our interest as the result of the exercise of such right when we would otherwise prefer to keep our interest. Finally,
we may not be able to sell our interest in a joint venture if we desire to exit the venture.
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If we originate or invest in mortgage loans as part of our plan to acquire the underlying property, our mortgage loans may be affected by unfavorable
real estate market conditions, including interest rate fluctuations, which could decrease the value of those loans and the return on our stockholders’
investments in us.

 
If we originate or invest in mortgage loans, we will be at risk of defaults by the borrowers on those mortgage loans as well as interest rate risks. To the extent we
incur delays in liquidating such defaulted mortgage loans, we may not be able to obtain sufficient proceeds to repay all amounts due to us under the mortgage
loan. Further, we will not know whether the values of the properties securing the mortgage loans will remain at the levels existing on the dates of origination of
those mortgage loans. If the values of the underlying properties fall, our risk will increase because of the lower value of the security associated with such loans.
In addition, interest rate fluctuations could reduce our returns as compared to market interest rates and reduce the value of the mortgage loans in the event we
sell them.

 
Construction loans involve a high risk of loss if we are unsuccessful in raising the unfunded portion of the loan or if a borrower otherwise fails to
complete the construction of a project.

 
We have originated a construction loan. If we are unsuccessful in raising the unfunded portion of a construction loan, there could be adverse consequences
associated with the loan, including a loss of the value of the property securing the loan if the construction is not completed and the borrower is unable to raise
funds to complete it from other sources; a borrower claim against us for failure to perform under the loan documents; increased costs to the borrower that the
borrower is unable to pay; a bankruptcy filing by the borrower; and abandonment by the borrower of the collateral for the loan. Further, other non-cash flowing
assets such as land loans and pre-development loans may fail to qualify for construction financing and may need to be liquidated based on the “as-is” value as
opposed to a valuation based on the ability to construct certain real property improvements. The occurrence of such events may have a negative impact on our
results of operations.

 
Risks of cost overruns and non-completion of the construction or development of the properties underlying loans we originate or acquire may
materially and adversely affect our investment.

 
The development, renovation, or refurbishment by a borrower under a mortgaged or leveraged property involves risks of cost overruns and non-completion.
Costs of construction to bring a property up to standards established for the market position intended for that property may exceed original estimates, possibly
making a project uneconomical. Other risks may include environmental risks and the possibility of construction, rehabilitation and subsequent leasing of the
property not being completed on schedule. If such construction or renovation is not completed in a timely manner, or if it costs more than expected, the borrower
may experience a prolonged impairment of net operating income and may not be able to make payments on our investment.

 
Our stockholders’ investment return may be reduced if we are required to register as an investment company under the Investment Company Act; if
we or our subsidiaries become an unregistered investment company, we could not continue our business.

 
Neither we nor any of our subsidiaries intend to register as investment companies under the Investment Company Act. If we or our subsidiaries were obligated to
register as investment companies, we would have to comply with a variety of substantive requirements under the Investment Company Act that impose, among
other things:

 
• limitations on capital structure;

 
• restrictions on specified investments;

 
• prohibitions on transactions with affiliates; and

 
• compliance with reporting, record keeping, voting, proxy disclosure and other rules and regulations that would significantly increase our operating

expenses.
 

Under the relevant provisions of Section 3(a)(1) of the Investment Company Act, an investment company is any issuer that:
 
• pursuant to 3(a)(1)(A), is or holds itself out as being engaged primarily, or proposes to engage primarily, in the business of investing, reinvesting or

trading in securities (the “primarily engaged test”); or
 

• pursuant to 3(a)(1)(C), is engaged or proposes to engage in the business of investing, reinvesting, owning, holding or trading in securities and owns
or proposes to acquire “investment securities” having a value exceeding 40% of the value of such issuer’s total assets (exclusive of U.S. government
securities and cash items) on an unconsolidated basis (the “40% test”). “Investment securities” excludes U.S. government securities and securities of
majority-owned subsidiaries that are not themselves investment companies and are not relying on the exception from the definition of investment
company under Section 3(c)(1) or Section 3(c)(7) (relating to private investment companies).

 
We believe that neither we nor our Operating Partnership will be required to register as an investment company based on the following analysis. With respect to
the 40% test, most of the entities through which we and our Operating Partnership own our assets are majority-owned subsidiaries that are not themselves
investment companies and are not relying on the exceptions from the definition of investment company under Section 3(c)(1) or Section 3(c)(7).

 
With respect to the primarily engaged test, we and our Operating Partnership are holding companies and do not intend to invest or trade in securities ourselves.
Rather, through the majority-owned subsidiaries of our Operating Partnership, we and our Operating Partnership are primarily engaged in the non-investment
company businesses of these subsidiaries, namely the business of purchasing or otherwise acquiring real estate and real estate-related assets.
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We believe that most of the subsidiaries of our Operating Partnership will be able to rely on Section 3(c)(5)(C) of the Investment Company Act for an exception
from the definition of an investment company. (Any other subsidiaries of our Operating Partnership should be able to rely on the exceptions for private
investment companies pursuant to Section 3(c)(1) and Section 3(c)(7) of the Investment Company Act.) As reflected in no-action letters, the SEC staff’s position
on Section 3(c) (5)(C) generally requires that an issuer maintain at least 55% of its assets in “mortgages and other liens on and interests in real estate,” or
qualifying assets; at least 80% of its assets in qualifying assets plus real estate-related assets; and no more than 20% of the value of its assets in other than
qualifying assets and real estate-related assets, which we refer to as miscellaneous assets. To constitute a qualifying asset under this 55% requirement, a real
estate interest must meet various criteria based on no-action letters. We expect that each of the subsidiaries of our Operating Partnership relying on Section 3(c)
(5)(C) will invest at least 55% of its assets in qualifying assets, and approximately an additional 25% of its assets in other types of real estate-related assets. We
expect to rely on guidance published by the SEC staff or on our analyses of guidance published with respect to types of assets to determine which assets are
qualifying real estate assets and real estate-related assets.

 
To maintain compliance with the Investment Company Act, our subsidiaries may be unable to sell assets we would otherwise want them to sell and may need to
sell assets we would otherwise wish them to retain. In addition, our subsidiaries may have to acquire additional assets that they might not otherwise have
acquired or may have to forego opportunities to make investments that we would otherwise want them to make and would be important to our investment
strategy. Moreover, the SEC or its staff may issue interpretations with respect to various types of assets that are contrary to our views and current SEC staff
interpretations are subject to change, which increases the risk of non-compliance and the risk that we may be forced to make adverse changes to our portfolio. In
this regard, we note that in 2011 the SEC issued a concept release indicating that the SEC and its staff were reviewing interpretive issues relating to Section 3(c)
(5)(C) and soliciting views on the application of Section 3(c)(5)(C) to companies engaged in the business of acquiring mortgages and mortgage-related
instruments. If we were required to register as an investment company but failed to do so, we would be prohibited from engaging in our business and criminal
and civil actions could be brought against us. In addition, our contracts would be unenforceable unless a court required enforcement and a court could appoint a
receiver to take control of us and liquidate our business.

 
Rapid changes in the values of our assets may make it more difficult for us to maintain our qualification as a REIT or our exception from the
definition of an investment company under the Investment Company Act.

 
If the market value or income potential of our qualifying real estate assets changes as compared to the market value or income potential of our non-qualifying
assets, or if the market value or income potential of our assets that are considered “real estate-related assets” under the Investment Company Act or REIT
qualification tests changes as compared to the market value or income potential of our assets that are not considered “real estate-related assets” under the
Investment Company Act or REIT qualification tests, whether as a result of increased interest rates, prepayment rates or other factors, we may need to modify
our investment portfolio in order to maintain our REIT qualification or exception from the definition of an investment company. If the decline in asset values or
income occurs quickly, this may be especially difficult, if not impossible, to accomplish. This difficulty may be exacerbated by the illiquid nature of many of the
assets that we may own. We may have to make investment decisions that we otherwise would not make absent REIT and Investment Company Act
considerations.

 
Risks Associated with Debt Financing

 
We have used debt financing to acquire properties, which increases our expenses and could subject us to the risk of losing properties in foreclosure
if our cash flow is insufficient to make loan payments.
 
We have and may continue to acquire properties using debt financing. We do not expect to incur indebtedness in excess of 300% of our net assets (equivalent to
75% of the cost of our tangible assets), but upon a vote of the majority of our independent directors we may exceed this level of indebtedness. We may borrow
funds for working capital requirements, tenant improvements, capital improvements, and leasing commissions. We may also borrow funds to make distributions
including but not limited to funds to satisfy the REIT tax qualification requirement that we distribute at least 90% of our annual REIT taxable income (excluding
net capital gains) to our stockholders. We may also borrow if we otherwise deem it necessary or advisable to ensure that we maintain our qualification as a REIT
for federal income tax purposes or to avoid taxation on undistributed income or gain. To the extent we borrow funds; we may raise additional equity capital or
sell properties to pay such debt.

 
If there is a shortfall between the cash flow from a property and the cash flow needed to service acquisition financing on that property, then the amount available
for distributions to stockholders may be reduced. In addition, incurring mortgage debt increases the risk of loss since defaults on indebtedness secured by a
property may result in lenders initiating foreclosure actions. In that case, we could lose the property securing the loan that is in default, thus reducing the value
of our stockholders’ investment. For tax purposes, a foreclosure of any of our properties would be treated as a sale of the property for a purchase price equal to
the outstanding balance of the debt secured by the mortgage. If the outstanding balance of the debt secured by the mortgage exceeds our tax basis in the
property, we would recognize taxable income on foreclosure, but we would not receive any cash proceeds. We may give full or partial guarantees to lenders of
mortgage debt to the entities that own our properties. When we give a guaranty on behalf of an entity that owns one of our properties, we will be responsible to
the lender for satisfaction of the debt if it is not paid by such entity. If any mortgages contain cross-collateralization or cross-default provisions, a default on a
single property could affect multiple properties. If any of our properties are foreclosed upon due to a default, the value of our stockholders’ investments in us will
be reduced. Liquidity in the global credit markets has been significantly contracted by market disruptions during the past two years, making it costly to obtain new
debt financing, when debt financing is available at all. To the extent that market conditions prevent us from obtaining temporary acquisition financing on
financially attractive terms, our ability to make suitable investments in commercial real estate could be delayed or limited. If we are unable to invest equity
proceeds in suitable real estate investments for an extended period of time, distributions to our stockholders may be suspended and may be lower and the value
of investments in our shares could be reduced.
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Lenders may require us to enter into restrictive covenants relating to our operations, which could limit our ability to make distributions to our
stockholders.

 
When providing financing, a lender may impose restrictions on us that affect our distribution and operating policies and our ability to incur additional debt. Loan
documents we enter into may contain covenants that limit our ability to further mortgage the property, discontinue insurance coverage, or replace our Advisor.
These or other limitations may limit our flexibility and prevent us from achieving our operating plans.

 
Non-compliance with the financial covenants included in the documents evidencing our outstanding debt obligations may result in the lender
imposing additional restrictions on our operations or constitute an event of default under such documents. Such events would harm our financial
condition, results of operations and the return on our stockholders’ investment in us.

 
The documents evidencing our outstanding debt obligations typically include restrictive financial covenants, including that specified loan-to-value and debt service
coverage ratios be maintained with respect to our financed properties before we can exercise certain rights under the documents relating to such properties. A
breach of the financial covenants in these documents may result in the lender imposing additional restrictions on our operations, such as our ability to incur
additional debt, or may allow the lender to impose cash traps with respect to cash flow from the property securing the loan. In addition, such a breach may
constitute an event of default and the lender could require us to repay the debt immediately. If we fail to make such repayment in a timely manner, the lender
may be entitled to take possession of any property securing the loan.

  
High levels of debt or increases in interest rates could increase the amount of our loan payments, reduce the cash available for distribution to
stockholders and subject us to the risk of losing properties in foreclosure if our cash flow is insufficient to make loan payments.

 
Our policies do not limit us from incurring debt. High debt levels would cause us to incur higher interest charges, would result in higher debt service payments,
and could be accompanied by restrictive covenants. Interest we pay could reduce cash available for distribution to stockholders. Additionally, if we incur variable
rate debt, increases in interest rates would increase our interest costs, which would reduce our cash flows and our ability to make distributions to our
stockholders. In addition, if we need to repay existing debt during periods of rising interest rates, we could be required to liquidate one or more of our
investments in properties at times which may not permit realization of the maximum return on such investments and could result in a loss.  
 
High mortgage rates may make it difficult for us to finance or refinance properties, which could reduce the number of properties we can acquire, our
cash flows from operations and the amount of cash distributions we can make

 
If mortgage debt is unavailable at reasonable rates, we may not be able to finance the purchase of properties. If we place mortgage debt on properties, we run
the risk of being unable to refinance the properties when the debt becomes due or of being unable to refinance on favorable terms. If interest rates are higher
when we refinance the properties, our income could be reduced. We may be unable to refinance properties. If any of these events occurs, our cash flow would
be reduced. This, in turn, would reduce cash available for distribution to you and may hinder our ability to raise capital by issuing more stock or borrowing more
money.

 
Federal Income Tax Risks

 
Failure to qualify as a REIT would subject us to federal income tax, which would reduce the cash available for distribution to you.

 
We expect to operate in a manner that will allow us to continue to qualify as a REIT for federal income tax purposes. However, the federal income tax laws
governing REITs are extremely complex, and interpretations of the federal income tax laws governing qualification as a REIT are limited. Qualifying as a REIT
requires us to meet various tests regarding the nature of our assets and our income, the ownership of our outstanding stock, and the amount of our distributions
on an ongoing basis. While we intend to operate so that we will qualify as a REIT, given the highly complex nature of the rules governing REITs, the ongoing
importance of factual determinations, including the tax treatment of certain investments we may make, and the possibility of future changes in our circumstances,
no assurance can be given that we will so qualify for any particular year. If we fail to qualify as a REIT in any calendar year and we do not qualify for certain
statutory relief provisions, we would be required to pay federal income tax on our taxable income. We might need to borrow money or sell assets to pay that tax.
Our payment of income tax would decrease the amount of our income available for distribution to you. Furthermore, if we fail to maintain our qualification as a
REIT and we do not qualify for certain statutory relief provisions, we no longer would be required to distribute substantially all of our REIT taxable income to our
stockholders. Unless our failure to qualify as a REIT were excused under federal tax laws, we would be disqualified from taxation as a REIT for the four taxable
years following the year during which qualification was lost.

 
Even if we qualify as a REIT for federal income tax purposes, we may be subject to other tax liabilities that reduce our cash flow and our ability to
make distributions to our stockholders.

 
Even if we qualify as a REIT for federal income tax purposes, we may be subject to some federal, state and local taxes on our income or property. For example:

 
• In order to qualify as a REIT, we must distribute annually at least 90% of our REIT taxable income to our stockholders (which is determined without

regard to the dividends-paid deduction or net capital gain). To the extent that we satisfy the distribution requirement but distribute less than 100% of
our REIT taxable income, we will be subject to federal corporate income tax on the undistributed income.
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• We will be subject to a 4% nondeductible excise tax on the amount, if any, by which distributions we pay in any calendar year are less than the sum

of 85% of our ordinary income, 95% of our capital gain net income and 100% of our undistributed income from prior years.
 

 • If we elect to treat property that we acquire in connection with a foreclosure of a mortgage loan or certain leasehold terminations as “foreclosure
property,” we may avoid the 100% tax on gain from a resale of that property, but the income from the sale or operation of that property may be
subject to corporate income tax at the highest applicable rate.

 
 • If we sell an asset, other than foreclosure property, that we hold primarily for sale to customers in the ordinary course of business, our gain would be

subject to the 100% “prohibited transaction” tax unless such sale were made by one of our taxable REIT subsidiaries.
 

We intend to make distributions to our stockholders to comply with the REIT requirements of the Internal Revenue Code.
 

To maintain our REIT status, we may be forced to forego otherwise attractive opportunities, which may delay or hinder our ability to meet our
investment objectives and reduce the overall return to our stockholders.  

 
To qualify as a REIT, we must satisfy certain tests on an ongoing basis concerning, among other things, the sources of our income, nature of our assets and the
amounts we distribute to our stockholders. We may be required to make distributions to stockholders at times when it would be more advantageous to reinvest
cash in our business or when we do not have funds readily available for distribution. Compliance with the REIT requirements may hinder our ability to operate
solely on the basis of maximizing profits and the value of our stockholders’ investments in us.

 
If we borrow money to meet the REIT minimum distribution requirement or for other working capital needs, our expenses will increase, our net
income will be reduced by the amount of interest we pay on the money we borrow and we will be obligated to repay the money we borrow from future
earnings or by selling assets, which will decrease future distributions to stockholders.

 
To qualify as a REIT, we generally must distribute annually to our stockholders a minimum of 90% of our taxable income, excluding capital gains. We will be
subject to regular corporate income taxes to the extent that we distribute less than 100% of our REIT taxable income each year. Additionally, we will be subject
to a 4% nondeductible excise tax on any amount by which distributions paid (or deemed paid) by us in any calendar year are less than the sum of 85% of our
ordinary income, 95% of our capital gain net income and 100% of our undistributed income from previous years. Payments we make to redeem our shares
generally are not taken into account for purposes of these distribution requirements. If we do not have sufficient cash to make distributions necessary to preserve
our REIT status for any year or to avoid taxation, we may be forced to borrow funds or sell assets even if the market conditions at that time are not favorable for
these borrowings or sales. We may decide to borrow funds in order to meet the REIT minimum distribution requirements even if our management believes that
the then prevailing market conditions generally are not favorable for such borrowings or that such borrowings would not be advisable in the absence of such tax
considerations. Distributions made in excess of our net income will generally constitute a return of capital to stockholders.

 
If the Operating Partnership is classified as a “publicly-traded partnership” under the Internal Revenue Code, it could be subjected to tax on its
income and the amount of distributions we make to our stockholders will be less.

 
We structured the Operating Partnership so that it would be classified as a partnership for federal income tax purposes. In this regard, the Internal Revenue
Code generally classifies “publicly traded partnerships” (as defined in Section 7704 of the Internal Revenue Code) as associations taxable as corporations
(rather than as partnerships), unless substantially all of their taxable income consists of specified types of passive income. In order to minimize the risk that the
Internal Revenue Code would classify the Operating Partnership as a “publicly traded partnership” for tax purposes, we placed certain restrictions on the transfer
and/or redemption of partnership units in our operating partnership. If the Internal Revenue Service were to assert successfully that the Operating Partnership is
a “publicly traded partnership,” and substantially all of the Operating Partnership’s gross income did not consist of the specified types of passive income, the
Internal Revenue Code would treat our Operating Partnership as an association taxable as a corporation. In such event, the character of our assets and items of
gross income would change and would likely prevent us from qualifying and maintaining our status as a REIT. In addition, the imposition of a corporate tax on our
Operating Partnership would reduce the amount of cash distributable to us from our Operating Partnership and therefore would reduce our amount of cash
available to make distributions to our stockholders.
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The tax on prohibited transactions will limit our ability to engage in transactions, including certain methods of securitizing mortgage loans that would
be treated as sales for federal income tax purposes.

 
A REIT’s net income from prohibited transactions is subject to a 100% tax. In general, prohibited transactions are sales or other dispositions of assets, other
than foreclosure property, deemed held primarily for sale to customers in the ordinary course of business. We might be subject to this tax if we were to dispose
of or securitize loans in a manner that was treated as a sale of the loans for federal income tax purposes. Therefore, in order to avoid the prohibited transactions
tax, we may choose not to engage in certain sales of loans at the REIT level, and may limit the structures we utilize for our securitization transactions, even
though the sales or structures might otherwise be beneficial to us.

 
It may be possible to reduce the impact of the prohibited transaction tax by conducting certain activities through taxable REIT subsidiaries. However, to the
extent that we engage in such activities through taxable REIT subsidiaries, the income associated with such activities may be subject to full corporate income
tax.

   
Dividends payable by REITs do not qualify for the reduced tax rates.

 
The maximum tax rate for dividends payable to domestic stockholders that are individuals, trusts and estates is 20%. Dividends payable by REITs, however, are
generally not eligible for this rate. The more favorable rates applicable to regular corporate dividends could cause investors who are individuals, trusts or estates
to perceive investments in REITs to be relatively less attractive than investments in stock of non-REIT corporations that pay dividends, which could adversely
affect the value of the stock of REITs, including our common stock.

 
Distributions to tax-exempt investors may be classified as unrelated business taxable income and tax-exempt investors would be required to pay tax
on the unrelated business taxable income and to file income tax returns.

 
Neither ordinary nor capital gain distributions with respect to our common stock nor gain from the sale of stock should generally constitute unrelated business
taxable income to a tax-exempt investor. However, there are certain exceptions to this rule. In particular:

 
• under certain circumstances, part of the income and gain recognized by certain qualified employee pension trusts with respect to our stock may be

treated as unrelated business taxable income if our stock is predominately held by qualified employee pension trusts, such that we are a “pension-
held” REIT (which we do not expect to be the case);

   
 • part of the income and gain recognized by a tax exempt investor with respect to our stock would constitute unrelated business taxable income if

such investor incurs debt in order to acquire the common stock; and
 
• part or all of the income or gain recognized with respect to our stock held by social clubs, voluntary employee benefit associations, supplemental

unemployment benefit trusts and qualified group legal services plans which are exempt from federal income taxation under Sections 501(c)(7), (9),
(17), or (20) of the Code may be treated as unrelated business taxable income.

 
Foreign investors may be subject to FIRPTA tax on the sale of our stock if we are unable to qualify as a “domestically controlled” REIT.

 
A foreign person disposing of a U.S. real property interest, including stock of a U.S. corporation whose assets consist principally of U.S. real property interests is
generally subject to a tax, known as the Foreign Investment in Real Property Tax Act of 1980 (“FIRPTA”) tax, on the gain recognized on the disposition.
Distributions that are attributable to gains from the disposition of U.S. real property interests by a REIT are subject to FIRPTA tax for foreign investors as though
they were engaged in a trade or business and the distribution constitutes income which is effectively connected with such a business. Such FIRPTA tax does not
apply, if the REIT is “domestically controlled.” A REIT is “domestically controlled” if less than 50% of the REIT’s capital stock, by value, has been owned directly
or indirectly by persons who are not qualifying U.S. persons during a continuous five-year period ending on the date of disposition or, if shorter, during the entire
period of the REIT’s existence.

 
We cannot be sure that we will qualify as a “domestically controlled” REIT. If we were to fail to so qualify, gain realized by foreign investors on a sale of our stock
would be subject to FIRPTA tax, unless our stock were traded on an established securities market and the foreign investor did not at any time during a specified
testing period directly or indirectly own more than 5% of the value of our outstanding common stock.

  
Retirement Plan Risks

 
If the fiduciary of an employee benefit plan subject to ERISA (such as a profit sharing, Section 401(k) or pension plan) or an owner of a retirement
arrangement subject to Section 4975 of the Internal Revenue Code (such as an individual retirement account (“IRA”)) fails to meet the fiduciary and
other standards under ERISA or the Internal Revenue Code as a result of an investment in our stock, the fiduciary could be subject to penalties and
other sanctions.

 
There are special considerations that apply to employee benefit plans subject to the ERISA (such as profit sharing, Section 401(k) or pension plans) and other
retirement plans or accounts subject to Section 4975 of the Internal Revenue Code (such as an IRA) that are investing in our shares. Fiduciaries and IRA owners
investing the assets of such a plan or account in our common stock should satisfy themselves that:

 
• the investment is consistent with their fiduciary and other obligations under ERISA and the Internal Revenue Code;
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• the investment is made in accordance with the documents and instruments governing the plan or IRA, including the plan’s or account’s investment

policy;
 
• the investment satisfies the prudence and diversification requirements of Sections 404(a)(1)(B) and 404(a)(1)(C) of ERISA and other applicable

provisions of ERISA and the Internal Revenue Code;
 
• the investment in our shares, for which no public market currently exists, is consistent with the liquidity needs of the plan or IRA;

 
• the investment will not produce an unacceptable amount of “unrelated business taxable income” for the plan or IRA; and

 
• the investment will not constitute a prohibited transaction under Section 406 of ERISA or Section 4975 of the Internal Revenue Code.
 

With respect to the annual valuation requirements described above, we will provide an estimated value for our shares. We can make no claim whether such
estimated value will or will not satisfy the applicable annual valuation requirements under ERISA and the Internal Revenue Code. The Department of Labor or
the Internal Revenue Service may determine that a plan fiduciary or an IRA custodian is required to take further steps to determine the value of our common
stock. In the absence of an appropriate determination of value, a plan fiduciary or an IRA custodian may be subject to damages, penalties or other sanctions.
 
On April 8, 2016, the Department of Labor issued a final regulation relating to the definition of a fiduciary under ERISA. The final regulation broadens the
definition of fiduciary and is accompanied by new and revised prohibited transaction exemptions relating to investments by IRAs and Benefit Plans. The final
regulation and the related exemptions were set to become applicable for investment transactions on and after April 10, 2017, but generally were not to apply to
purchases of our shares before that date. On February 3, 2017, President Trump delayed the implementation of this regulation by six months pursuant to a
presidential memorandum. The final regulation and the accompanying exemptions are complex, and Plan fiduciaries and the beneficial owners of IRAs are urged
to consult with their own advisors regarding this development.

 
Failure to satisfy the fiduciary standards of conduct and other applicable requirements of ERISA and the Internal Revenue Code may result in the imposition of
civil and criminal penalties and could subject the fiduciary to claims for damages or for equitable remedies, including liability for investment losses. In addition, if
an investment in our shares constitutes a prohibited transaction under ERISA or the Internal Revenue Code, the fiduciary or IRA owner who authorized or
directed the investment may be subject to the imposition of excise taxes with respect to the amount invested. In addition, the investment transaction must be
undone. In the case of a prohibited transaction involving an IRA owner, the IRA may be disqualified as a tax-exempt account and all of the assets of the IRA
may be deemed distributed and subjected to tax. ERISA plan fiduciaries and IRA owners should consult with counsel before making an investment in our
common stock.
 
ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

 
None.
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ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

 
As of December 31, 2016, our portfolio consisted of 35 healthcare facilities. The following table provides summary information regarding our facilities.

 

Property Name  Location  Property Type  

Percentage 
Equity

Ownership   
Date 

Acquired  
Gross Square

Feet   
Purchase 

Price   
Approximate 
Occupancy  

Senior Living Operations  
Caruth Haven Court  Highland Park, TX  Assisted-Living Facility   100% 1/22/2009   74,647  $ 20,500,000   93%
The Oaks Bradenton  Bradenton, FL  Assisted-Living Facility   100% 5/1/2009   18,172   4,500,000   93%
GreenTree at Westwood  Columbus, IN  Assisted-Living Facility   100% 12/30/2009   50,249   5,150,000   62%
Oakleaf Village Portfolio       80% 4/30/2010       27,000,000     

Oakleaf Village at Lexington  Lexington, SC  Assisted-Living Facility         67,000       98%
Oakleaf Village at Greenville  Greenville, SC  Assisted-Living Facility         65,000       80%

Terrace at Mountain Creek  Chattanooga, TN  Assisted-Living Facility   100% 9/3/2010   109,643   8,500,000   88%
Carriage Court of Hilliard  Hilliard, OH  Assisted-Living Facility   100% 12/22/2010   69,184   17,500,000   68%
Spring Village at Floral Vale  Yardley, PA  Assisted-Living Facility   100% 12/22/2010   26,146   4,500,000   97%
Forestview Manor  Meredith, NH  Assisted-Living Facility   100% 1/14/2011   34,270   10,750,000   99%
Woodland Terrace at the Oaks  Allentown, PA  Assisted-Living Facility   100% 4/14/2011   50,400   9,000,000   89%
Amber Glen  Urbana, IL  Assisted-Living Facility   80% 8/31/2012   31,250   13,622,000   81%
Mill Creek  Springfield, IL  Assisted-Living Facility   80% 8/31/2012   31,635   12,356,000   90%
Hudson Creek  Bryan, TX  Assisted-Living Facility   80% 8/31/2012   36,813   11,546,000   88%
Sugar Creek  Normal, IL  Assisted-Living Facility   80% 8/31/2012   31,090   11,963,000   93%

Woodbury Mews Portfolio  Woodbury, NJ  
Assisted-Living and
Independent-Living Facility   100% 10/21/2013   198,557   38,126,000   75%

Standish Village  Dorchester, MA  Assisted-Living Facility   95% 12/6/2013   76,340   15,550,000   86%

Buffalo Crossing  The Villages, FL  Assisted-Living Facility   25% 1/28/2014   112,857   (1)    61%
Compass on the Bay  Boston, MA  Assisted-Living Facility   95% 4/4/2014   28,725   11,700,000   100%

The Parkway  Blue Springs, MO  
Assisted-Living and
Independent-Living Facility   65% 10/2/2014   118,507   22,400,000   95%

Live Oaks Village of Hammond  Hammond, LA  Assisted-Living Facility   100% 11/14/2014   34,800   6,985,000   80%
Live Oaks Village of Slidell  Slidell, LA  Assisted-Living Facility   100% 11/14/2014   32,270   5,715,000   100%
Spring Village at Wildewood  California, MD  Assisted-Living Facility   100% 11/24/2014   30,781   9,650,000   100%
Gables of Hudson  Hudson, OH  Assisted-Living Facility   100% 12/18/2014   84,984   16,750,000   93%
Sumter Place  The Villages, FL  Assisted-Living Facility   100% 12/31/2014   138,191   48,500,000   84%
Sumter Grand  The Villages, FL  Independent Living Facility   100% 2/6/2015   186,342   31,500,000   68%
Gables of Kentridge  Kent, OH  Assisted-Living Facility   100% 4/1/2015   64,163   15,370,000   100%

Armbrook Village  Westfield, MA  
Assisted-Living and
Independent-Living Facility   95% 4/6/2015   109,820   30,000,000   98%

Spring Village at Essex  Essex, VT  Assisted-Living Facility   100% 11/18/2016   38,772   11,088,000   19%
Triple Net Leased  

Mesa Vista Inn Health Center  San Antonio, TX  Skilled Nursing Facility   100% 12/31/2009   55,525   13,000,000   100%
Cornerstone Dallas Rehab  Dallas, TX  Inpatient Rehabilitation Facility   100% 8/19/2010   40,828   14,800,000   100%
Rome LTACH  Rome, GA  Long-Term Acute Care Hospital   100% 1/12/2010   52,944   18,900,000   100%

St. Andrews Village  Aurora, CO  

Assisted-Living Facility and

Independent-Living Facility   100% 8/20/2014   346,649   42,500,000   100%

Accel at Golden  Golden, CO  
Skilled Nursing Facility - Under
Development   100% 4/3/2015   59,913   18,500,000(2)  - 

Medical Office Building  
Hedgcoxe Health Plaza  Plano, TX  Medical Office Building   100% 12/22/2010   32,109   9,094,000   100%

Physicians Center MOB  Bryan, TX  Medical Office Building   72% 4/2/2012   114,583   (1)    65%
Total             2,653,159  $ 537,015,000     

 
(1) This investment is accounted for on the equity method and discussed further in Note 7 to our consolidated financial statements included in this report.
(2) This represents the final budget to develop Accel at Golden. The property received a Certificate of Occupancy in January 2017.
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Expiring Leases

 
The following table shows tenant lease expirations related to the Company’s triple-net leased and medical office building segments for the next ten years:

 
     Expiration Year (1)  

Segment  Total   2017   2018   2019   2020   2021   2022   2023   2024   2025   2026   Thereafter 

Triple Net Leased:                                                
Tenant Leases   5   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   3   -   1   1 

Base Rent ($) (2)   11,070,000   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   6,757,000   -   1,464,000   2,849,000 
% of segment base
rent   100%  0%  0%  0%  0%  0%  0%  0%  61%  0%  13%  26%
                                                 
Medical Office:                                                 
Tenant Leases   8   1   1   3   2   1   -   -   -   -   -   - 

Base Rent ($) (2)   922,000   55,000   46,000   513,000   268,000   40,000   -   -   -   -   -   - 
% of segment base
rent   100%  6%  5%  56%  29%  4%  0%  0%  0%  0%  0%  0%
                                                 
Total:                                                 

Base Rent ($) (2)   11,992,000   55,000   46,000   513,000   268,000   40,000   -   -   6,757,000   -   1,464,000   2,849,000 
% of total base rent  100%  1%  1%  4%  2%  0%  0%  0%  56%  0%  12%  24%

 
(1) This table excludes the Company’s senior living operations segment because those properties are month-to-month resident leases. The leases that expire

in 2017 in the medical office building segment represent less than one percent of the Company’s consolidated revenues for the year ended December 31,
2016.

 
(2) Represents the annualized minimum rents on leases in place as of December 31, 2016, excluding the impact of potential lease renewals, common area

maintenance and straight-line rent that may be recognized relating to the leases.
 

The weighted average annual effective rent for the senior living operations segment for the year ended December 31, 2016 is $60,441 per unit, based on total
revenue per unit.

 
The weighted average annual effective rent for the triple-net leased and medical office building segments for the year ended December 31, 2016 is $24.93 and
$26.36 per square foot, based on total revenue per square foot. The weighted average remaining lease term for the triple-net leased and medical office building
segments as of December 31, 2016 were 10.1 and 3.2 years, respectively.
 
ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

 
From time to time, we are party to various legal proceedings, claims, and disputes that arise in the ordinary course of business. As of the date hereof, we are not
a party to any pending legal proceedings which, individually or in the aggregate, would be expected to have a material effect on our business, financial condition
or results of operations if determined adversely to us.
 
ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

 
Not Applicable.
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PART II

 
ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY

SECURITIES
 

Market Information  
 

During the period covered by this report, there was no established public trading market for our shares of common stock.
 

On March 23, 2016, our Board of Directors approved an estimated per-share value of our common stock equal to $12.45 per share, calculated as of December
31, 2015.

 
In arriving at this estimate, our overall objective was to determine an estimated per-share value that was supported by a methodology and assumptions that are
appropriate and that employ procedures and calculations that can be reliably repeated in future periods. In furtherance of this objective, we engaged HealthTrust,
LLC (“HealthTrust”), an independent third-party commercial real estate valuation firm, to appraise all of our real estate assets. Our board of directors, including all
of the independent directors, reviewed the qualifications of HealthTrust to appraise our real estate portfolio and determined that HealthTrust possesses the
experience and professional competence necessary to be relied upon as experts with respect to the valuation of our real estate assets. The compensation we
paid to HealthTrust was based on the scope of the work requested and not on the appraised values of our real estate assets.

 
HealthTrust’s analyses, opinions, and conclusions were developed in conformity with the Code of Professional Ethics and the Standards of Professional
Appraisal Practice of the Appraisal Institute and in conformity with the Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice. They appraised each of our real
estate assets individually, collecting all reasonably available material information deemed relevant in appraising our real estate properties, including property-
level historical and projected operating revenues and expenses provided by our Advisor. Each appraisal was reviewed, approved and signed by an individual
with the professional designation of Member of the Appraisal Institute.

 
Our board of directors also considered the qualifications of the Advisor, including its professional staff, and determined that the Advisor possesses the
experience and professional competence necessary to be relied upon as an expert with respect to the valuation of our assets and liabilities and the shares of our
common stock. Our Advisor prepared a report that recommended an estimated per-share value based on the appraisals prepared by HealthTrust and its own
estimates of valuation with respect to our debt and non-real estate assets and liabilities. Our board of directors reviewed the report prepared by our Advisor,
which recommended an estimated per-share value, and considered all information provided in light of its own knowledge regarding our assets and liabilities and
unanimously agreed upon an estimated value of $12.45 per share, which is consistent with the recommendations of our Advisor and the independent appraisals.

 
Our estimated per-share value was calculated by aggregating the appraised value of our individual real estate assets and the estimated fair value of our other
assets, subtracting the estimated fair value of our liabilities, including preferred investor liquidation preferences, adjusting the valuations for interests in joint
ventures on selected assets, and dividing the total by the number of our common shares outstanding.

 
The following table summarizes the material components of the estimated net asset value per share for 2015. Our estimated aggregate share value below is the
same as our net asset value. It does not reflect any portfolio premium.

 
  December 31, 2015 

Real estate assets  $ 60.57(1)

Debt   (31.34)(2)

Liquidation preference of preferred interests   (18.99)(3)

Non real-estate assets and liabilities   2.21(4)

Estimated net asset value per-share   12.45 
Estimated enterprise value premium   None assumed 
Total estimated per-share value  $ 12.45 
Common shares outstanding   11,502,617 

 
The estimated per-share value at December 31, 2015 was determined using a methodology that follows the recommendations of the Investment Program
Association, a trade association for non-listed direct investments (the “IPA”) outlined in the IPA Practice Guideline 2013-01 titled Valuations of Publicly
Registered Non-Listed REITs, which was adopted in May 2013.

 
(1) Our real estate assets were appraised as of December 31, 2015 using valuation methods that we believe are typically used by investors for properties

similar to ours, including capitalization of the property net operating income, comparison with sales of similar properties and a cost approach. We do not
believe that there have been any material changes in the value of our real estate assets between the appraisal date and the respective reporting date. In
determining the appraised value of our real estate assets, HealthTrust placed primary emphasis on a direct capitalization analysis, with the other
approaches used principally to confirm the reasonableness of the value conclusion and to value assets in lease up. Using this methodology, the
appraised value of our real estate assets reflects an overall increase from original purchase price, exclusive of acquisition costs, of 25.0%.
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The key assumptions used by HealthTrust to value our real estate assets are as follow:
 

Capitalization Rates  Range   Median  
Senior living operations   6.5% - 8.7%   7.1%
Medical office buildings properties   7.5% - 8.0%   7.8%
Triple-net leased properties   8.0% - 12.8%   8.6%

 
We believe that the assumptions employed in the property appraisals are reasonable and within the ranges used for properties similar to ours and held by
investors with similar expectations to our investors. However, a change in the assumptions utilized by the independent appraisers would impact the
calculation of the value of our real estate assets. For example, assuming all other factors remain unchanged, a change in the assumed capitalization rate
by 0.50% would yield a change in our net asset value ranging from an increase of approximately $1.43 per share to a decrease of approximately $1.23
per share. Based upon the property net operating income for our properties as estimated by the independent appraisers, the aggregate appraised value
of the portfolio was $739.5 million at December 31, 2015.
 

(2) The fair value of our debt instruments was estimated using discounted cash flow models, which incorporate assumptions that we believe reflect the
terms currently available on similar borrowing arrangements to borrowers with credit profiles similar to ours. Borrowing arrangements considered in
determining appropriate discount rates include loan term, lender criteria and property characteristics.

 
(3) The liquidation preference of preferred interests reflects the payments that would be due to our Series C Preferred Stock holder and the Series B

Preferred Unit holder at December 31, 2015, as determined in accordance with the terms of the governing documents.
 
(4) The fair value of our non-real estate assets and liabilities is estimated at December 31, 2015 to reflect book value given their typically short-term (less

than 1 year) settlement periods. Such adjustment also includes the effect of ownership of certain of our properties by joint venture partners and the
amount that would be paid to our Advisor as a promote in accordance with IPA Practice Guidelines.
 

Our estimated per-share value of $12.45 as of December 31, 2015 has been positively affected by the performance of our portfolio as well as the overall strength
of healthcare real estate market dynamics. We previously reported estimated per-share valuations of $11.63 (as of December 31, 2013) and $10.02 (as of
December 31, 2012) on Current Reports on Form 8-K dated February 28, 2014 and December 22, 2011, respectively.

 
Limitations and Risks

 
As with any valuation methodology, our methodology is based upon a number of estimates and assumptions that may not be accurate or complete (see the
footnotes to the table above). The above estimated per-share value does not reflect costs that would be incurred in connection with the sale of individual
properties, or the premium, if any, that could result for a sale of the entire portfolio and related costs of such a disposition including payments to our
Advisor. Different parties with different assumptions and estimates could derive a different estimated per-share value. Accordingly, with respect to our estimated
per-share value, we can provide no assurance that:

 
 · a stockholder would be able to realize this estimated value per share upon attempting to resell his or her shares;

 · we would be able to achieve, for our stockholders, the estimated value per share, upon a listing of our shares of common stock on a national
securities exchange, selling our real estate portfolio, or merging with another company; or

 · the estimated share value or the methodologies relied upon to estimate the share value, will be found by any regulatory authority to comply with
FINRA, ERISA, or any other regulatory requirements.

 
Furthermore, the estimated value of our shares was calculated as of a particular point in time. The value of our shares will fluctuate over time in response to,
among other things, changes in real estate market fundamentals, capital markets activities, and attributes specific to the properties within our portfolio.

  
Stock Repurchase Program

 
In 2007, we adopted a stock repurchase program for investors who had held their shares for at least one year. Under our stock repurchase program, the
repurchase price varied depending on the purchase price paid by the stockholder and the number of years the shares were held. Our board of directors may
amend, suspend or terminate the program at any time with 30 days prior notice to stockholders. We have no obligation to repurchase our stockholders’ shares.

 
Since May 29, 2011 our stock repurchase program has been suspended for all repurchases except repurchases due to death of a stockholder. On March 31,
2014, we informed stockholders of the complete suspension of the share repurchase program following the March 2014 redemption date. The Company
redeemed all stock repurchase requests due to death received prior to March 31, 2014. No shares have been repurchased pursuant to the program following
the 2014 suspension. 

 
Any repurchase requests submitted while the program is suspended will be returned to investors and must be resubmitted upon resumption of the stock
repurchase program. If the stock repurchase program is resumed, we will give all stockholders notice that we are resuming redemptions, so that all stockholders
will have an equal opportunity to submit shares for repurchase.
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Stockholders

 
As of March 17, 2017, we had approximately 11.5 million shares of common stock outstanding held by 3,277 stockholders of record.

 
Distributions

 
In order to meet the requirements for tax treatments as a REIT under the Internal Revenue Code, we must pay distributions to our stockholders each taxable
year equal to at least 90% of our net ordinary taxable income. Our board generally declares distributions on a quarterly basis, based on daily record dates; such
distributions are paid quarterly.

 
During each of the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015, we paid distributions, net of any distributions reinvested, aggregating approximately $5.4 million.
From October 16, 2006 (date of inception) to December 31, 2016, distributions declared were approximately $42.3 million. Of this amount, $6.3 million has been
reinvested through our distribution reinvestment plan and $34.5 million has been paid in cash to stockholders. Since inception, we have experienced a
cumulative positive cash flow from operations of approximately $67.1 million. Accordingly, from our inception to date, our cash flows from operations have
exceeded our total distributions.

 
The following table shows the distributions declared on daily record dates for each day during the period from January 1, 2015 through December 31, 2016,
aggregated by quarter.

 

  Distributions Declared (1)(2)   Distributions   Cash Flows from  Net (Loss)  

Period  Cash   Reinvested   Total   Paid   Operations   Income  
First quarter 2015  $ 1,330,000  $ 85,000  $ 1,415,000  $ 1,354,000  $ 3,348,000  $ (735,000)
Second quarter 2015   1,347,000   85,000   1,432,000   1,330,000   4,369,000   (1,498,000)
Third quarter 2015   1,363,000   86,000   1,449,000   1,347,000   5,515,000   (509,000)
Fourth quarter 2015   1,362,000   87,000   1,449,000   1,363,000   5,418,000   2,991,000 
  $ 5,402,000  $ 343,000  $ 5,745,000  $ 5,394,000  $ 18,650,000  $ 249,000 

                         
First quarter 2016  $ 1,342,000  $ 89,000  $ 1,431,000  $ 1,362,000  $ 6,871,000  $ 2,378,000 
Second quarter 2016   1,343,000   88,000   1,431,000   1,342,000   4,607,000   1,264,000 
Third quarter 2016   1,358,000   91,000   1,449,000   1,345,000   7,072,000   2,958,000 
Fourth quarter 2016   1,358,000   91,000   1,449,000   1,358,000   6,285,000   6,922,000 
  $ 5,401,000  $ 359,000  $ 5,760,000  $ 5,407,000  $ 24,835,000  $ 13,522,000 

 
(1) Distributions are declared based on daily record dates and paid quarterly.
(2) This table represents distributions declared and paid to common stockholders for each respective period. These amounts do not include distribution

payments to the Series B Preferred Unit holders for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015.
 

Commencing with the declaration of distribution for daily record dates occurring in the second quarter of 2013 and thereafter, our board of directors has declared
distributions in amounts per share that, if declared and paid each day for a 365-day period, would equate to an annualized rate of $0.50 per share (5.00% based
on share price of $10.00). 
 
In connection with the Participation Agreement (as described in Note 8), the Board of Directors adopted a Regular Quarterly Dividend Policy (the “Dividend
Policy”), which documents the circumstances under which the Board of Directors may increase the regular quarterly dividend that may be paid to holders of the
common stock of the Company (the “Regular Quarterly Dividend Rate”) from its current level of $0.125 per share without the consent of the Investor. The
Dividend Policy provides that the Company may maintain the Regular Quarterly Dividend Rate at the current level and that the Company may also elect to
reduce the Regular Quarterly Dividend Rate in its discretion. The policy expires on August 31, 2019.

 
The declaration of distributions is at the discretion of our board of directors and our board will determine the amount of distributions on a regular basis. The
amount of distributions will depend on our funds from operations, financial condition, capital requirements, annual distribution requirements under the REIT
provisions of the Internal Revenue Code and other factors our board of directors deems relevant.

 
Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities

 
During the period covered in this report we did not sell any unregistered securities.

 
Equity Compensation Plans

 
Information about securities authorized for issuance under our equity compensation plans required for this item is included in Part III, Item 12 herein.
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

 
The following should be read with the sections titled “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and the
consolidated financial statements and the notes thereto.

  

  
December 31,

2016   
December 31,

2015   
December 31,

2014   
December 31,

2013   
December 31,

2012  
Balance Sheet Data:                     
Total assets (1)  $ 574,263,000  $ 535,197,000  $ 430,496,000  $ 274,876,000  $ 229,533,000 
Investments in real estate, net   475,004,000   468,989,000   369,069,000   235,219,000   189,736,000 
Notes payable, net (1)   366,097,000   335,288,000   273,138,000   179,679,000   143,667,000 
Stockholders’ equity   185,730,000   170,516,000   142,705,000   86,245,000   77,909,000 
 

  
December 31,

2016   
December 31,

2015   
December 31,

2014   
December 31,

2013   
December 31,

2012  
Operating Data:                     
Revenues  $ 130,036,000  $ 115,295,000  $ 81,565,000  $ 61,855,000  $ 48,633,000 
Property operating and maintenance  $ 83,001,000  $ 74,301,000  $ 50,841,000  $ 37,710,000  $ 29,941,000 
General and administrative expense (2)  $ 2,081,000  $ 2,430,000  $ 1,710,000  $ 1,639,000  $ 1,955,000 
Net income (loss)  $ 13,522,000  $ 249,000  $ 487,000  $ 2,454,000  $ (810,000)
Noncontrolling interest  $ 11,692,000  $ 9,147,000  $ 3,153,000  $ 566,000  $ 72,000 
Net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders  $ 1,830,000  $ (8,898,000)  $ (2,666,000)  $ 1,888,000  $ (882,000)
Net income (loss) per common share attributable to
common stockholders - basic and diluted   0.16   (0.77)   (0.22)   0.15   (0.07)
Dividends declared   5,760,000   5,745,000   5,985,000   6,263,000   3,940,000 
Dividends per common share (3)  $ 0.50  $ 0.50  $ 0.50  $ 0.49  $ 0.31 
Weighted average number of shares outstanding - basic
and diluted   11,515,378   11,485,967   12,242,324   12,734,907   12,871,670 
Other Data:                     
Cash flows provided by operating activities  $ 24,835,000  $ 18,650,000  $ 13,197,000  $ 8,891,000  $ 6,049,000 
Cash flows used in investing activities  $ (40,514,000)  $ (100,900,000)  $ (141,711,000)  $ (50,223,000)  $ (21,070,000)
Cash flows provided by financing activities  $ 27,799,000  $ 69,487,000  $ 142,286,000  $ 41,617,000  $ 8,556,000 

 
 (1) Total assets and notes payable, net for prior periods has been recast to conform to the 2016 presentation which presents debt issuance cost as a direct

reduction of the related liability instead of an asset.
 (2) The Company had previously recorded income tax benefit (expense) as a component of general and administrative expenses. As of December 31, 2015,

income tax benefit has been reclassified and is separately presented in the consolidated statements of operations. The presentation of prior-period
information has been retrospectively adjusted and the reclassification has no impact on net income (loss).

 (3) Dividends per common share is calculated based on days outstanding during the year.
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

 
The following discussion should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and notes appearing elsewhere in this Form 10-K. See also
“Special Note about Forward Looking Statements” preceding Item 1 of this report.

 
Overview

 
We were incorporated on October 16, 2006 for the purpose of engaging in the business of investing in and owning commercial real estate and real estate-related
assets. We intend to invest primarily in healthcare properties and other real estate-related assets related to healthcare located in markets in the United States.

 
Our business has been managed by an external advisor since the commencement of our initial public offering in June 2008 and we have no employees. Since
January 1, 2012, our Advisor has managed our business pursuant to the Advisory Agreement. Subject to certain restrictions and limitations, the Advisor is
responsible for conducting our operations and managing our portfolio of real estate and real estate-related assets. In addition, to the extent we make additional
investments, the Advisor is responsible for identifying and making acquisitions and investments on our behalf. Our Advisor has contractual and fiduciary
responsibilities to us and our stockholders.

 
On February 10, 2013, we entered into a series of agreements, which have been amended at various points after February 10, 2013, with the Investor for the
purpose of obtaining equity funding to finance investment opportunities (such investments and the related agreements are referred to herein collectively as “the
KKR Equity Commitment”). Pursuant to the KKR Equity Commitment, we could issue and sell to the Investor and its affiliates on a private placement basis from
time to time over a period of up to three years, up to $158.7 million in aggregate issuance amount of preferred securities in the Company and the Operating
Partnership. As of December 31, 2016, no securities remain issuable under the KKR Equity Commitment.

 
As of December 31, 2016, we had issued and outstanding 11,531,615 shares of common stock and 1,000 shares of Series C Preferred Stock. All 1,000 shares
of the Series C Preferred Stock were issued to the Investor pursuant to the KKR Equity Commitment. In addition, as of December 31, 2016 the Operating
Partnership had issued and outstanding 11,551,615 Common Units, 1,000 Series A Preferred Units, and 1,586,000 Series B Preferred Units.

 
In connection with the KKR Equity Commitment, we entered into the Transition Agreement with our Advisor and the Investor which sets forth the terms for a
transition to an internal management structure for the Company. The Transition Agreement, as amended, requires that, unless the parties agree otherwise, the
existing external advisory structure will remain in place upon substantially the same terms as currently in effect until February 10, 2019, upon which time the
advisory function will be internalized in accordance with procedures set forth in the Transition Agreement.

 
We commenced an initial public offering of our common stock on June 20, 2008. We stopped making offers under the initial public offering on February 3, 2011
after raising gross offering proceeds of $123.9 million from the sale of approximately 12.4 million shares, including shares sold under the distribution
reinvestment plan. On February 4, 2011, we commenced a follow-on offering of our common stock. We suspended primary offering sales in our follow-on
offering on April 29, 2011 and completed the final sale of shares under the distribution reinvestment plan on May 10, 2011. We raised gross offering proceeds
under the follow-on offering of $8.4 million from the sale of approximately 800,000 shares, including shares sold under the distribution reinvestment plan. On
June 12, 2013, we deregistered all remaining unsold follow-on offering shares.

 
On June 19, 2013, we filed a registration statement on Form S-3 to register up to $99,000,000 of shares of common stock to be offered to our existing
stockholders pursuant to the DRIP offering. The purchase price for shares offered pursuant to the DRIP Offering is equal to the most recently announced
estimated per-share value, as of the date the shares are purchased under the distribution reinvestment plan. The DRIP Offering shares were initially offered at a
purchase price of $10.02; effective February 28, 2014 , DRIP offering shares were offered at a purchase price of $11.63 per share; and effective March 23, 2016
DRIP offering shares are being offered at $12.45, which is our most recent estimated per-share value.

  
Our revenues, which are comprised largely of rental income, include rents reported on a straight-line basis over the initial term of each lease. Our growth
depends, in part, on our ability to (i) increase rental income and other earned income from leases by increasing rental rates and occupancy levels; and (ii) control
operating and other expenses, including maximizing tenant recoveries as provided for in lease structures. Our operations are impacted by property specific,
market specific, general economic and other conditions.

 
Market Outlook — Real Estate and Real Estate Finance Markets

 
Over the last decade, both the national and most global economies have experienced increased volatility resulting in significant economic and market
fluctuations. Despite certain improvements in employment trends and some positive economic indicators the economic environment and in particular capital
markets continue to be unpredictable and to present challenges that may delay the implementation of our business strategy or force us to modify it.

 
Despite the economic conditions discussed above, the demand for health care services is projected to continue to grow for the foreseeable future. In 2016, 20%
of the GDP of the United States, was spent on healthcare needs and the aging U.S. population is expected to continue to fuel the need for healthcare services.
According to the US Census Department, the over age 65 population of the United States is projected to grow from 15% to 20% of the US population between
2015 and 2025, with one in five US residents expected to be over 65 years old by 2025. Presently, the healthcare real estate market is fragmented, with a local
or regional focus, offering opportunities for consolidation and market dominance. We believe that a diversified portfolio of healthcare property types minimizes
risks associated with third-party payors, such as Medicare and Medicaid, while also allowing us to capitalize on the favorable demographic trends described
above.
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Highlights for the Twelve Months Ended December 31, 2016
 
We made the following investments during the year: 

 
 · We continued funding the note receivable for the development of The Delaney at Georgetown Village, a senior housing facility which opened

in October 2016;
 · We continued to fund the development of Accel at Golden, a rehab skilled nursing facility which will open in early 2017;
 · We acquired Spring Village at Essex, a senior housing facility, for approximately $11.1 million.

 
Results of Operations

 
As of December 31, 2016, we operated in three reportable business segments: senior living operations, triple-net leased properties, and medical office building
(“MOB”) properties. Our senior living operations segment invests in and directs the operations of independent living, assisted-living, memory care and other
senior housing communities located in the United States. We engage independent third party managers to operate these properties. Our triple-net leased
properties segment invests in healthcare properties in the United States leased under long term “triple-net” or “absolute-net” leases, which require the tenants to
pay all property-related expenses. Our MOB segment invests in medical office buildings and leases those properties to healthcare providers under long term “full
service” leases which may require tenants to reimburse property related expenses to us.

 
We purchased our first property in January 2009, and as of December 31, 2016, we owned interests in 35 properties. At the years ended December 31, 2016,
2015 and 2014, our investments by segment were as follows:

 
Segment (1)  2016   2015   2014  
Senior living operations  27   26   22  
Triple-net leased properties  5   5   4  
Medical office building properties  1   1   1  

 
 (1) In addition to our three reportable business segments, which reflect the operations of our consolidated investments, we also have investments in

unconsolidated joint ventures. For the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015, and 2014 we had two, two, and three investments in unconsolidated joint
ventures, respectively.

 
In November 2016, we acquired Spring Village at Essex, a senior living facility. In February 2015, we acquired Sumter Grand, an independent living facility. In
April 2015, we acquired Gables of Kentridge, a senior living facility; a 95% joint venture in Armbrook Village, a senior living facility; and closed on a commitment
to fund the development of Accel at Golden, a rehab skilled nursing facility, accounted for under a triple-net lease arrangement. In June 2015, we consolidated
our interest in The Parkway and operations began in July 2015.

 
  Years Ended December 31,        

  2016   2015   $ Change   % Change  

Net operating income, as defined (1)                 
Senior living operations  $ 36,477,000  $ 30,852,000  $ 5,625,000   18%
Triple-net leased properties   9,732,000   9,300,000   432,000   5%
Medical office building properties   826,000   842,000   (16,000)   (2)%

Total portfolio net operating income  $ 47,035,000  $ 40,994,000  $ 6,041,000   15%

                 
Reconciliation to net income:                 
Net operating income, as defined (1)  $ 47,035,000  $ 40,994,000  $ 6,041,000   15%
Other (income) expense:                 

General and administrative   2,081,000   2,430,000   (349,000)   (14)%
Asset management fees   3,200,000   5,346,000   (2,146,000)   (40)%
Real estate acquisitions costs   -   1,466,000   (1,466,000)   (100)%
Depreciation and amortization   16,509,000   19,803,000   (3,294,000)   (17)%
Interest expense, net   15,905,000   13,777,000   2,128,000   15%
Change in fair value of contingent consideration   (3,138,000)   689,000   (3,827,000)   (555)%
Equity in loss from unconsolidated entities   163,000   362,000   (199,000)   (55)%
Loss on debt extinguishment   378,000   -   378,000   100%
Income tax benefit   (1,585,000)   (3,128,000)   1,543,000   (49)%

Net income  $ 13,522,000  $ 249,000  $ 13,273,000   5331%
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(1) Net operating income, a non-GAAP supplemental measure, is defined as total revenue less property operating and maintenance expenses. We use net

operating income to evaluate the operating performance of our real estate investments and to make decisions concerning the operation of the property.
We believe that net operating income is useful to investors in understanding the value of income-producing real estate. Net income is the GAAP
measure that is most directly comparable to net operating income; however, net operating income should not be considered as an alternative to net
income as the primary indicator of operating performance as it excludes certain items such as depreciation and amortization, interest expense and
corporate general and administrative expenses. Additionally, net operating income as we define it may not be comparable to net operating income as
defined by other REITs or companies.
 

Senior Living Operations
 

Total revenue for senior living operations includes rental revenue and resident fees and service income. Property operating and maintenance expenses include
labor, food, utilities, marketing, management and other property operating costs. Net operating income for the year ended December 31, 2016 increased to $36.5
million from $30.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2015. The increase is primarily due to the acquisitions of Sumter Grand, Gables of Kentridge, and
Armbrook Village in the first and second quarters of 2015 and the opening of The Parkway in the third quarter of 2015. The increase also reflects charges for
higher levels of care at several senior living properties in the portfolio.

 
  Years Ended December 31,        

  2016   2015   $ Change   % Change  
Senior Living Operations — Net operating income                 

Rental revenue  $ 81,893,000  $ 69,927,000  $ 11,966,000   17%
Resident services and fee income   32,971,000   31,415,000   1,556,000   5%
Tenant reimbursement and other income   3,131,000   2,361,000   770,000   33%

Less:                 
Property operating and maintenance expenses   81,518,000   72,851,000   8,667,000   12%

Total portfolio net operating income  $ 36,477,000  $ 30,852,000  $ 5,625,000   18%

 
Triple-Net Leased Properties

 
Total revenue for triple-net leased properties includes rental revenue and expense reimbursements from tenants. Property operating and maintenance expenses
include insurance and property taxes and other operating expenses reimbursed by our tenants. Net operating income increased to $9.7 million for the year ended
December 31, 2016 compared to $9.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2015 primarily as a result of a $1.3 million lease termination fee received from
the prior tenant at the Global Inpatient Rehab facility, which was offset by a $0.7 million write off of the straight-line receivable. The Company entered into a
lease with a new tenant, Children’s Health System of Texas in June 2016.
 
  Years Ended December 31,        

  2016   2015   $ Change   % Change  
Triple-Net Leased Properties — Net operating income                 

Rental revenue  $ 8,600,000  $ 9,314,000  $ (714,000)   (8)%
Tenant reimbursement and other income   2,287,000   1,113,000   1,174,000   105%

Less:                 
Property operating and maintenance expenses   1,155,000   1,127,000   28,000   2%

Total portfolio net operating income  $ 9,732,000  $ 9,300,000  $ 432,000   5%

 
Medical Office Building Properties

 
Total revenue for medical office building properties includes rental revenue and expense reimbursements from tenants. Property operating and maintenance
expenses include utilities, repairs and maintenance, insurance and property taxes. Net operating income in 2016 was comparable to net operating income in
2015.

 
  Years Ended December 31,        

  2016   2015   $ Change   % Change  
Medical Office Building Properties — Net operating income                 

Rental revenue  $ 846,000  $ 853,000  $ (7,000)   (1)%
Resident services and fee income   -   1,000   (1,000)   (100)%
Tenant reimbursement and other income   308,000   311,000   (3,000)   (1)%

Less:                 
Property operating and maintenance expenses   328,000   323,000   5,000   2%

Total portfolio net operating income  $ 826,000  $ 842,000  $ (16,000)   (2)%
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Unallocated (expenses) income

 
General and administrative expenses decreased to $2.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2016 from $2.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2015.
The decrease was primarily due to $0.6 million in costs incurred during the year ended December 31, 2015 by our board of directors, along with its advisors, to
evaluate strategic alternatives in order to maximize shareholder value, offset by an increase in recurring general and administrative expenses during the year
ended December 31, 2016.

 
Asset management fees decreased to $3.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2016 from $5.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2015, as a result of
the advisor achieving the maximum fee amount for the period of February 11, 2016 through February 10, 2017 during the year ended December 31, 2016.

 
Real estate acquisition costs for the year ended December 31, 2016 decreased to $0.0 million from $1.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2015 primarily
as a result of a fewer number of acquisitions in 2016 as compared to 2015.

 
Depreciation and amortization decreased to $16.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2016 from $19.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2015 due
to higher depreciation and amortization in 2015 resulting from acquisitions, particularly amortization of the in-place leases for senior living facilities acquired in
the fourth quarter of 2014 and the first and second quarters of 2015. These assets are generally amortized in the first twelve months after closing.

  
Interest expense, net, for the year ended December 31, 2016 increased to $15.9 million from $13.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2015, primarily as a
result of the debt incurred for acquisitions that occurred in the first and second quarters of 2015 and the consolidation of The Parkway, which began operations in
the third quarter of 2015.

 
The change in fair value of contingent consideration decreased to $(3.1) million for the year ended December 31, 2016 from an increase of $0.7 million for the
year ended December 31, 2015 due to a change in the projected timing to achieve certain specified net operating income thresholds for the Sumter Grand and
Armbrook Village properties. As of December 31, 2016, the Company does not expect Sumter Grand to achieve the net operating income threshold for the
second tier of the earnout prior to the expiration date. Therefore, the Company derecognized the liability associated with the second tier of the earnout and
recorded approximately $3.1 million in income for the year ended December 31, 2016. During the year ended December 31, 2016, the Company paid the entire
Gables of Hudson earnout of $2.2 million and $1.8 million of the Armbrook Village earnout, as the first tier of the net operating income threshold was met in June
2016.

  
The Company recognized a loss from unconsolidated entities of $0.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2016, which was comparable to the loss of $0.4
million recognized for the year ended December 31, 2015. The Company’s allocation of loss from unconsolidated entities relates to the operations of Buffalo
Crossings and Physicians Center MOB.
 
The Company recognized a loss on debt extinguishment in the amount of $0.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2016, as a result of the refinancing of
the secured loan agreements with KeyBank for Mesa Vista Inn Health Center, Live Oaks of Hammond, Live Oaks of Slidell, Spring Village at Wildewood, Gables
of Hudson, Sumter Place, Sumter Grand and Woodbury Mews.
 
During the year ended December 31, 2016 and 2015, we recognized state and federal income tax benefit of approximately $1.6 million and $3.1 million,
respectively, related to our senior living properties consolidated into our Master TRS. The decrease in 2016 primarily relates to the lower amortization of in-place
lease value associated with properties acquired in late 2014 and early 2015. 
 
Year Ended December 31, 2015 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2014

 
  Years Ended December 31,        

  2015   2014   $ Change   % Change  

Net operating income, as defined (1)                 
Senior living operations  $ 30,852,000  $ 23,197,000  $ 7,655,000   33%
Triple-net leased properties   9,300,000   6,670,000   2,630,000   39%
Medical office building properties   842,000   857,000   (15,000)   (2)%

Total portfolio net operating income  $ 40,994,000  $ 30,724,000  $ 10,270,000   33%

                 
Reconciliation to net income:                 
Net operating income, as defined (1)  $ 40,994,000  $ 30,724,000  $ 10,270,000   33%
Other (income) expense:                 

General and administrative   2,430,000   1,710,000   720,000   42%
Asset management fees   5,346,000   4,135,000   1,211,000   29%
Real estate acquisitions costs   1,466,000   2,724,000   (1,258,000)   (46)%
Depreciation and amortization   19,803,000   11,793,000   8,010,000   68%
Interest expense, net   13,777,000   9,912,000   3,865,000   39%
Change in fair value of contingent consideration   689,000   -   689,000   100%
Equity in loss from unconsolidated entities   362,000   352,000   10,000   3%
Income tax benefit   (3,128,000)   (389,000)   (2,739,000)   704%

Net income  $ 249,000  $ 487,000  $ (238,000)   (49)%
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(1) Net operating income, a non-GAAP supplemental measure, is defined as total revenue less property operating and maintenance expenses. We use net

operating income to evaluate the operating performance of our real estate investments and to make decisions concerning the operation of the property.
We believe that net operating income is useful to investors in understanding the value of income-producing real estate. Net income is the GAAP
measure that is most directly comparable to net operating income; however, net operating income should not be considered as an alternative to net
income as the primary indicator of operating performance as it excludes certain items such as depreciation and amortization, interest expense and
corporate general and administrative expenses. Additionally, net operating income as we define it may not be comparable to net operating income as
defined by other REITs or companies.
 

Senior Living Operations
 

Total revenue for senior living operations includes rental revenue and resident fees and service income. Property operating and maintenance expenses include
labor, food, utilities, marketing, management and other property operating costs. Net operating income for the year ended December 31, 2015 increased to $30.9
million from $23.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2014. The increase is primarily due to the acquisition of Live Oaks Village of Hammond and Slidell,
Spring Village at Wildewood, Gables of Hudson, and Sumter Place in the fourth quarter of 2014, Sumter Grand in the first quarter of 2015, and Gables of
Kentridge and Armbrook Village in the second quarter of 2015. 
 
  Years Ended December 31,        

  2015   2014   $ Change   % Change  
Senior Living Operations — Net operating income                 

Rental revenue  $ 69,927,000  $ 42,338,000  $ 27,589,000   65%
Resident services and fee income   31,415,000   28,845,000   2,570,000   9%
Tenant reimbursement and other income   2,361,000   1,606,000   755,000   47%

Less:                 
Property operating and maintenance expenses   72,851,000   49,592,000   23,259,000   47%

Total portfolio net operating income  $ 30,852,000  $ 23,197,000  $ 7,655,000   33%

 
Triple-Net Leased Properties

 
Total revenue for triple-net leased properties includes rental revenue and expense reimbursements from tenants. Property operating and maintenance expenses
include insurance and property taxes and other operating expenses reimbursed by our tenants. Net operating income increased to $9.3 million for the year ended
December 31, 2015 compared to $6.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2014, primarily as a result of the acquisition of St. Andrews Village in the third
quarter of 2014.

 
  Years Ended December 31,        

  2015   2014   $ Change   % Change  
Triple-Net Leased Properties — Net operating income                 

Rental revenue  $ 9,314,000  $ 6,727,000  $ 2,587,000   38%
Tenant reimbursement and other income   1,113,000   882,000   231,000   26%

Less:                 
Property operating and maintenance expenses   1,127,000   939,000   188,000   20%

Total portfolio net operating income  $ 9,300,000  $ 6,670,000  $ 2,630,000   39%

 
Medical Office Building Properties

 
Total revenue for medical office building properties includes rental revenue and expense reimbursements from tenants. Property operating and maintenance
expenses include utilities, repairs and maintenance, insurance and property taxes. Net operating income in 2015 was comparable to net operating income in
2014.

  
  Years Ended December 31,        

  2015   2014   $ Change   % Change  
Medical Office Building Properties — Net operating income                 

Rental revenue  $ 853,000  $ 857,000  $ (4,000)   0%
Resident services and fee income   1,000   -   1,000   100%
Tenant reimbursement and other income   311,000   310,000   1,000   0%

Less:                 
Property operating and maintenance expenses   323,000   310,000   13,000   4%

Total portfolio net operating income  $ 842,000  $ 857,000  $ (15,000)   (2)%
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Unallocated (expenses) income

 
General and administrative expenses increased to $2.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2015 from $1.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2014.
The increase was primarily due to $0.7 million in costs incurred in connection with the evaluation by our board of directors, along with its advisors, of strategic
alternatives available to the Company to maximize shareholder value.

 
Asset management fees increased to $5.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2015 from $4.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2014, as a result of
an increased asset base.

 
Real estate acquisition costs decreased to $1.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2015 from $2.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2014, primarily
as a result of a fewer number of acquisitions in 2015 as compared to 2014.

 
Depreciation and amortization increased to $19.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2015 from $11.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2014 as a
result of additional depreciation and amortization resulting from acquisitions, particularly amortization of the in-place leases for senior living facilities acquired in
the fourth quarter of 2014 and the first and second quarters of 2015, which are generally amortized in the first twelve months after closing.

  
Interest expense, net, for the year ended December 31, 2015 increased to $13.8 million from $9.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2014, primarily due to
higher debt levels associated with the acquisitions that occurred in the fourth quarter of 2014 and the first and second quarters of 2015.

 
The change in fair value of contingent consideration of $0.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2015 is due to a change in timing of achieving a specified
net operating income threshold for the Gables of Hudson, Sumter Grand and Armbrook Village properties.

 
The Company recognized a loss from unconsolidated entities of $0.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2015, which was comparable to the loss
recognized for the year ended December 31, 2014. The Company’s allocation of loss from unconsolidated entities relates to the operations of investments in
Physicians Center MOB and Buffalo Crossings. 

 
The income tax benefit increased to $3.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2015 from $0.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2014. The increase
was primarily due to the net loss recognized at the Master TRS level. The net loss was driven by acquisition activity and the amortization of the intangible assets
assigned to these properties during the purchase price allocation process.

 
Liquidity and Capital Resources

   
On June 19, 2013, we filed a registration statement on Form S-3 to register up to $99,000,000 of shares of common stock to be offered to our existing
stockholders pursuant to the DRIP Offering. The purchase price for shares offered pursuant to the DRIP Offering is equal to the most recently announced
estimated per-share value, as of the date the shares are purchased under the distribution reinvestment plan. The DRIP Offering shares were initially offered at a
purchase price of $10.02; effective February 28, 2014, DRIP offering shares were offered at a purchase price of $11.63 per share; and effective March 23, 2016,
DRIP offering shares are being offered at $12.45, which is our most recent estimated per-share value.

 
On February 10, 2013, we entered into the KKR Equity Commitment for the purpose of obtaining equity funding to finance investment opportunities. Pursuant to
the KKR Equity Commitment, we could issue and sell to the Investor and its affiliates on a private placement basis from time to time over a period of up to three
years, up to $158.7 million in aggregate issuance amount of preferred securities in the Company and the Operating Partnership. At December 31, 2016, the
Company has received $156.9 million of the total commitment and $1.7 million of equity remains to be funded in connection with the Georgetown Loan. No
securities remain issuable under the KKR Equity Commitment.

 
As of December 31, 2016, we had issued and outstanding 11,531,615 shares of common stock, and 1,000 shares of 3% Senior Cumulative Preferred Stock,
Series C (the “Series C Preferred Stock”). All 1,000 shares of the Series C Preferred Stock were issued to the Investor pursuant to the KKR Equity Commitment.
In addition, as of December 31, 2016 the Operating Partnership had issued and outstanding 11,551,615 Common Units, 1,000 Series A Preferred Units (the
“Series A Preferred Units”), and 1,586,000 Series B Convertible Preferred Units (the “Series B Preferred Units”). As of December 31, 2016, we held all of the
issued and outstanding Common Units and all of the issued and outstanding Series A Preferred Units. All of the issued and outstanding Series B Preferred Units
were issued to the Investor in connection with the KKR Equity Commitment.

 
We expect that primary sources of capital will include debt financing, net cash flows from operations and net proceeds from preferred units of partnership interest
in our Operating Partnership committed and funded in accordance with the terms of the KKR Equity Commitment. We expect that our primary uses of capital will
be for real estate investments, including earnouts and promote monetization payments for the payment of tenant improvements and capital improvements,
operating expenses, including interest expense on any outstanding indebtedness, reducing outstanding indebtedness and for the payment of distributions.

 
We intend to own our stabilized properties with low to moderate levels of debt financing. We incur moderate to high levels of indebtedness when acquiring
development or value-added properties and possibly other real estate investments. For our stabilized core plus properties, our long-term goal is to use low to
moderate levels of debt financing with leverage ranging from 50% to 65% of the value of the asset. For development and value-added properties, our goal is to
acquire and develop or redevelop these properties using moderate to high levels of debt financing with leverage ranging from 65% to 75% of the cost of the
asset. Once these properties are developed, redeveloped and stabilized with tenants, we will reduce the levels of debt to fall within the loan to value target debt
ranges appropriate for core properties. While we seek to fall within the outlined targets on a portfolio basis, for any specific property we may exceed these
estimates. To the extent we do not have sufficient proceeds to repay debt financing down to the target ranges within a reasonable time as determined by our
board of directors, we will endeavor to raise additional equity or sell properties to repay such debt so that we will own our properties with low to moderate levels
of permanent financing. In the event that we are unable to raise additional equity, our ability to diversify our investments may be diminished.
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One of our principal liquidity requirements includes debt service payments and the repayment of maturing debt. As of December 31, 2016, our notes payable
were $370.1 million ($366.1 million, net of discount and deferred financing costs).

  
We are required by the terms of our the applicable loan documents to meet certain financial covenants, such as debt service coverage ratios, rent coverage
ratios and reporting requirements. Any violation of financial covenants under our loans could constitute an event of default. If we were not able to secure a waiver
of such covenant violations, the lender could, at its discretion, declare the loan to be immediately due and payable, take possession of the properties securing
the loan, enforce any loan guarantees by the Company of the loan balance, or exercise other remedies available to it under law. If the lender were to declare the
loan to be immediately due and payable, we expect to refinance the loan in satisfaction of the debt. Any such refinancing may be on terms and conditions less
favorable than the terms currently available under the loan. As of December 31, 2016, we were in compliance with all such covenants and requirements.

 
As of December 31, 2016, we had approximately $34.9 million in cash and cash equivalents on hand. Our liquidity will increase from the sale of common stock
pursuant to our DRIP Offering, by reducing the amount of dividends to be paid in cash, if we receive excess loan proceeds in connection with refinancing, and
increased cash flows from operations. The Company’s liquidity will decrease as funds are expended in connection with real estate investments, including
earnouts and promote monetization payments for the payment of tenant improvements and capital improvements and operating expenses, including interest
expense on any outstanding indebtedness, and if distributions are made in excess of cash available from operating cash flows.

 
Cash flows provided by operating activities for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015 were $24.8 million and $18.7 million, respectively. The increase in
cash flows from operations was primarily due to an increase in net operating income of $6.0 million, partially offset by the timing of cash receipts and payments. 

 
Cash flows used in investing activities for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015 were $40.5 million and $100.9, respectively. The decrease was due
primarily to the acquisitions of Sumter Grand, Gables of Kentridge and Armbrook Village for $69.3 million in 2015.

 
Cash flows provided by financing activities for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015 were $27.8 million and $69.5 million, respectively. The decrease is
primarily a result of activity related to the KKR Equity Commitment and proceeds from and repayments of notes payable for the year ended December 31, 2016
as compared to the year ended December 31, 2015. During 2016, the Company received $18.9 million of net proceeds from KKR related to previously issued
Series B Preferred Units. Additionally, the Company received proceeds from notes payable of $144.3 million related to the Participation Agreement, the
acquisition of Spring Village at Essex, refinance activity and draws on debt for The Parkway, the Accel at Golden development, and Gables of Hudson. These
proceeds were offset with $112.9 million of repayments of notes payable related to the Company’s refinance activity, distributions paid to stockholders of $5.4
million and distributions paid to noncontrolling interests of $11.8 million. During 2015, the Company received $42.2 million of net proceeds from KKR related to
previously issued Series B Preferred Units and received proceeds from notes payable of $47.0 million related to the acquisitions of Sumter Grand, Armbrook
Village and the development loan related to The Parkway. These proceeds were offset by the distributions paid to stockholders of $5.4 million and distributions
paid to noncontrolling interests of $10.6 million.

 
We expect to have sufficient cash available from cash on hand and operations to fund recurring capital improvements and principal payments due on our
borrowings in the next twelve months. We expect to fund stockholder distributions from cash on hand and from the excess of cash provided by operations over
required capital improvements and debt payments. This excess may be insufficient to make distributions at the current level or at all.

 
There may be a delay between the generation of cash available for investment and the funding of investments. During this period, proceeds may be temporarily
invested in short-term, liquid investments that could yield lower returns than investments in real estate.

 
Potential future sources of capital include proceeds from future equity offerings, proceeds from secured or unsecured financings from banks or other lenders,
proceeds from the sale of properties and undistributed funds from operations.

 

 37  

EDGAR Stream is a copyright of Issuer Direct Corporation, all rights reserved.



 

 
Funds from Operations and Modified Funds from Operations

 
Funds from operations (“FFO”) is a non-GAAP financial measure that is widely recognized as a measure of REIT operating performance. We compute FFO in
accordance with the definition outlined by the National Association of Real Estate Investment Trusts (“NAREIT”). NAREIT defines FFO as net income (loss),
computed in accordance with GAAP, excluding extraordinary items, as defined by the accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America
(“GAAP”), and gains (or losses) from sales of property, plus depreciation and amortization on real estate assets, and after adjustments for unconsolidated
partnerships, joint ventures, noncontrolling interests and subsidiaries. Our FFO may not be comparable to FFO reported by other REITs that do not define the
term in accordance with the current NAREIT definition or that interpret the current NAREIT definition differently than we do. We believe that FFO is helpful to
investors and our management as a measure of operating performance because it excludes depreciation and amortization, gains and losses from property
dispositions, and extraordinary items, and as a result, when compared year to year, reflects the impact on operations from trends in occupancy rates, rental
rates, operating costs, development activities, general and administrative expenses, and interest costs, which is not immediately apparent from net income.
Historical cost accounting for real estate assets in accordance with GAAP implicitly assumes that the value of real estate diminishes predictably over time. Since
real estate values have historically risen or fallen with market conditions, many industry investors and analysts have considered the presentation of operating
results for real estate companies that use historical cost accounting alone to be insufficient. As a result, our management believes that the use of FFO, together
with the required GAAP presentations, provide a more complete understanding of our performance. Factors that impact FFO include start-up costs, fixed costs,
delay in buying assets, lower yields on cash held in accounts pending investment, income from portfolio properties and other portfolio assets, interest rates on
acquisition financing and operating expenses. FFO should not be considered as an alternative to net income (loss), as an indication of our performance, nor is it
indicative of funds available to fund our cash needs, including our ability to make distributions, as well as dividend sustainability.

 
Changes in the accounting and reporting rules under GAAP have prompted a significant increase in the amount of non-cash and non-operating items included in
FFO, as defined. Therefore, we use modified funds from operations (“MFFO”), which excludes from FFO real estate acquisition expenses, and non-cash
amounts related to straight-line rent to further evaluate our operating performance. We compute MFFO in accordance with the definition suggested by the
Investment Program Association (the “IPA”), the trade association for direct investment programs (including non-listed REITs). However, certain adjustments
included in the IPA’s definition are not applicable to us and are therefore not included in the foregoing definition.

 
We believe that MFFO is a helpful measure of operating performance because it excludes costs that management considers more reflective of investing
activities or non-operating changes. Accordingly, we believe that MFFO can be a useful metric to assist management, investors and analysts in assessing the
sustainability of our operating performance. As explained below, management’s evaluation of our operating performance excludes the items considered in the
calculation based on the following considerations:

 
· Adjustments for straight-line rents. Under GAAP, rental income recognition can be significantly different than underlying contract terms. By

adjusting for these items, MFFO provides useful supplemental information on the economic impact of our lease terms and presents results in a
manner more consistent with management’s analysis of our operating performance.

 
· Real estate acquisition costs. In evaluating investments in real estate, including both business combinations and investments accounted for

under the equity method of accounting, management’s investment models and analysis differentiate costs to acquire the investment from the
operations derived from the investment. These acquisition costs have been funded from the proceeds of our initial public offering, proceeds
from the KKR Equity Commitment and other financing sources and not from operations. We believe by excluding expensed acquisition costs,
MFFO provides useful supplemental information that is comparable for each type of our real estate investments and is consistent with
management’s analysis of the investing and operating performance of our properties. Real estate acquisition expenses include those paid to our
Advisor and to third parties.

 
· Non-recurring gains or losses included in net income from the extinguishment or sale of debt.
 

 · Unrealized gains or losses resulting from consolidation from, or deconsolidation to equity accounting.
 

 · Elimination of adjustments relating to contingent purchase price obligations where such adjustments have been included in the derivation of
GAAP net income.

 
FFO or MFFO should not be considered as an alternative to net income (loss) nor as an indication of our liquidity. Nor is either indicative of funds available to
fund our cash needs, including our ability to make distributions. Both FFO and MFFO should be reviewed along with other GAAP measurements. Our FFO and
MFFO as presented may not be comparable to amounts calculated by other REITs. In addition, FFO and MFFO presented for different periods may not be
directly comparable.

 
We believe that MFFO is helpful as a measure of operating performance because it excludes costs that management considers more reflective of investing
activities or non-operating changes.

 
Our calculations of FFO and MFFO for the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015, and 2014 are presented below:

  
  For the years ended,  

  
December 31, 

2016   
December 31, 

2015   
December 31,

2014  
Net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders  $ 1,830,000  $ (8,898,000)  $ (2,666,000)
             
Adjustments:             
Real estate depreciation and amortization   16,509,000   19,803,000   11,793,000 
Joint venture depreciation and amortization   555,000   398,000   617,000 
Funds from operations (FFO) attributable to common stockholders  $ 18,894,000  $ 11,303,000  $ 9,744,000 

             
Adjustments:             
Straight-line rent and above/below market lease amortization  $ (145,000)  $ (829,000)  $ (654,000)
Real estate acquisition costs   -   1,466,000   2,724,000 
Change in fair value of contingent consideration   (3,138,000)   689,000   - 
Loss on debt extinguishment   378,000   -   - 
Modified funds from operations (MFFO) attributable to common stockholders  $ 15,989,000  $ 12,629,000  $ 11,814,000 
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Basic and diluted weighted average shares   11,515,378   11,485,967   12,242,324 
             
Basic and diluted FFO per weighted average shares  $ 1.64  $ 0.98  $ 0.80 
Basic and diluted MFFO per weighted average shares  $ 1.39  $ 1.10  $ 0.97 
 

 38  

EDGAR Stream is a copyright of Issuer Direct Corporation, all rights reserved.



 

 
Election as a REIT

 
For federal income tax purposes, we have elected to be taxed as a REIT, under Sections 856 through 860 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended
(the “Code”) beginning with our taxable year ending December 31, 2008. Under the Code, we are not subject to federal income tax on income that we distribute
to our stockholders. REITs are subject to numerous organizational and operational requirements in order to avoid taxation as a regular corporation, including a
requirement that they generally distribute at least 90% of their annual ordinary taxable income to their stockholders. If we fail to qualify for taxation as a REIT in
any year, our income will be taxed at regular corporate rates, and we may be precluded from qualifying for treatment as a REIT for the four-year period following
our failure to qualify. Our failure to qualify as a REIT could result in us having a significant liability for taxes.

 
REIT status imposes limitations related to operating assisted-living properties. Generally, to qualify as a REIT, we cannot directly operate assisted-living facilities.
However, such facilities may generally be operated by a taxable REIT subsidiary (“TRS”) pursuant to a lease with the REIT. Therefore, we have formed a TRS to
lease any assisted-living properties we acquire and to operate the assisted-living properties pursuant to contracts with qualified unaffiliated management
companies. The TRS and the REIT have made the applicable election for the TRS to qualify as a TRS. Under the management contracts, the unaffiliated
management companies will have direct control of the daily operations of these assisted-living properties.

  
Contractual Obligations

 
The following table presents our contractual obligations and the related payment periods as of December 31, 2016:

 
  Payments Due by Period  

Contractual Obligations  Less than 1 year   1-3 years   3-5 years   
More than 5

years   Total  
Notes payable, net  $ 15,261,000  $ 161,437,000  $ 70,356,000  $ 123,059,000  $ 370,113,000 
Development contracts (1)   2,460,000   -   -   -   2,460,000 
Real estate note receivable (1)   6,032,000   1,699,000   -   -   7,731,000 
Ground leases (2)   491,000   1,010,000   1,052,000   13,353,000   15,906,000 
  $ 24,244,000  $ 164,146,000  $ 71,408,000  $ 136,412,000  $ 396,210,000 

 
(1) The amounts presented above represent development costs and funding of a note receivable not yet incurred as of December 31, 2016. For additional

details refer to Notes 4 and 5.
 
(2) Ground leases are operating leases with scheduled payments over the life of the respective leases which expire in the year 2040.

 
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

 
Other than outstanding notes payable on the Company’s unconsolidated joint ventures, there are no off-balance sheet transactions, arrangements or obligations
(including contingent obligations) that have, or are reasonably likely to have, a current or future material effect on our financial condition, results of operations,
liquidity, capital expenditures or capital resources.

 
Inflation

 
Although the real estate market has not been affected significantly by inflation in the recent past due to the relatively low inflation rate, we expect that the
majority of our tenant leases will include provisions that would protect us to some extent from the impact of inflation. Where possible, our leases will include
provisions for rent escalations and partial reimbursement to us of expenses. Our ability to include provisions in the leases that protect us against inflation is
subject to competitive conditions that vary from market to market.

 
Critical Accounting Policies

 
The preparation of financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, or GAAP, requires us to
make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, and related disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities. We believe that our critical accounting policies are those that require significant judgments and estimates such as those related to fair value, real estate
purchase price allocation, evaluation of possible impairment of real property assets, revenue recognition and valuation of receivables, income taxes, and
uncertain tax positions. These estimates are made and evaluated on an on-going basis using information that is currently available as well as various other
assumptions believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results could vary from those estimates, perhaps in material adverse ways, and those
estimates could be different under different assumptions or conditions.
 
Investments in Real Estate

 
Upon acquisition of a property, we allocate the purchase price of the property based upon the fair value of the assets acquired, which generally consist of land,
buildings and improvements, furniture, fixtures and vehicles, tenant improvements, intangible lease assets or liabilities including in-place leases, above market
and below market leases, tenant relationships, contingent considerations and goodwill. We allocated the purchase price to the fair value of the tangible assets of
an acquired property by valuing the property as if it were vacant. The value of the building and improvements are depreciated over an estimated useful life of 15
to 39 years.
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In-place lease values are calculated based on management’s evaluation of the specific characteristics of each tenant’s lease and our overall relationship with
the respective tenant.

 
Acquired above and below market leases are valued based on the present value of the difference between prevailing market rates and the in-place rates over
the remaining lease term. The value of acquired above and below market leases is amortized over the remaining non-cancelable terms of the respective leases
as an adjustment to rental revenue on our consolidated statements of operations.

 
We consider any bargain periods in our calculation of fair value of below-market leases and to amortize our below-market leases over the remaining non-
cancelable lease term plus any bargain renewal periods in accordance with the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Accounting Standards
Codification (“ASC”) 840-20-20, as determined by our management at the time we acquire real property with an in-place lease. The renewal option rates for our
acquired leases do not include any fixed rate options and, instead, contain renewal options that are based on fair value terms at the time of renewal.
Accordingly, no fixed rate renewal options were included in the fair value of below-market leases acquired and the amortization period is based on the acquired
non-cancelable lease term.

 
Should a significant tenant terminate their lease, the unamortized portion of intangible assets or liabilities is charged to revenue.

 
Contingent considerations include earnout liabilities and are valued based on the timing of achieving a specified net operating income threshold. The fair value of
the contingent consideration is calculated based on the present value of the potential earnout payment over the estimated amount of time the specified net
operating income threshold is met using a market derived discount rate.

 
Fair Value of Financial Instruments

 
FASB ASC 825-10, “Financial Instruments,” requires the disclosure of fair value information about financial instruments, whether or not recognized on the face
of the balance sheet, for which it is practical to estimate that value.

 
Fair value represents the estimate of the proceeds to be received, or paid in the case of a liability, in a current transaction between willing parties. ASC 820, Fair
Value Measurement (“ASC 820”) establishes a fair value hierarchy to categorize the inputs used in valuation techniques to measure fair value. Inputs are either
observable or unobservable in the marketplace. Observable inputs are based on market data from independent sources and unobservable inputs reflect the
reporting entity’s assumptions about market participant assumptions used to value an asset or liability.

 
Financial assets and liabilities recorded at fair value on the consolidated balance sheets are categorized based on the inputs to the valuation techniques as
follows:

 
Level 1.  Quoted prices in active markets for identical instruments.

 
Level 2.  Observable inputs other than Level 1 prices, such as quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities; quoted prices in markets that are not active; or other
inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data for substantially the full term of the assets or liabilities.

 
Level 3.  Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the fair value of the assets or liabilities.

 
Assets and liabilities measured at fair value are classified according to the lowest level input that is significant to their valuation. A financial instrument that has a
significant unobservable input along with significant observable inputs may still be classified as a Level 3 instrument.

 
We generally determine or calculate the fair value of financial instruments using present value or other valuation techniques, such as discounted cash flow
analyses, incorporating available market discount rate information for similar types of instruments and our estimates for non-performance and liquidity risk. These
techniques are significantly affected by the assumptions used, including the discount rate, credit spreads, and estimates of future cash flow.

 
Impairment of Real Estate Assets and Goodwill

 
Real Estate Assets

 
Rental properties, properties undergoing development and redevelopment, land held for development and intangibles are individually evaluated for impairment in
accordance with ASC 360-10, “ Property, Plant & Equipment ” when conditions exist which may indicate that it is probable that the sum of expected future
undiscounted cash flows is less than the carrying amount. We assess the expected undiscounted cash flows based upon numerous factors, including, but not
limited to, appropriate capitalization rates, construction costs, available market information, historical operating results, known trends and market/economic
conditions that may affect the property and our assumptions about the use of the asset, including, if necessary, a probability-weighted approach if multiple
outcomes are under consideration. Upon determination that impairment has occurred, a write-down will be recorded to reduce the carrying amount to its
estimated fair value.
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In accordance with ASC 360 “ Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-lived Assets, ” we assess whether there has been impairment in the value of our
investments in real estate whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Our portfolio is
evaluated for impairment on a property-by-property basis. Indicators of potential impairment include the following:

 
· Change in strategy resulting in a decreased holding period;
 

 · Decreased occupancy levels;
 

 · Deterioration of the rental market as evidenced by rent decreases over numerous quarters;
 

 · Properties adjacent to or located in the same submarket as those with recent impairment issues; and/or
 

 · Tenant financial problems.
 

During 2016, 2015 and 2014, we did not record any impairment charges related to our investments in real estate.
 

Goodwill
 

We review goodwill for impairment annually and whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying value of goodwill may not be recoverable.
The guidance on goodwill impairment requires us to annually test goodwill for impairment under a two-step impairment test or under a qualitative assessment
which became optional in 2011. In the first step of the two-step test, we compare the fair value of each reporting unit to its carrying value. We determine the fair
value of our reporting unit based on the income approach. Under the income approach, we calculate the fair value of a reporting unit based on the present value
of estimated future cash flows. If the fair value of the reporting unit exceeds the carrying value of the net assets assigned to that unit, goodwill is not impaired. If
the carrying value of the net assets assigned to the reporting unit exceeds the fair value of the reporting unit, then the second step of the impairment test is
performed in order to determine the implied fair value of the reporting unit’s goodwill. If the carrying value of a reporting unit’s goodwill exceeds its implied fair
value, then the company records an impairment loss equal to the difference.
 
For the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, the Company elected to perform Step 1 in its evaluation of goodwill. The Company did not record any
impairment charges related to our goodwill.

 
Revenue Recognition

 
Revenue is recognized when four basic criteria are met: persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, services have been delivered, the amount of revenue is
fixed or determinable, and collection is reasonably assured. Leases with fixed annual rental escalators are generally recognized on a straight-line basis over the
initial lease period, subject to a collectability assessment. Rental income related to leases with contingent rental escalators is generally recorded based on the
contractual cash rental payments due for the period. Because our leases may provide for free rent, lease incentives, or other rental increases at specified
intervals, we straight-line the recognition of revenue, which results in the recording of a receivable for rent not yet due under the lease terms. Our revenues are
comprised largely of rental income and other income collected from tenants.

 
Investments in Unconsolidated Entities

 
We account for our investments in unconsolidated joint ventures under the equity method of accounting. We exercise significant influence, but do not control
these entities or direct the activities that most significantly impact the venture’s performance. Investments in unconsolidated entities are recorded initially at cost
and subsequently adjusted for cash contributions and distributions. We recognize our allocable share of the equity in earnings of our unconsolidated entities
based on the respective venture’s structure and preferences. 

 
Consolidation Considerations for Our Investments in Joint Ventures

 
ASC 810-10, “Consolidation,” addresses how a business enterprise should evaluate whether it has a controlling interest in an entity through means other than
voting rights and, accordingly, should consolidate the entity. We analyze our joint ventures in accordance with this accounting standard to determine whether
they are variable interest entities and, if so, whether we are the primary beneficiary. Our judgment with respect to our level of influence or control over an entity
and whether we are the primary beneficiary of a variable interest entity involves consideration of various factors including the form of our ownership interest, our
voting interest, the size of our investment (including loans) and our ability to participate in major policy-making decisions. Our ability to correctly assess our
influence or control over an entity affects the presentation of these investments in our consolidated financial statements. Refer to Note 7, Investments in
Unconsolidated Entities of the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

 
Income Taxes

 
As part of the process of preparing our consolidated financial statements, significant management judgment is required to evaluate our compliance with REIT
requirements. Our determinations are based on interpretation of tax laws, and our conclusions may have an impact on the income tax expense recognized.
Adjustments to income tax expense may be required as a result of: (i) audits conducted by federal and state tax authorities, (ii) our ability to qualify as a REIT and
(iii) changes in tax laws.
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For federal income tax purposes, we have elected to be taxed as a REIT, under Sections 856 through 860 of the Code beginning with our taxable year ended
December 31, 2008, which imposes limitations related to operating assisted-living properties. As of December 31, 2016, we had acquired twenty-seven assisted-
living facilities and formed twenty-nine wholly owned taxable REIT subsidiaries, or TRSs, which includes a Master TRS that consolidates our wholly owned
TRSs. The properties are operated pursuant to leases with our TRSs. Our TRSs have engaged qualified unaffiliated management companies to operate the
assisted-living facilities. Under the management contracts, the managers have direct control of the daily operations of the properties.

 
We are subject to state and local income taxes in some jurisdictions, and in certain circumstances we may also be subject to federal excise taxes on
undistributed income. In addition, certain of our activities must be conducted by subsidiaries which elect to be treated as TRSs. TRSs are subject to both federal
and state income taxes. We recognize tax penalties relating to unrecognized tax benefits as additional tax expense. Interest relating to unrecognized tax benefits
is recognized as interest expense. Under section 857(b), an excise tax of 100% is imposed on any excessive amount of rental income received by the REIT in
connection with services performed by its TRS to a tenant of the REIT and the deductions of the TRS for payments made to the REIT if rental income and
deductions are not at arms’ length. Several safe harbors are provided for rental income received by the REIT, any of which, if met, prohibit the imposition of the
100% excise tax.

 
ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

 
Market risk includes risks that arise from changes in interest rates, foreign currency exchange rates, commodity prices, equity prices and other market changes
that affect market sensitive instruments. We invest our cash and cash equivalents in government backed securities and FDIC insured savings account which, by
their nature, are subject to interest rate fluctuations. However, we believe that the primary market risk to which we will be exposed to is interest rate risk relating
to the variable portion of our debt financing. As of December 31, 2016, we had approximately $150.5 million of variable rate debt, the majority of which is at a rate
tied to short term LIBOR rates. A 1.0% change in 3-Month LIBOR would result in a change in annual interest expense of approximately $1.5 million per year.
Our interest rate risk management objectives will be to monitor and manage the impact of interest rate changes on earnings and cash flows by using certain
derivative financial instruments such as interest rate swaps and caps in order to mitigate our interest rate risk on variable rate debt. We will not enter into
derivative or interest rate transactions for speculative purposes.

 
In addition to changes in interest rates, the fair value of our real estate is subject to fluctuations based on changes in the real estate capital markets, market
rental rates for office space, local, regional and national economic conditions and changes in the credit worthiness of tenants. All of these factors may also affect
our ability to refinance our debt if necessary.

 
ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

 
See the index included at Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules.

 
ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

 
None.

 
ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

 
Disclosure Controls and Procedures

 
We maintain disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in the reports we file or submit under the
Securities and Exchange Act of 1934 is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms, and that
such information is accumulated and communicated to our senior management, including our chief executive officer and chief financial officer, as appropriate, to
allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. Our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have reviewed the effectiveness of our disclosure
controls and procedures and have concluded that the disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of the end of the period covered by this report.

 
In designing and evaluating the disclosure controls and procedures, management recognizes that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and
operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control objectives, and management is required to apply its judgment in evaluating
the cost-benefit relationship of possible controls and procedures.

 
Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

 
Our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer are responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as such
term is defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934. Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including
our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, we conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting based on
the framework in Internal Control—Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.
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Based on their evaluation as of the end of the period covered by this report, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that we
maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2016.

 
There have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting during our most recent fiscal quarter that have materially affected, or are reasonably
likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
 
ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

 
None.
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PART III

 
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
 
The Board of Directors

 
The names, ages, principal occupations and certain other information about the members of our board of directors are set forth below. Each of our directors is
elected for a one-year term ending at the 2017 annual meeting of stockholders.

 
Billy Butcher, age 36, is one of our KKR-selected Directors as he was elected to be one of our directors, and a member of our investment committee, on March
12, 2013 in connection with, and as a condition to, the execution of the KKR Equity Commitment. Mr. Butcher is an executive officer of Sentinel RE Investment
Holdings GP LLC, which is the general partner of the Investor. Mr. Butcher is currently employed by KKR as a Member in its real estate investment business. Mr.
Butcher joined KKR in 2004, and prior to KKR’s establishment of a dedicated real estate investment effort, Mr. Butcher worked in KKR’s corporate private equity
business, both in the United States and internationally.

 
Prior to joining KKR, Mr. Butcher was employed with Goldman, Sachs & Co. He holds an A.B. from Princeton University and an M.B.A. from the Stanford
University Graduate School of Business.

 
Romeo Cefalo , age 67, has served as one of our independent directors since August 2008 and has served as our chairman of the board since May 2014. From
2004 to 2006, Mr. Cefalo was Executive Vice President of Real Estate, Construction and New Store Development for Albertsons, Inc. He was responsible for
managing Albertson’s real estate operation and $1.5 billion annual capital budget. From 2001 to 2004, Mr. Cefalo was Executive Vice President of Operations for
Albertsons. His responsibilities included managing growth planning and capital budgets. From 1995 to 2001, Mr. Cefalo was President of Lucky Stores in Buena
Park, California, and was responsible for $6.0 billion in sales and $400.0 million in earnings. Mr. Cefalo received his Master of Business Administration from New
Hampshire College in 1984.

 
For the following reasons, the board concluded that Mr. Cefalo should serve as a director. In addition to his management experience, Mr. Cefalo’s specific
knowledge of commercial real estate and related investment and financing activities position him very well to provide the board of directors with valuable
industry-specific insight and experience.

 
Barry Chase, age 61, has served as one of our independent directors since September 2007. He has been actively involved in the real estate industry since
1980. Mr. Chase is the Co-Founder and Managing Principal of AVP advisors, a real estate investment management firm for institutional investors. From 2004 to
present, Mr. Chase has worked for AVP advisors. As of January 1, 2015, Mr. Chase was also the Chief Executive Officer and a Managing Principal of Belay
Investment Group, which is also a real estate investment management firm investing capital on behalf of institutional investors. From 2002 to 2003, Mr. Chase
was a Principal of Platinum Capital advisors, and from 1998 to 2002, he was the Executive Vice President and the President of Koll Development Company’s
Western Division, where he developed more than nine million square feet of office, industrial, retail and mixed-use projects.

 
Prior to joining the Koll Development Company, Mr. Chase held executive level positions with several nationally recognized real estate companies. He served as
the President of Cushman Investment and Development Company, and the Executive Vice President, General Counsel and member of the board of directors of
Cushman Realty Corporation and as the Executive Vice President — Acquisitions of CT Realty Corporation. Mr. Chase began his real estate career with Sunrise
Investment, Inc. As Executive Vice President and General Counsel of Sunrise, Mr. Chase was in charge of property acquisitions/dispositions and capital raising
for the firm’s real estate private placements. Mr. Chase attended California State University, Northridge and received his J.D. Degree from the University of San
Fernando. He is an inactive member of the California State Bar.

 
For the following reasons, the board concluded that Mr. Chase should serve as a director. Mr. Chase brings to the board of directors demonstrated management
ability at senior levels as well as extensive relevant experience in the commercial real estate industry. Mr. Chase’s legal background provides our board with
leadership and consensus-building skills on a variety of matters, including corporate governance.

   
Steven Pearson, age 69, has served as one of our independent directors since September 2007. He is the Executive Vice President, Chief Strategy Officer and
a director for DAUM Commercial Real Estate. Mr. Pearson has been with DAUM since June 1997 and serves as a key executive responsible for the planning and
execution of the company’s growth initiatives. Prior to his affiliation with DAUM, from July 1991 through May 1997, Mr. Pearson served as Senior Vice President
of Coldwell Banker Commercial Affiliates, where he oversaw the design, development, and delivery of all commercial resources for Coldwell Banker.

 
Mr. Pearson’s background includes 15 years with CB Commercial in Denver, San Francisco and Newport Beach. During his tenure in Denver he was active in
the local chapter of the National Association of Industrial and Office Parks (NAIOP) and served as a market expert for several Urban Land Institute (ULI)
functions. In San Francisco, Mr. Pearson was a vice president for Coldwell Banker Investment Banking Services. In this capacity, he focused on the analysis of
recapitalization or disposition of larger real estate assets or asset portfolios of institutional owners - primarily industrial and office portfolios in Denver and
Southern California. In Newport Beach, Mr. Pearson worked as an investment specialist focusing primarily on the analysis and sale of mid-sized institutional
property for insurance companies, Savings and Loans, and the RTC. Mr. Pearson earned his Bachelor of Arts in Psychology from Stanford University and
earned his MBA in Marketing and Finance from the University of Colorado.
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For the following reasons, the board concluded that Mr. Pearson should serve as a director. Mr. Pearson brings to the board over 37 years of diverse experience
in commercial real estate, including experience in the areas of investment banking, brokerage, management and financing. His extensive understanding of these
aspects of industry provide the board with an invaluable resource for assessing and managing risks and planning corporate strategy. In addition, Mr. Pearson
provides an important perspective for the board’s discussions regarding our capital and liquidity needs.

 
Peter Sundheim, age 30, is one of our KKR-selected directors and he was elected to be one of our directors and as a member of our investment committee in
November 2015 as a condition to the KKR Equity Commitment. Mr. Sundheim is currently employed by KKR as a Principal in its real estate investment business.
Mr. Sundheim joined KKR in 2010, and prior to KKR’s establishment of a dedicated real estate investment effort, Mr. Sundheim worked in KKR’s corporate
private equity business, as a member of the Media industry team.

 
Prior to joining KKR, Mr. Sundheim was employed with KSL Capital Partners, a hospitality and leisure focused private equity firm from 2008 to 2010. He holds a
B.A., cum laude, from the University of Pennsylvania.

 
John Mark Ramsey, age 46, is our Chief Executive Officer, President and a member of our board of directors, positions he has held since December 2011. Mr.
Ramsey is also Chief Executive Officer and majority owner of our Advisor, Sentio Investments, LLC, positions he has held since its formation in December
2011. Between May 2007 and December 2011, Mr. Ramsey was an owner of, and served as the Chief Executive Officer of Servant Healthcare Investments, LLC
(“SHI”), which served as our sub-advisor from May 2008 through July 2011 and as our Advisor from July 2011 through December 2011. During his tenures with
Sentio Investments and SHI, Mr. Ramsey has overseen all investment activity for these entities while also developing and maintaining relationships with leaders
in the healthcare industry.

 
Prior to his role with SHI, Mr. Ramsey served for four years at CNL Retirement Properties, Inc. (“CNL”), now Health Care Property Investors, Inc., (NYSE: HCP),
the nation’s largest real estate investment trust focusing exclusively on properties serving the healthcare industry. During his four years as an executive at CNL,
Mr. Ramsey served as a senior vice president and executive committee member. In this capacity, Mr. Ramsey managed the Investment Group, and was
responsible for implementing and executing the investment strategy in the senior housing and medical facilities’ sectors. During his tenure, CNL closed on over
18,000,000 square feet and $3.1 billion, positioning it as the third largest healthcare REIT in the United States, which proved to be a key factor in CNL’s
successful merger with HCP.

 
Before joining CNL in 2003, Mr. Ramsey was co-founder and Senior Vice President of Development and Acquisitions for Superior Residences, Inc., a regional
developer and owner/operator of Senior Housing projects with responsibilities for all company development and acquisition activities. He also has extensive
investment advising experience, having been a Principal and Co-Founder of Weaver, Ramsey & Hershiser, a financial advisory firm specializing in financial
management. Prior to that, he served as an Investment Advisor to A.G. Edwards, where he implemented a total financial planning approach with his clients. Mr.
Ramsey is a Magna Cum Laude graduate of Florida State University, having earned dual degrees in finance and real estate.

 
For the following reasons, the board concluded that Mr. Ramsey should serve as a director. As the Chief Executive Officer and President of the Company, Mr.
Ramsey is the only officer of the Company to sit on the board of directors. As such, Mr. Ramsey is well positioned to provide essential insight and guidance to
the board of directors from an inside perspective of the day-to-day operations of the Company. Furthermore, his experience and expertise in the healthcare real
estate sector and with the acquisition, ownership and operation of senior living facilities and medical facilities are key assets to our board of directors.

 
Ronald Shuck, age 68, has served as one of our independent directors since September 2008. Mr. Shuck was a shareholder with Moore Stephens Lovelace,
P.A, (MSL), an accounting firm, for 26 years until his retirement as a shareholder in July 2013. He continues to serve as an advisor to MSL in relation to its senior
housing practice. Mr. Shuck also helped to form Windermere Strategic Partners, LLC, an organization that provides services to developers and owners of senior
housing properties. Mr. Shuck has been providing services to the senior housing and care industry for over 30 years. His comprehensive financial experience in
the healthcare industry includes consulting with clients on corporate governance, strategic planning, market risk and compiling and examining financial forecasts
and projections. Mr. Shuck has written articles pertaining to senior housing and care that have been published in various publications including The Wall Street
Journal and Forbes Magazine. Mr. Shuck received his Bachelor of Science in Accounting from Kent State University and his Masters in Accounting from the
University of Central Florida. Mr. Shuck also serves on the board of directors for the following organizations: Florida Presbyterian Home (Lakeland), St. Joseph’s
John Know Village (Tampa), and Florida ALFA.

 
For the following reasons, the board concluded that Mr. Shuck should serve as a director. Mr. Shuck brings a key combination of skills overlapping the healthcare
and real estate industries. His background and expert knowledge in the areas of corporate governance, risk assessment and strategic planning are key assets to
the board of directors. In addition, Mr. Shuck’s strong accounting credentials provide him with the skills and knowledge to serve effectively on our audit
committee.

 
James Skorheim, age 65, has served as one of our independent directors since September 2007. He is a CPA, an attorney at law, a Certified Valuation Analyst,
a Certified Fraud Examiner and a Certified Forensic Accountant. Since 2005, he has served as a Principal of the firm Skorheim & Associates, an accountancy
corporation specializing in financial analysis and valuation in relation to commercial damages and losses. From 2000 to 2005, Mr. Skorheim was a partner in the
certified public accounting and business consulting firm of Moss Adams, LLP. Prior to that, he was a partner of Coleman & Grant and Deloitte & Touche LLP.
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Mr. Skorheim has testified in over one hundred business litigation cases at both the federal and state levels on a variety of business and financial issues. He has
also served as a mediator, arbitrator and accounting neutral in numerous matters. His professional background and experience includes the handling of
accounting, tax, financial and estate planning, business consulting, business valuation, risk management and commercial insurance claims services for both small
and Fortune 500 companies and their owners and executives. Mr. Skorheim serves as chairman of our audit committee.
 
For the following reasons, the board concluded that Mr. Skorheim should serve as a director. Mr. Skorheim is an experienced forensic accountant and certified
valuation analyst with the requisite skills necessary to lead our audit committee. His background in financial analysis and his substantial experience in
commercial real estate investment and operations make him a critical asset, both on our board of directors in general and as the chairman of our audit committee.
Mr. Skorheim’s positions have provided him with a wealth of knowledge in dealing with a broad range of financial and accounting matters.

 
Executive Officers

 
The following individuals serve as of our executive officers:

 
John Mark Ramsey is our Chief Executive Officer and President. Biographical information for Mr. Ramsey is set forth above.

 
Spencer Smith, age 34, is our Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer and Secretary, effective January 2017. Mr. Smith has been employed by the Advisor since
November 2013 and has served as its Senior Vice President from 2013 to present. In this role he was responsible for investment strategy and execution, capital
markets initiatives, and corporate finance. Prior to joining the Advisor, Mr. Smith was with Aisling Capital, a healthcare-dedicated private equity fund in New York
City as an associate from 2010 to 2013 and as an analyst from 2006 to 2008. His role at Aisling focused on investment sourcing, evaluation, and execution in the
life sciences sector. Prior to joining Aisling, Mr. Smith was a Business Analyst in the Pharmaceuticals and Medical Products practice at McKinsey& Company.
Mr. Smith received his M.B.A. from The Wharton School at the University of Pennsylvania, where he was a Palmer Scholar. He received his A.B. from Princeton
University, awarded magna cum laude in Economics.

 
Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance

 
Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), requires each director, officer and individual beneficially owning more
than 10% of a registered security of us to file initial statements of beneficial ownership (Form 3) and statements of changes in beneficial ownership (Forms 4 and
5) of common stock of us with the SEC. Based solely upon our review of copies of these reports filed with the SEC and written representations furnished to us by
our officers and directors, we believe that all of the persons subject to the Section 16(a) reporting requirements filed the required reports on a timely basis with
respect to the year ended December 31, 2016.

 
Code of Business Conduct and Ethics

 
Our board of directors has adopted a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics that is applicable to all members of our board of directors and our executive officers.
The Code of Business Conduct and Ethics can be accessed through our website: www.sentiohealthcareproperties.com. If, in the future, we amend, modify or
waive a provision in the Code of Business Conduct and Ethics, we may, rather than filing a Current Report on Form 8-K, satisfy the disclosure requirement by
posting such information on our website.

 
Audit Committee Financial Expert

 
The Audit Committee consists of independent directors James Skorheim (Chairman), Steven Pearson and Ronald Shuck. Our board of directors has determined
that Mr. Skorheim is an “audit committee financial expert,” as defined by the rules of the SEC. The biography of Mr. Skorheim, including his relevant
qualifications, is previously described in this Item 10. Our shares are not listed for trading on any national securities exchange and therefore our audit committee
members are not subject to the independence requirements of any national securities exchange. However, each member of our audit committee is “independent”
under the rules of the NASDAQ stock market.
 
ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

 
Executive Officer Compensation

 
We have no employees and our executive officers do not receive compensation directly from us for services rendered to us. During 2016 and 2015, John Mark
Ramsey and Sharon Kaiser served as our executive officers and were also officers and employees of Sentio Investments, LLC, our Advisor. Mr. Ramsey and Mr.
Smith were compensated by our Advisor, in part, for services that they provided to us. Pursuant to the terms of the Advisory Agreement in effect with our Advisor
during 2016 and 2015, we were not required to reimburse our Advisor for any personnel costs incurred by our Advisor related to its employees, including any
compensation paid by our Advisor to Mr. Ramsey and Mr. Smith. A description of the nature and amounts of fees that we paid to our Advisor during 2016 and
2015 is found below under Item 13. “Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence.”

 
Director Compensation

 
If a director is also one of our executive officers, we do not pay any compensation for services rendered as a director. The amount and form of compensation
payable to directors who are neither our executive officers nor affiliates of our Advisor (such directors are “outside directors”) for their service to us is determined
by our board of directors, based upon information provided by our Advisor. Mr. Ramsey, who manages and controls our Advisor, is involved in advising on the
compensation to be paid to our outside directors.
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We have provided below certain information regarding compensation paid to our directors for the year ended December 31, 2016. 

 

Name  Fees Earned  ($) (1)  
Stock

Awards ($)   
All Other

Compensation ($)   Total ($)  
Billy Butcher   20,750   —   —   20,750 
Romeo Cefalo   28,500   —   —   28,500 
Barry Chase   28,500   —   —   28,500 
Steven Pearson   31,250   —   —   31,250 
John Mark Ramsey (2)   —   —   —   — 
Ronald Shuck   32,250   —   —   32,250 
James Skorheim   33,500   —   —   33,500 
Peter Sundheim   23,750   —   —   23,750 

 
(1) Includes fees paid in 2017 for services rendered in 2016.
(2) Directors who are either (i) our executive officers, or (ii) affiliated with our Advisor, do not receive compensation for services rendered as a director.

  
We pay each of our outside directors for attending board and committee meetings as follows:

 
· $4,500 per regular board meeting attended in person or by teleconference. We expect to hold four regular meetings per year.
 

 · $750 per special board meeting attended in person or by teleconference. The special board meeting fee will apply to any board meeting called by
our officers that is not a regular board meeting.

 
 · $1,000 per committee meeting attended.

 
 · An additional committee chair fee of $500 per meeting for the chair of the audit committee.

 
 · An additional committee chair fee of $250 per meeting for the respective chairs of the compensation, investment and independent directors

committees.
 

All directors receive reimbursement of reasonable out-of-pocket expenses incurred in connection with attendance at meetings of the board of directors and
committees.

 
Equity-Based Compensation

 
We have adopted an Employee and Director Long-Term Incentive Plan to (i) provide incentives to individuals chosen to receive share-based awards because of
their ability to improve operations and increase our profits; (ii) encourage selected persons to accept or continue employment with us or our Advisor or one of our
other affiliates; and (iii) increase the interest of our independent directors in our welfare through their participation in the growth in the value of our common
stock. The total number of shares of common stock we have reserved for issuance under the Employee and Director Long-Term Incentive Plan is equal to 10%
of our outstanding shares at any time. No awards have been granted under the plan. Our Employee and Director Long-Term Incentive Plan was approved prior
to the commencement of our public offering by our board of directors and initial stockholder.
 
ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS
 
Equity Compensation Plan Information

 
The following table provides summary information about securities issuable under our equity compensation plans as of December 31, 2016.
 

Plan category  

Number of securities
to be issued upon exercise

of outstanding options,
warrants, and rights   

Weighted average
exercise price of

outstanding options,
warrants, and rights   

Number of securities
remaining available for

future issuance under equity
compensation plans  

Equity compensation plans approved by security holders   —  $ —   (1)
Equity compensation plans not approved by security holders   —   —   — 

Total   —   —   (1)
  
(1) The number of shares authorized for issuance pursuant to the Employee and Director Long-Term Incentive Plan is equal to 10% of our outstanding stock at

any time. As discussed above under the heading “ Equity-based Compensation, ” no awards have been granted under the Employee and Director Long-
Term Incentive Plan.
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Ownership of Equity Securities by Directors and Executive Officers

 
The following table sets forth information as of March 17, 2017, regarding the beneficial ownership of our common stock by each of our directors, each of our
named executive officers, and our directors and executive officers as a group. The percentage of beneficial ownership is calculated based on 11,538,992 shares
of common stock outstanding as of March 17, 2017. 

 

Name of Beneficial Owner   

Amount and Nature 
of Beneficial 
Ownership (1)    

Percentage 
of Class  

John Mark Ramsey   —   — 
Sharon Kaiser   —   — 
Billy Butcher   —   — 
Romeo Cefalo   —   — 
Barry Chase   —   — 
Steven Pearson   —   — 
Ronald Shuck   —   — 
James Skorheim   —   — 
Peter Sundheim   —   — 
All current directors and executive officers as a group (nine persons)   —   — 
 
(1) Beneficial ownership is determined in accordance with the rules of the SEC and generally includes voting or investment power with respect to securities and

shares issuable pursuant to options, warrants and similar rights held by the respective person or group that may be exercised within 60 days following March
17, 2017. Except as otherwise indicated by footnote, and subject to community property laws where applicable, the persons named in the table above have
sole voting and investment power with respect to all shares of common stock shown as beneficially owned by them. None of the securities listed are pledged
as security.

 
Ownership of Equity Securities by Certain Beneficial Owners

 
The following table sets forth information as of March 17, 2017, regarding the beneficial ownership of the persons that are known to us to be the beneficial
owners of more than 5% of our common stock and Series C Preferred Stock, which constitute our two classes of voting securities. The percentage of beneficial
ownership is calculated based on 11,538,992 shares of common stock and 1,000 shares of Series C Preferred Stock outstanding as of March 17, 2017.
 

Name of Beneficial Owner  

Amount and 
Nature

of Beneficial
Ownership of 

Common
Stock  (1)   

Percentage 
of Class   

Amount and 
Nature

of Beneficial 
Ownership
of Series C 
Preferred
Stock  (1)   

Percentage
of Class  

Sentinel RE Investment Holdings LP (2)   15,830,938(3)  57.9%  1,000   100%
    

(1) Beneficial ownership is determined in accordance with the rules of the SEC and generally includes voting or investment power with respect to securities and
shares issuable pursuant to options, warrants and similar rights held by the respective person or group that may be exercised within 60 days following March
17, 2017. None of the securities listed are pledged as security.

 
(2) These securities are held directly by Sentinel RE Investment Holdings LP. Sentinel RE Investment Holdings GP LLC is the general partner of Sentinel RE

Investment Holdings LP. KKR REPA AIV-1 L.P. is the managing member of Sentinel RE Investment Holdings GP LLC. KKR Associates REPA L.P. is the
general partner of KKR REPA AIV-1 L.P. KKR REPA GP LLC is the general partner of KKR Associates REPA L.P. KKR Fund Holdings L.P. is the sole
member of KKR REPA GP LLC. KKR Fund Holdings GP Limited is a general partner KKR Fund Holdings L.P. KKR Group Holdings L.P. is the sole
shareholder of KKR Fund Holdings GP Limited and a general partner of KKR Fund Holdings L.P. KKR Group Limited is the general partner of KKR Group
Holdings L.P. KKR & Co. L.P. is the sole shareholder of KKR Group Limited. KKR Management LLC is the general partner of KKR & Co. L.P. Messrs. Henry
R. Kravis and George R. Roberts are the designated members of KKR Management LLC. Each of Sentinel RE Investment Holdings GP LLC, KKR REPA
AIV-1 L.P., KKR Associates REPA L.P., KKR REPA GP LLC, KKR Fund Holdings L.P., KKR Fund Holdings GP Limited, KKR Group Holdings L.P., KKR
Group Limited, KKR & Co. L.P., KKR Management LLC, and Messrs. Kravis and Roberts may be deemed to be the beneficial owner of the securities held by
Sentinel RE Investment Holdings LP.

 
(3) Represents Series B Preferred Units of our operating partnership. Subject to the terms of the Second Amended and Restated Limited Partnership

Agreement of our operating partnership, dated as of August 5, 2013, and amended on December 22, 2014 and August 31, 2016, entered into by and among
the Company, HPC LP TRS, LLC, and Sentinel RE Investment Holdings LP, Sentinel RE Investment Holdings LP has the right to convert 1,586,000 Series
B Preferred Units into 15,830,938 common units of our operating partnership, which are then exchangeable for shares of our common stock on a one-for-one
basis.
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ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

 
Set forth below is a description of the transactions between our related persons and us during our most recently completed fiscal year, as well as any such
currently proposed transactions and our policy regarding the review and approval of transactions involving affiliates.

 
Advisory Relationship with Sentio Investments

 
Throughout 2016 we were party to an Advisory Agreement with our external Advisor, Sentio Investments, LLC (referred to herein as our Advisor or “Sentio
Investments”), which became effective on January 1, 2012 for a one year term ending December 31, 2012. The Advisory Agreement was renewed for additional
one-year terms commencing on January 1 of 2013, 2014, 2015, 2016 and 2017 however, as discussed below under the heading “Transition Agreement ” certain
provisions of the Advisory Agreement have been amended as a result of the execution on February 10, 2013 of a Transition to Internal Management Agreement
which was subsequently amended in April 2014, February 2015 and February 2017 (as amended, the “Transition Agreement”) with Sentio Investments and the
Investor.

 
John Mark Ramsey, our Chief Executive Officer, President and a member of our board of directors, is also the Chief Executive Officer and majority owner of
Sentio Investments. Spencer Smith, our Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer and Secretary, is also an executive officer and an employee of Sentio Investments.

 
Pursuant to the provisions of the Advisory Agreement, Sentio Investments, as Advisor, is responsible for managing, operating, directing and supervising the
operation of our company and its assets. Generally, Sentio Investments is responsible for providing us with (i) property acquisition, disposition and financing
services, (ii) asset management and operational services, including real estate services and financial and administrative services, (iii) stockholder services, and
(iv) in the event we conduct a public offering of our securities, offering-related services. Sentio Investments is subject to the supervision and ultimate authority of
our board of directors and has a fiduciary duty to our company and its stockholders.

 
The fees and expense reimbursements payable or paid to Sentio Investments under the Advisory Agreement, and subject to the terms of the Transition
Agreement, as discussed below under the heading “Transition Agreement,” are described below.

 
Offering Stage Fees and Expenses:

 
· If our board of directors determines that it is advisable and in our best interests to conduct an offering of our securities, Sentio Investments will be

responsible for managing and supervising such offering activities and will be entitled to be reimbursed for organizational and offering costs paid by
Sentio Investments on our behalf from the proceeds of such offering. Organizational and offering costs consist of all expenses (other than sales
commissions and the dealer manager fees) to be paid by us in connection with our offerings, including our legal, accounting, printing, mailing and filing
fees, charges of our escrow holder and other accountable offering expenses. However, Sentio Investments would be required to reimburse us to the
extent that our organization and offering expenses are in excess of 15% of gross offering proceeds at the conclusion of such offering. During the year
ended December 31, 2016, Sentio Investments incurred no organization and offering expenses on our behalf.

 
Acquisition and Operating Stage Fees and Expenses:

 
· Subject to the limitation on fees agreed to in the Transition Agreement, we are obligated to pay Sentio Investments acquisition fees in an amount equal

to 1.0% of the sum of the amount actually paid or allocated to the purchase, development, construction or improvement of an investment, inclusive of
the acquisition expenses associated with such investment, and the amount of any debt attributable to such investment. With respect to acquisitions
made through a joint venture in which the Company is a co-venturer, the acquisition fee payable to Sentio Investments will be equal to 1.0% of the
Company’s allocable portion of the amount actually paid or allocated to the purchase, development, construction or improvement of the investment,
inclusive of the acquisition expenses associated with such investment, and the Company’s allocable portion of any debt attributable to such investment.
An acquisition fee will be payable to Sentio Investments at the time we acquire the related investment. In addition, we are required to reimburse Sentio
Investments for direct costs Sentio Investments incurs and pays to third parties in connection with the selection and acquisition of potential investments,
whether or not we ultimately acquire them. During the year ended December 31, 2016, Sentio Investments earned no acquisition fees from us and
incurred no acquisition expenses on our behalf.
  

· We are not required to reimburse Sentio Investments or its affiliates for any of their costs or expenses that are not directly attributable to our business,
including without limitation (i) any personnel costs incurred by Sentio Investments to its employees, and (ii) any costs related to Sentio Investments’ rent,
utilities and general overhead. We are responsible for paying directly or reimbursing Sentio Investments for costs that are directly attributable to our
business.
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 · Sentio Investments must restrict total operating expenses for the preceding four consecutive fiscal quarters, as determined at the end of each fiscal

quarter, to the greater of 2% of the Company’s Average Invested Assets (as defined in the Advisory Agreement) or 25% of the Company’s net income
for such period (the “2%/25% Guidelines”), unless the independent directors committee determines that a higher level of expenses is justified, based
on unusual and non-recurring factors which it deems sufficient. If the independent directors committee does not approve such excess as being so
justified, the Advisory Agreement and our charter require that any amount in excess of the 2%/25% Guidelines paid to Sentio Investments during a
fiscal quarter shall be repaid to us. For the four quarters ended December 31, 2016, our management fees and expenses and operating expenses
totaled $5.3 million. These amounts did not exceed the greater of 2% of our average invested assets and 25% of our net income.

 
 · Subject to compliance with the 2%/25% Guidelines and the limitation on fees agreed to in the Transition Agreement, we are obligated to pay Sentio

Investments a financing coordination fee for services rendered by Sentio Investments in connection with the refinancing of any of our debt obligations
in an amount equal to 0.5% of the gross amount of any such refinancing, provided however, that Sentio Investments will not be entitled to a financing
coordination fee in connection with the refinancing of debt obligations secured by any particular asset that was subject to a refinancing in connection
with which Sentio Investments received a financing coordination fee within the immediately preceding three year period. Any such financing
coordination fee is payable to Sentio Investments upon the closing of the related refinancing. During the year ended December 31, 2016, Sentio
Investments earned no financing coordination fees from us.

 
 · Subject to compliance with the 2%/25% Guidelines and the limitation on fees agreed to in the Transition Agreement, we are obligated to pay Sentio

Investments a monthly asset management fee in an amount equal to one-twelfth of 1.0% of our assets under management, calculated on a monthly
basis as of the last day of each month. Additionally, subject to compliance with the 2%/25% Guidelines and the limitation on fees agreed to in the
Transition Agreement, with respect to fiscal quarters in which distributions declared to stockholders and cash available for distribution for such fiscal
quarter are each at least $0.125 per share, we are also obligated to pay Sentio Investments a quarterly bonus asset management fee equal to the
lesser of (i) one-fourth of 0.15% of our assets under management, calculated on a quarterly basis as of the last day of the quarter, or (ii) $150,000.
During the year ended December 31, 2016, Sentio Investments earned approximately $3.2 million of asset management fees from us.

 
 · Subject to the limitation on fees agreed to in the Transition Agreement, if we retain Sentio Investments or one of its affiliates to manage or lease any of

our properties, we will pay Sentio Investments or such affiliate a market-based fee in accordance with a separately negotiated property management,
leasing and development agreement to be approved by the independent directors committee, which agreement may provide for fees similar to what
other management or leasing companies generally charge for the management or leasing of similar properties, and which may include reimbursement
for the costs and expenses Sentio Investments or its affiliates incurs in managing or leasing our properties. During the year ended December 31,
2016, we did not pay any property management, leasing or development fees to Sentio Investments.

  
Listing/ Liquidation Stage Fees and Expenses:

 
 · Subject to the limitation on fees agreed to in the Transition Agreement, if Sentio Investments or one of its affiliates provides a substantial amount of the

services (as determined by a majority of our directors, including a majority of our independent directors committee) in connection with the sale of one
or more of our properties, other than a sale in connection with a transaction in which we sell, grant, convey or relinquish our ownership of all or
substantially all of our assets, we would be required to pay Sentio Investments or such affiliate at closing a disposition fee equal to the lesser of (i)
1.0% of the sales price of such property or properties, or (ii) one-half of the competitive real estate commission in light of the size, type and location of
the property. The disposition fee may be paid in addition to real estate commissions paid to non-affiliates, provided that the total real estate
commissions (including such disposition fee) paid to all persons by us for each property shall not exceed an amount equal to the lesser of (i) 6.0% of
the aggregate contract sales price of each property or (ii) the competitive real estate commission for each property. During the year ended December
31, 2016, Sentio Investments earned no disposition fees from us.

  
 · As described in further detail below under “Transition Agreement” under certain circumstances, Sentio Investments may be entitled to incentive fee

amounts upon a listing or liquidation of the Company, or upon a termination of the Advisory Agreement. During the year ended December 31, 2016, we
did not pay any incentive fees to Sentio Investments related to listing or liquidation of the Company, or a termination of the Advisory Agreement.

  
Fee Credit

 
Sentio Investments may advise other owners or prospective owners of assets in the healthcare sector and earn fees for such efforts. However, in the event that
a third party owner contracts with Sentio Investments for the provision of advisory services, Sentio Investments will be required to reduce the fees that we pay
pursuant to the Advisory Agreement as follows: (A) if the contractual fees to be paid by such third party owner to Sentio Investments are, on a percentage basis,
greater than or equal to 90% of the corresponding or analogous fees charged to us, then Sentio Investments will reduce the amount of fees charged to us by a
dollar amount equal to 50% of the corresponding or analogous fees actually paid to Sentio Investments by such third party owner; and (B) if the contractual fees
to be paid by such third party owner to Sentio Investments are, on a percentage basis, less than 90% of the corresponding or analogous fees charged to us,
then Sentio Investments will reduce the dollar amount of fees charged to us by an amount equal to 25% of the corresponding or analogous fees actually paid to
Sentio Investments to such third party owner.
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Term and Termination
 

The Advisory Agreement with Sentio Investments has a one-year term, which may be renewed for an unlimited number of successive one-year terms upon
mutual consent of the parties. The Advisory Agreement may be terminated by us or by Sentio Investments without cause and without penalty upon 60 days
written notice to the other party. Either party may terminate the agreement immediately in the event that the other party (i) commences bankruptcy or similar
insolvency proceedings, or (ii) commits a material breach of the agreement which is not cured within 30 days after written notice from the non-breaching party, or
which the non-breaching party reasonably determines cannot be cured within 30 days.

 
Transition Agreement

 
In connection with entering into the KKR Equity Commitment on February 10, 2013 (the “Commitment Effective Date”), we entered into the Transition
Agreement with Sentio Investments and the Investor. The Transition Agreement sets forth the terms for our transition from our current externally-advised
structure to an internal management structure. The Transition Agreement provides that the existing external advisory structure will remain in place upon
substantially the same terms, unless the parties agree otherwise, as currently in effect until February 10, 2019, subject to annual renewals of the Advisory
Agreement in accordance with the requirements of the Company’s governing documents, at the end of which time the advisory function will be internalized in
accordance with the Transition Agreement.

  
As noted above, Mr. Ramsey is the Chief Executive Officer and majority owner of Sentio Investments, and Mr. Smith is an executive officer and an employee of
Sentio Investments.

 
The Transition Agreement limits the amount of the fees payable under the Advisory Agreement. Specifically, notwithstanding the provisions of the Advisory
Agreement, acquisition fees, financing coordination fees, asset management fees, property management and leasing fees, and disposition fees payable under
the Advisory Agreement (collectively, the “Advisory Agreement Fees”) are limited to (1) $3.2 million plus an excess amount (the “Excess Amount”) of $3.6 million
during the period from February 11, 2017 through February 10, 2018, and (2) $3.2 million plus any remaining portion of the Excess Amount during the period
from February 11, 2018 through February 10, 2019. The maximum aggregate amount of such fees payable to Sentio Investments during these periods under
the caps (the “Maximum Fee Amount”) will be $10.0 million.

 
During the period from February 11, 2015 through February 10, 2017, the Advisory Agreement Fees were similarly capped, except that the Excess Amount was
$3.2 million and as a result the Maximum Fee Amount was $9.6 million. As of December 31, 2016, Sentio Investments earned the maximum fee amount for
February 11, 2016 through February 10, 2017 of $3.2 million.

 
The Transition Agreement also amends the Advisory Agreement to modify the terms of the subordinated incentive fees to which Sentio Investments may be
entitled under certain circumstances. Specifically, the Transition Agreement provides for the following possible incentive amounts to be payable to Sentio
Investments:

 
 · Subordinated Sales and Financings Promote . A subordinated sales and financings promote may be payable to Sentio Investments upon a

distribution to holders of shares of our common stock outstanding as of the Commitment Effective Date (the “Legacy Common Shares”) resulting
from a sale and financing of one or more of our assets, which will be determined and paid as an amount of shares of common stock equal to the
ratio of:

 o 10% of the amount, if any, by which (A) the sum of (i) the number of Legacy Common Shares times the per share cash distributions to
the holders of the Legacy Common Shares in respect of cash from sales and financings, plus (ii) the total amount of all previous
dividends or distributions paid on the Legacy Common Shares since the date of the inception of the Company’s initial public offering;
exceeds (B) the sum of (x) the total invested capital for the Legacy Common Shares and (y) the amount required to pay stockholders a
7% cumulative, non-compounded return from inception of the Company’s initial public offering through the date of the closing of the
applicable sale or financing on the Legacy Common Shares;
 

over:
 

 o the net asset value per share of common stock as of the closing of the applicable sale or financing (as defined in the Transition
Agreement).

 
However, if the subordinated sales and financings promote is payable as the result of a sale of all or substantially all of the assets of the Company,
then the promote will be paid in cash rather than shares of common stock.

 
 · Subordinated Internalization Promote . In connection with a termination of the Advisory Agreement upon consummation of an internalization,

Sentio Investments may be entitled to a subordinated internalization promote determined and paid on the third anniversary of the Commitment
Effective Date (unless delayed in accordance with the Transition Agreement), in an amount consisting of the sum of:

 
 o a cash payment equal to 40% of:
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 § 10% of the amount, if any, by which (A) the sum of (i) the number of Legacy Common Shares times the per share net asset value

on the determination date, plus (ii) the total amount of dividends or distributions paid on the Legacy Common Shares from date
from inception of the Company’s initial public offering through the determination date; exceeds (B) the sum of (x) the total invested
capital for the Legacy Common Shares and (y) the amount required to pay stockholders a 7% cumulative, non-compounded return
from inception of the Company’s initial public offering through the determination date on the Legacy Common Shares (such
amount, the “Subordinated Internalization Cash Amount”); and

 
an amount of shares of common stock equal to the ratio of: 

 
 § 60% of the Subordinated Internalization Cash Amount;

 
over:

 
 § the net asset value per share of common stock as of the determination date (as defined in the Transition Agreement).

 
However, in the event the common stock is listed on a national stock exchange as of the determination date, the amount of the subordinated
internalization promote will be determined by reference to the market value of a share of common stock (as defined in the Transition Agreement),
rather than the net asset value. Furthermore, the amount of the subordinated internalization promote will be reduced by the amount of any
subordinated sales and financings promote previously earned by Sentio Investments.

 
 · Subordinated Performance Fee Due Upon Termination . If (1) we terminate the Advisory Agreement prior to an internalization for any reason other

than a material breach by the Advisor, (2) the Advisory Agreement is not renewed (other than in connection with an internalization) because we
are unwilling to renew the agreement on substantially similar terms, or (3) Sentio Investments terminates the Advisory Agreement prior to an
internalization because of a material breach by us, then, we will pay Sentio Investments a subordinated performance fee due upon termination,
payable in the form of a promissory note bearing simple interest at a rate of 5% per annum, in a principal amount equal to:

 
 o 10% the amount, if any, by which (A) the sum of (i) the product of the Legacy Common Shares times the per share net asset value at

the termination date and (ii) total distributions (excluding any stock dividend and distributions paid on shares of common stock redeemed
by the Company) paid on the Legacy Common Shares through the termination date, exceeds (B) the sum of (i) the total invested capital
for the Legacy Common Shares and (ii) the total distributions required to be made to the Legacy Common Shares in order to pay
stockholders a 7% cumulative, non-compounded return from inception of the Company’s initial public offering through the termination
date;

 
 o less any prior payment to Sentio Investments of a subordinated sales and financings promote.

 
Upon the internalization date established pursuant to the Transition Agreement, we will acquire all of Sentio Investment’s assets that are reasonably necessary
for the management and operation of our business (we refer to such a transaction as an internalization). On or prior to the internalization date, Sentio
Investments will facilitate our efforts to hire the employees of Sentio Investments. With respect to certain key persons, we will be required to enter into
employment agreements based upon market terms established in consultation with an independent compensation consultant. The Investor will have the right to
consent to our hiring of all key personnel. Upon an internalization or a Liquidation Event (as defined in the investor rights agreement entered in connection with
the KKR Equity Commitment), then Sentio Investments will receive a fee in an amount that is the lesser of (i) $3.0 million, and (ii) the remaining portion of the
$10.0 million maximum fee amount, if any, not previously paid to Sentio Investments.

   
In connection with entering into the Transition Agreement, we and our Advisor have generally agreed not to terminate the Advisory Agreement without the prior
consent of the Investor.

  
KKR Equity Commitment

 
Pursuant to the KKR Equity Commitment, we could issue and sell to the Investor and its affiliates on a private placement basis from time to time over a period of
three years, up to $158.7 million in aggregate issuance amount of shares of newly issued Series C Preferred Stock and newly issued Series B Preferred Units of
our operating partnership. The terms of the KKR Equity Commitment and the related agreements and securities are described in detail in our Current Reports on
Form 8-K filed with the SEC on February 12, 2013, December 30, 2014, January 22, 2015, February 27, 2015, April 1, 2015, May 6, 2015 and September 7,
2016.

 
Billy Butcher, who has served as one of our directors since March 12, 2013 and was elected to be one of our directors in connection with, and as a condition to,
the execution of KKR Equity Commitment is an executive officer of Sentinel RE Investment Holdings GP LLC, which is the general partner of the Investor. Mr.
Butcher is also employed by KKR as a Member in its Real Estate business.
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On November 5, 2015, in fulfillment of obligations pursuant to the KKR Equity Commitment, our board of directors elected Mr. Peter Sundheim to fill the vacancy
left by the departure of Mr. Daniel Decker, a KKR-nominated director. Mr. Sundheim is currently employed by KKR as a Principal in its real estate investment
business. 

 
As a result of the transactions contemplated by the KKR Equity Commitment, the Investor currently beneficially owns an aggregate of 15,830,938 shares of
common stock of the Company, which represent, in the aggregate, approximately, 57.9% of the outstanding shares of common stock. At December 31, 2016, no
securities remain issuable pursuant to the KKR Equity Commitment. 

   
Policy regarding Transactions with Affiliates

 
Our charter requires our independent directors committee to review and approve all transactions involving our affiliates and us. Prior to entering into a
transaction with an affiliate that is not covered by our Advisory Agreement with our Advisor, a majority of the independent directors committee must conclude that
the transaction is fair and reasonable to us and on terms and conditions not less favorable to us than those available from unaffiliated third parties. Furthermore,
our independent directors committee must review at least annually our fees and expenses to determine that the expenses incurred are reasonable in light of our
investment performance, our net asset value, our net income and the fees and expenses of other comparable unaffiliated REITs. In addition, our Code of
Business Conduct and Ethics sets forth examples of types of transactions with related parties that would create conflicts of interest between the interests of our
stockholders and the private interests of the parties involved in such transactions. Our directors and officers are required to take all reasonable action to avoid
such conflicts of interest or the appearance of conflicts of interest. If a conflict of interest becomes unavoidable, our directors and officers are required to report
the conflict to a designated ethics contact, which, depending on the circumstances of the transaction, would be either our chief executive officer, chief financial
officer, or the chairman of our audit committee. The appropriate ethics contact is then responsible for working with the reporting director or officer to monitor and
resolve the conflict of interest in accordance with our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics.

 
REPORT OF THE INDEPENDENT DIRECTORS COMMITTEE

 
Review of our Policies

 
The independent directors committee of our board of directors has reviewed our policies and determined that they are in the best interest of our stockholders.
Set forth below is a discussion of the basis for that determination.

 
Offering Policy

 
From June 2008 through May 2011, we conducted a public offering of our shares of common stock pursuant to a primary and distribution reinvestment plan
offering. At the termination of the offering period we had raised gross offering proceeds of approximately $132.3 million from the sale of approximately 13.2
million shares of common stock. The decision to cease our offering stage was prompted by uncertainty associated with our consideration of various strategic
alternatives to enhance value for stockholders. In October 2011, our independent directors committee concluded its analysis of strategic alternatives and
determined that the Company was well positioned as an investment program with a continued focus on healthcare real estate.
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In June 2013, we registered up to $99 million of shares of common stock to be offered to our existing stockholders pursuant to an amended and restated
distribution reinvestment plan. As of December 31, 2016, we had raised gross offering proceeds of approximately $796,000 from the sale of approximately
70,000 shares of common stock. We expect to use substantially all of the net proceeds from the sale of shares under our distribution reinvestment plan for
general corporate purposes, including, but not limited to, reserves required by any financings of our investments; future funding obligations under any real estate
loans receivable we acquire; the acquisition of assets; the repayment of debt; and other cash uses related to our investments, such as making capital and tenant
improvements or paying leasing costs and commissions related to real property. We cannot predict with any certainty how much, if any, distribution reinvestment
plan proceeds will be available for specific purposes.

 
In February 2013, we executed the KKR Equity Commitment transaction, discussed in further detail above under the heading “KKR Equity Commitment ”
pursuant to which we issued preferred stock in us and preferred units our operating partnership in exchange for $158.7 million in equity capital for the acquisition
of healthcare related investments. As of December 31, 2016, we had committed the equity funding received pursuant to the KKR Equity Commitment and
invested the proceeds raised in our public offerings. For the year ended December 31, 2016, the costs of raising capital in our distribution reinvestment plan and
pursuant to the KKR Equity Commitment represented less than 1.0% of the capital raised.

 
Our board of directors, including all of our independent directors, continues to evaluate the market for healthcare related real estate acquisitions consistent with
our investment objectives and to the extent our board of directors determines it is in the best interest of our stockholders to obtain additional sources of capital for
the acquisition of additional investments we may raise additional offering proceeds.

 
Acquisition and Investment Policies

 
Our objective has been to acquire a long-term stabilized portfolio of real estate properties that consists of at least 50% core plus properties (fully stabilized
properties). We may also acquire value-added (properties that are not fully stabilized) and opportunistic properties (properties that require development or
redevelopment to achieve stabilization). We may acquire more value-added and opportunistic properties than core plus properties, with a view to achieving a
more balanced portfolio of properties through a combination of development efforts, refinancing and subsequent acquisitions.

 
We have focused on acquiring and developing a portfolio of healthcare properties. Healthcare real estate includes a variety of products, including senior housing
facilities, medical office buildings, hospital facilities, skilled nursing facilities and outpatient centers. We currently operate in three business segments: senior
living operations, triple-net leased properties and medical office building properties. Currently the majority of our portfolio is concentrated in senior living
operations.

  
In 2015, 20% of the GDP of the United States, was spent on healthcare needs and the aging U.S. population is expected to continue to fuel the need for
healthcare services. According to the US Censes Department, the over age 65 population of the United States is projected to grow from 15% to 20% of the US
population between 2015 and 2025, with one in five US residents expected to be over 65 years old by 2025.

 
The healthcare real estate market remains fragmented with a largely local or regional focus, offering opportunities for consolidation and market dominance. We
believe that a diversified portfolio of healthcare property types minimizes risks associated with third-party payors, such as Medicare and Medicaid while allowing
us to capitalize on the favorable demographic trends described above.

 
Although we have focused on acquiring and developing a portfolio of healthcare properties and real estate-related assets, we may also invest in other real estate-
related assets that we believe may assist us meet our investment objectives. Our charter limits our investments in unimproved real property or mortgage loans
on unimproved real property to 10% of our total assets, but we are not otherwise restricted in the proportion of net proceeds from this offering that we must
allocate to investment in any specific type of property.

 
We believe that our current acquisition and investment policies continue to be in the best interests of our stockholders.

 
Borrowing Policy

 
Debt Financing. When we refer to debt financing, we are referring to all types of debt financing at fixed or variable interest rates or some combination of both.
For our stabilized core properties, our long-term goal is to use low to moderate levels of debt financing with leverage ranging from 50% to 65% of the value of
the asset. For the value-added and opportunistic properties, our goal is to acquire and develop or redevelop these properties using moderate to high levels of
debt financing with leverage ranging from 65% to 75% of the cost of the asset. We may exceed these debt levels on an individual property basis. Once these
value-added and opportunistic properties are developed, redeveloped and stabilized with tenants, we plan to reduce the levels of debt to fall within target debt
ranges appropriate for core properties. While we seek to fall within the outlined targets on a portfolio basis, for any specific property we may exceed these
estimates. While we do not expect to utilize debt financing in excess of 300% of our net assets (equivalent to 75% of the cost of our tangible assets), upon the
vote of a majority of our independent directors, we will be able to temporarily exceed this debt limitation. It is likely that our debt financing will be secured by the
underlying property, but it will not necessarily be the case each time. We may enter into interest rate protection agreements to mitigate interest rate fluctuation
exposure if we believe the benefit of such contracts outweigh the costs of purchasing these instruments.
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Other Indebtedness. We may also incur indebtedness for working capital requirements, tenant improvements, capital improvements, leasing commissions and, if
necessary, to make distributions, including those necessary to maintain our qualification as a REIT for federal income tax purposes. We will endeavor to borrow
such funds on an unsecured basis but we may secure indebtedness with properties if our independent directors committee determines that it is in our best
interests.  

 
Generally accepted accounting principles may require that the financial statements of the acquisition holding company be consolidated with our financial
statements. If this is the case, assets and liabilities of the acquisition holding company will be reflected on our balance sheet. If there is no requirement that the
acquisition holding company’s financial statements be consolidated with our financial statements, we may nevertheless be required to disclose information about
the transactions of the acquisition holding company as off-balance sheet arrangements under the rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission.

  
Our charter limits our borrowings to 300% of our net assets (equivalent to 75% of the cost of our tangible assets) unless the excess borrowing is approved by a
majority of our independent directors and is disclosed to our stockholders in our next quarterly report with an explanation from our independent directors of the
justification for the excess borrowing. There is no limitation on the amount we may borrow for the purchase of any single property; however, as noted above, we
will not borrow in excess of 300% of our net assets (equivalent to 75% of the cost of the asset) without the approval of our independent directors committee.

 
Disposition Policy

 
Our goal in selling properties is to achieve maximum capital appreciation, although we cannot guarantee that this objective will be realized. Our general policy is
to sell our properties for all cash. When we sell a property, we may, under limited circumstances, lend the purchaser a portion of the purchase price, provided
that the aggregate amount of all mortgage loans outstanding on the property, including the loan we may make to the purchaser, may not exceed 85% of the
appraised value of the property as determined by an independent appraiser, unless substantial justification exists. Our disposition policy provides us with the
flexibility to time and structure property sales in a manner that optimizes our investment return. For this reason, we believe the current disposition policy is in the
best interests of our stockholders.

Policy Regarding Operating Expenses
 

We are not required to reimburse our advisor or its affiliates for any of their costs or expenses that are not directly attributable to our business, including without
limitation (i) any personnel costs incurred by our advisor related to its employees, and (ii) any costs related to our advisor’s rent, utilities and general overhead.
We are responsible for paying directly or reimbursing our advisor for costs that are directly attributable to our business. Under our advisory agreement, our
advisor must restrict total operating expenses for the preceding four consecutive fiscal quarters, as determined at the end of each fiscal quarter, to the greater of
2% of the Company’s Average Invested Assets or 25% of the Company’s net income for such period (the “2%/25% Guidelines”), unless the independent
directors committee determines that a higher level of expenses is justified, based on unusual and non-recurring factors. The independent directors committee will
not approve any operating expenses (other than those determined to be justified based on unusual and non-recurring factors) if, in its reasonable discretion, the
independent directors committee determines that such operating expenses, considered together with operating expenses previously approved for the relevant
period, as well as estimated operating expenses for the remainder of the relevant period, would exceed the 2%/25% Guidelines. Operating expenses for the four
fiscal quarters ended December 31, 2016 did not exceed the charter-imposed limitation. For the four consecutive quarters ended December 31, 2016, total
operating expenses represented approximately 0.9% of our average invested assets and 17% of our net income before such operating expenses (both as
defined in the Guidelines), respectively.

 
Liquidation or Listing Policy

 
We believe it is in the best interest of our stockholders not to list our common shares on a national exchange at this time for the following reasons. First, our
board of directors, including all of our independent directors, continues to evaluate the market for healthcare related real estate acquisitions consistent with our
investment objectives and may determine that it is in the best interest of our stockholders to acquire additional investments. We believe that remaining unlisted
provides us increased flexibility to continue to raise new equity and purchase additional properties. Second, we believe it is currently more cost effective to remain
unlisted and utilize our external advisor at the present time than it would be to internalize all the resources necessary to operate a listed company. Third, our
shares were offered as a long-term investment. We believe that the ability to provide our stockholders with liquidity in the near-term is outweighed by the long-
term benefits of allowing the portfolio to mature. In making the decision of whether to apply for listing of our shares, our directors will try to determine whether
listing our shares or liquidating our assets will result in greater value for stockholders.
 

 55  

EDGAR Stream is a copyright of Issuer Direct Corporation, all rights reserved.



 

 
Policy regarding Transactions with Affiliates

 
Our charter requires our independent directors committee to review and approve all transactions involving our affiliates and us. Prior to entering into a
transaction with an affiliate that is not covered by our advisory agreement with our Advisor, a majority of the independent directors committee must conclude that
the transaction is fair and reasonable to us and on terms and conditions not less favorable to us than those available from unaffiliated third parties. Furthermore,
our independent directors committee must review at least annually our fees and expenses to determine that the expenses incurred are reasonable in light of our
investment performance, our net asset value, our net income and the fees and expenses of other comparable unaffiliated REITs. In addition, our Code of
Business Conduct and Ethics sets forth examples of types of transactions with related parties that would create conflicts of interest between the interests of our
stockholders and the private interests of the parties involved in such transactions. Our directors and officers are required to take all reasonable action to avoid
such conflicts of interest or the appearance of conflicts of interest. If a conflict of interest becomes unavoidable, our directors and officers are required to report
the conflict to a designated ethics contact, which, depending on the circumstances of the transaction, would be either our chief executive officer, chief financial
officer, or the chairman of our audit committee. The appropriate ethics contact is then responsible for working with the reporting director or officer to monitor and
resolve the conflict of interest in accordance with our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics.

 
Certain Transactions with Related Persons

 
The independent directors committee has reviewed the material transactions between our affiliates and us since the beginning of 2016, all of which were
approved in advance in accordance with our policy described above, and the terms of which are disclosed herein under the heading “Certain Transactions with
Related Persons.” Based upon our review of these transactions and of the fees paid to affiliates of the Company since the beginning of 2016, we believe that all
of the transactions have been fair and reasonable to the Company and on terms and conditions not less favorable to us than those available from unaffiliated
third parties.

 
March 16, 2017 The Independent Directors Committee of the Board of Directors

 
Romeo Cefalo (Chairman), Barry Chase, Steven Pearson,

Ronald Shuck and James Skorhiem
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Director Independence
 

Our charter contains detailed criteria for determining the independence of our directors and requires a majority of the members of our board of directors to qualify
as independent. The board of directors consults with our legal counsel to ensure that the board’s independence determinations are consistent with our charter
and applicable securities and other laws and regulations. Consistent with these considerations, after review of all relevant transactions or relationships between
each director, or any of his family members, and Sentio Healthcare Properties, our senior management and our independent registered public accounting firm,
the board of directors has determined that Romeo Cefalo, Barry Chase, Steven Pearson, Ronald Shuck and James Skorheim are independent, and
consequently the majority of our board of directors is comprised of independent directors. Furthermore, although our shares are not listed on a national securities
exchange, a majority of the members of our board of directors, and all of the members of our audit committee, independent directors committee and
compensation committee are independent under the rules of the NASDAQ stock market.

  
 ITEM 14.   PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES
 
Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

 
KPMG LLP (“KPMG”) has served as our independent registered public accounting firm since September 11, 2012. Our management believes that KPMG is
knowledgeable about our operations and accounting practices and is well qualified to act as our independent registered public accounting firm.

 
Audit, Audit-Related, Tax and Other Fees

 
The audit committee reviewed the audit and nonaudit services performed by KPMG, as well as the fees charged by KPMG for such services. In its review of the
nonaudit service fees, the audit committee considered whether the provision of such services was compatible with maintaining the independence of KPMG.

 
The following table presents the aggregate fees billed to us for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015 by our principal accounting firm: 

 
Services  2016   2015  

Audit Fees (1)  $ 422,000  $ 292,000 
Audit-Related Fees   —   40,000 
All Other Fees   —   — 

Total  $ 422,000  $ 332,000 

 
 (1) Audit fees billed in 2016 and 2015 consisted of the audit of our annual consolidated financial statements, a review of our quarterly consolidated financial

statements, and statutory and regulatory audits, consents and other services related to filings with the SEC.
 
Pre-Approval Polices

 
The audit committee pre-approves all auditing services and permitted non-audit services (including the fees and terms thereof) to be performed for us by our
independent auditor, subject to the de minimis exceptions for non-audit services described in Section 10A(i)(1)(B) of the Exchange Act and the rules and
regulations of the SEC which are approved by the audit committee prior to the completion of the audit. All services rendered by our independent registered public
accounting firms for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015 were pre-approved in accordance with the policies and procedures described above.
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PART IV
 
ITEM 15.           EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

 
(a) (1) Financial Statements
   
  The following financial statements are included in a separate section of this Annual Report on Form 10-K commencing on the page numbers

specified below:
   
  Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm (KPMG LLP)
   
  Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015
   
  Consolidated Statements of Operations for the Years Ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014
   
  Consolidated Statements of Equity for the Years Ended December 31, 2016, 2015, and 2014
   
  Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Years Ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014
   
  Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
   
 (2) Financial Statement Schedules
   
  Schedule III — Real Estate and Accumulated Depreciation
   
 (3) Exhibits
   

 
The exhibits listed on the Exhibit Index (following the signatures section of this report) are included, or incorporated by reference, in this annual report.

  
INDEX TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

 
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm (KPMG LLP) 59
Consolidated Balance Sheets 60
Consolidated Statements of Operations 61
Consolidated Statements of Equity 62
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 63
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 64
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
 

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Sentio Healthcare Properties, Inc.:

 
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Sentio Healthcare Properties, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, and
the related consolidated statements of operations, equity, and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2016. In connection
with our audits of the consolidated financial statements, we also have audited financial statement schedule III. These consolidated financial statements are the
responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements and financial statement
schedule based on our audits.

 
We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require
that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable
basis for our opinion.

 
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Sentio Healthcare
Properties, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the years in the three-
year period ended December 31, 2016, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. Also in our opinion, the related financial statement
schedule, when considered in relation to the basic consolidated financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly, in all material respects, the information set
forth therein.

 
/s/ KPMG LLP

 
Orlando, Florida
March 17, 2017
Certified Public Accountants
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SENTIO HEALTHCARE PROPERTIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31, 2016 and 2015
 

  December 31,  

  2016   2015  
ASSETS         

Cash and cash equivalents  $ 34,921,000  $ 22,801,000 
Investments in real estate:         

Land   48,146,000   47,196,000 
Buildings and improvements, net   395,500,000   397,234,000 
Furniture, fixtures and vehicles, net   12,592,000   12,660,000 
Construction in progress   13,933,000   5,168,000 
Intangible lease assets, net   4,833,000   6,731,000 

Total investment in real estate   475,004,000   468,989,000 
Real estate note receivable   34,181,000   15,427,000 
Investment in unconsolidated entities   493,000   880,000 
Tenant and other receivables, net   5,949,000   5,751,000 
Deferred costs and other assets   9,973,000   8,636,000 
Restricted cash   7,777,000   6,748,000 
Goodwill   5,965,000   5,965,000 

Total assets  $ 574,263,000  $ 535,197,000 

         
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY         

Liabilities:         
Notes payable, net  $ 366,097,000  $ 335,288,000 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities   15,783,000   22,575,000 
Prepaid rent and security deposits   5,204,000   5,368,000 
Distributions payable   1,449,000   1,450,000 
Total liabilities   388,533,000   364,681,000 
Equity:         
Preferred Stock Series C, $0.01 par value; 1,000 shares authorized; 1,000 and 1,000 shares issued and outstanding at

December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015, respectively.     -       -   
Common stock, $0.01 par value; 580,000,000 shares authorized; 11,531,615 and 11,502,617 shares issued and

outstanding at December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015, respectively     115,000       115,000   
Additional paid-in capital   55,979,000   61,385,000 
Accumulated deficit   (25,782,000)   (27,612,000)
Total stockholders' equity   30,312,000   33,888,000 
Noncontrolling interests:         

Series B convertible preferred OP units   151,080,000   132,164,000 
Other noncontrolling interest   4,338,000   4,464,000 

Total equity   185,730,000   170,516,000 

Total liabilities and equity  $ 574,263,000  $ 535,197,000 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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SENTIO HEALTHCARE PROPERTIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

For the Years Ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014
  

  December 31,  

  2016   2015   2014  
Revenues:             

Rental revenues  $ 91,339,000  $ 80,094,000  $ 49,922,000 
Resident fees and services   32,971,000   31,416,000   28,845,000 
Tenant reimbursements and other income   5,726,000   3,785,000   2,798,000 

   130,036,000   115,295,000   81,565,000 
Expenses:             

Property operating and maintenance   83,001,000   74,301,000   50,841,000 
General and administrative   2,081,000   2,430,000   1,710,000 
Asset management fees   3,200,000   5,346,000   4,135,000 
Real estate acquisition costs   -   1,466,000   2,724,000 
Depreciation and amortization   16,509,000   19,803,000   11,793,000 

   104,791,000   103,346,000   71,203,000 
Income from operations   25,245,000   11,949,000   10,362,000 
             
Other (income) expense:             

Interest expense, net   15,905,000   13,777,000   9,912,000 
Change in fair value of contingent consideration   (3,138,000)   689,000   - 
Equity in loss from unconsolidated entities   163,000   362,000   352,000 
Loss on debt extinguishment   378,000   -   - 

Net income (loss) before income taxes   11,937,000   (2,879,000)   98,000 
Income tax benefit   (1,585,000)   (3,128,000)   (389,000)

Net income   13,522,000   249,000   487,000 
Preferred return to series B preferred OP units   10,972,000   8,827,000   2,567,000 
Net income attributable to other noncontrolling interests   720,000   320,000   586,000 

Net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders  $ 1,830,000  $ (8,898,000)  $ (2,666,000)

             
Basic and diluted weighted average number of common shares   11,515,378   11,485,967   12,242,324 
Basic and diluted net income (loss) per common share attributable to common stockholders  $ 0.16  $ (0.77)  $ (0.22)

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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SENTIO HEALTHCARE PROPERTIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EQUITY

For the Years Ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014
 

  Preferred Stock   Common Stock                 

  
Number of

shares   
Stock Par

Value   
Number of

Shares   
Stock Par

Value   
Additional Paid-In

Capital   
Accumulated

Deficit   

Total
Stockholders'

Equity   
Noncontrolling

Interest   Total  

                                  
BALANCE - December 31, 2013   1,000  $ -   12,608,534  $ 126,000  $ 83,346,000  $ (16,048,000)  $ 67,424,000  $ 18,821,000  $ 86,245,000 

Issuance of Common Stock   -   -   27,407   -   308,000   -   308,000   -   308,000 
Issuance of Series B Preferred OP Units, net   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   75,015,000   75,015,000 
Redeemed Shares   -   -   (1,163,176)   (11,000)   (10,588,000)   -   (10,599,000)   -   (10,599,000)
Offering Costs   -   -   -   -   (289,000)   -   (289,000)   -   (289,000)
Noncontrolling Interest Contribution   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   293,000   293,000 
Distributions   -   -   -   -   (5,985,000)   -   (5,985,000)   (2,770,000)   (8,755,000)
Net (loss) income   -   -   -   -   -   (2,666,000)   (2,666,000)   3,153,000   487,000 
BALANCE - December 31, 2014   1,000  $ -   11,472,765  $ 115,000  $ 66,792,000  $ (18,714,000)  $ 48,193,000  $ 94,512,000  $ 142,705,000 

Issuance of Common Stock   -   -   29,852   -   347,000   -   347,000   -   347,000 
Issuance of Series B Preferred OP Units, net   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   42,050,000   42,050,000 
Offering Costs   -   -   -   -   (9,000)   -   (9,000)   -   (9,000)
Noncontrolling Interest Contribution   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   1,498,000   1,498,000 
Distributions   -   -   -   -   (5,745,000)   -   (5,745,000)   (10,579,000)   (16,324,000)
Net (loss) income   -   -   -   -   -   (8,898,000)   (8,898,000)   9,147,000   249,000 
BALANCE - December 31, 2015   1,000  $ -   11,502,617  $ 115,000  $ 61,385,000  $ (27,612,000)  $ 33,888,000  $ 136,628,000  $ 170,516,000 

Issuance of Common Stock   -   -   28,998   -   354,000   -   354,000   -   354,000 
Issuance of Series B Preferred OP Units, net   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   18,914,000   18,914,000 
Distributions   -   -   -   -   (5,760,000)   -   (5,760,000)   (11,816,000)   (17,576,000)
Net income   -   -   -   -   -   1,830,000   1,830,000   11,692,000   13,522,000 
BALANCE - December 31, 2016   1,000  $ -   11,531,615  $ 115,000  $ 55,979,000  $ (25,782,000)  $ 30,312,000  $ 155,418,000  $ 185,730,000 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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SENTIO HEALTHCARE PROPERTIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

For the Years Ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014
 

  Year ended December 31,  

  2016   2015   2014  
Cash flows from operating activities:             

Net income  $ 13,522,000  $ 249,000  $ 487,000 
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:             
Amortization of deferred financing costs   960,000   905,000   589,000 
Depreciation and amortization   16,509,000   19,803,000   11,793,000 
Straight-line rent and above/below market lease amortization   (139,000)   (829,000)   (686,000)
Change in fair value of contingent consideration   (3,138,000)   689,000   - 
Amortization of loan discount/premium   (58,000)   (60,000)   (63,000)
Equity in loss from unconsolidated entities   387,000   362,000   352,000 
Loss on debt extinguishment   378,000   -   - 
Bad debt expense   162,000   263,000   276,000 
Deferred tax benefit   (1,642,000)   (3,260,000)   (869,000)
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:             

Tenant and other receivables   (156,000)   (1,044,000)   (125,000)
Deferred costs and other assets   (779,000)   702,000   (186,000)
Restricted cash   (970,000)   (372,000)   (65,000)
Prepaid rent and tenant security deposits   (164,000)   1,464,000   887,000 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities   (37,000)   (222,000)   807,000 

Net cash provided by operating activities   24,835,000   18,650,000   13,197,000 
 Cash flows from investing activities:             

Real estate acquisitions   (10,605,000)   (69,311,000)   (135,018,000)
Additions to real estate   (2,631,000)   (3,099,000)   (1,501,000)
Construction in progress   (8,765,000)   (11,734,000)   - 
Real estate note receivable   (18,754,000)   (15,427,000)   - 
Purchase of an interest in an unconsolidated entity   -   -   (4,837,000)
Restricted cash   241,000   (454,000)   (501,000)
Distributions from unconsolidated entities   -   209,000   636,000 
Acquisition deposits   -   (1,084,000)   (490,000)

Net cash used in investing activities   (40,514,000)   (100,900,000)   (141,711,000)
 Cash flows from financing activities:             

Proceeds from issuance of series B preferred OP units, net   18,914,000   42,174,000   75,145,000 
Redeemed shares   -   -   (10,599,000)
Proceeds from notes payable   144,262,000   47,012,000   104,095,000 
Repayment of notes payable   (112,868,000)   (3,138,000)   (15,515,000)
Payment of contingent consideration   (3,421,000)   -   - 
Deferred financing costs   (1,865,000)   (552,000)   (1,961,000)
Distributions paid to series B preferred OP units and other noncontrolling interests   (11,816,000)   (10,579,000)   (2,770,000)
Distributions paid to stockholders   (5,407,000)   (5,394,000)   (5,820,000)
Restricted cash   -   (27,000)   - 
Offering costs   -   (9,000)   (289,000)

Net cash provided by financing activities   27,799,000   69,487,000   142,286,000 
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents   12,120,000   (12,763,000)   13,772,000 
Cash and cash equivalents - beginning of year   22,801,000   35,564,000   21,792,000 

Cash and cash equivalents - end of year  $ 34,921,000  $ 22,801,000  $ 35,564,000 

             
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:             

Cash paid for interest  $ 14,750,000  $ 12,701,000  $ 9,215,000 
Cash paid for income taxes  $ 167,000  $ 154,000  $ 451,000 
             

Supplemental disclosure of non-cash financing and investing activities:             
Distributions declared not paid  $ 1,449,000  $ 1,362,000  $ 1,354,000 
Distributions reinvested  $ 88,000  $ 4,000  $ 31,000 
Note payable assumed in connection with real estate acquisitions  $ -  $ 18,350,000  $ 6,594,000 
Equity contribution by noncontrolling interest  $ -  $ 1,498,000  $ 293,000 
Consolidation of a previously held investment in an unconsolidated entity  $ -  $ 3,676,000  $ - 
Accrued preferred stock offering costs  $ -  $ 124,000  $ 130,000 
Accrued deferred acquisition costs  $ -  $ -  $ 302,000 
Accrued additions to real estate  $ 102,000  $ 1,002,000  $ 43,000 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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SENTIO HEALTHCARE PROPERTIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the Years Ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014

 
1. Organization

 
Sentio Healthcare Properties, Inc., a Maryland corporation, was formed on October 16, 2006 under the Maryland General Corporation Law for the purpose of
engaging in the business of investing in and owning commercial real estate. As used in this report, the “Company”, “we”, “us” and “our” refer to Sentio Healthcare
Properties, Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries, except where context otherwise requires. Effective January 1, 2012, subject to certain restrictions and
limitations, our business is managed by Sentio Investments, LLC, a Florida limited liability company that was formed on December 20, 2011 (the “Advisor”).

 
Sentio Healthcare Properties OP, LP, a Delaware limited partnership (the “Operating Partnership”), was formed on October 17, 2006. As of December 31, 2016,
we owned 100% of the outstanding common units in the Operating Partnership and the HC Operating Partnership, LP, a subsidiary of the Operating
Partnership. Pursuant to the terms of the KKR Equity Commitment (as described in Note 2), we have issued Series B Convertible Preferred Units in the
Operating Partnership (“Series B Preferred Units”) to the Investor (as described in Note 2), the terms of which provide that the Investor may convert its preferred
units into common units at its discretion. On an as-converted basis, as of December 31, 2016, the Investor owns 57.9% and we own the remaining interest in the
Operating Partnership and the HC Operating Partnership, LP. We anticipate that we will conduct all or a portion of our operations through the Operating
Partnership. Our financial statements and the financial statements of the Operating Partnership are consolidated in the accompanying consolidated financial
statements. All intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

 
2. Equity Issuances

 
Our charter authorizes the issuance of up to 580,000,000 shares of common stock with a par value of $0.01 per share and 20,000,000 shares of preferred stock
with a par value of $0.01 per share. 

 
From June 2008 until May 2011, we conducted public offerings of our shares of common stock. Our initial public offering terminated on February 3, 2011,
immediately prior to commencement of our follow-on public offering on February 4, 2011. As of the termination of the offerings in 2011, we had sold a total of
13.3 million shares of our common stock pursuant to our initial and follow-on public offerings for aggregate gross proceeds of $132.3 million.

 
On February 10, 2013, we entered into a series of agreements, which have been amended at various times after February 10, 2013, with Sentinel RE
Investment Holdings LP (the “Investor”), an affiliate of Kohlberg Kravis Roberts & Co. L.P. (together with its affiliates, “KKR”) for the purpose of obtaining equity
funding to finance investment opportunities (such investment and the related agreements, are referred to herein collectively as the “KKR Equity Commitment”).
Pursuant to the KKR Equity Commitment, the Company authorized and issued 1,000 shares of Senior Cumulative Preferred Stock, Series C, $0.01 par value
per share (the “Series C Preferred Stock”), representing an aggregate issuance amount of $100,000. The Operating Partnership could issue Series B Preferred
Units up to an aggregate issuance amount of $158.6 million. Subject to certain limitations, the Series B Preferred Units may be converted into common stock of
the Company. The obligations of KKR to fund and of the Company to draw funds under the KKR Equity Commitment were subject to various conditions,
limitations and penalties. At December 31, 2016, no securities remain issuable under the KKR Equity Commitment.

 
On June 19, 2013, we filed a registration statement on Form S-3 to register up to $99,000,000 of shares of common stock to be offered to our existing
stockholders pursuant to our distribution reinvestment plan. The purchase price for shares offered pursuant to the distribution reinvestment plan offering is equal
to the most recently announced estimated per-share value, as of the date the shares are purchased under the distribution reinvestment plan. The distribution
reinvestment plan offering shares were initially offered at a purchase price of $10.02; effective February 28, 2014 , the distribution reinvestment plan offering
shares were offered at a purchase price of $11.63 per share; and effective March 23, 2016, the distribution reinvestment plan offering shares are being offered at
$12.45, which is our most recent estimated per-share value. As of December 31, 2016, we had sold a total of 642,075 shares of our common stock pursuant to
our distribution reinvestment plan offering for aggregate gross proceeds of $6.3 million.

 
3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

 
The summary of significant accounting policies presented below is designed to assist in understanding our consolidated financial statements. These accounting
policies conform to accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, or GAAP, in all material respects, and have been consistently
applied in preparing the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

 
Cash and Cash Equivalents

 
We consider all short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to cash with a maturity of three months or less at the time of purchase to be
cash equivalents.
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Restricted Cash
 

Restricted cash represents cash held in interest bearing accounts and amounts related to impound reserve accounts for property taxes and insurance as
required under the terms of mortgage loan agreements. Based on the intended use of the restricted cash, we have classified changes in restricted cash within
the statements of cash flows as operating, investing or financing activities.

 
Principles of Consolidation and Basis of Presentation

 
The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly-owned subsidiaries. All significant intercompany
balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. In accordance with the guidance for the consolidation of variable interest entities (“VIEs”), we
analyze our variable interests, including investments in partnerships and joint ventures, to determine if the entity in which we have a variable interest is a variable
interest entity. Our analysis includes both quantitative and qualitative reviews, based on our review of the design of the entity, its organizational structure
including decision-making ability, risk and reward sharing experience and financial condition of other partner(s), voting rights, involvement in day-to-day capital
and operating decisions and financial agreements. We also use quantitative and qualitative analyses to determine if we must consolidate a variable interest entity
as the primary beneficiary.
 
Real Estate Note Receivable
 
We record real estate notes receivable at the unpaid principal balance, net of any deferred origination fees, and valuation allowances. We amortize net deferred
origination fees, which are comprised of loan fees collected from the borrower over the contractual life of the loan on a straight-line basis which approximates
the effective interest method and immediately recognize in income any unamortized balances if the loan is repaid before its contractual maturity.
 
We regularly evaluate the collectability of real estate notes receivable based on factors such as the financial strength of the borrower and any guarantor, the
payment history of the borrower and current economic conditions. If our evaluation of these factors indicates it is probable that we will be unable to collect all
amounts due under the terms of the applicable loan agreement, we would a reserve against the portion of the receivable that we estimate may not be collected.
 
Investments in Unconsolidated Entities

 
We account for our investments in unconsolidated joint ventures under the equity method of accounting. We exercise significant influence, but do not control
these entities or direct the activities that most significantly impact the venture’s performance. Investments in unconsolidated entities are recorded initially at cost
and subsequently adjusted for cash contributions and distributions. We recognize our allocable share of the equity in earnings of our unconsolidated entities
based on the respective venture’s structure and preferences.

 
Construction in Progress

 
The Company records construction in progress at cost, including acquisition fees and closing costs incurred. The cost of the construction in progress includes
direct and indirect costs of development, including interest and miscellaneous costs incurred during the development period until the project is substantially
complete and available for occupancy. Interest and loan costs attributable to funds used to finance construction in progress are capitalized as additional costs of
development.

 
Real Estate Purchase Price Allocation

 
We allocate the purchase price of our properties in accordance with ASC 805-10, “Business Combinations.” Upon acquisition of a property, we allocate the
purchase price of the property based upon the fair value of the assets acquired, which generally consist of land, buildings and improvements, furniture, fixtures
and vehicles, tenant improvements, intangible lease assets or liabilities including in-place leases, above market and below market leases, tenant relationships,
contingent considerations and goodwill. We allocated the purchase price to the fair value of the tangible assets of an acquired property by valuing the property
as if it were vacant. We are required to make subjective assessments as to the useful lives of our depreciable assets. We consider the period of future benefit of
the asset to determine the appropriate useful lives. Depreciation of our assets is being charged to expense on a straight-line basis over the assigned useful
lives. The value of the building and improvements are depreciated over an estimated useful life of 15 to 39 years.

 
In-place lease values are calculated based on management’s evaluation of the specific characteristics of each tenant’s lease and our overall relationship with
the respective tenant. 
 
Acquired above and below market leases are valued based on the present value of the difference between prevailing market rates and the in-place rates over
the remaining lease term. The value of acquired above and below market leases is amortized over the remaining non-cancelable terms of the respective leases
as an adjustment to rental revenue on our consolidated statements of operations.

 
We amortize the value of in-place leases and above and below market leases over the initial term of the respective leases. Should a tenant terminate its lease,
the unamortized portion of the tenant improvements, intangible lease assets or liabilities and the in-place lease value will be immediately charged to expense.
The value of the tenant improvements is amortized over an estimated useful life of three to five years.

 
Contingent considerations include earnout liabilities and are valued based on the timing of each respective property achieving a specified net operating income
threshold. The fair value of the contingent consideration is calculated based on the present value of the earnout payment at the point in time the specified net
operating income threshold is met using a market derived discount rate.

 
Goodwill represents the excess of acquisition cost over the fair value of identifiable net assets of the business acquired.
 
Investments in Real Estate
 
Investments in real estate are recorded at cost less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation and amortization is computed using the straight-line method over
the estimated useful lives of the assets. The value of the building and improvements are depreciated over an estimated useful life of five to thirty nine years. The
value of furniture, fixtures and vehicles are depreciated over an estimated useful life of three to five years. Intangible lease assets are amortized over an
estimated useful life of three to five years. Expenditures for ordinary maintenance and repairs are expensed to operations as incurred. Renovations and
improvements, which improve and/or extend the useful life of the asset, are capitalized and depreciated over their estimated useful life.
 
Impairment of Real Estate Assets and Goodwill
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Real Estate Assets

 
We assess whether there has been impairment in the value of our investments in real estate whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying
amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Our portfolio is evaluated for impairment on a property-by-property basis. Indicators of potential impairment include
the following:

 
 · Change in strategy resulting in a decreased holding period;
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 · Decreased occupancy levels;
 

 · Deterioration of the rental market as evidenced by rent decreases over numerous quarters;
  

 · Properties adjacent to or located in the same submarket as those with recent impairment issues; and/or
 

 · Tenant financial problems.
 

During 2016, 2015 and 2014, we did not record any impairment charges related to our investments in real estate. The assessment as to whether our investments
in real estate are impaired is highly subjective. The calculations, which are primarily based on discounted cash flow analyses, involve management’s best
estimate of the holding period, market comparables, future occupancy levels, rental rates, capitalization rates, lease-up periods and capital requirements for
each property. A change in any one or more of these factors could materially impact whether a property is impaired as of any given valuation date.

 
Goodwill

 
We review goodwill for impairment annually and whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying value of goodwill may not be recoverable.
The guidance on goodwill impairment requires us to annually test goodwill for impairment under a two-step impairment test or under a qualitative assessment
which became optional in 2011. In Step 1 of the two-step test, we compare the fair value of each reporting unit to its carrying value. We determine the fair value
of our reporting unit based on the income approach. Under the income approach, we calculate the fair value of a reporting unit based on the present value of
estimated future cash flows. If the fair value of the reporting unit exceeds the carrying value of the net assets assigned to that unit, goodwill is not impaired. If the
carrying value of the net assets assigned to the reporting unit exceeds the fair value of the reporting unit, then the second step of the impairment test is
performed in order to determine the implied fair value of the reporting unit’s goodwill. If the carrying value of a reporting unit’s goodwill exceeds its implied fair
value, then the Company records an impairment loss equal to the difference.

  
For the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, the Company performed Step 1 in its evaluation of goodwill. The Company did not record any
impairment charges related to our goodwill.

 
Income Taxes

 
For federal income tax purposes, we have elected to be taxed as a real estate investment trust (“REIT”) under Sections 856 through 860 of the Internal Revenue
Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), beginning with our taxable year ended December 31, 2008, which imposes limitations related to operating assisted-
living properties.

 
Each taxable REIT subsidiary (“TRS”) is a tax paying component for purposes of classifying deferred tax assets and liabilities. We record net deferred tax assets
to the extent we believe these assets will more likely than not be realized. In making such determination, we consider all available positive and negative
evidence, including future reversals of existing taxable temporary differences, projected future taxable income, tax planning strategies and recent financial
operations. In the event we were to determine that we would not be able to realize our deferred income tax assets in the future in excess of their net recorded
amount, we would make an adjustment to the valuation allowance which would reduce the provision for income taxes.

 
Uncertain Tax Positions

 
In accordance with the requirements of ASC 740-10, “ Income Taxes,” favorable tax positions are included in the calculation of tax liabilities if it is more likely than
not that the Company’s adopted tax position will prevail if challenged by tax authorities. As a result of our REIT status, we are able to claim a dividends-paid
deduction on our tax return to deduct the full amount of common dividends paid to stockholders when computing our annual taxable income. A REIT is subject to
a 100% tax on the net income from prohibited transactions. A “prohibited transaction” is the sale or other disposition of property held primarily for sale to
customers in the ordinary course of a trade or business. There is a safe harbor which, if met, expressly prevents the Internal Revenue Service (the “IRS”) from
asserting the prohibited transaction test. As we have not had any sales of properties to date, the prohibited transaction tax is not applicable. We have no income
tax expense, deferred tax assets or deferred tax liabilities associated with any such uncertain tax positions for the operations of any entity included in the
consolidated results of operations.

 
Tenant and Other Receivables

 
Tenant and other receivables are comprised of rental and reimbursement billings due from tenants. Tenant receivables are recorded at the original amount
earned, less an allowance for any doubtful accounts. Management assesses the realizability of tenant receivables on an ongoing tenant by tenant basis and
provides for allowances as such balances, or portions thereof, become uncollectible. For the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015 provisions for bad debts
amounted to approximately $162,000 and $263,000, respectively. The allowance for tenant receivables is included in property operating and maintenance
expenses in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.
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Deferred Financing Costs
 

Costs incurred in connection with debt financing are recorded as deferred financing costs, which are presented in the balance sheet as a direct deduction from
the carrying amount of the notes payable, consistent with debt discounts. Deferred financing costs are amortized on a straight-line basis which approximates the
effective interest rate method over the contractual terms of the respective financings.

 
Revenue Recognition

 
Revenue is recognized when four basic criteria are met: persuasive evidence of an arrangement, the rendering of service, fixed and determinable income and
reasonably assured collectability. Leases with fixed annual rental escalators are generally recognized on a straight-line basis over the initial lease period, subject
to a collectability assessment. Rental income related to leases with contingent rental escalators is generally recorded based on the contractual cash rental
payments due for the period. Because our leases may provide for free rent, lease incentives, or other rental increases at specified intervals, we straight-line the
recognition of revenue, which results in the recording of a receivable for rent not yet due under the lease terms. Our revenues are comprised largely of rental
income and other income collected from tenants.

   
Noncontrolling Interest in Consolidated Subsidiaries

 
Noncontrolling interests include the portion of consolidated entities that are not owned by the Company, and the KKR net investment of $158.6 million in Series B
Preferred Units. The Series B Preferred Units have a liquidation preference that is determined as the greater of: (i) $100 per unit, plus accrued and unpaid
distributions or (ii) the distribution that would be made on the number of common shares into which shares of Series B Preferred Units could be converted.

 
ASC 810-10-65 Consolidation clarifies that a noncontrolling interest in a subsidiary is an ownership interest in the consolidated entity that should be reported as
equity in the consolidated financial statements. ASC 810-10-65 also requires consolidated net income to be reported at amounts that include the amounts
attributable to both the parent and the noncontrolling interest and requires disclosure, on the face of the consolidated statement of income, of the amounts of
consolidated net income attributable to the parent and to the noncontrolling interest.

 
We periodically evaluate individual noncontrolling interests for the ability to continue to recognize the noncontrolling interest as permanent equity in the
consolidated balance sheets. Any noncontrolling interest that fails to qualify as permanent equity will be reclassified as temporary equity and adjusted to the
greater of (a) the carrying amount, or (b) its redemption value as of the end of the period in which the determination is made.

 
Fair Value of Financial Instruments

 
FASB ASC 825-10, “Financial Instruments,” requires the disclosure of fair value information about financial instruments, whether or not recognized on the face
of the balance sheet, for which it is practical to estimate that value.

 
Fair value represents the estimate of the proceeds to be received, or paid in the case of a liability, in a current transaction between willing parties. ASC 820, Fair
Value Measurement establishes a fair value hierarchy to categorize the inputs used in valuation techniques to measure fair value. Inputs are either observable
or unobservable in the marketplace. Observable inputs are based on market data from independent sources and unobservable inputs reflect the reporting
entity’s assumptions about market participant assumptions used to value an asset or liability.

 
Financial assets and liabilities recorded at fair value on the consolidated balance sheets are categorized based on the inputs to the valuation techniques as
follows:

 
Level 1.  Quoted prices in active markets for identical instruments.

 
Level 2.  Observable inputs other than Level 1 prices, such as quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities; quoted prices in markets that are not active; or other
inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data for substantially the full term of the assets or liabilities.

 
Level 3.  Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the fair value of the assets or liabilities.

 
Assets and liabilities measured at fair value are classified according to the lowest level input that is significant to their valuation. A financial instrument that has a
significant unobservable input along with significant observable inputs may still be classified as a Level 3 instrument.

 
Our balance sheets include the following financial instruments: cash and cash equivalents, tenant and other receivables, net, deferred costs and other assets,
restricted cash, notes payable, net, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, prepaid rent and security deposits and distributions payable. With the exception of
notes payable and our contingent consideration discussed in Note 12, we consider the carrying values of our financial instruments to approximate fair value
because they generally expose the Company to limited credit risk and because of the short period of time between origination of the financial assets and
liabilities and their expected settlement.

 
We generally determine or calculate the fair value of financial instruments using present value or other valuation techniques, such as discounted cash flow
analyses, incorporating available market discount rate information for similar types of instruments and our estimates for non-performance and liquidity risk. These
techniques are significantly affected by the assumptions used, including the discount rate, credit spreads, and estimates of future cash flow.
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Use of Estimates
 

The preparation of our consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of the assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported
amounts of revenues and expenses for the reporting period. Actual results could materially differ from those estimates. 

 
Reclassifications

 
Reclassifications have been made to the prior year’s consolidated financial statements to conform to current year’s presentation. The Company had previously
recorded income tax benefit as a component of general and administrative expenses. As of December 31, 2016, income tax benefit has been reclassified and is
separately presented in the consolidated statement of operations. The presentation of prior-period information has been retrospectively adjusted and the
reclassification has no impact on net income.
 
On January 1, 2016 we adopted Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2015-03, “Simplifying the Presentation of Debt Issuance Costs,” which requires that debt
issuance costs related to the Company’s recognized notes payable be presented in the balance sheet as a direct deduction from the carrying amount of the
notes payable, consistent with debt discounts. The recognition and measurement guidance for debt issuance costs are not affected. The guidance requires
retrospective adoption for all prior periods presented. As of December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015, $3.9 million and $3.4 million, respectively have been
reclassified from deferred financing costs to the related notes payable in the consolidated balance sheets. 

 
Recent Accounting Pronouncements

 
Adopted accounting standard

 
In February 2015, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued ASU 2015-02, “Amendments to the Consolidation Analysis,” which requires
amendments to both the variable interest entity and voting models. The amendments (i) modify the identification of variable interests (fees paid to a decision
maker or service provider), the VIE characteristics for a limited partnership or similar entity and primary beneficiary determination under the VIE model, and (ii)
eliminate the presumption within the current voting model that a general partner controls a limited partnership or similar entity. The Company concluded that the
Operating Partnership now meets the criteria as a VIE under ASU 2015-02 and the ASU was adopted as of January 1, 2016. The Company's significant asset is
its investment in the Operating Partnership, as described in Note 1, and consequently, substantially all of the Company's assets and liabilities represent those
assets and liabilities of the Operating Partnership. Accordingly, there is no change in the presentation of the consolidated financial statements of the Company
upon adoption of ASU 2015-02.

 
Pending accounting standards

 
In January 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-04, “Intangibles – Goodwill and Other: Simplifying the Test for Goodwill Impairment”, which removes Step 2 from
the goodwill impairment test. The amendments are effective for annual or any interim goodwill impairment tests in fiscal years beginning after December 15,
2019 on a prospective basis. Early adoption is permitted for interim or annual goodwill impairment tests performed on testing dates after January 1, 2017. The
Company is evaluating the impact the adoption of ASU 2017-04 will have on its consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.
 
In January 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-01, “Business Combinations (Topic 805): Clarifying the Definition of a Business”. The guidance is intended to
assist entities with evaluating whether a set of transferred assets and activities is a business. Under the new guidance, an entity first determines whether
substantially all of the fair value of the gross assets acquired is concentrated in a single identifiable asset or a group of similar identifiable assets. If this threshold
is met, the set is not a business. If the threshold is not met, the entity then evaluates whether the set meets the requirement that a business include, at a
minimum, an input and a substantive process that together significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs. The new standard is effective for the Company
on January 1, 2018, however, early adoption is permitted. The Company is evaluating the effect that ASU 2017-01 will have on its consolidated financial
statements and related disclosures.
 
In November 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-18, “Statement of Cash Flows (Topic 230): Restricted Cash”, which enhances the presentation requirements of
restricted cash. The standard aims to unify presentation and minimize the diversity in practice. These presentation changes include increased disclosures
surrounding the restrictions on cash and the inclusion of the restricted cash balance in the reconciliation completed at the end of the statement of cash flows.
The new standard is effective for the Company on January 1, 2018, however, early adoption is permitted. The Company does not expect ASU 2016-18 to have a
significant impact on its consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.

 
In August 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-15, “Statement of Cash Flows (Topic 230)”, which indicated that there is diversity in practice in how certain cash
receipts and cash payments are presented and classified in the statement of cash flows. ASU 2016-15 addresses eight specific cash flow issues with the
objective of reducing the existing diversity in practice. This ASU is effective for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2017, and interim periods
within those fiscal years. Early adoption is permitted. Adoption of this ASU will not have a significant impact on our statement of cash flows.

 
In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, "Leases (Topic 842)", which amends various aspects of existing guidance for leases and requires additional
disclosures about leasing arrangements. It will require companies to recognize lease assets and lease liabilities by lessees for those leases classified as
operating leases under previous GAAP. This ASU retains a distinction between finance leases and operating leases. The classification criteria for distinguishing
between finance leases and operating leases are substantially similar to the classification criteria for distinguishing between capital leases and operating leases
in the previous leases guidance. The new guidance will be effective for the Company beginning on January 1, 2019 and earlier adoption is permitted. The
Company is evaluating the impact of the adoption of the new guidance on its financial statements.

 
In 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-09, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606)”. The standard is a comprehensive new revenue recognition
model that requires revenue to be recognized in a manner to depict the transfer of goods or services to a customer at an amount that reflects the consideration
expected to be received in exchange for those goods or services. The ASU will replace most existing revenue recognition guidance in GAAP when it becomes
effective, although it will not affect the accounting for rental related revenues. The new standard is effective for the Company on January 1, 2018, pursuant to
ASU 2015-09 which deferred the adoption date by one year. Early adoption is permitted. The standard permits the use of either the retrospective or cumulative
effect transition method. The Company has begun its process of assessing the impact of the guidance. To date the Company’s assessment efforts include the
identification of various revenue streams within the scope of the guidance and the evaluation of certain lease contracts with tenants. Although the Company is
still evaluating the revenue streams and the timing of recognition under the new model, a significant change to our current revenue recognition policies is not
expected as a substantial portion of our revenue consists of rental income from leasing arrangements, which is excluded from ASU 2014-09. The Company has
not yet selected a transition method.
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4. Acquisitions
 
2016 Acquisitions
 

 68  

EDGAR Stream is a copyright of Issuer Direct Corporation, all rights reserved.



 

Spring Village at Essex
 
On November 18, 2016, through a wholly owned subsidiary, we acquired real estate property (“Spring Village at Essex”) from an unaffiliated third party, for a
total cost of approximately $11.3 million, which includes closing costs of $0.2 million. Spring Village at Essex is a 50-unit memory care facility located in Essex,
Vermont. The purchase of the property was not a purchase of the business of the property, it was simply the purchase of the land, building and assets of the
Company. We entered into a management agreement with Woodbine Senior Living, LLC (“Woodbine”) to operate Spring Village at Essex. Woodbine currently
manages four of our other assisted-living facilities: Spring Village at Wildewood, Spring Village at Floral Vale, Forestview Manor and Woodland Terrace at the
Oaks. We funded the purchase of Spring Village at Essex with proceeds from a mortgage loan from M&T Bank, an unaffiliated lender, as described in Note 8
and with cash on hand.
 
We have accounted for the acquisition as an asset acquisition under GAAP. The following summary provides the cost of the acquired assets for Spring Village at
Essex. The closing costs are included in the total basis.
 

  
Spring Village at

Essex  
Land  $ 950,000 
Buildings and improvements   9,651,000 
Furniture, fixtures and vehicles   699,000 
Real estate acquisition  $ 11,300,000 

 
2015 Acquisitions

 
Sumter Grand

 
On February 6, 2015, through a wholly owned subsidiary, we acquired real estate property (“Sumter Grand”) from an unaffiliated third party, for an initial
purchase price of $31.5 million, with additional proceeds, of up to $8.5 million payable to the seller if certain net operating income thresholds are met, for a
maximum purchase price of $40.0 million. Sumter Grand, which opened in December 2014, is a 150-unit independent living facility located in The Villages,
Florida. We funded the purchase of Sumter Grand with proceeds from the sale to the Investor of Series B Preferred Units pursuant to the KKR Equity
Commitment, on December 30, 2014 and with proceeds from a mortgage loan from KeyBank, an unaffiliated lender, as described in Note 8.

 
Gables of Kentridge

 
On April 1, 2015, through wholly owned subsidiaries, we acquired real estate property (“Gables of Kentridge”) from two third parties who are not affiliated with us
or our Advisor, for a purchase price of $15.4 million. Gables of Kentridge is located in Kent, Ohio and has a total of 92 beds in 91 units, which are dedicated to
both assisted living and memory care. Prior to the completion of this transaction, Gables of Kentridge was operated by Gables Management Company, Inc.
(“Gables Management”). Gables Management has been retained by Arrow Senior Living to sub-manage on a fee basis. Gables Management is also the sub-
manager of the Gables of Hudson property acquired in 2014. We funded the purchase of Gables of Kentridge with proceeds from the sale of Series B Preferred
Units to the Investor pursuant to the KKR Equity Commitment, as described in Note 14, and an assumption of HUD debt in the amount of $9.1 million ($9.0
million, net of discount), as described in Note 8.

 
Armbrook Village

 
On April 6, 2015, through wholly owned subsidiaries, we acquired a 95% interest in a joint venture entity that owns Armbrook Village for an initial purchase price
of $30.0 million, with additional proceeds, of up to $3.6 million payable to the seller if certain net operating income thresholds are met, for a maximum purchase
price of $33.6 million. We funded the purchase of our interest in Armbrook Village with proceeds from the sale of Series B Preferred Units to the Investor,
pursuant to the KKR Equity Commitment, and with proceeds from a mortgage loan from M&T Bank, an unaffiliated lender, as described in Note 8. Armbrook
Village, which opened in April 2013, is a senior living community that consists of 46 independent living units, 51 assisted living units, and 21 memory care units
located in Westfield, Massachusetts. Senior Living Residences, LLC and its affiliates (collectively, “SLR”), which is not affiliated with us, is our joint venture
partner and manages Armbrook Village. Prior to the completion of this transaction, Armbrook Village was operated by SLR and owned by a local Westfield
commercial developer, which is not affiliated with us. SLR also manages Standish Village and Compass on the Bay.
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Parkway

 
In October 2014, we invested approximately $3.5 million to acquire a 65% interest in a joint venture entity that was formed to develop The Parkway, in Blue
Springs, Missouri. We funded our investment in the joint venture from available cash. The Parkway, a 142-unit senior housing facility, offers a continuum of care
including independent living, assisted living, and memory care. O’Reilly Development Company (“ODC”), which is not affiliated with us, invested approximately
$1.5 million for a 32.5% interest in the joint venture entity. ODC is the developer and our joint venture partner in the $22.4 million project. The Company’s initial
investment of $3.5 million was accounted for as an equity method investment because the Company was deemed to have limited control or direction of the
activities that most significantly impact the entity’s performance during the development phase. As of June 30, 2015, certain construction risks assumed by ODC
had been significantly mitigated due to the execution of the development phase and initial lease up of the project. Therefore, as of June 30, 2015, the Company
determined it is the primary beneficiary and holds a controlling financial interest due to its power to direct the activities that most significantly impact the economic
performance of the project, as well as its obligation to absorb the losses and its right to receive benefits from the project that could potentially be significant in
nature. As of June 30, 2015 we have consolidated our interest in The Parkway. The Parkway began operations of the independent living portion of the property
in July 2015, the memory care portion of the property in November 2015, and the assisted living portion of the property in December 2015. As a result, $1.2
million, $20.3 million and $0.6 million of construction in progress was reclassified to the land, building and improvements and furniture, fixtures and vehicles
depreciable asset classes, respectively. This development was funded by draws of the construction loan, as described in Note 8.

 
Accel at Golden

 
In April 2015, the Company closed on a commitment to fund the development of a 120 bed, 112,500 square foot transitional care skilled nursing facility in
Golden, Colorado for a total budget of approximately $18.5 million. We have been funding the development of this project (“Accel at Golden”) through the use of
a large, regional owner, operator and developer of skilled nursing, transitional rehabilitation and assisted living facilities, StoneGate Senior Living (“StoneGate”).
Accel at Golden will be net leased to a joint venture between StoneGate and Panorama Orthopedics upon completion. The Company funded the development
with proceeds from the sale to the Investor of Series B Preferred Units pursuant to the KKR Equity Commitment and with proceeds from a development loan
from Synovus Bank, an unaffiliated lender. As of December 31, 2016, the Company has funded approximately $16.0 million to close on the purchase of the land
for $2.1 million and recorded construction in progress costs of $13.9 million. The remaining development budget will be funded by future draws on the
construction loan, as described in Note 8.

 
The following summary provides the allocation of the acquired assets and liabilities as of the acquisition dates. We have accounted for the acquisitions of Sumter
Grand, the Gables of Kentridge and Armbrook Village as business combinations under GAAP. Under GAAP business combination accounting, the assets and
liabilities of the acquired properties were recorded at their respective fair values as of the acquisition date and in our consolidated financial statements. The
details of the purchase price of the acquired properties are set forth below:

 

  
Armbrook

Village   
Gables of
Kentridge   

Sumter
Grand  

Land  $ 957,000  $ 640,000  $ - 
Buildings and improvements   29,689,000   12,939,000   37,295,000 
Furniture, fixtures and vehicles   1,401,000   870,000   1,580,000 
Intangible assets   1,098,000   921,000   - 
Intangible liability (1)   -   -   (516,000)
Contingent liability (2)   (3,145,000)   -   (6,859,000)
Real estate acquisition  $ 30,000,000  $ 15,370,000  $ 31,500,000 

Acquisition expenses  $ 488,000  $ 267,000  $ 430,000 
 

(1) This balance represents the Company’s fair value estimate of the above market ground lease associated with the land in the Sumter Grand acquisition and
is recorded in accounts payable and accrued liabilities.

 
(2) This balance represents the Company’s fair value estimate of contingent consideration due to the sellers of Armbrook Village and Sumter Grand based on

achieving a specified net operating income threshold. The contingent consideration is recorded in accounts payable and accrued liabilities. The contingent
consideration related to the Sumter Grand acquisition will expire in August 2018 if the net operating threshold is not achieved. The Company recorded a
change in fair value of contingent consideration of $(3.4) million related to the Sumter Grand acquisition and as a result, the estimated fair value of the
contingent consideration as of December 31, 2016 is $3.7 million. The contingent consideration related to the Armbrook Village acquisition will expire in April
2018 if the net operating threshold is not achieved. The Company recorded a change in fair value of contingent consideration of $0.2 million related to the
Armbrook Village acquisition and as a result, the estimated fair value of the contingent consideration as of December 31, 2016 is $1.7 million.

 
The following unaudited pro forma information for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014 have been prepared to reflect the incremental effect of the
Gables of Kentridge and Armbrook Village acquisitions as if such acquisitions had occurred on January 1, 2014. Sumter Grand opened in December 2014,
therefore the Company has excluded this acquisition from the pro forma financial statements. We have not adjusted the pro forma information for any items that
may be directly attributable to the business combination or are non-recurring in nature.

 

  
Year ended

December 31, 2015   
Year ended

December 31, 2014  
Revenues  $ 117,809,000  $ 90,421,000 
Net loss  $ (6,865,000)  $ (4,248,000)
Basic and diluted net loss per common share attributable to common stockholders  $ (0.60)  $ (0.35)
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The Company recorded revenues of $3.7 million and a net loss of $1.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2015 for the Sumter Grand acquisition.

 
The Company recorded revenues of $3.3 million and a net loss of $1.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2015 for the Gables of Kentridge acquisition.

 
The Company recorded revenues of $4.1 million and a net loss of $1.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2015 for the Armbrook Village acquisition.

  
5. Real Estate Note Receivable

 
On January 16, 2015, the Company, through an indirect wholly owned subsidiary, originated a development loan in the amount of $41.9 million for the
development of The Delaney at Georgetown Village located in Georgetown, Texas (the “Georgetown Loan”). The Georgetown Loan is secured by a first
mortgage lien on the land, building, and all improvements made thereon. The Georgetown Loan matures on January 15, 2020 with one 12-month option to
extend at the Company’s option, and bears interest at a fixed rate of 7.9% per annum for the term of the loan. At the maturity date, all unpaid principal, plus
accrued and unpaid interest shall be due in full. Advances are made periodically during the construction period. The borrower paid a loan origination fee equal to
1% of the loan amount. Monthly payments are interest only for the term of the loan. The Company has the option to purchase the property at fair value at the
earlier of stabilization or 48 months from the loan origination. Fair value is determined by the average asset value of independent appraisals obtained by the
lender and borrower. Regardless of whether the Company exercises the option to purchase the property, the Company will be entitled to participate in the value
creation which is the difference between the fair value and the total development cost. The Georgetown Loan is non-recourse to the borrowers, but one of the
entities affiliated with the borrower has provided cost and completion guarantees as well as a guaranty of customary “bad boy” carve-outs.

 
Interest revenue on the loan receivable is recognized as earned based upon the principal amount outstanding subject to an evaluation of collectability risks. For
the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015, interest revenue from the real estate note receivable was $2.1 million and $0.4 million, respectively. Interest
revenue is recorded as a component of tenant reimbursements and other income in the consolidated statement of operations. As of December 31, 2016, the
borrower had made draws on the Georgetown Loan totaling $34.2 million, and the remaining commitment from the Company is approximately $7.7 million.

  
6. Investments in Real Estate

 
As of December 31, 2016, cost and accumulated depreciation and amortization related to real estate assets and related lease intangibles were as follows:

 

  Land   

Buildings
and

Improvements   

Furniture,
Fixtures

and Vehicles   
Construction
in Progress   

Intangible
Lease Assets  

Cost  $ 48,146,000  $ 440,985,000  $ 20,579,000  $ 13,933,000  $ 28,739,000 
Accumulated depreciation and amortization   -   (45,485,000)   (7,987,000)   -   (23,906,000)
Net  $ 48,146,000  $ 395,500,000  $ 12,592,000  $ 13,933,000  $ 4,833,000 

 
As of December 31, 2015, accumulated depreciation and amortization related to investments in real estate and related lease intangibles were as follows:

 

  Land   

Buildings
and

Improvements   

Furniture,
Fixtures

and Vehicles   
Construction
in Progress   

Intangible
Lease Assets  

Cost  $ 47,196,000  $ 429,945,000  $ 18,746,000  $ 5,168,000  $ 28,737,000 
Accumulated depreciation and amortization   -   (32,711,000)   (6,086,000)   -   (22,006,000)
Net  $ 47,196,000  $ 397,234,000  $ 12,660,000  $ 5,168,000  $ 6,731,000 

 
Depreciation expense associated with buildings and improvements and furniture, fixtures and vehicles for the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015, and 2014
was approximately $14.7 million, $13.6 million, and $8.2 million, respectively. Amortization associated with the intangible assets for the years ended
December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014 was $1.8 million, $6.2 million, and $3.6 million, respectively.

  
Estimated amortization of the intangible lease assets for each of the five following years ended December 31 is as follows:

 
  Intangible Assets 

2017  $ 389,000 
2018   388,000 
2019   295,000 
2020   295,000 
2021   290,000 
2022 and thereafter   3,176,000 
  $ 4,833,000 
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The estimated useful lives for intangible assets range from two to twenty years. As of December 31, 2016, the weighted-average amortization period for
intangible assets was approximately 17 years.
 
7. Investments in Unconsolidated Entities
 
As of December 31, 2016, the Company owns an interest in the following entities that are accounted for under the equity method of accounting:

 
Entity (1)  Property Type  Acquired  Investment (2)   Ownership%  
Physicians Center MOB  Medical Office Building  April 2012  $ -   71.9%
Buffalo Crossings  Assisted-Living Facility  January 2014   493,000   25.0%
      $ 493,000     

 
As of December 31, 2015, the Company owns an interest in the following entities that are accounted for under the equity method of accounting:

 
Entity (1)  Property Type  Acquired  Investment (2)   Ownership%  
Physicians Center MOB  Medical Office Building  April 2012  $ -   71.9%
Buffalo Crossings  Assisted-Living Facility  January 2014   880,000   25.0%
      $ 880,000     

  
(1) These entities are not consolidated because the Company exercises significant influence, but does not control or direct the activities that most

significantly impact each entity’s performance.
 

(2) Represents the carrying value of the Company’s investment in each unconsolidated entity. As of December 31, 2016, the Company maintains a 71.9%
ownership in Physicians Center MOB. The distributions and allocation of loss since the date of our initial investment has rendered our carrying value to
zero.

 
Summarized combined financial information for the Company’s unconsolidated entities is as follows:

 

  
December 31,

2016   
December 31,

2015  
Cash and cash equivalents  $ 688,000  $ 279,000 
Investments in real estate, net   22,747,000   24,712,000 
Other assets   721,000   713,000 
Total assets  $ 24,156,000  $ 25,704,000 

         
Notes payable, net  $ 23,193,000  $ 22,679,000 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities   289,000   285,000 
Other liabilities   454,000   49,000 
Total stockholders’ equity   220,000   2,691,000 
Total liabilities and equity  $ 24,156,000  $ 25,704,000 

 
  For the year ended December 31,  

  2016   2015 (1)(2)   2014 (1)(2)  
Total revenues  $ 5,435,000  $ 2,757,000  $ 1,631,000 
Net loss   (420,000)   (1,252,000)   (497,000)
Company’s equity in loss from unconsolidated entities   163,000   362,000   352,000 

  
(1) On January 28, 2014, through a wholly-owned subsidiary, we acquired a 25% interest in a joint venture entity that has developed Buffalo Crossings, a

108-unit, assisted living community and began operations in May 2015. Buffalo Crossings was accounted for under the entity method of accounting
beginning with the first quarter of 2014.

(2) As of December 31, 2014, the Company’s initial investment of $3.5 million in The Parkway was accounted for as an equity method investment. As of
June 30, 2015, the Company began consolidating The Parkway and as a result, it is no longer accounted for under the equity method of accounting.
See Note 4.
 

8. Notes Payable
 

Notes payable were $370.1 million ($366.1 million, net of discount and deferred financing costs) and $338.7 million ($335.3 million, net of discount and deferred
financing costs) as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively. As of December 31, 2016, we had total secured mortgage loans with effective interest rates
ranging from 2.80% to 6.43% per annum and a weighted-average effective interest rate of 4.22% per annum. As of December 31, 2016, we had $219.6 million of
fixed rate debt, or 59% of notes payable, at a weighted average interest rate of 4.78% per annum and $150.5 million of variable rate debt, or 41% of notes
payable, at a weighted average interest rate of 3.41% per annum. As of December 31, 2015, we had fixed and variable rate mortgage loans with effective
interest rates ranging from 2.45% to 6.43% per annum and a weighted average effective interest rate of 4.02% per annum.
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On November 18, 2016, in connection with the acquisition of Spring Village at Essex, we entered into a loan agreement with M&T Bank, an unaffiliated lender,
in an aggregate amount of $8.7 million, with a maturity date of November 18, 2021. Loan payments are interest only for the first two years at a floating interest
rate of one month LIBOR plus 2.95% subject to increase in certain circumstances. Thereafter, loan payments include principal amortization based on a 28-year
amortization schedule at a per annum interest rate of 4.5%.
  
On August 19, 2016, we entered into three Multifamily Loan and Security Agreements (the “Loans”) with KeyBank National Association (“KeyBank”), an
unaffiliated lender, originated under Fannie Mae’s Delegated Underwriting and Servicing Product Line for aggregate borrowings of approximately $54.6 million, to
refinance our Spring Village at Wildewood, Gables of Hudson, and Sumter Place properties. The Loans bear interest at a variable rate of one-month LIBOR plus
2.66% for a term of 10 years. Loan payments are interest only for the first five years of the loan term, after which we will also be obligated to repay principal in
specified fixed monthly amounts. All unpaid principal and accrued interest will be payable upon the maturity of each loan. The Loans are secured by the
refinanced properties. We may prepay each Loan in full at any time (1) after September 1, 2017 and until May 31, 2026 upon payment of a prepayment premium
equal to 1% of the principal amount prepaid, and (2) after May 31, 2026 with no prepayment premium. In connection with documentation and closing of the
Loans, we paid fees and expenses totaling approximately $1.8 million.

 
On August 19, 2016, we entered into a Secured Loan Agreement with KeyBank, with an aggregate loan amount of approximately $62.1 million (the “Portfolio
Loan”), of which approximately $57.0 million in principal is currently outstanding. The Portfolio Loan represents a refinancing and is secured by our Woodbury
Mews, Sumter Grand, Mesa Vista Inn Health Center, Live Oaks Village of Hammond and Slidell properties. The Portfolio Loan has an initial term of three years
with a one-year extension available upon payment of an extension fee equal to 0.25% of the loan amount. The Portfolio Loan bears interest at a rate of one-
month LIBOR plus 3.0%. In connection with the closing of the Portfolio Loan, we paid fees and expenses of $1.1 million, including a commitment fee of
approximately $698,000 to KeyBank. We may prepay the Portfolio Loan at any time, subject to certain conditions. Payments on the loans are due monthly and
are accrued interest-only during the initial two years. Beginning in the third year, payments will consist of interest plus principal amortization payments based
upon a 30-year amortization schedule. As a condition to obtaining the Portfolio Loan, we provided KeyBank with a limited guaranty of 30% of the outstanding
loan amount.

 
In connection with the closing of the loans described above, the Company recognized a loss on debt extinguishment in the amount of $0.4 million, which is
included in loss on debt extinguishment and other expense in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

 
On August 31, 2016, we entered into a Participation Agreement (the “Participation Agreement”) among Red Capital Partners, LLC (“Red Capital”), an unaffiliated
lender, and Sentio Georgetown, LLC and Sentio Georgetown TRS, LLC, which are wholly owned subsidiaries of the Company. Pursuant to the Participation
Agreement, Red Capital entered into a $20.0 million senior participation interest (the “Red Capital Loan”) in the Georgetown Loan (refer to Note 5). In connection
with the closing of the Red Capital Loan, the Company paid a commitment fee of $200,000 to Red Capital. The Red Capital Loan bears interest at a rate of
5.25% and matures on January 15, 2020, which is coterminous with the Georgetown Loan. Loan payments are interest only for the full term of the Red Capital
Loan. The Red Capital Loan has a one-year extension available upon payment of a fee equal to 0.5% of the Red Capital Loan amount. As of December 31,
2016, Red Capital had funded $12.3 million under the Red Capital Loan and plans to fund the remainder as the Company receives draw requests on the
Georgetown Loan.
 
On June 30, 2015, the Company consolidated a 65% interest in a joint venture entity, Blue Springs Senior Community, LLC (“The Parkway JV”), that has
developed The Parkway Senior Living Community. The Parkway JV entered into a secured construction loan agreement with Springfield First Community Bank,
an unaffiliated lender, in the amount of up to $17.3 million in connection with the development of The Parkway in Blue Springs, Missouri. The construction loan
has a term of five years with a fixed interest rate of 3.90%. Loan payments are interest only for the first three years. Loan payments for the remaining two years
will be principal and interest of the lesser of a fixed amount or accrued interest plus principal payments based on a 20-year amortization of the amount fully
advanced. We have the right to make prepayments on the loan, in whole or in part, without prepayment penalty. As of December 31, 2016 a total of $17.1 million
was drawn on the construction loan.
 
On May 15, 2015, the Company entered into a secured loan agreement with Synovus Bank, an unaffiliated lender, in the aggregate amount of up to $11.3
million, in connection with the commitment to fund the development of Accel at Golden in Golden, Colorado. The loan to fund the development has a term of five
years with an initial fixed interest rate of 3.25%. As of December 31, 2016, this loan bears interest at a rate of one-month LIBOR plus 3.0%. Loan payments are
interest only for the first three years. Loan payments for the remaining two years will be principal and interest payments based on a 25-year amortization of the
amount of the loan balance. We have the right to make prepayments on the loan, in whole or in part, without prepayment penalty. As of December 31, 2016 a
total of $9.3 million was drawn on the construction loan.
 
On April 6, 2015, in connection with the acquisition of Armbrook Village in Westfield, Massachusetts, we entered into a loan agreement with M&T Bank, an
unaffiliated lender, with an outstanding principal balance of approximately $21.0 million, with a maturity date of May 1, 2020. Loan payments are interest only for
the first two years at a floating interest rate of one-month LIBOR plus 2.20% subject to increase in certain circumstances. Thereafter, loan payments include
principal amortization based on a 28-year amortization schedule at a per annum interest rate of 6.00%.
 
On April 1, 2015, in connection with the acquisition of the Gables of Kentridge in Kent, Ohio, the Company assumed a note payable in the amount of
approximately $9.1 million ($9.0 million, net of discount) at a fixed interest rate of 4.41% and a 35-year term. This note payable is secured by the underlying real
estate.
 
On December 31, 2014, the Company entered into a secured loan agreement with KeyBank, in the aggregate amount of up to $53.2 million in connection with
the acquisitions of the Sumter Place and Sumter Grand properties in The Villages, Florida. As of December 31, 2014 a total of $28.9 million was drawn on the
loan related to Sumter Place. On February 6, 2015, in connection with the acquisition of Sumter Grand, an additional $19.2 million was drawn on the loan. The
loan had a term of three years at a floating interest rate of one-month LIBOR plus 3.15% subject to increase in certain circumstances. Loan payments were
interest only for the initial three year term. This loan was refinanced on August 19, 2016 with KeyBank as mentioned above.
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We are required by the terms of the applicable loan documents to meet certain financial covenants, such as debt service coverage ratios, rent coverage ratios
and reporting requirements. Any violation of financial covenants under the loans would constitute an event of default. If we were not able to secure a waiver of
such covenant violations, the lender could, in its discretion, declare the loan to be immediately due and payable, take possession of the properties securing the
loan, enforce the Company’s loan guarantees of the loan balance, or exercise other remedies available to it under law. If the lender were to declare the loan to
be immediately due and payable, we expect to refinance the loan in satisfaction of the debt. Any such refinancing may be on terms and conditions less favorable
than the terms currently available under the loan. As of December 31, 2016, we were in compliance with all such covenants and requirements. 
 
The following table summarizes the debt terms and our outstanding principal loan balances as of December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015:

 
      Outstanding   Outstanding    
      Principal   Principal    
      Balance as of   Balance as of    

Property Name  Payment Type                   Interest Rate  December 31, 2016 (1)   December 31, 2015 (1)   Maturity Date
Accel at Golden

 

Months 1-36 interest only. Month 37 to maturity
principal and interest at a 25-year amortization
rate  

One month LIBOR +
3.00%  $ 9,342,000  $ 53,000  15-May-20

Amber Glen
 

Principal and interest at a 30-year amortization
rate  6.40% - fixed   8,102,000   8,243,000  1-Jun-19

Armbrook Village

 

Months 1-24 interest only. Month 25 to maturity
principal and interest at a 28-year amortization
schedule at per annum interest rate of 6.00%  

One month LIBOR +
2.20%   21,000,000   21,000,000  1-May-20

Carriage Court of Hilliard
 

Principal and interest at a 35-year amortization
rate  2.80% - fixed   12,767,000   13,024,000  1-Nov-47

Caruth Haven Court
 

Principal and interest at a 30-year amortization
rate  6.43% - fixed   9,122,000   9,273,000  1-Jan-20

Compass on the Bay
 

Principal and interest at a 35-year amortization
rate  3.32% - fixed   3,671,000   3,748,000  1-Mar-45

Compass on the Bay 2nd
 

Principal and interest at a 35-year amortization
rate  5.65% - fixed   2,629,000   2,666,000  1-Mar-45

Cornerstone Dallas Rehab
 

Principal and interest at a 30-year amortization
rate  4.75% - fixed   6,895,000   7,018,000  22-Oct-18

Forestview Manor
 

Principal and interest at a 30-year amortization
rate  4.45% - fixed   8,121,000   8,280,000  1-Jul-19

Gables of Hudson (2)

 

Months 1-60 interest only. Month 61 to maturity
principal and interest at a 30-year amortization
rate  

One month LIBOR +
2.66%   15,982,000   11,375,000  1-Sep-26

Gables of Kentridge
 

Principal and interest at a 35-year amortization
rate  4.41% - fixed   8,871,000   8,992,000  1-May-49

Greentree at Westwood
 

Principal and interest at a 30-year amortization
rate  4.45% - fixed   3,577,000   3,647,000  1-Jul-19

Hedgcoxe Health Plaza
 

Principal and interest at a 30-year amortization
rate  4.90% - fixed   5,223,000   5,316,000  14-Aug-22

Hudson Creek
 

Principal and interest at a 30-year amortization
rate  6.11% - fixed   7,506,000   7,633,000  1-Jun-19

Live Oaks Village of

Hammond (3)

 

Months 1-23 interest only. Month 24 to maturity
principal and interest at a 30-year amortization
rate  

One month LIBOR +
3.00%   3,727,000   4,550,000  19-Aug-19

Live Oaks Village of Slidell
(3)

 

Months 1-23 interest only. Month 24 to maturity
principal and interest at a 30-year amortization
rate  

One month LIBOR +
3.00%   2,077,000   3,700,000  19-Aug-19

Mesa Vista Inn Health

Center (3)

 

Months 1-23 interest only. Month 24 to maturity
principal and interest at a 30-year amortization
rate  

One month LIBOR +
3.00%   8,248,000   10,000,000  19-Aug-19

Mill Creek
 

Principal and interest at a 30-year amortization
rate  6.40% - fixed   7,820,000   7,957,000  1-Jun-19

Oakleaf Village Portfolio
 

Principal and interest at a 25-year amortization
rate  4.00% - fixed   18,471,000   18,988,000  26-Nov-18

Rome LTACH(4)

 
Principal and interest at a 25-year amortization
rate  4.50% - fixed   12,055,000   12,408,000  31-Mar-17

Spring Village at Essex

 

Months 1-24 interest only. Month 25 to maturity
principal and interest at a 28-year amortization
rate  

One month LIBOR +
2.95%   8,673,000   -   18-Nov-21

Spring Village at Floral Vale
 

Principal and interest at a 30-year amortization
rate  4.45% - fixed   6,016,000   6,133,000  1-Jul-19

Spring Village at

Wildewood (2)

 

Months 1-60 interest only. Month 61 to maturity
principal and interest at a 30-year amortization
rate  

One month LIBOR +
2.66%   11,272,000   6,410,000  1-Sep-26

Standish Village

 

Months 1-48 interest only. Month 49 to maturity
principal and interest at a 30-year amortization
rate  5.76% - fixed rate   10,885,000   10,885,000  1-Jan-24

St. Andrews Village

 

Months 1-48 interest only. Month 49 to maturity
principal and interest at a 30-year amortization
rate

 

Months 1-24 floating
rate of one month
LIBOR + 3.07%;

4.64% fixed rate for
the remaining term   30,205,000   30,205,000  1-Sep-23

Sugar Creek
 

Principal and interest at a 30-year amortization
rate  6.20% - fixed   7,341,000   7,468,000  1-Jun-19

Sumter Grand (3)

 

Months 1-23 interest only. Month 24 to maturity
principal and interest at a 30-year amortization
rate  

One month LIBOR +
3.00%   19,195,000   19,195,000  19-Aug-19
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Sumter Place (2)

 

Months 1-60 interest only. Month 61 to maturity
principal and interest at a 30-year amortization
rate  

One month LIBOR +
2.66%   27,325,000   28,860,000  1-Sep-26

Terrace at Mountain Creek
 

Principal and interest at a 30-year amortization
rate  4.45% - fixed   8,121,000   8,280,000  1-Jul-19

The Delaney at
Georgetown Village  

Interest only
  5.25% - fixed   12,268,000   -  15-Jan-20

The Oaks Bradenton
 

Principal and interest at a 30-year amortization
rate  4.45% - fixed   3,790,000   3,864,000  1-Jul-19

The Parkway

 

Months 1-36 interest only. Month 37 to maturity
principal and interest at a 20-year amortization
rate  3.90% - fixed   17,117,000   16,115,000  5-Jul-19

Woodbury Mews

Portfolio (3)

 

Months 1-23 interest only. Month 24 to maturity
principal and interest at a 30-year amortization
rate  

One month LIBOR +
3.00%   23,704,000   24,437,000  19-Aug-19

Woodland Terrace at the
Oaks

 

Months 1-36 interest only. Month 37 to maturity
principal and interest at a 25-year amortization
rate  4.87% - fixed   8,995,000   8,995,000  1-Oct-24

      $ 370,113,000  $ 338,718,000   
 

 
 

 
Less: Deferred
financing costs   3,879,000   3,352,000   

    Less: Discount   137,000   78,000   
    Notes payable, net $ 366,097,000  $ 335,288,000   
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(1) As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, all notes payable are secured by the underlying real estate.
(2) On August 19, 2016, this loan was refinanced with KeyBank under Fannie Mae’s Delegated Underwriting and Servicing Product Line discussed above.
(3) On August 19, 2016 we entered into a Secured Loan Agreement with KeyBank as a part of a refinancing discussed above.
(4) The Company is in the process of refinancing the Rome LTACH debt which matures on March 31, 2017. If we are unable to execute a refinance of the

Rome LTACH debt prior to the maturity date, we would pay off the debt with cash on hand as of December 31, 2016.
  
Principal payments due on our notes payable as of December 31, 2016 and each of the five subsequent years are as follows:

 
Year  Principal Amount 
2017  $ 15,261,000 
2018   28,712,000 
2019   133,045,000 
2020   59,847,000 
2021   10,190,000 
2022 and thereafter   123,058,000 
  $ 370,113,000 
Less: Deferred financing costs   3,879,000 
Less: Discount   137,000 
  $ 366,097,000 

 
9. Operating Leases

 
All resident leases in our senior operations living segment are on a month-to-month basis and are excluded from the following schedule. Future minimum lease
payments to be received under non-cancellable operating leases for the triple-net leased properties and medical office building properties for each of the next
five years and thereafter, as of December 31, 2016 are as follows:

 
Years ending December 31,  Receipt Amount 
2017  $ 9,589,000 
2018   9,785,000 
2019   9,889,000 
2020   9,698,000 
2021   9,755,000 
2022 and thereafter   41,848,000 

  
Under the terms of its ground lease agreements, the Company is responsible for the monthly rental payment. These amounts are recorded as property,
operating and maintenance expenses in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations. The Company incurred approximately $0.5 million, $0.3
million and $0.0 million in ground lease expense for the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, respectively.

 
The following is a schedule of future minimum lease payments to be paid under the ground leases for each of the next five years and thereafter, as of December
31, 2016:

 
Years ending December 31,  Payment Amount 
2017  $ 491,000 
2018   500,000 
2019   510,000 
2020   521,000 
2021   531,000 
2022 and thereafter   13,353,000 

 
10. Concentration of Risks

 
Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to a concentration of credit risk are primarily cash investments; cash is generally invested in
investment-grade short-term instruments. As of December 31, 2016, we had cash accounts in excess of Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation insured limits.

 
Concentrations of credit risks arise when a number of operators, tenants or obligors related to our investments are engaged in similar business activities, located
in the same geographic region, or have similar economic features that would cause their ability to meet contractual obligations, including those to the Company,
to be similarly affected by changes in economic conditions. We regularly monitor various segments of our portfolio to assess potential concentration of risks.
Management believes the current portfolio is reasonably diversified across healthcare-related real estate and does not contain any other significant
concentration of credit risks, except as presented below.

 
For the year ended December 31, 2016, the senior living segment generated 91% of the Company’s total revenues. The senior living segment includes
properties in fifteen states of which the operations in four states accounted for 10% or more of our total revenue. The following table provides information about
our geographic risk related to each of the four states and their economies for the three years ended December 31, 2016:
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  Percentage of Total Revenues  

State  
December 31,

2016  
December 31,

2015  
December 31,

2014  
Ohio  12%  12%  7%  
Florida  11%  11%  2%  
Massachusetts  12%  11%  9%  
Texas  10%  9%  12%  

 
The Company utilizes third-party operators to provide property management and accounting services for our senior living operations, for which we pay annual
management fees. As operators, the Company is not directly exposed to their credit risk. However, we rely on our operators to operate our senior housing
operations in compliance with the terms of our management agreements and all applicable laws and regulations. The operators’ inability to satisfy their
obligations under the management agreements could have a material adverse effect on us. 

 
The following table provides information about our senior living operators which accounted for 10% or more of our total revenue for the three years ended
December 31, 2016:

 
  Percentage of Total Revenues  

Operators  
December 31,

2016  
December 31,

2015  
December 31,

2014
 

JEA Senior Living  11%  12%  17%  
Woodbine Senior Living  13%  10%  11%  
Senior Living Residences  12%  11%  9%  
12 Oaks Senior Living  13%  6%  8%  
Arrow Senior Living  13%  8%  0%  
KR Management  10%  9%  0%  

  
11. Segment Reporting

 
As of December 31, 2016, we operated in three reportable business segments for management and internal financial reporting purposes: senior living
operations, triple-net leased properties, and medical office building (“MOB”) properties. These operating segments are the segments of the Company for which
separate financial information is available and for which segment results are evaluated regularly by the chief operating decision maker in deciding how to allocate
resources and in assessing performance. Our senior living operations segment primarily consists of investments in senior housing communities located in the
United States for which we engage independent third-party managers. Our triple-net leased properties segment consists of investments in senior living, skilled
nursing and hospital facilities in the United States. These facilities are leased to healthcare operating companies under long-term “triple-net” or “absolute-net”
leases, which require the tenants to pay all property-related expenses. Our MOB properties segment primarily consists of investing in medical office buildings
and leasing those properties to healthcare providers under long-term leases, which may require tenants to pay property-related expenses.

 
We evaluate performance of the combined properties in each segment based on net operating income. Net operating income is defined as total revenue less
property operating and maintenance expenses. There are no intersegment sales or transfers. We use net operating income to evaluate the operating
performance of our real estate investments and to make decisions concerning the operation of the property. We believe that net operating income is useful to
investors in understanding the value of income-producing real estate. Net income is the GAAP measure that is most directly comparable to net operating
income; however, net operating income should not be considered as an alternative to net income as the primary indicator of operating performance as it
excludes certain items such as depreciation and amortization, asset management fees, real estate acquisition costs, interest expense and corporate general and
administrative expenses. Additionally, net operating income as we define it may not be comparable to net operating income as defined by other REITs or
companies.

 
The following tables reconcile the segment activity to consolidated net income for the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014:
 
  For the Year Ended December 31, 2016  

  
Senior living
 operations   

Triple-net
 leased

properties   
MOB 

properties   Consolidated  
Rental revenue  $ 81,893,000  $ 8,600,000  $ 846,000  $ 91,339,000 
Resident services and fee income   32,971,000   -   -   32,971,000 
Tenant reimbursements and other income   3,131,000   2,287,000   308,000   5,726,000 
   117,995,000   10,887,000   1,154,000   130,036,000 
Property operating and maintenance expenses   81,518,000   1,155,000   328,000   83,001,000 
Net operating income  $ 36,477,000  $ 9,732,000  $ 826,000  $ 47,035,000 
General and administrative               2,081,000 
Asset management fees               3,200,000 
Real estate acquisition costs               - 
Depreciation and amortization               16,509,000 
Interest expense, net               15,905,000 
Change in fair value of contingent consideration               (3,138,000)
Equity in loss from unconsolidated entities               163,000 
Loss on debt extinguishment               378,000 
Income tax benefit               (1,585,000)
Net income               13,522,000 
Preferred return to series B preferred OP units and other noncontrolling
interests               11,692,000 
Net income attributable to common stockholders              $ 1,830,000 
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  For the Year Ended December 31, 2015  

  
Senior living
operations   

Triple-net
leased

properties   
MOB

properties   Consolidated  
Rental revenue  $ 69,927,000  $ 9,314,000  $ 853,000  $ 80,094,000 
Resident services and fee income   31,415,000   -   1,000   31,416,000 
Tenant reimbursements and other income   2,361,000   1,113,000   311,000   3,785,000 
   103,703,000   10,427,000   1,165,000   115,295,000 
Property operating and maintenance expenses   72,851,000   1,127,000   323,000   74,301,000 
Net operating income  $ 30,852,000  $ 9,300,000  $ 842,000  $ 40,994,000 
General and administrative               2,430,000 
Asset management fees               5,346,000 
Real estate acquisition costs               1,466,000 
Depreciation and amortization               19,803,000 
Interest expense, net               13,777,000 
Change in fair value of contingent consideration               689,000 
Equity in loss from unconsolidated entities               362,000 
Income tax benefit               (3,128,000)
Net income               249,000 
Preferred return to series B preferred OP units and other noncontrolling
interests               9,147,000 
Net loss attributable to common stockholders              $ (8,898,000)

 
  For the Year Ended December 31, 2014  

  
Senior living
operations   

Triple-net
leased

properties   
MOB

properties   Consolidated  
Rental revenue  $ 42,338,000  $ 6,727,000  $ 857,000  $ 49,922,000 
Resident services and fee income   28,845,000   -   -   28,845,000 
Tenant reimbursements and other income   1,606,000   882,000   310,000   2,798,000 
   72,789,000   7,609,000   1,167,000   81,565,000 
Property operating and maintenance expenses   49,592,000   939,000   310,000   50,841,000 
Net operating income  $ 23,197,000  $ 6,670,000  $ 857,000  $ 30,724,000 
General and administrative               1,710,000 
Asset management fees               4,135,000 
Real estate acquisition costs               2,724,000 
Depreciation and amortization               11,793,000 
Interest expense, net               9,912,000 
Equity in loss from unconsolidated entities               352,000 
Income tax benefit               (389,000)
Net income               487,000 
Preferred return to series B preferred OP units and other noncontrolling
interests               3,153,000 
Net loss attributable to common stockholders              $ (2,666,000)

 
The following table reconciles the segment activity to Consolidated Total Assets as of December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015:

 
  December 31, 2016  December 31, 2015 
Assets         

Investment in real estate:         
Senior living operations  $ 410,007,000  $ 389,733,000 
Triple-net leased properties   92,112,000   87,432,000 
Medical office building properties   7,066,000   7,251,000 

Total reportable segments  $ 509,185,000  $ 484,416,000 
Reconciliation to consolidated assets:         

Cash and cash equivalents   34,921,000   22,801,000 
Investment in unconsolidated entities   493,000   880,000 
Tenant and other receivables, net   5,949,000   5,751,000 
Deferred costs and other assets   9,973,000   8,636,000 
Restricted cash   7,777,000   6,748,000 
Goodwill   5,965,000   5,965,000 

Total assets  $ 574,263,000  $ 535,197,000 

 
Capital expenditures in the senior living operations segment were $12.8 million, $109.5 million and $94.8 million for the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015
and 2014, respectively. Capital expenditures in the triple-net leased segment were $8.7 million, $5.4 million and $37.1 million for the years ended December 31,
2016, 2015 and 2014, respectively. Capital expenditures in the medical office building segment were $0.2 million, $0.0 million and $0.0 million for the years
ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, respectively.
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As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, goodwill had a balance of approximately $6.0 million all related to our senior living operations segment.

 
12. Fair Value Measurements

  
Our balance sheets include the following financial instruments: cash and cash equivalents, tenant and other receivables, net, deferred costs and other assets,
restricted cash, notes payable, net, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, prepaid rent and security deposits and distributions payable. With the exception of
notes payable and our contingent consideration discussed below, we consider the carrying values of our financial instruments to approximate fair value because
they generally expose the Company to limited credit risk and because of the short period of time between origination of the financial assets and liabilities and
their expected settlement.

 
We generally determine or calculate the fair value of financial instruments using present value or other valuation techniques, such as discounted cash flow
analyses, incorporating available market discount rate information for similar types of instruments and our estimates for non-performance and liquidity risk. These
techniques are significantly affected by the assumptions used, including the discount rate, credit spreads, and estimates of future cash flow.

 
As of December 31, 2016, the estimated fair value of the contingent consideration related to the Sumter Grand, and Armbrook Village acquisitions is $5.4
million, which represents a change in fair value of $(3.1) million for the year ended December 31, 2016. The change in fair value of contingent consideration is
due to a change in the projected timing to achieve certain specified net operating income thresholds for the Sumter Grand and Armbrook Village properties. As
of December 31, 2016, the Company does not expect Sumter Grand to achieve the net operating income threshold for the second tier of the earnout prior to the
expiration date. Therefore, the Company derecognized the liability associated with the second tier of the earnout and recorded approximately $3.1 million in
income for the year ended December 31, 2016. During the year ended December 31, 2016, the Company paid the entire Gables of Hudson earnout of $2.2
million and $1.8 million of the Armbrook Village earnout, as the first tier of the net operating income threshold was met in June 2016. The liabilities are included
in accounts payable and accrued liabilities in our accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

 
The fair value of the contingent consideration is based on significant inputs which are not observable to the market and as a result are classified in Level 3 of the
fair value hierarchy. The fair value is derived by making assumptions on the timing of the lease up process based on actual performance as compared to internal
underwriting models and applying a discount rate in the range of 9.0% to 12.0% to the actual liabilities to obtain a present value.

 
The fair value of the Company’s notes payable is estimated by discounting future cash flows of each instrument at rates that reflect the current market rates
available to the Company for debt of the same terms and maturities. The fair value of the notes payable was determined using Level 2 inputs of the fair value
hierarchy. Based on the estimates used by the Company, the fair value of notes payable was $369.2 million and $337.9 million, compared to the carrying values
of $370.1 million ($366.1 million, net of discount and deferred financing costs) and $338.7 million ($335.3 million, net of discount and deferred financing costs) at
December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015, respectively.

 
There were no transfers between Level 1 or 2 during the year ended December 31, 2016.

 
13. Income Taxes

 
For federal income tax purposes, we have elected to be taxed as a REIT, under Sections 856 through 860 of the Code beginning with our taxable year ended
December 31, 2008. REIT status imposes limitations related to operating assisted-living properties. Generally, to qualify as a REIT, we cannot directly operate
assisted-living facilities. However, such facilities may generally be operated by a TRS pursuant to a lease with the Company. Therefore, we have formed Master
HC TRS, LLC (“Master TRS”), a wholly owned subsidiary of HC Operating Partnership, LP, to lease any assisted-living properties we acquire and to operate the
assisted-living properties pursuant to contracts with unaffiliated management companies. The Company made the applicable election for Master TRS to qualify
as a TRS. Under the management contracts, the management companies direct control of the daily operations of these assisted-living properties.

  
As of December 31, 2016, we had acquired twenty-seven wholly-owned assisted-living facilities and formed twenty-nine wholly-owned TRSs, which includes a
Master TRS that consolidates our wholly-owned TRSs.

 
Each TRS is a tax paying component for purposes of classifying deferred tax assets and liabilities. We record net deferred tax assets to the extent we believe
these assets will more likely than not be realized. In making such determination, we consider all available positive and negative evidence, including future
reversals of existing taxable temporary differences, projected future taxable income, tax planning strategies and recent financial operations. In the event we were
to determine that we would not be able to realize our deferred income tax assets in the future in excess of their net recorded amount, we would establish a
valuation allowance which would reduce the provision for income taxes.

 
The provision for income taxes related to the operations of the Master TRS for the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014 consists of the following:

 
  Years Ended December 31,  

  2016   2015   2014  
Current:             
Federal  $ -  $ -  $ 256,000 
State   57,000   132,000   224,000 
Total current provision   57,000   132,000   480,000 
             
Deferred:             
Federal   (1,494,000)   (2,990,000)   (775,000)
State   (148,000)   (270,000)   (94,000)
Total deferred benefit   (1,642,000)   (3,260,000)   (869,000)
             
Income tax benefit  $ (1,585,000)  $ (3,128,000)  $ (389,000)
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The reconciliation between the benefit for income taxes and the amount computed by applying the federal statutory income tax rate to the income (loss) for
operations at the Master TRS is isolated to the federal benefit received as a result of state income taxes. Therefore, the Company’s effective income tax rate
approximates the statutory rates.

 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are included within deferred costs and other assets in the consolidated balance sheet, and are attributed to the activity of the
Company’s Master TRS and subsidiaries. The components of the deferred tax assets and liabilities at December 31, 2016 and 2015 were as follows:

 
  2016   2015  
Deferred tax assets:         
Straight-line rent  $ 4,791,000  $ 3,335,000 
Accrued vacation   189,000   192,000 
Tenant receivable reserve   48,000   103,000 
Net operating loss   2,352,000   1,846,000 
Deferred income   749,000   843,000 
Total deferred tax assets   8,129,000   6,319,000 
         
Deferred tax liabilities:         
Depreciation   (474,000)   (305,000)
Total deferred tax liabilities   (474,000)   (305,000)
         
Net deferred tax assets:  $ 7,655,000  $ 6,014,000 

 
At December 31, 2016, the Master TRS had net operating loss carryforwards for federal income tax purposes of approximately $2.4 million, which, if unused,
begin to expire in 2035. Realization of these deferred tax assets is dependent in part upon generating sufficient taxable income in future periods. We have not
recorded a valuation allowance against our deferred tax assets as of December 31, 2016, as we have determined the future taxable income from the operations
of the TRS entities are expected to be sufficient to recover the deferred tax assets. In addition, we have the ability and intent, if needed, to trigger certain tax
planning strategies that would result in sufficient taxable income to recover the deferred tax assets.
 
14. Stockholders’ Equity
 
Common Stock

 
Our charter authorizes the issuance of 580,000,000 shares of common stock with a par value of $0.01 per share and 20,000,000 shares of preferred stock with a
par value of $0.01 per share, of which 1,000 shares are designated as Series C Preferred Stock. As of December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015, including
distributions reinvested, we had issued approximately 13.4 million shares and 13.3 million shares of common stock for a total of approximately $133.5 million and
$132.3 million of gross proceeds, respectively, in our public offerings.
 
Preferred Stock and OP Units
 
As of December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015 we had issued 1,000 shares of Series C Preferred Stock and 1,586,000 Series B Preferred Units to the
Investor for a total commitment of $158.7 million, respectively. As of December 31, 2016, the Company has received $156.9 million of the total commitment and
$1.7 million of equity remains to be funded under the KKR Equity Commitment which will be drawn by the Company to fund the Georgetown Loan. For the year
ended December 31, 2016, the Company received $18.9 million of proceeds from the Investor related to previously issued Series B Preferred Units. The Series
B Preferred Units outstanding are classified within noncontrolling interests and are convertible into approximately 15,830,938 shares of the Company’s common
stock, as of December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015.
 
The Series C Preferred Stock ranks senior to the Company’s common stock with respect to dividend rights and rights on liquidation. The holders of the Series C
Preferred Stock are entitled to receive dividends, as and if authorized by our board of directors out of funds legally available for that purpose, at an annual rate
equal to 3% of the liquidation preference for each share. Dividends on the Series C Preferred Stock are payable annually in arrears.
 
The Series B Preferred Units rank senior to the Operating Partnership’s common units with respect to distribution rights and rights on liquidation. With the
exception of certain Series B Preferred Units issued in connection with the put exercise related to the Georgetown Loan (the “Georgetown Put”), the Series B
Preferred Units are entitled to receive cash distributions at an annual rate equal to 7.5% of the Series B liquidation preference in preference to any distributions
paid to common units. In December 2014, the parties amended the Second Amended and Restated Limited Partnership Agreement (the “Partnership
Agreement”) to provide that the Series B Preferred Units issued in connection with the Georgetown Put would receive cash distributions at a reduced annual rate
equal to 6.0%. In addition, the preferred return for the Series B Preferred Units issued in connection with the Georgetown Put would be calculated based solely
on the exercise put amount that has been funded. Effective August 31, 2016, the parties further amended the Partnership Agreement to provide that, on a going
forward basis, distributions paid on the Series B Preferred Units issued in connection with the Georgetown Put would be calculated at an annual rate of 6.0% for
219,120 units and at an annual rate of 7.5% for 200,000 units. If the Operating Partnership is unable to pay cash distributions, distributions will be paid in kind at
an annual rate of 10.0% of the Series B liquidation preference.
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After payment of the preferred distributions, additional distributions will be paid first to the common units until they have received an aggregate blended return
equal to a weighted average interest rate determined taking into account the Series B Preferred Units receiving a 6.0% return and the Series B Preferred Units
receiving a 7.5% return per unit in annual distributions commencing from February 10, 2013, and thereafter to the common units and Series B Preferred Units
pro rata.
 
For the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015, the Operating Partnership paid distributions on the Series B Preferred Units in the amount of $11.0 million
and $9.8 million, respectively.
 
At December 31, 2016, no securities remain issuable under the KKR Equity Commitment.
 
Distributions Available to Common Stockholders
 
The following are the distributions declared on our common stock during the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015:

 

  Distributions Declared (1)(2)   Distributions   
Cash Flows

from  

Period  Cash   Reinvested(3)   Total   Paid   Operations  
First quarter 2015  $ 1,330,000  $ 85,000  $ 1,415,000  $ 1,354,000  $ 3,348,000 
Second quarter 2015   1,347,000   85,000   1,432,000   1,330,000   4,369,000 
Third quarter 2015   1,363,000   86,000   1,449,000   1,347,000   5,515,000 
Fourth quarter 2015   1,362,000   87,000   1,449,000   1,363,000   5,418,000 
  $ 5,402,000  $ 343,000  $ 5,745,000  $ 5,394,000  $ 18,650,000 

                     
First quarter 2016  $ 1,342,000  $ 89,000  $ 1,431,000  $ 1,362,000  $ 6,871,000 
Second quarter 2016   1,343,000   88,000   1,431,000   1,342,000   4,607,000 
Third quarter 2016   1,358,000   91,000   1,449,000   1,345,000   7,072,000 
Fourth quarter 2016   1,358,000   91,000   1,449,000   1,358,000   6,285,000 
  $ 5,401,000  $ 359,000  $ 5,760,000  $ 5,407,000  $ 24,835,000 

  
(1) In order to meet the requirements for being treated as a REIT under the Internal Revenue Code, we must pay distributions to our stockholders each taxable

year equal to at least 90% of our net ordinary taxable income. Some of our distributions have been paid from sources other than operating cash flow, such
as offering proceeds. Until proceeds from equity issuances are fully invested and generating operating cash flow sufficient to fully cover distributions to
stockholders, we intend to pay all or a portion of our distributions from the proceeds of equity issuances or from borrowings in anticipation of future cash
flow.

  
(2) This table represents distributions declared and paid to common stockholders for each respective period. These amounts do not include distribution

payments to the Series B Preferred Unit holders for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015.
 

(3) On June 19, 2013, we filed a registration statement on Form S-3 to register up to $99,000,000 of shares of common stock to be offered to our existing
stockholders pursuant to an amended and restated distribution reinvestment plan (the “DRIP offering”) pursuant to which our stockholders can elect to have
their cash distributions reinvested in shares of our common stock. The purchase price for shares offered pursuant to the DRIP Offering is equal to the most
recently announced estimated per-share value, as of the date the shares are purchased under the distribution reinvestment plan. The DRIP Offering shares
were initially offered at a purchase price of $10.02; effective February 28, 2014 , DRIP offering shares were offered at a purchase price of $11.63 per share;
and effective March 23, 2016 DRIP offering shares are being offered at $12.45, which is our most recent estimated per-share value. As of December 31,
2016 and 2015, 642,075 and 613,463 shares, respectively, had been issued under the distribution reinvestment plan.

 
Commencing with the declaration of distributions for daily record dates occurring in the second quarter of 2013 and thereafter, our board of directors has
declared distributions on our common stock in amounts per share that, if declared and paid each day for a 365-day period, would equate to an annualized rate of
$0.50 per share (5.00% based on the initial purchase price of our common stock of $10.00).
 
In connection with the Participation Agreement (as described in Note 8), the Board of Directors adopted a Regular Quarterly Dividend Policy (the “Dividend
Policy”), which documents the circumstances under which the Board of Directors may increase the regular quarterly dividend that may be paid to holders of the
common stock of the Company (the “Regular Quarterly Dividend Rate”) from its current level of $0.125 per share without the consent of the Investor. The
Dividend Policy provides that the Company may maintain the Regular Quarterly Dividend Rate at the current level and that the Company may also elect to
reduce the Regular Quarterly Dividend Rate in its discretion. The policy expires on August 31, 2019.
 
The declaration of distributions is at the discretion of our board of directors and our board will determine the amount of distributions on a regular basis. The
amount of distributions will depend on our funds from operations, financial condition, capital requirements, annual distribution requirements under the REIT
provisions of the Internal Revenue Code and other factors our board of directors deems relevant.
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Stock Repurchase Program

 
In 2007, we adopted a stock repurchase program that permitted our stockholders to sell their shares of common stock to us in limited circumstances subject to
the terms and conditions of the program. Our board of directors could amend, suspend or terminate the program at any time with 30 days prior notice to
stockholders and we would have no obligation to repurchase our stockholders’ shares. 

 
Since May 29, 2011 our stock repurchase program has been suspended for all repurchases except repurchases due to death of a stockholder. On March 31,
2014, we informed stockholders of the complete suspension of the share repurchase program following the March 2014 redemption date. The Company
redeemed all stock repurchase requests due to death received prior to March 31, 2014. No shares have been repurchased pursuant to the program following
the 2014 suspension.

 
Any repurchase requests submitted while the program is suspended will be returned to investors and must be resubmitted upon resumption of the stock
repurchase program. If the stock repurchase program is resumed, we will give all stockholders notice that we are resuming redemptions, so that all stockholders
will have an equal opportunity to submit shares for repurchase.

 
During the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, we redeemed shares pursuant to our stock repurchase program as follows:

 
Period   Total Number of Shares Redeemed  Average Price  

 2014    49,962  $ 11.63 
 2015    -  $ - 
 2016    -  $ - 

 
Employee and Director Incentive Stock Plan

 
We have adopted an Employee and Director Incentive Stock Plan (the “Plan”) which provides for the grant of awards to our directors and full-time employees, as
well as other eligible participants that provide services to us. We have no employees, and we currently do not have plans to grant awards under the Plan to
persons who are not directors. Awards granted under the Plan may consist of nonqualified stock options, incentive stock options, restricted stock, share
appreciation rights, and dividend equivalent rights. The term of the Plan is 10 years. The total number of shares of common stock reserved for issuance under
the Plan is equal to 10% of our outstanding shares of stock at any time. As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, we have not granted any awards under the Plan.

 
Tax Treatment of Distributions

 
For tax purposes, our distributions are comprised of taxable ordinary dividend and return of capital. The return of capital for the distributions per share to
common stockholders reportable for the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014 were as follows:

  
Per Common Shares  2016   2015   2014  
Taxable ordinary dividend  $ -   0.00% $ -   0.00% $ 0.14   27.12%
Return of capital  $ 0.50   100.00% $ 0.50   100.00% $ 0.36   72.88%
Capital gain  $ -   0.00% $ -   0.00% $ -   0.00%

 
15. Earnings Per Share

 
We report earnings (loss) per share pursuant to ASC Topic 260, “Earnings per Share.” Basic earnings (loss) per share attributable for all periods presented are
computed by dividing net (loss) income attributable to common stockholders by the weighted average number of shares of our common stock outstanding during
the period. Diluted net (loss) income per common share attributable to common stockholders are computed based on the weighted average number of shares of
our common stock and all potentially dilutive securities, if any. The Series B Preferred Units give rise to potentially dilutive securities of our common stock. As of
December 31, 2016, 2015, and 2014, there were 1,586,260, 1,586,000, and 946,560, respectively, Series B Preferred Units outstanding, but such units were
excluded from the computation of diluted earnings per share because such shares were anti-dilutive during these periods.

 
16. Related Party Transactions

 
Advisory Relationship with the Advisor

 
Throughout 2013, 2014, 2015 and 2016 we were party to an Advisory Agreement with the Advisor, which became effective on January 1, 2012 for a one-year
term ending December 31, 2012. The Advisory Agreement was renewed for additional one-year terms commencing on January 1, 2014, January 1, 2015,
January 1, 2016, and January 1, 2017, however, as discussed below under the heading “ Transition to Internal Management Agreement ” certain provisions of
the Advisory Agreement have been amended as a result of the execution on February 10, 2013 of a Transition to Internal Management Agreement which was
subsequently amended in April 2014, February 2015 and February 2017 (as amended, the “Transition Agreement”) with the Advisor and the Investor.

 
Pursuant to the provisions of the Advisory Agreement, the Advisor is responsible for managing, operating, directing and supervising the operation of our company
and its assets. Generally, the Advisor is responsible for providing us with (i) property acquisition, disposition and financing services, (ii) asset management and
operational services, including real estate services and financial and administrative services, (iii) stockholder services, and (iv) in the event we conduct a public
offering of our securities, offering-related services. The Advisor is subject to the supervision and ultimate authority of our board of directors and has a fiduciary
duty to us and our stockholders.
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The fees and expense reimbursements payable or paid to the Advisor under the Advisory Agreement, and subject to the terms of the Transition Agreement, as
discussed below under the heading “ Transition to Internal Management Agreement ,” are described below.

 
Offering Stage Fees and Expenses:

 
· If our board of directors determines that it is advisable and in our best interests to conduct an offering of our securities, the Advisor will be entitled to be

reimbursed for organizational and offering costs paid by the Advisor on our behalf. Organizational and offering costs consist of all expenses (other than
sales commissions and the dealer manager fees) to be paid by us in connection with our offerings, including our legal, accounting, printing, mailing and
filing fees, charges of our escrow holder and other accountable offering expenses. However, the Advisor would be required to reimburse us to the extent
that our organization and offering expenses are in excess of 15% of gross offering proceeds at the conclusion of such offering. During the years ended
December 31, 2016, 2015, 2014 and 2013, the Advisor incurred no organization and offering expenses on our behalf.

 
Acquisition and Operating Stage Fees and Expenses:

 
· Subject to the limitation on fees agreed to in the Transition Agreement, we are obligated to pay the Advisor acquisition fees in an amount equal to 1.0%

of the sum of the amount actually paid or allocated to the purchase, development, construction or improvement of an investment, inclusive of the
acquisition expenses associated with such investment, and the amount of any debt attributable to such investment. With respect to acquisitions made
through a joint venture in which the Company is a co-venturer, the acquisition fee payable to the Advisor will be equal to 1.0% of the Company’s
allocable portion of the amount actually paid or allocated to the purchase, development, construction or improvement of the investment, inclusive of the
acquisition expenses associated with such investment, and the Company’s allocable portion of any debt attributable to such investment. An acquisition
fee will be payable to the Advisor at the time we acquire the related investment. In addition, we are required to reimburse the Advisor for direct costs the
Advisor incurs and pays to third parties in connection with the selection and acquisition of potential investments, whether or not we ultimately acquire
them. During the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, the Advisor earned approximately $0.0 million, $1.4 million and $1.6 million,
respectively, of acquisition fees from us and incurred no acquisition expenses on our behalf.

 
· We are not required to reimburse the Advisor or its affiliates for any of their costs or expenses that are not directly attributable to our business, including

without limitation (i) any personnel costs incurred by the Advisor to its employees, and (ii) any costs related to the Advisor’ rent, utilities and general
overhead. We are responsible for paying directly or reimbursing the Advisor for costs that are directly attributable to our business.

  
· The Advisor must restrict total operating expenses for the preceding four consecutive fiscal quarters, as determined at the end of each fiscal quarter, to

the greater of 2% of the Company’s Average Invested Assets (as defined in the Advisory Agreement) or 25% of the Company’s net income for such
period (the “2%/25% Guidelines”), unless the independent directors committee determines that a higher level of expenses is justified, based on unusual
and non-recurring factors which it deems sufficient. If the independent directors committee does not approve such excess as being so justified, the
Advisory Agreement and our charter require that any amount in excess of the 2%/25% Guidelines (an “Excess Amount”) paid to the Advisor during a
fiscal quarter shall be repaid to us. For the four quarters ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, our management fees and expenses and operating
expenses totaled $5.3 million, $7.8 million and $5.8 million, respectively. These amounts did not exceed the greater of 2% of our average invested
assets and 25% of our net income.

 
· Subject to compliance with the 2%/25% Guidelines and the limitation on fees agreed to in the Transition Agreement, we are obligated to pay the Advisor

a financing coordination fee for services rendered by the Advisor in connection with the refinancing of any of our debt obligations in an amount equal to
0.5% of the gross amount of any such refinancing, provided however, that the Advisor will not be entitled to a financing coordination fee in connection
with the refinancing of debt obligations secured by any particular asset that was subject to a refinancing in connection with which the Advisor received a
financing coordination fee within the immediately preceding three year period. Any such financing coordination fee is payable to the Advisor upon the
closing of the related refinancing. During the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, the Advisor earned approximately $0.0 million, $0.0
million and $0.1 million, respectively, of financing coordination fees from us.

 
· Subject to compliance with the 2%/25% Guidelines and the limitation on fees agreed to in the Transition Agreement, we are obligated to pay the Advisor

a monthly asset management fee in an amount equal to one-twelfth of 1.0% of our assets under management, calculated on a monthly basis as of the
last day of each month. Additionally, subject to compliance with the 2%/25% Guidelines and the limitation on fees agreed to in the Transition Agreement,
with respect to fiscal quarters in which distributions declared to stockholders and cash available for distribution for such fiscal quarter are each at least
$0.125 per share, we are also obligated to pay the Advisor a quarterly bonus asset management fee equal to the lesser of (i) one-fourth of 0.15% of our
assets under management, calculated on a quarterly basis as of the last day of the quarter, or (ii) $150,000. During the years ended December 31,
2016, 2015 and 2014, the Advisor earned approximately $3.2 million, $5.3 million and $4.1 million, respectively, of asset management fees from us.

 
· Subject to the limitation on fees agreed to in the Transition Agreement, if we retain the Advisor or one of its affiliates to manage or lease any of our

properties, we will pay the Advisor or such affiliate a market-based fee in accordance with a separately negotiated property management, leasing and
development agreement to be approved by the independent directors committee, which agreement may provide for fees similar to what other
management or leasing companies generally charge for the management or leasing of similar properties, and which may include reimbursement for the
costs and expenses the Advisor or its affiliates incurs in managing or leasing our properties. During the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and
2014, we did not pay any property management, leasing or development fees to the Advisor.
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Listing/ Liquidation Stage Fees and Expenses:

 
· Subject to the limitation on fees agreed to in the Transition Agreement, if the Advisor or one of its affiliates provides a substantial amount of the services

(as determined by a majority of our directors, including a majority of our independent directors committee) in connection with the sale of one or more of
our properties, other than a sale in connection with a transaction in which we sell, grant, convey or relinquish our ownership of all or substantially all of
our assets, we would be required to pay the Advisor or such affiliate at closing a disposition fee equal to the lesser of (i) 1.0% of the sales price of such
property or properties, or (ii) one-half of the competitive real estate commission in light of the size, type and location of the property. The disposition fee
may be paid in addition to real estate commissions paid to non-affiliates, provided that the total real estate commissions (including such disposition fee)
paid to all persons by us for each property shall not exceed an amount equal to the lesser of (i) 6.0% of the aggregate contract sales price of each
property or (ii) the competitive real estate commission for each property. During the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, the Advisor
earned approximately $0.0 million, $0.0 million and $0.0 million, respectively, of disposition fees from us.

 
· As described in further detail below under “ Transition to Internal Management Agreement ” under certain circumstances, the Advisor may be entitled to

incentive fee amounts upon a listing or liquidation of the Company, or upon a termination of the Advisory Agreement. During the years ended December
31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, we did not pay any incentive fees to the Advisor related to a listing or liquidation of the Company, or a termination of the
Advisory Agreement.
  

Transition to Internal Management Agreement
 

In connection with entering into the KKR Equity Commitment, we entered into the Transition Agreement with the Advisor and the Investor. The Transition
Agreement sets forth the terms for our transition from our current externally-advised structure to an internal management structure. The Transition Agreement
provides that the existing external advisory structure will remain in place upon substantially the same terms, unless the parties agree otherwise, as currently in
effect until February 10, 2019, subject to annual renewals of the Advisory Agreement in accordance with the requirements of the Company’s governing
documents, at the end of which time the advisory function will be internalized in accordance with the Transition Agreement.

 
The Transition Agreement limits the amount of the fees payable under the Advisory Agreement. Specifically, notwithstanding the provisions of the Advisory
Agreement, acquisition fees, financing coordination fees, asset management fees, property management and leasing fees, and disposition fees payable under
the Advisory Agreement (collectively, the “Advisory Agreement Fees”) are limited to (1) $3.2 million plus an excess amount (the “Excess Amount”) of $3.6 million
during the period from February 11, 2017 through February 10, 2018, and (2) $3.2 million plus any remaining portion of the Excess Amount during the period
from February 11, 2018 through February 10, 2019. The maximum aggregate amount of such fees payable to Sentio Investments during these periods under
the caps (the “Maximum Fee Amount”) will be $10.0 million.

 
During the period from February 10, 2013 through February 10, 2015, and February 11, 2015 through February 10, 2017, the Advisory Agreement Fees were
similarly capped, except that the Excess Amount was $3.2 million and as a result the Maximum Fee Amount was $9.6 million. In addition, solely with respect to
any fees earned by the Advisor during the period from February 11, 2014 to February 10, 2015 in excess of the Maximum Fee Amount, such fees were included
in fees payable during the one-year period from February 11, 2015 to February 10, 2016, subject to a maximum amount of $1.0 million.
 
As of November 2015, the Advisor earned the Maximum Fee Amount of $9.6 million for the period from February 10, 2013 through February 10, 2016. As of
December 31, 2016, the Advisor earned the maximum fee amount for February 11, 2016 through February 10, 2017 of $3.2 million.

 
The Transition Agreement also amends the Advisory Agreement to modify the terms of the subordinated incentive fees to which the Advisor may be entitled
under certain circumstances. Specifically, the Transition Agreement provides for the following possible incentive amounts to be payable to the Advisor:

  
• Subordinated Sales and Financings Promote  . A subordinated sales and financings promote may be payable to the Advisor upon a distribution to

holders of shares of our common stock outstanding as of February 10, 2013 (the “Legacy Common Shares”) resulting from a sale and financing of
one or more of our assets, which will be determined and paid as an amount of shares of common stock equal to the ratio of:

 
o 10% of the amount, if any, by which (A) the sum of (i) the number of Legacy Common Shares times the per share cash distributions to the

holders of the Legacy Common Shares in respect of cash from sales and financings, plus (ii) the total amount of all previous dividends or
distributions paid on the Legacy Common Shares since the date of the inception of the Company’s initial public offering; exceeds (B) the
sum of (x) the total invested capital for the Legacy Common Shares and (y) the amount required to pay stockholders a 7% cumulative, non-
compounded return from inception of the Company’s initial public offering through the date of the closing of the applicable sale or financing
on the Legacy Common Shares;

 
over:
 

 o the net asset value per share of common stock as of the closing of the applicable sale or financing (as defined in the Transition Agreement).
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However, if the subordinated sales and financings promote is payable as the result of a sale of all or substantially all of the assets of the Company,
then the promote will be paid in cash rather than shares of common stock.

 
• Subordinated Internalization Promote . In connection with a termination of the Advisory Agreement upon consummation of an internalization, the

Advisor may be entitled to a subordinated internalization promote determined and paid on one-year anniversary of the termination of the Advisor
Agreement, in an amount consisting of the sum of:

 
 o a cash payment equal to 40% of:

 
• 10% of the amount, if any, by which (A) the sum of (i) the number of Legacy Common Shares times the per share net asset value

on the determination date, plus (ii) the total amount of dividends or distributions paid on the Legacy Common Shares from date from
inception of the Company’s initial public offering through the determination date; exceeds (B) the sum of (x) the total invested
capital for the Legacy Common Shares and (y) the amount required to pay stockholders a 7% cumulative, non-compounded return
from inception of the Company’s initial public offering through the determination date on the Legacy Common Shares (such amount,
the “Subordinated Internalization Cash Amount”); and

 
an amount of shares of common stock equal to the ratio of: 
 

 • 60% of the Subordinated Internalization Cash Amount;
 

over:
 

 • the net asset value per share of common stock as of the determination date (as defined in the Transition Agreement).
 

However, in the event the common stock is listed on a national stock exchange as of the determination date, the amount of the subordinated
internalization promote will be determined by reference to the market value of a share of common stock (as defined in the Transition Agreement),
rather than the net asset value. Furthermore, the amount of the subordinated internalization promote will be reduced by the amount of any
subordinated sales and financings promote previously earned by our Advisor.

 
• Subordinated Performance Fee Due Upon Termination . If (1) we terminate the Advisory Agreement prior to an internalization for any reason other

than a material breach by the Advisor, (2) the Advisory Agreement is not renewed (other than in connection with an internalization) because we are
unwilling to renew the agreement on substantially similar terms, or (3) the Advisor terminates the Advisory Agreement prior to an internalization
because of a material breach by us, then, we will pay the Advisor a subordinated performance fee due upon termination, payable in the form of a
promissory note bearing simple interest at a rate of 5% per annum, in a principal amount equal to:

  
 o 10% of the amount, if any, by which (A) the sum of (i) the product of the Legacy Common Shares times the per share net asset value at the

termination date and (ii) total distributions (excluding any stock dividends and distributions paid on shares of common stock redeemed by the
Company) paid on the Legacy Common Shares through the termination date, exceeds (B) the sum of (i) the total invested capital for the
Legacy Common Shares and (ii) the total distributions required to be made to the Legacy Common Shares in order to pay stockholders a 7%
cumulative, non-compounded return from inception of the Company’s initial public offering through the termination date;
 

 o less any prior payment to our Advisor of a subordinated sales and financings promote.
 

Upon the internalization date established pursuant to the Transition Agreement, we will acquire all of the Advisor’s assets that are reasonably necessary for the
management and operation of our business (we refer to such a transaction as an internalization). On or prior to the internalization date, our Advisor will facilitate
our efforts to hire the employees of the Advisor. With respect to certain key persons, we will be required to enter into employment agreements based upon
market terms established in consultation with an independent compensation consultant. The Investor will have the right to consent to our hiring of all key
personnel. Upon an internalization or a Liquidation Event (as defined in the investor rights agreement entered into in connection with the KKR Equity
Commitment), then our Advisor will receive a fee in an amount that is the lesser of (i) $3.0 million, and (ii) the remaining portion of the $10.0 million Maximum
Fee Amount, if any, not previously paid to our Advisor.

 
In connection with entering into the Transition Agreement, we and the Advisor have generally agreed not to terminate the Advisory Agreement without the prior
consent of the Investor.

 
KKR Equity Commitment

 
Pursuant to the KKR Equity Commitment, we could issue and sell to the Investor and its affiliates on a private placement basis from time to time over a period of
three years, up to $158.7 million in aggregate issuance amount of shares of newly issued Series C Preferred Stock and newly issued Series B Preferred Units to
fund real estate acquisitions, a self-tender offer and the origination of a development loan. As a result of the transactions contemplated by the KKR Equity
Commitment, the Investor beneficially owns an aggregate of 15,830,938 shares of common stock of the Company, which represent, in the aggregate,
approximately, 57.9% of the outstanding shares of common stock as of December 31, 2016.
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As of December 31, 2016, pursuant to the terms of the KKR Equity Commitment, the Investor had purchased 1,000 newly issued Series C Preferred Stock and
1,586,000 newly issued Series B Preferred Units for an aggregate purchase price of $158.7 million. As of December 31, 2016 no Series B Preferred Units remain
issuable under the Securities Purchase Agreement.

 
Securities Purchase Agreement

 
On February 10, 2013, the Company, and the Operating Partnership (as used herein, the Company and the Operating Partnership are referred to as the “Sentio
Parties”) and the Investor entered into a Securities Purchase Agreement which was subsequently amended in April 2014 and December 2014 (as amended, the
“Purchase Agreement”). Under the Purchase Agreement, the Sentio Parties could issue and sell to the Investor on a private placement basis from time to time
over a period of up to three years, newly issued Series C Preferred Stock and newly issued Series B Preferred Units in an amount up to $158.7 million.

 
In conjunction with the execution of the Purchase Agreement, the Sentio Parties paid to Investor a transaction fee of $2.0 million and were obligated to reimburse
the Investor for up to $1.0 million of its expenses incurred in connection with the Purchase Agreement.

 
To the extent the minimum purchase obligation was not exercised during the term of the commitment, the Sentio Parties were required to pay a premium to the
Investor calculated and payable annually as a percentage of the unexercised amount under the commitment. For the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015
and 2014, we paid the Investor an unused fee of $0.0 million, $0.1 million and 0.0 million, respectively.

 
Pursuant to the Purchase Agreement, our board of directors increased the size of the board by two members and filled the vacancies created thereby with two
directors selected by the Investor. We will also, at the Investor’s sole election, add one additional director, which director will also be selected by the Investor.

  
Series C Preferred Stock

 
The Series C Preferred Stock issued to the Investor pursuant to the Purchase Agreement ranks senior to the Company’s common stock with respect to dividend
rights and rights on liquidation. The holders of the Series C Preferred Shares will be entitled to receive dividends, as and if authorized by the board out of funds
legally available for that purpose, at an annual rate equal to 3%.

 
The holder of each share of Series C Preferred Stock has the right to one vote for each share of As-Converted Common Stock (defined below) held by such
holder and its affiliates and with respect to such vote, such holder will have full voting rights and powers equal to the voting rights and powers of the holders of
the Company’s common stock, and will be entitled to notice of any shareholders’ meeting in accordance with the bylaws of the Company, and shall be entitled to
vote, together with holders of common stock as a single class, with respect to any question upon which holders of common stock have the right to vote, with
certain limited exceptions. “As-Converted Common Stock” means, as of any determination date and with respect to any holder, the number of shares of
Common Stock then held by such holder and its affiliates after giving effect to the conversion or exchange, in accordance with their terms, of any and all
securities then convertible or exchangeable, directly or indirectly, into common stock.

 
Amended Partnership Agreement

 
On April 5, 2013, the Company, HPC LP TRS, LLC and the Investor entered a Second Amended and Restated Limited Partnership Agreement of the Operating
Partnership which was subsequently amended on December 22, 2014 and August 31, 2016 (as amended, the “Amended Partnership Agreement”). The
Amended Partnership Agreement authorizes the issuance of the Series B Preferred Units to the Investor. The Series B Preferred Units rank senior to the
Partnership’s common units with respect to distribution rights and rights on liquidation. The Series B Preferred Units related to the acquisition of an Approved
Acquisition (as defined in the Purchase Agreement) will receive cash distributions at an annual rate equal to 7.5% in preference to any distributions paid to
common units. Provided, however, that certain Series B Preferred Units issued in connection with a put exercise for a construction loan will receive cash
distributions at a reduced annual rate equal to 6.0% in preference to any distributions paid to common units. In addition, the preferred return for a put exercise for
a construction loan will be calculated based solely on the exercise put amount related to the construction loan put exercise that has been funded as opposed to
the full amount of Series B Preferred Units outstanding. Effective August 31, 2016, distributions paid on 200,000 Series B Preferred Units issued in connection
with a construction loan put exercise will receive cash distributions at an annual rate equal to 7.5%. If the Partnership is unable to pay cash distributions,
distributions will be paid in kind at an annual rate of 10%. After payment of the preferred distributions, additional distributions will be paid first to the common
units until they have received an aggregate blended return equal to the weighted average of the return being paid to Series B Preferred Units in annual
distributions from the Effective Date, and thereafter to the common units and Series B Preferred Units pro rata. In the event of a liquidation of the Operating
Partnership, the Investor would receive an amount equal to the greater of (a) the amount paid to acquire securities under the Purchase Agreement plus all
accrued and unpaid distributions or (b) the amount the Investor would be entitled to receive in the transaction if the Series B Preferred Units were converted into
common units of the Partnership (excluding any unpaid distribution to holders of common units, to which the holders of common units alone are entitled).

 
Each Series B Preferred Unit has an initial issuance value of $100.00 per unit and is convertible into a number of common units of Partnership interest equal to
the issuance value of such Series B Preferred Unit divided by the applicable conversion price as determined in accordance with the terms of the Amended
Partnership Agreement. The initial conversion price is $10.02. The Investor may exchange common units for shares of the Company’s common stock, at an
initial exchange factor of 1 to 1, subject to proportional adjustment for stock splits, stock dividends, cash dividends, merger, recapitalizations and other similar
events by the Company or the Partnership. The Partnership Agreement requires that the Company and the Partnership receive the Investor’s consent before
taking certain actions.
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The Amended Partnership Agreement permits the Operating Partnership to engage in a sale of the assets or equity of the Operating Partnership without the
consent of the Investor, which would otherwise be required under the Second Amended and Restated Limited Partnership Agreement, provided the following
conditions are met: (i) the sale is cash only, and (ii) the Company or the Operating Partnership, as applicable, has issued to the Investor $100,000 in aggregate
liquidation preference amount of Series C Preferred Stock and $149,900,000 in aggregate liquidation preference amount of Series B Preferred Units.

 
Investor Rights Agreement

 
On February 10, 2013, the Company, the Operating Partnership, and the Investor entered into an Investor Rights Agreement, which was subsequently amended
in December 2014 (as amended, the “Investor Rights Agreement”) that provides the Investor, its affiliates and their respective permitted transferees with certain
rights as a holder of Series C Preferred Stock and Series B Preferred Units. More specifically, the Investor Rights Agreement provides such holders with
preemptive rights to participate in future equity issuances by the Company, subject to customary exceptions. Additionally, the Investor Rights Agreement
contains certain significant minority protections that require the Investor’s consent before taking certain actions. Under the Investor Rights Agreement, the Sentio
Parties are also prohibited from incurring indebtedness other than property-level mortgage refinancing, subject to certain limitations.

 
The Investor Rights Agreement includes standstill provisions prohibiting the Investor from acquiring additional securities of the Company or the Partnership other
than in accordance with the Purchase Agreement (subject to the pre-emptive rights described above) until February 10, 2016. The Investor Rights Agreement
contains customary registration rights requiring the Company to register the shares of Series C Preferred Stock and common stock held by the Investor as a
result of exchange of its Series B Preferred Units for resale to the public from time to time, in defined circumstances and within defined deadlines as set forth in
the Investor Rights Agreement. The Company is also required, upon demand by the Investor in accordance with the Investor Rights Agreement, to register one
or more primary offerings of newly issued common stock and to use the proceeds from such offerings to redeem partnership units held by the Investor.
Beginning on July 1, 2017, the Investor, at its sole option, will have the ability to cause the Company to initiate a listing of the Company’s common stock, a sale
of the Company, or a process to sell all or substantially all of our assets subject to specific terms and conditions.

 
The Investor Rights Agreement permits the Company to engage in a sale of the assets or equity of the Operating Partnership and the Company without the
consent of the Investor, which would otherwise be required under the Investor Rights Agreement, provided the following conditions are met: (i) the sale is cash
only, and (ii) the Company or the operating partnership, as applicable, has issued to the Investor $100,000 in aggregate liquidation preference amount of Series
C Preferred Stock and $149,900,000 in aggregate liquidation preference amount of Series B Preferred Units.

 
17. Commitments and Contingencies

 
We monitor our properties for the presence of hazardous or toxic substances. While there can be no assurance that a material environmental liability does not
exist, we are not currently aware of any environmental liability with respect to the properties that we believe would have a material effect on our financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows. Further, we are not aware of any environmental liability or any unasserted claim or assessment with respect to
an environmental liability that we believe would require additional disclosure or the recording of a loss contingency.

 
Our commitments and contingencies include the usual obligations of real estate owners and operators in the normal course of business. In the opinion of
management, these matters are not expected to have a material impact on our consolidated financial position, cash flows and results of operations. We are not
presently subject to any material litigation nor, to our knowledge, is any material litigation threatened against the Company which if determined unfavorably to us
would have a material adverse effect on our cash flows, financial condition or results of operations.

 
Refer to Note 4 “Acquisitions” and Note 5 “Real Estate Note Receivable” for additional information on the remaining commitment to fund development projects,
contingent considerations and our real estate note receivable.
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18. Selected Quarterly Data (unaudited)

 
Set forth below is certain unaudited quarterly financial information. We believe that all necessary adjustments, consisting only of normal recurring adjustments,
have been included in the amounts stated below to present fairly, and in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, the selected quarterly
information when read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements.
 
  Quarters Ended,  

  
December 31,

2016   
September 30,

2016   
June 30, 

2016   
March 31, 

2016  
Revenues  $ 32,875,000  $ 32,569,000  $ 32,778,000  $ 31,814,000 
Expenses   25,472,000   25,542,000   27,824,000   25,953,000 
Income from operations   7,403,000   7,027,000   4,954,000   5,861,000 
                 
Net income   6,922,000   2,958,000   1,264,000   2,378,000 
Preferred return to series B preferred OP units and other noncontrolling
interests   3,066,000   3,010,000   2,904,000   2,712,000 
Net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders  $ 3,856,000  $ (52,000)  $ (1,640,000)  $ (334,000)
                 
Net income (loss) per common share attributable to common stockholders-
basic and diluted  $ 0.33  $ 0.00  $ (0.14)  $ (0.03)
                 
Weighted average common shares - basic and diluted   11,529,872   11,522,649   11,515,846   11,508,316 
                 
  Quarters Ended,  

  
December 31,

2015   
September 30,

2015   
June 30, 

2015   
March 31, 

2015  
Revenues  $ 31,238,000  $ 29,775,000  $ 28,658,000  $ 25,624,000 
Expenses   25,438,000   27,129,000   27,185,000   23,594,000 
Income from operations   5,800,000   2,646,000   1,473,000   2,030,000 
                 
Net income (loss)   2,991,000   (509,000)   (1,498,000)   (735,000)
Preferred return to series B preferred OP units and other noncontrolling
interests   2,518,000   2,447,000   2,243,000   1,939,000 
Net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders  $ 473,000  $ (2,956,000)  $ (3,741,000)  $ (2,674,000)
                 
Net income (loss) per common share attributable to common stockholders-
basic and diluted  $ 0.04  $ (0.26)  $ (0.33)  $ (0.23)
                 
Weighted average common shares - basic and diluted   11,500,818   11,493,442   11,486,143   11,478,707 
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SENTIO HEALTHCARE PROPERTIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Schedule III
REAL ESTATE AND ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION
December 31, 2016
 
     Initial Cost      Gross Amount Invested (1)      

Description  Encumbrances  Land   
Building &

Improvements   

Costs 
Capitalized
Subsequent

to
Acquisition   Land   

Building &
Improvements   Total   

Accumulated
Depreciation

(2)   
Year
Built  Date Acquired

Caruth Haven Court  $ 9,122,000  $ 4,256,000  $ 13,986,000  $ 616,000  $ 4,256,000  $ 14,602,000  $ 18,858,000  $ 3,216,000  1999  1/22/2009
The Oaks Bradenton   3,790,000   390,000   2,818,000   185,000   390,000   3,003,000   3,393,000   659,000  1996  5/1/2009
GreenTree at
Westwood   3,577,000   714,000   3,717,000   132,000   714,000   3,849,000   4,563,000   755,000  1998  12/30/2009
Mesa Vista Inn Health
Center   8,248,000   2,010,000   10,430,000   1,000   2,010,000   10,431,000   12,441,000   1,920,000  2008  12/31/2009
Rome LTACH   12,055,000   -   18,202,000   -   -   18,202,000   18,202,000   3,622,000  2011  1/12/2010
Oakleaf Village at
Lexington   11,636,000   1,767,000   10,768,000   200,000   1,767,000   10,968,000   12,735,000   2,021,000  1999  4/30/2010
Oakleaf Village at
Greenville   6,835,000   1,351,000   9,770,000   239,000   1,351,000   10,009,000   11,360,000   1,839,000  2001  4/30/2010
Cornerstone Dallas
Rehab   6,895,000   2,004,000   10,368,000   64,000   2,004,000   10,432,000   12,436,000   1,771,000  2008  8/19/2010
Terrace at Mountain
Creek   8,121,000   1,880,000   6,070,000   560,000   1,880,000   6,630,000   8,510,000   1,307,000  1995  9/3/2010
Hedgcoxe Health Plaza  5,222,000   1,580,000   6,388,000   222,000   1,580,000   6,610,000   8,190,000   1,333,000  2008  12/22/2010
Carriage Court of
Hilliard   12,767,000   1,580,000   12,180,000   621,000   1,580,000   12,801,000   14,381,000   2,138,000  1998  12/22/2010
Spring Village at Floral
Vale   6,016,000   860,000   3,010,000   635,000   860,000   3,645,000   4,505,000   737,000  1996  12/22/2010
Forestview Manor   8,121,000   1,320,000   8,035,000   265,000   1,320,000   8,300,000   9,620,000   1,678,000  2002  1/14/2011
Woodland Terrace at
the Oaks   8,995,000   1,000,000   7,148,000   556,000   1,000,000   7,704,000   8,704,000   1,352,000  1996  4/14/2011
Amber Glen   8,102,000   546,000   11,874,000   118,000   546,000   11,992,000   12,538,000   1,379,000  2006  8/31/2012
Mill Creek   7,820,000   825,000   10,503,000   13,000   825,000   10,516,000   11,341,000   1,189,000  2006  8/31/2012
Hudson Creek   7,506,000   543,000   10,053,000   29,000   543,000   10,082,000   10,625,000   1,179,000  2006  8/31/2012
Sugar Creek   7,341,000   567,000   10,473,000   113,000   567,000   10,586,000   11,153,000   1,246,000  2007  8/31/2012
Woodbury Mews
Portfolio   23,704,000   2,267,000   28,754,000   299,000   2,267,000   29,053,000   31,320,000   3,251,000  2003  10/21/2013
Standish Village   10,885,000   3,100,000   10,639,000   556,000   3,100,000   11,195,000   14,295,000   1,267,000  1994  12/6/2013
Compass on the Bay   6,300,000   5,551,000   4,825,000   32,000   5,551,000   4,857,000   10,408,000   354,000  1960  4/4/2014
St. Andrews Village   30,205,000   5,351,000   35,445,000   30,000   5,351,000   35,475,000   40,826,000   2,334,000  2006  8/20/2014
The Parkway   17,117,000   1,200,000   20,326,000   (105,000)   1,200,000   20,221,000   21,421,000   653,000  2015  10/2/2014
Live Oaks Village of
Hammond   3,727,000   694,000   5,620,000   117,000   694,000   5,737,000   6,431,000   347,000  1999  11/14/2014
Live Oaks Village of
Slidell   2,077,000   476,000   4,547,000   81,000   476,000   4,628,000   5,104,000   297,000  2000  11/14/2014
Spring Village at
Wildewood   11,272,000   683,000   8,451,000   19,000   683,000   8,470,000   9,153,000   349,000  2014  11/21/2014
Gables of Hudson   15,982,000   974,000   15,364,000   -   974,000   15,364,000   16,338,000   878,000  2013  12/18/2014
Sumter Place   27,325,000   -   46,014,000   -   -   46,014,000   46,014,000   2,435,000  2012  12/31/2014
Sumter Grand   19,195,000   -   37,295,000   -   -   37,295,000   37,295,000   1,953,000  2014  2/6/2015
Gables of Kentridge   8,871,000   640,000   12,939,000   23,000   640,000   12,962,000   13,602,000   657,000  2005  4/1/2015

Accel at Golden (3)   9,342,000   2,110,000   -   -   2,110,000   -   2,110,000   -  2016  4/3/2015
Armbrook Village   21,000,000   957,000   29,688,000   14,000   957,000   29,702,000   30,659,000   1,361,000  2013  4/6/2015
Spring Village at Essex   8,673,000   950,000   9,650,000   -   950,000   9,650,000   10,600,000   8,000  2016  11/18/2016
Totals  $ 357,844,000  $ 48,146,000  $ 435,350,000  $ 5,635,000  $ 48,146,000  $ 440,985,000  $ 489,131,000  $ 45,485,000     

 
(1) The aggregate cost of real estate for federal income tax purposes was $503.0 million.
 
(2) See Note 3 to our consolidated financial statements for information regarding useful lives used for depreciation and amortization.

 
(3) See Note 4 to our consolidated financial statements for information regarding the construction in progress at Accel at Golden.
 
The changes in total real estate for the three years ended December 31, 2016 are as follows.

 

  Cost   
Accumulated
Depreciation  

Balance at December 31, 2014  $ 370,124,000  $ 21,070,000 
2015 Acquisitions   107,017,000   11,641,000 
Balance at December 31, 2015  $ 477,141,000  $ 32,711,000 
2016 Acquisitions   11,990,000   12,774,000 
Balance at December 31, 2016  $ 489,131,000  $ 45,485,000 
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Pursuant to the requirements of the Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on

its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
 

 SENTIO HEALTHCARE PROPERTIES, INC.
   
 By: /s/ SPENCER A. SMITH
  SPENCER A. SMITH
  Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer and Secretary
  March 17, 2017

 
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant

and in the capacities indicated on March 17, 2017.
 

Name   Title
   
/s/ John Mark Ramsey  President, Chief Executive Officer and Director
John Mark Ramsey  (Principal Executive Officer)
   
/s/ Spencer A. Smith  Chief Financial Officer Treasurer and Secretary
Spencer A. Smith  (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
   
/s/ Steven M. Pearson  Director
Steven M. Pearson   
   
/s/ James M. Skorheim  Director
James M. Skorheim   
   
/s/ Barry A. Chase  Director
Barry A. Chase   
   
/s/ Romeo Cefalo  Director
Romeo Cefalo   
   
/s/ Ronald Shuck  Director
Ronald Shuck   
 
/s/ Billy Butcher

 
Director

Billy Butcher   
   
/s/ Peter Sundheim  Director
Peter Sundheim   
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Ex.  Description
   

3.1  Articles of Amendment and Restatement of the Registrant, as amended on December 29, 2009 and January 24, 2012 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Registrant’s annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2011).

3.2  Articles of Amendment of the Registrant, dated August 6, 2013 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Registrant’s quarterly report on
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Exhibit 10.9

 
AMENDMENT NO. 4

TO THE
TRANSITION TO INTERNAL MANAGEMENT AGREEMENT

 
This AMENDMENT NO. 4 to the TRANSITION TO INTERNAL MANAGEMENT AGREEMENT  is made and entered into on this 9th day of February,

2017 (this “Amendment”) by and among, Sentio Healthcare Properties, Inc. , a corporation organized under the laws of the State of Maryland (the “ Company”),
Sentio Healthcare Properties OP, L.P., a Delaware limited partnership (the “ Partnership,” and together with the Company, the “ Company Parties”), Sentinel
RE Investment Holdings LP, a Delaware limited partnership (the “ Investor”), and Sentio Investments, LLC, a Florida limited liability company (the “ Advisor”).

 
R E C I T A L S

 
WHERAS, the Company and the Advisor are parties to an advisory agreement pursuant to which the day-to-day business and affairs of the Company

are managed by the Advisor (as amended from time to time, the “Advisory Agreement”);
 

WHEREAS, on February 10, 2013, the Company Parties, the Investor, and the Advisor, entered into the Transition to Internal Management Agreement,
as amended by Amendment no. 1 and Amendment no. 2, each dated April 8, 2014, and Amendment no. 3 dated February 24, 2015 (the “TIMA”);
 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 5(e)(i) of the TIMA, the Company Parties, the Investor and the Advisor desire to continue to delay the Internalization
Date (as defined in the TIMA) as set forth below;
 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual agreements and covenants contained herein, and for other good and valuable consideration, the
receipt and sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, the parties agree as follows:
 

1.                  Amendment to Section 1 . The Company Parties, the Investor and the Advisor hereby agree that Section 1 of the TIMA shall be amended
and restated in its entirety as follows:

 
Renewal of Advisory Agreement . Subject to compliance with the requirements of Section 8.2 of the Charter and Section 14 of the Advisory
Agreement, the Company and the Advisor will renew the Advisory Agreement upon the expiration of its current term for successive one-year
terms provided that the Advisory Agreement or any renewal agreement thereto provides for its termination upon the Internalization Date.
 
2.                  Amendment to Section 4 . The Company Parties, the Investor and the Advisor hereby agree that Section 4 of the TIMA shall be amended

to add Section 4(c) as follows:
 
Cap on Fee Amounts Payable to the Advisor.
 
c.    Notwithstanding any provision to the contrary in the Advisory Agreement, during the period from February 11, 2017 through February 10, 2018 (the
“Fifth Term”) and the period from February 11, 2018 through February 10, 2019 (the “Sixth Term”), the aggregate amount of fees payable to the Advisor
pursuant to Sections 8(a), 8(b), 8(c), 8(d) and 8(e) of the Advisory Agreement will be limited in the aggregate as follows:
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i.            During the Fifth Term, a maximum of $3,200,000 plus the Second Extension Excess Fee Amount (the “ Fifth Term Maximum

Amount”). The “Second Extension Excess Fee Amount” is $3,600,000.
 

ii.           During the Sixth Term, a maximum of $3,200,000 plus any remaining portion of the Second Extension Excess Fee Amount not
already paid to the Advisor pursuant to Section 4(c)(i) hereof (the “Sixth Term Maximum Amount”).
 

iii.          For avoidance of doubt, during the Fifth Term and the Sixth Term, the maximum amount of fees paid to the Advisor pursuant to
Sections 8(a), 8(b), 8(c), 8(d) and 8(e) of the Advisory Agreement, for the period from February 11, 2017 through February 10, 2019, will be
$10,000,000 (such amount the “Second Maximum Extension Fee Amount”).
 
3.                  Amendment to Section 5 . The Company Parties, the Investor and the Advisor hereby agree that Section 5 of the TIMA shall be amended

and restated in its entirety as follows:
 
Internalization.

 
a.            The current intent of the Company Parties, the Advisor and the Investor is to cause the Company to finalize the transition to an internal
management structure upon the completion of the Sixth Term.
 
b.            Subject to Section 5(e) hereof, effective upon the first day after the end of the Sixth Term (the “ Internalization Date”), the Company will
effect the acquisition of all of the Advisor’s assets that are reasonably necessary for the management and operation of the Company’s business
(such acquisition, an “Internalization”), including, but not limited to, the assignment or other transfer to the Company of all of the Advisor’s rights, title
and interest in any contracts with third parties that are reasonably necessary for the operation of the Company’s business (the “Contracts”).
 
c.            Notwithstanding the Fifth Term Maximum Amount or the Sixth Term Maximum Amount, upon an Internalization or a Liquidation Event (as
defined in the Investor Rights Agreement) prior to the Internalization Date, in addition to any subordinated performance fee amounts earned by the
Advisor in accordance with Section 3 hereof, the Advisor shall receive a fee (the “Event Fee”) in an amount equal to the lesser of (x) $3,000,000 and
(y) the remaining portion of the Second Maximum Extension Fee Amount not previously paid to the Advisor during the Fifth Term or Sixth Term as
of the date of the Internalization or Liquidation Event.
 
d.           Notwithstanding Section 5(c) hereof, no Event Fee shall be paid to the Advisor if (i) at the time of a Liquidation Event or (ii) within twelve
months of a Liquidation Event, the Advisor or any of its members, managers or principals or affiliates of any of the foregoing (x) continues to provide
services (including in a management or advisory role, but excluding any transition services for which the Advisor is not paid or that is otherwise
approved by the board of directors of the Company and the Investor in writing) with respect to the Company, the acquiror of the Company or all or
substantially all of its assets, or any surviving entity resulting from such Liquidation Event or any affiliates of the foregoing, (y) acquires or holds any
equity interests or equity securities in the Company, such acquiror, such surviving entity or such affiliates, or (z) receives any fees, payments or
other compensation (other than the compensation contemplated by this Agreement and the Advisory Agreement and earned prior to or upon such
Liquidation Event) from the Company, such acquiror, such surviving entity or such affiliates. In the case of Section 5(d)(ii), the Advisor shall refund
such Event Fee to the Company’s equity holders prior to such Liquidation Event.
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e.           Notwithstanding Section 5(a) hereof, the Internalization Date may be delayed as follows:
 

i.           If the Company Parties, the Investor and the Advisor agree in writing in advance of such date to delay the
Internalization Date, in which case the Internalization Date will be the date agreed upon by the Company Parties, the Investor and the Advisor; or
 

ii.         If the Company has not completed the employee transition in accordance with the provisions of Section 6 hereof, or has
not secured the consents to assignment of the Contracts in accordance with the provisions of Section 7 hereof, in which case the Internalization
Date will be the first date upon which all such conditions have been satisfied.

 
4.                  Ratification; Effect on Advisory Agreement.
 

a.                   Ratification. The TIMA and the Advisory Agreement, as amended hereby, shall remain in full force and effect and is hereby ratified
and confirmed in all respects.

 
b.                  Effect on the Advisory Agreement . On and after the date hereof, each reference in the TIMA to “this Agreement,” “herein,” “hereof,”

“hereunder,” or words of similar import shall mean and be a reference to the TIMA as amended hereby.
 
c.                   Counterparts; Facsimile. This Amendment may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an

original and all of which, taken together, shall constitute

one and the same instrument. Original signatures hereto may be delivered by facsimile which shall be deemed originals.
 

 
Signature page follows.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed and delivered this Amendment as of the date first written above.
 

 THE COMPANY
   
 Sentio Healthcare Properties, Inc.
   
 By: /s/ JOHN MARK RAMSEY
 Name: John Mark Ramsey
 Title: President and Chief Executive Officer
   
   
 THE PARTNERSHIP
   
 Sentio Healthcare Properties OP, L.P.
   
 By: Sentio Healthcare Properties, Inc.,
 its general partner
   
 By: /s/ JOHN MARK RAMSEY
 Name: John Mark Ramsey
 Title: President and Chief Executive Officer
   
   
 THE INVESTOR
   
 Sentinel RE Investment Holdings LP
   
 By: /s/ BILLY BUTCHER
 Name: Billy Butcher
 Title: Vice President
   
   
 THE ADVISOR
   
 Sentio Investments, LLC
   
 By: /s/ JOHN MARK RAMSEY
 Name: John Mark Ramsey
 Title: Chief Executive Officer
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PARTICIPATION AGREEMENT

 
among

 
RED CAPITAL PARTNERS, LLC

 
and

 
SENTIO GEORGETOWN, LLC

 
and

 
SENTIO GEORGETOWN TRS, LLC

 
 
 

August 31, 2016
The Delaney at Georgetown Village

Georgetown, Texas
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PARTICIPATION AGREEMENT

 
This Participation Agreement (the “Agreement”), dated as of August 31, 2016 (the “Effective Date ”), is made by and among RED CAPITAL

PARTNERS, LLC, an Ohio limited liability company (“ RCP”), SENTIO GEORGETOWN, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“ Sentio”), and SENTIO
GEORGETOWN TRS, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“ Sentio TRS”).

 
RECITALS

 
WHEREAS, pursuant to the terms, provisions and conditions set forth in that certain Construction Loan Agreement (as amended, restated, replaced,

supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time, the “Loan Agreement”), dated as of January 15, 2015 (the “ Closing Date , between Westminster – LCS
Georgetown LLC, an Iowa limited liability company, as “Borrower”, and Sentio and Sentio TRS, collectively, as “Lender”, Sentio and Sentio TRS made a loan to
Borrower in the maximum committed amount of $41,912,000 (the “Loan”). The Loan is evidenced by a Promissory Note A dated as of the Closing Date in face
amount of $40,912,000.00, payable by Borrower to Sentio (“Note A”), and by a Promissory Note B dated as of the Closing Date in face amount of $1,000,000.00,
payable by Borrower to Sentio TRS (“Note B”). Pursuant to the Loan Agreement, Sentio committed to Borrower to advance up to the face amount of Note A, and
Sentio TRS committed to Borrower to advance up to the face amount of Note B, with advances to be made on a pro rata basis. Pursuant to the Loan
Agreement, advances under the Loan are available to pay Project Costs for the development of a senior living project to be known as The Delaney at
Georgetown Village, located in Georgetown, Texas (the “Property”). Also, a portion of the Loan is allocated to an interest reserve, from which advances may be
made to pay interest accruing on the Loan. Note A and Note B are secured by, among other things, a Deed of Trust, Assignment of Leases and Rents, Security
Agreement, and Fixture Filing encumbering the Property dated as of the Closing Date (the “Mortgage”).

 
WHEREAS, as of the Effective Date, Sentio and Sentio TRS collectively have advanced to Borrower $30,159,414.47 in respect of the Loan, and the

committed but unfunded amount of the Loan is $11,752,585.53.
 
WHEREAS, Sentio and Sentio TRS desire to sell to RCP, and RCP desires to purchase from Sentio and Sentio TRS, a participation in the Loan.
 
WHEREAS, the parties hereto intend that the participation in the Loan to be acquired by RCP shall be senior to the participation in the Loan to be retained

by Sentio and Sentio TRS upon and subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement.
 
WHEREAS, the parties hereto desire to enter into this Agreement to memorialize the terms and conditions under which the senior participation will be

purchased and sold and the Loan will be administered after the sale of the senior participation.
 
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants herein contained, the parties hereto mutually agree as follows:
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SECTION 1:   DEFINITIONS; RULES OF CONSTRUCTION
 

1.1              Definitions. Capitalized terms not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings ascribed thereto in the Loan Agreement. Unless
otherwise defined, two defined terms used together (e.g., “Senior Participation” and “Principal Balance”) shall have the combined meaning of the two terms.
As used in this Agreement, the following capitalized terms shall have the respective meanings set forth below unless the context clearly requires otherwise:

 
“Accepted Servicing Practices” shall mean a contractual (non-fiduciary) duty to service and administer the Loan in the best interests of, and for the

benefit of the Participants, in accordance with applicable law, the terms of this Agreement, and the terms of the Loan Agreement, and to the extent consistent
with the foregoing in the same manner as is generally considered to be normal and usual in the commercial mortgage loan industry with regard to its general
mortgage servicing activities for commercial mortgage loans comparable to the Loan, and to exercise the same degree of care that administrative agents and
servicers customarily apply in administering construction loans similar to the Loan, or that the Agent or Servicer would apply if it were administering the entire
Loan solely for its own account, whichever is higher, without regard to conflicting interests, and with a view to maximizing return on a cost-effective and present
value basis, to all Participants, as a collective whole. In the event that circumstances pose a conflict as to the foregoing, the order of priority (from highest to
lowest priority) shall be (A) applicable law, (B) the Loan Agreement, and (C) this Agreement. As used herein, “conflicts of interest” includes:

 
(i)       Any other relationship that Agent or any of its Affiliates may have with Borrower, with any other direct or indirect investor in the Property

or neighboring properties, with either Participant, or with any of their Affiliates;
 
(ii)       any other interest in the Property or neighboring properties that Agent or any of its Affiliates may have other than as Lender or Participant

in this transaction;
 
(iii)       any ownership, servicing or management by Agent or any of its Affiliates for others of any other mortgage loan or property;
 
(iv)       the right of Agent to receive indemnity and reimbursement of Costs under this Agreement; and
 
(v)       the sufficiency of any compensation or reimbursement payable to Agent under this Agreement.
 

“Action Notice” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 17.3.
 
“Additional Servicing Compensation” shall mean Late Charges to the extent actually collected from Borrower and any one-time fees paid by Borrower

for services provided by Agent, in its capacity as Servicer, including assumption application fees, modification fees, fees for reviewing Borrower requests, and
other one-time, service-related fees; but not including Default Interest, assumption fees, or any fees based on “points” or calculated as a percentage of the
outstanding principal balance of the Loan.
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“Affiliate” shall mean as to any Person, any other Person that, directly or indirectly, is in control of, is controlled by, or is under common control with,

such Person. For purposes of this definition, “control” (including, with correlative meanings, the terms “controlling,” “controlled by” and “under common control
with”) as applied to any Person means the power, directly or indirectly, either to set or direct or cause the direction of the management and policies of such
Person, whether by contract, voting rights, or otherwise.

 
“Agent” shall mean Junior Participant except during any period during which a Loss of Control Event has occurred and is continuing, in which event

Senior Participant shall have the right to become the Agent pursuant to the terms and conditions hereof. Neither the Borrower nor any Affiliate of the Borrower or
Borrower Related Party may be the Agent.

 
“Agreement” shall mean this Agreement, the exhibits and schedules hereto and all amendments hereof and supplements hereto.
 
“Appraisal” shall mean a third party property level MAI appraisal of the fair market value of the Property prepared by an appraiser acceptable to both

Participants.
 
“Appraisal Event” shall mean a Monetary Event of Default or material Non-Monetary Event of Default that, in either case, becomes a Continuing Event of

Default that would entitle Agent to accelerate the Loan.
 
“Appraisal Update” means an update to a previously delivered Appraisal that provides an updated opinion of the Appraised Value of the Property based

on changes in circumstances since delivery of the prior Appraisal.
 
“Appraised Value” shall mean the value of the Property as determined by an Appraisal or, if applicable, an Appraisal Update.
 
“Available Funds” shall have the meaning ascribed to it in Section 5.2.
 
“Bankruptcy Code” shall mean the United States Bankruptcy Code, as amended from time to time, any successor statute or rule promulgated thereto.
 
“Borrower” shall mean Westminster – LCS Georgetown LLC, an Iowa limited liability company and any successor or assign thereof with respect to the

Loan.
 
“Borrower Related Party” shall mean Guarantor, any other direct obligor under any Loan Document, and any Affiliate of the foregoing.
 
“Business Day” shall mean any day that is not a Saturday or Sunday, and that is not a legal holiday in Columbus, Ohio, Georgetown, Texas, Orlando,

Florida, New York, New York, or any other city that serves as the principal place of business for the Agent, either Participant, or Borrower, nor a day that banking
institutions or savings associations in any of the foregoing cities are closed for business.

 
“Certificate” shall have the meaning assigned to such term in Section 2.1.
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“Closing Date ” shall have the meaning assigned to such term in the recitals of this Agreement.
 
“Code” shall mean the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.
 
“Collection Account” shall mean with respect to each Participation, an account controlled by Agent in which amounts are segregated (by ledger entries

or otherwise) and held for the benefit of the related Participant.
 
“Commitment” means, with respect to each Participant, the amount specified in Section 3.1, as such amount may be increased or decreased from time

to time by agreement of the necessary parties or pursuant to the terms and conditions of this Agreement.
 
“Commitment Percentage” shall mean the Senior Participation Commitment Percentage with respect to Senior Participant and the Junior Participant

Commitment Percentage with respect to Junior Participant.
 
“Construction Disbursement” shall have the meaning provided in the Loan Agreement.
 
“Continuing Event of Default” shall mean (i) a Monetary Event of Default or material Non-Monetary Event of Default has occurred and is continuing

under the Loan Documents, and (ii) all rights of Junior Participant under this Agreement to receive notice of and opportunity to cure such Event of Default have
expired without a cure.

 
“Control Retention Collateral” shall mean, at the option of Junior Participant, either (i) a first priority and duly perfected security interest in favor of

Senior Participant in cash or cash equivalents in the amount required by Section 18.5, or (ii) an unconditional and irrevocable standby letter of credit in the
amount required by Section 18.5 that is payable to Senior Participant as beneficiary on sight demand, with a term of not less than one year, and issued by a
major money center bank reasonably approved by Senior Participant. If the Control Retention Collateral is delivered in the form of a letter of credit, Junior
Participant must enter into an agreement with Senior Participant, in customary commercial form, providing for the right of Senior Participant to draw on the letter
of credit and hold the proceeds thereof as cash collateral for the Control Retention Guaranty in the event that (a) the letter of credit is not renewed at least 30
days before its expiration date, or (b) the issuer thereof delivers notice of its intention to cancel the letter of credit.

 
“Control Retention Guaranty ” shall mean a guaranty of repayment of the Loan, signed by an Affiliate of Junior Participant (which Affiliate need own no

material assets other than the Control Retention Collateral) and delivered to Senior Participant. The Control Retention Guaranty shall be in customary
commercial form under the laws governing the other Loan Documents for a guaranty of repayment of a loan secured by cash collateral, except that (i) it shall be
secured by the Control Retention Collateral, and (ii) its terms shall provide that the holder thereof, in its capacity as Agent, must make a Final Recovery
Determination in accordance with Accepted Servicing Practices before commencing any action or proceeding to enforce the Control Retention Guaranty or sell,
foreclose on, draw on, or otherwise realize on the Control Retention Collateral.
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“Costs” shall mean all out-of-pocket costs, fees, expenses, interest, payments, losses, liabilities, judgments or causes of action reasonably suffered or

incurred or paid by Agent (including in its capacity as Servicer) in carrying out the duties of Agent and Servicer, including costs of enforcement of the Loan
Documents and legal fees, except to the extent proximately caused by the negligence or willful misconduct of Agent; provided however, that neither (i) the costs
and expenses relating to the origination of the Loan, (ii) the costs and expenses related to a participation of the Loan, including the negotiation of this Agreement
and any costs or expenses of Borrower or any of its Affiliates, nor (iii) the overhead of Agent’s normal operations, shall be included in or deemed to be “Costs.”

 
“Cure Option Notice ” shall have the meaning assigned to such term in Section 10.
 
“Cure Payment” shall have the meaning assigned to such term in Section 10.
 
“Cure Period” shall have the meaning assigned to such term in Section 10.
 
“Cure Right” shall have the meaning assigned to such term in Section 10.
 
“Curing Participant” shall have the meaning assigned to such term in Section 10.
 
“Default Interest” shall mean any interest actually collected by Agent from Borrower at the Default Rate during any period of determination in excess of

the amount of interest that would have been due and payable by Borrower with respect to the same period of determination in the absence of an Event of
Default.

 
“Default Rate” shall have the meaning assigned to such term in the Loan Agreement.
 
“Distribution Spreadsheet” shall mean a spreadsheet in substantially the same form as the spreadsheet attached hereto as Exhibit D, or such other

form as the Participants may mutually approve in writing.
 
“Distribution Date” shall mean, with respect to each receipt by Agent of Available Funds, the second (2 nd) Business Day after such receipt; provided

that, with respect to a Scheduled Payment, the Distribution Date shall be the later of the second (2nd) Business Day of the month in which the related Payment
Date occurs or two (2) Business Days after the Scheduled Payment is actually received.

 
“Eligible Transferee” shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in the Loan Agreement.
 
“Exit Fee” shall mean a fee in the amount of $400,000 payable to Senior Participant pursuant to Section 2.8, Section 5.2, or Section 5.3, without

duplication.
 
“Extension Fee” shall mean a fee in the amount of $100,000 payable to the Senior Participant pursuant to Section 5.8.
 
“Event of Default” shall mean an “Event of Default” as defined in the Loan Agreement.
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“Final Recovery Determination” shall mean that Agent has determined, in accordance with Accepted Service Practices, that substantially all amounts

likely to be recovered with respect to the Loan have been recovered.
 
“Funding Conditions” shall mean, with respect to any Loan Advance, the conditions to Lender’s commitment to fund such Loan Advance in the Loan

Agreement.
 
“In Balance” shall have the meaning provided in the Loan Agreement.
 
“Interest Reserve” shall have the meaning provided in the Loan Agreement.
 
“Junior Participant ” shall have the meaning assigned to such term in Section 2.1.
 
“Junior Participation” shall have the meaning assigned to such term in Section 2.1.
 
“Junior Participation Certificate” shall have the meaning assigned to such term in Section 2.1.
 
“Junior Participation Commitment Percentage” shall mean Fifty Two and 281/1000 percent (52.281%).
 
“Junior Participation Interest Strip ” shall mean, with respect to any period of time, an amount equal to (i) the amount of interest accrued on the Loan

Principal Balance during such period of time at the Loan Interest Rate (or, when and to the extent applicable, at the Loan Default Interest Rate), minus (ii) the
amount of interest accrued on the Senior Participation Balance during such period of time (other than on portions thereof attributable to Protective Advances and
interest on Protective Advances) at the Senior Participation Interest Rate (or, when and to the extent applicable, at the Senior Participation Default Interest
Rate), minus (iii) the amount of interest accrued on portions of the Senior Participation Principal Balance attributable to Protective Advances (and accrued
interest thereon) during such period of time at the Protective Advance Interest Rate (or, when and to the extent applicable, at the Protective Advance Default
Interest Rate).

 
“Junior Participation Principal Balance” as of any date of determination, shall mean (i) $21,912,000.00, plus (ii) all advances made by Junior

Participant in respect of Project Costs pursuant to Section 3.2 after the Effective Date, to the extent the same are not advanced by the Senior Participant in
accordance with this Agreement, plus (iii) all advances deemed made by Junior Participant in respect of the Interest Reserve pursuant to Section 3.3 after the
Effective Date, to the extent the same are not advanced by the Senior Participant in accordance with this Agreement, plus (iv) all Protective Advances made by
Junior Participant, plus (v) the Junior Participation Interest Strip, minus (vi) all distributions made by Agent to Junior Participant pursuant to Section 5.2 or
Section 5.3 in respect of interest and principal (including return of and on Protective Advances), minus (vii) all Realized Loan Losses allocated to Junior
Participant pursuant to Section 6.2. The Junior Participation Interest Strip shall be calculated and added to the Junior Participation Principal Balance on each
Payment Date or, when appropriate with respect to partial months, on a daily basis, in a manner consistent with the Loan Agreement and Accepted Servicing
Practices.
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“Junior Participant Purchase Option ” shall have the meaning assigned to such term in Section 9.1.
 
“Junior Participant Purchase Option Closing Date ” shall have the meaning assigned to such term in Section 9.3.
 
“Junior Participant Purchase Option Notice ” shall have the meaning assigned to such term in Section 9.2.
 
“Junior Participant Purchase Option Price ” shall mean the sum (without duplication) of the following, determined as of the Junior Participant Purchase

Option Closing Date:
 

(i)                 the Senior Participation Principal Balance; plus
 
(ii)               interest accrued on the Senior Participation Principal Balance that has not previously been added to the Senior Participation

Principal Balance, at the Senior Participation Interest Rate, to but not including the Junior Participant Purchase Option Closing Date; plus
 
(iii)             accrued but unpaid or unrecovered Costs and (without duplication) Additional Servicing Compensation with respect to any period of

time that Senior Participant served as Agent.
 

The Junior Participant Purchase Option Price shall exclude any Default Interest (including Default Interest previously added to principal), any interest on
Default Interest, and any Senior Participant Yield Maintenance Premium. The Exit Fee shall be payable, in addition to the Junior Participant Purchase Option
Price, to the extent provided in Section 9.5.

 
“Late Charges” shall mean any amounts actually collected from Borrower pursuant to Section 2.8 of the Loan Agreement.
 
“Lender” shall mean the named “Lender” under the Loan Documents or, when the context requires, Agent in its capacity as the authorized

representative of the Participants in exercising the rights and prerogatives of “Lender” under the Loan Documents.
 
“Lender Consultant” shall have the meaning provided in the Loan Agreement.
 
“Loan” shall have the meaning assigned to such term in the recitals. For the avoidance of doubt, “Loan” means Loan A and Loan B (as such terms are

used in the Loan Agreement), collectively.
 
“Loan Advance” means an advance of funds to Borrower pursuant to the Loan Agreement for the purposes described therein.
 
“Loan Agreement” shall have the meaning assigned to such term in the recitals.
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“Loan Documents” shall have the meaning assigned to such term in the Loan Agreement; provided that, for the avoidance of doubt, the Option

Agreement is not a Loan Document and Senior Participant is not obtaining any right, title, or interest therein.
 
“Loan Default Interest Rate ” shall mean the Loan Interest Rate plus four percent (4.0%).
 
“Loan Interest Rate” shall mean Seven and 90/100 percent (7.90%) per annum.
 
“Loan Principal Balance” shall mean the outstanding principal balance of the Loan, determined by Agent in accordance with the Loan Documents and

Acceptable Servicing Practices, as if the Loan were evidenced by a single promissory note.
 
“Loss of Control Event” shall mean that any of the following has occurred:
 
(a)                Based on the most recent Appraisal or Appraisal Update obtained pursuant to the terms hereof following the occurrence of an Appraisal

Event, the value of the collateral for the Loan (plus, if applicable, the value of any Control Retention Collateral delivered pursuant to the terms hereof) is less
than or equal to One Hundred Thirty Percent (130%) of the sum of the following (determined as of the valuation date of such Appraisal or Appraisal Update): (i)
the Senior Participation Principal Balance (excluding any portion thereof that constitutes Default Interest that was added to principal, and interest accrued on
such portion), plus (ii) accrued and unpaid interest on the Senior Participation Principal Balance at the Senior Participation Interest Rate (without duplication of
interest previously added to principal) (which, for clarification, shall exclude Default Interest), plus (iii) delinquent real estate taxes and assessments and
insurance premiums (to the extent funds to pay the same are not available in a reserve or escrow held or controlled by Agent).

 
(b)               The Agent has filed for bankruptcy, has sought the protection of a receivership, has made an assignment for the benefit of creditors, or is

otherwise deemed insolvent under applicable law.
 
(c)                The creditors of Agent have sought to have the Agent adjudicated as bankrupt or have sought a receivership for the assets or affairs of

Agent.
 
(d)               The normal operations of Agent are suspended for a material period of time, whether voluntarily or involuntarily.
 
(e)                Junior Participant transfers the Junior Participation in violation of the terms and conditions hereof.
 
(f)                Junior Participant, whether in its capacity as Agent, Servicer or Participant, (i) fails to remit to Senior Participant any amount that it is

required to remit under the terms of this Agreement, and such failure continues and remains uncured for five (5) Business Days after receipt of written notice from
Senior Participant of such failure or (ii) otherwise breaches its obligations under the terms of this Agreement, or of any of its representations or warranties set
forth in this Agreement, in each case which materially and adversely affects the interests of a Participant and which continues unremedied for sixty (60) days after
receipt of written notice from any Participant of such breach; provided, however, if such breach is not reasonably capable of cure within sixty (60) days and
Junior Participant has diligently commenced and prosecuted such cure, the cure period shall be extended an additional thirty (30) days.

 

8 

EDGAR Stream is a copyright of Issuer Direct Corporation, all rights reserved.



 

 
“Major Decision ” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 17.2.
 
“Maturity Date” shall have the meaning assigned to such term in the Loan Agreement.
 
“Monetary Event of Default” shall mean the failure of the Borrower to make a payment of principal or interest on the Loan or any other Event of Default

that can be cured by payment of readily identifiable amount of money (after expiration of the applicable grace periods, if any, under the applicable Loan
Documents).

 
“Mortgage” shall have the meaning assigned to such term in the recitals of this Agreement.
 
“Non Exempt Person” shall mean any Person other than a Person who is either (a) a U.S. Person or (b) has on file with the Agent (or any Servicer on

its behalf) for the relevant year such duly executed form(s) or statement(s) as may, from time to time, be prescribed by law and which, pursuant to applicable
provisions of (i) any income tax treaty between the United States and the country of residence of such Person, (ii) the Code or (iii) any applicable rules or
regulations in effect under clauses (i) or (ii) above, permit Agent to make distributions hereunder to such Person free of any obligation or liability for withholding.

 
“Non-Monetary Event of Default” shall mean an Event of Default under the Loan Documents that is not a Monetary Event of Default.
 
“Note A” shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in the recitals.
 
“Note B” shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in the recitals.
 
“Objection Narrative” shall have the meaning provided in Section 4.7(d).
 
“Option Agreement” shall mean the Option Agreement, dated January 15, 2015, between Borrower as “Seller” and Sentio as “Buyer”, together with the

Purchase and Sale Agreement incorporated therein as Exhibit B thereto, and the Memorandum of Option referenced in Section 7 of the Option Agreement.
 
“Organizational Documents” shall mean, with respect to any entity that is:
 

(i)       a corporation, its certificate or articles of incorporation and bylaws,
 
(ii)       a limited liability company, its certificate of formation and its limited liability company agreement (howsoever designated),
 
(iii)       a trust, its trust agreement,
 
(iv)       a general partnership, its partnership agreement,
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(v)       a limited partnership, its certificate of limited partnership and limited partnership agreement, and
 
(vi)       any other type of entity, its Organizational Documents of a similar nature.
 

“Participant” shall have the meaning assigned to such term in Section 2.1.
 
“Participation” shall have the meaning assigned to such term in Section 2.1. For the avoidance of doubt, the term “Participation”, as used herein, is not

the same as the “Participation” under the Loan Agreement.
 
“Participation Amount” shall have the meaning provided in the Loan Agreement.
 
“Percentage Interest” shall mean (a) as to the Senior Participation, the ratio of the Senior Participation Principal Balance to the Loan Principal Balance,

and (b) as to the Junior Participation, the ratio of the Junior Participation Principal Balance to the Loan Principal Balance; in each case, expressed as a
percentage.

 
“Person” means an individual, a corporation, a partnership, an association, a trust or any other entity or organization, including a government or political

subdivision or an agency or instrumentality thereof.
 
“Prior Agent” means a Participant that served as Agent hereunder but was replaced by another Participant on account of a Loss of Control Event.
 
“Property” shall have the meaning assigned to such term in the recitals of this Agreement.
 
“Protective Advance” shall mean an advance made by a lender under a mortgage loan to protect the interests of the mortgage lender in the loan or in

the underlying collateral, including (i) advances customarily deemed protective advances under normal and customary practices of mortgage loan administration,
such as the payment of delinquent taxes or casualty insurance premiums and the payment of Costs incurred by a lender or its administrative agent or servicer in
connection with the enforcement and administration of the Loan, and (ii) advances beyond the original commitment of the mortgage lender, or within the original
commitment of the mortgage lender but at a time when such original commitment is not binding due to an event of default or failure to satisfy an applicable
condition, made in order to complete construction of the improvements contemplated by the terms of the mortgage loan.

 
“Protective Advance Interest Rate ” shall mean, as of any date of determination, the Loan Interest Rate as of such date.
 
“Protective Advance Default Interest Rate ” shall mean the Protective Advance Interest rate plus four percent (4.0%).
 
“Purchase Notice” shall have the meaning assigned to such term in Section 9.3(i).
 
“Purchase Trigger” shall have the meaning assigned to such term in Section 9.1(i).
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“RCP” shall have the meaning assigned to such term in the preamble to this Agreement.
 
“Realized Loan Loss” means any permanent reduction in the amount recoverable under the Loan, whether as a result of a Loan modification, a

modification by a bankruptcy court, or a disposition of the Property for less than the sum of the total amount owing by Borrower.
 
“Related Payment Date ” means, with respect to monthly distributions to the Participants, the Payment Date immediately preceding the date of

distribution.
 
“REO Holding Company ” shall have the meaning provided in Section 4.8.
 
“REO Major Decision ” shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in Section 4.8(iii).
 
“REO Property” shall mean the Property if it shall have been acquired by the Agent or Participants following an Event of Default.
 
“Scheduled Payment ” shall mean the monthly payment of interest and, if applicable, principal, due from Borrower on the Loan.
 
“Senior Participant” shall have the meaning assigned to such term in Section 2.1.
 
“Senior Participation” shall have the meaning assigned to such term in Section 2.1.
 
“Senior Participation Certificate” shall have the meaning assigned to such term in Section 2.1.
 
“Senior Participation Commitment Percentage” shall mean Forty Seven and 719/1000 percent (47.719%).
 
“Senior Participation Default Interest Rate” shall mean the Senior Participation Interest Rate plus four percent (4.0%).
 
“Senior Participation Interest Rate” shall mean five and 25/100 percent (5.25%) per annum.
 
“Senior Participation Principal Balance” as of any date of determination, shall mean (i) the amount of the Loan Principal Balance as of the Effective

Date that is allocated to the Senior Participation by Section 2.2, plus (ii) all advances made by Senior Participant in respect of Project Costs pursuant to Section
3.2 after the Effective Date, plus (iii) all advances deemed made by Senior Participant in respect of the Interest Reserve pursuant to Section 3.3 after the
Effective Date, plus (iv) all Protective Advances made by Senior Participant, plus (v) interest accrued after the Effective Date on the Senior Participation Balance
(other than portions thereof attributable to Protective Advances and interest on Protective Advances) at the Senior Participation Interest Rate (or, when and to
the extent applicable, the Senior Participation Default Interest Rate), plus (vi) interest accrued after the Effective Date on the portion of the outstanding Senior
Participation Principal Balance attributable to Protective Advances (and accrued interest thereon) at the Protective Advance Interest Rate (or, when and to the
extent applicable, the Protective Advance Default Interest Rate), minus (vii) all distributions made by Agent to Senior Participant pursuant to Section 5.2 or
Section 5.3 in respect of interest and principal (including return of and on Protective Advances), minus (viii) all Realized Loan Losses allocated to Senior
Participant pursuant to Section 6.2. Accrued interest shall be calculated and added to the Senior Participation Principal Balance on each Payment Date or, when
appropriate with respect to partial months, on a daily basis, in a manner consistent with the Loan Agreement and Accepted Servicing Practices.
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“Senior Participation Yield Maintenance Premium” shall mean an amount equal to the greater of: (i) one percent (1%) of the principal amount of the

Senior Participant Principal Balance being prepaid from the related distribution, or (ii) the present value as of the Prepayment Date of the Calculated Payments
from the Prepayment Date through the Stated Maturity Date (giving effect to extensions of the Stated Maturity Date only if the right to extend the Stated Maturity
Date has been exercised by Agent (A) prior to the Prepayment Date, or (B) if a Yield Maintenance Premium becomes due and payable under the Loan
Agreement on account of an acceleration following an Event of Default, prior to the acceleration, determined by discounting such payments at the Discount
Rate). As used in this definition, the term “Prepayment Date” means the date on which the applicable prepayment is tendered to Agent. As used in this definition,
the term “Calculated Payments” means the monthly payments of interest only with respect to the Senior Participation which would be distributable to Senior
Participant hereunder based on the principal amount of the Senior Participation being distributed on the applicable Distribution Date and assuming an interest
rate per annum equal to the difference (if such difference is greater than zero) between (y) the Senior Participation Interest Rate and (z) the Yield Maintenance
Treasury Rate. As used in this definition, the term “Discount Rate” means the rate which, when compounded monthly, is equivalent to the Yield Maintenance
Treasury Rate, when compounded semi-annually. As used in this definition, the term “Yield Maintenance Treasury Rate” means the yield calculated by Agent by
the linear interpolation of the yields, as reported in the Federal Reserve Statistical Release H.15 Selected Interest Rates under the heading U.S. Government
Securities/Treasury Constant Maturities for the week ending prior to the Prepayment Date, of U.S. Treasury Constant Maturities with maturity dates (one longer
and one shorter) most nearly approximating the Stated Maturity Date. In the event that Release H.15 is no longer published, Agent shall select a comparable
publication to determine the Yield Maintenance Treasury Rate. In no event, however, shall Agent be required to reinvest any prepayment proceeds in U.S.
Treasury obligations or otherwise. Agent’s determination of the Yield Maintenance Premium shall be final and binding absent manifest error.

 
“Sentio” shall have the meaning assigned to such term in the preamble to this Agreement.
 
“Sentio TRS” shall have the meaning assigned to such term in the preamble to this Agreement.
 
“Servicer” shall mean Agent, in its capacity as Servicer under this Agreement and Section 14.19 of the Loan Agreement.
 
“Taxes” shall mean any income or other taxes, levies, imposts, duties, fees, assessments or other charges of whatever nature, now or hereafter

imposed by any jurisdiction or by any department, agency, state or other political subdivision thereof or therein.
 

12 

EDGAR Stream is a copyright of Issuer Direct Corporation, all rights reserved.



 

 
“Transfer” shall have the meaning assigned to such term in Section 14.1.
 
“UCC” shall mean the Uniform Commercial Code of the applicable state.
 
1.2              Rules of Construction. For all purposes of this Agreement, except as otherwise expressly provided or unless the context otherwise requires:
 

(i)                 the use of any gender herein shall be deemed to include the other genders;
 
(ii)               all references in this Agreement to designated Sections, Subsections, Paragraphs, Articles, Exhibits, Schedules and other

subdivisions or addenda without reference to a document are to the designated sections, subsections, paragraphs and articles and all other
subdivisions of and exhibits, schedules and all other addenda to this Agreement, unless otherwise specified;

 
(iii)             a reference to a Subsection without further reference to a Section is a reference to such Subsection as contained in the same

Section in which the reference appears, and this rule shall apply to Paragraphs and other subdivisions;
 
(iv)             the headings and captions used in this Agreement are for convenience of reference only and do not define, limit or describe the

scope or intent of the provisions of this Agreement;
 
(v)               the terms “includes” or “including” shall mean without limitation by reason of enumeration;
 
(vi)             the words “herein”, “hereof”, “hereunder” and other words of similar import refer to this Agreement as a whole and not to any

particular provision;
 
(vii)           the term “or” includes “and/or”;
 
(viii)         any defined term which relates to a document, instrument, or agreement includes within its definition any amendments,

modifications, renewals, restatements, extensions, supplements, or substitutions which are hereafter executed and delivered in compliance with the
terms hereof and thereof; and

 
(ix)             any agreement not to unreasonably withhold consent or approval shall be construed to include an agreement not to unreasonably

condition or delay such consent or approval.
 

SECTION 2:   CREATION OF PARTICIPATIONS AND CONVEYANCE OF SENIOR PARTICIPATION.
 

2.1              Creation of Participations. Sentio and Sentio TRS hereby create a senior participation in the Loan (the “ Senior Participation”) and a junior
participation in the Loan (the “Junior Participation”). The Senior Participation and the Junior Participation are each referred to herein as a “ Participation” and
are collectively referred to herein as the “Participations”). The Senior Participation shall be evidenced by a certificate in the form attached hereto as Exhibit A
(the “Senior Participation Certificate”). The Junior Participation shall be evidenced by a certificate in the form attached hereto as Exhibit B (the “Junior
Participation Certificate”). The Senior Participation Certificate and the Junior Participation Certificate are each referred to herein as a “ Certificate” and are
collectively referred to herein as the “Certificates”. The holder (or holders) of the Senior Participation (including any permitted transferee thereof) is referred to
herein as the “Senior Participant”. The holder (or holders) of the Junior Participation (including any permitted transferee thereof) is referred to herein as the
“Junior Participant ”. The Senior Participant and the Junior Participant are each referred to herein as a “ Participant” and are collectively referred to herein as
the “Participants”). The rights and obligations of Participants with respect to the Loan, the collateral for the Loan, and their respective Participations shall be
governed by and subject to this Agreement.
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2.2              Current Principal Balances of Participations. Junior Participant represents and warrants to Senior Participant as of the date hereof that, as of

the Effective Date, the outstanding principal balance of the Loan is $30,159,414,47, which consists of the following components: (i) Advances of $28,808,870.64
made by Junior Participant prior to the Effective Date in respect of Project Costs, and (ii) advances of $1,350,544.10 made by Junior Participant prior to the
Effective Date in respect of the Interest Reserve. The outstanding principal balance of the Loan is hereby allocated as follows: $21,912,000.00 to the Junior
Participation and $8,247,414.47 to the Senior Participation.

 
2.3              Nature of Participations. Each Participation represents an undivided participation interest in the Loan, the Loan Documents (including Note A

and Note B), and the collateral for the Loan, subject in all respects to the terms and conditions of this Agreement.
 
2.4              Conveyance of Senior Participation . Subject to the terms and conditions herein, Sentio and Sentio TRS hereby sell and convey the Senior

Participation to RCP.
 
2.5              Issuance of Certificates. On the Effective Date, concurrently with execution and delivery of this Agreement, Sentio and Sentio TRS are

issuing a Senior Participation Certificate to RCP and a Junior Participation Certificate to themselves.
 
2.6              Appointment of Agent. Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, the Participants appoint Junior Participant as Agent and Junior

Participant accepts such appointment. Junior Participant’s appointment as Agent is subject to replacement by Senior Participant upon a Loss of Control Event
pursuant to the terms and conditions of this Agreement.

 
2.7              Custody of the Loan Documents . Each Participant shall hold its own Certificate. The Agent shall have custody of all of the Loan Documents,

including Note A and Note B.
 
2.8              Option Agreement. Participants acknowledge that (i) the Option Agreement is not a Loan Document, (ii) the rights under the Option

Agreement are not part of the Loan, and (iii) Senior Participant is not acquiring any right, title, or interest in the Option Agreement or in the option granted under
the Option Agreement. If a transaction under the Option Agreement is consummated, the proceeds thereof shall be accounted for hereunder and distributed as
Available Funds and (subject to Section 5.6 and Section 5.8) Junior Participant shall pay the Exit Fee and (if it has become payable under Section 5.8 but has
not previously been paid) the Extension Fee to Senior Participant. Notwithstanding the foregoing or any provision in the Option Agreement to the contrary,
Junior Participant acknowledges and agrees that Junior Participant (or its permitted successor or assignee) shall not be entitled to close a sale of the Property
pursuant to an exercise of its rights under the Option Agreement if the proceeds from the sale of the Property pursuant thereto would not result in Senior
Participant receiving less than an amount equal to the Senior Participation Principal Balance (together with all interest accrued thereon and not previously
distributed ) and, if applicable, the Exit Fee and (if it has become payable under Section 5.8 but has not previously been paid) the Extension Fee.
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SECTION 3:   PURCHASE PRICE AND FUTURE ADVANCES.
 

3.1              Purchase Price. On the Effective Date, Senior Participant is paying to Junior Participant an amount in cash equal to (i) the Senior
Participation Principal Balance as of the Effective Date (after giving effect to the allocation provided in Section 2.2), less (ii) an origination fee of $200,000.00.

 
3.2              Future Funding Commitment. As additional consideration for the purchase and sale of the Senior Participation, Senior Participant commits to

fund all Loan Advances that Lender is committed to fund under the Loan Documents to the extent not already funded by Junior Participant as of the Effective
Date. From time to time, Agent shall determine if and when Borrower is eligible for a Loan Advance (including advances for Project Costs and advances in
respect of the Interest Reserve). Agent shall make such determinations in accordance with the Funding Conditions, Section 3.3 hereof, Section 3.4 hereof, and
Accepted Servicing Practices. Senior Participant commits that, upon determination by Agent that Borrower is eligible for a Loan Advance (including advances for
Project Costs and advances in respect of the Interest Reserve), Senior Participant shall make such Loan Advance in accordance with instructions from Agent;
provided that Senior Participant’s commitment hereunder in respect of Loan Advances is capped at $20,000,000.

 
3.3              Funding Conditions – Project Costs . Agent shall determine Borrower’s eligibility for Loan Advances in respect of Project Costs in accordance

with the applicable Funding Conditions, this Section 3.3, and Accepted Servicing Practices.
 
(a)                Promptly upon receipt of a Disbursement Request pursuant to Section 4.3(a) of the Loan Agreement, Agent shall forward to each

Participant, by e-mail, as soon as reasonably practicable, the following:
 

(i)                 A complete copy of the Disbursement Request with all enclosures and supporting information provided by the Borrower in
connection with the Disbursement Request.

 
(ii)               A cover message that lists the information and documents being provided, states the amount to be funded by Senior Participant,

estimates the date on which funding will be required, and states the date by which any Objection Narrative must be delivered, provided that in no
event shall Senior Participant have fewer than five (5) days after receipt of the Disbursement Request to provide an Objection Narrative. Agent shall
use commercially reasonable efforts to deliver the Disbursement Request the Senior Participant at least seven (7) days prior to the date on which
funding will be required.
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(b)               Following receipt of a Disbursement Request, Agent shall forward to each Participant, as soon as reasonably practicable after receipt, the

following (to the extent applicable to the requested Loan Advance):
 

(i)                 The Distribution Spreadsheet.
 
(ii)               The signed G702/703 and subcontractor back-up with lien waivers if requested by a Participant.
 
(iii)             Copies of change orders with all relevant back-up materials, if applicable.
 
(iv)             For any Loan Advance to be used as a deposit under a purchase contract (a) a copy of the contract, and (b) an invoice for the

payment then due.
 
(v)               For off-site stored materials (a) photographs of materials that note that the materials are for the proposed improvements and (b) a

certificate of insurance naming Agent as mortgagee and Participants as loss payee as to such materials.
 
(vi)             If required by the title insurer as a condition of insuring the priority of such Loan Advance, either a title examination or title rundown

advance letter or a Proforma title insurance date down endorsement (whichever is required under local custom and practice as a condition of insuring
the priority of such advance) confirming such advance will have the same priority as prior Loan Advances with no intervening title exceptions, which
confirmation may consist of an e-mail with any actual endorsement (if required) to be provided prior to the following Loan Advance.

 
(vii)           Invoices for all soft costs.
 
(viii)         A written construction inspection report from the Lender Consultant (or, in the alternative, confirmation from Agent that it has

received a verbal or e-mailed approval from the Lender Consultant and, to the extent not previously supplied, the name and telephone number of the
individual representative of the Lender Consultant that each Participant may contact directly, at its option, for confirmation or to discuss any issue, and
in each case the written report that confirms any verbal or e-mailed approval shall be submitted prior to the funding of the following advance.

 
(ix)             If not already included in the report from the Lender Consultant, Agent’s determination as to whether the Loan is In Balance and

calculations supporting same.
 
(x)               If not previously supplied, the applicable wire transfer instructions for the Loan Advance.
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(c)                Agent shall consult in good faith with the Participants as to whether the applicable Funding Conditions have been satisfied. If any Participant

believes that any applicable Funding Conditions have not been satisfied, such Participant may deliver to Agent a written narrative that discloses the basis for
such belief (an “Objection Narrative”); and Agent shall give good faith consideration to any Objection Narrative that is timely delivered. The Participants
acknowledge, however, that time is of the essence in connection with Loan Advances, and that failure to fund a Loan Advance in a timely manner could result in
damage to Borrower and liabilities and costly disputes with Borrower. Accordingly, Participants hereby delegate to Agent the right to make the final determination
whether the applicable Funding Conditions have been satisfied, and the determination of the Agent shall be final and binding on the Participants.

 
(d)               Once Agent has determined that the applicable Funding Conditions have been satisfied, Agent shall deliver to the Participants written notice

of such determination and instructions for funding. Senior Participant shall effect the funding in accordance with such instructions.
 
(e)                Senior Participant acknowledges that, prior to the Effective Date, it has received as satisfactory opportunity to review and approve all Loan

Advances in respect of Project Costs that were made prior to the Effective Date. As between the Participants, all Funding Conditions with respect to such Loan
Advances are hereby deemed satisfied.

 
3.4              Funding Conditions – Interest Reserve. On each Payment Date, to the extent that Borrower is credited under the Loan Documents with a

Loan Advance in respect of the Interest Reserve, Senior Participant shall make a Loan Advance. Agent shall determine the amount of the Loan Advance in
accordance with the applicable Funding Conditions and Accepted Servicing Practices. Such Loan Advance shall be distributed to the Participants in accordance
with Section 5.2. Agent shall notify the Participants of the amount of each Loan Advance in respect of the Interest Reserve at least five (5) Business Days prior
to the applicable Payment Date. To the extent that a Loan Advance made by Senior Participant in respect of the Interest Reserve will immediately be distributed
back to Senior Participant pursuant to Section 5.2, Agent shall make commercially reasonable efforts to net the anticipated distribution against the required Loan
Advance (and to the extent of such netting, such Loan Advance and distribution may be made by book entry). However, to the extent that a Loan Advance made
by Senior Participant in respect of the Interest Reserve will be distributed to Junior Participant, such Loan Advance shall be made by Senior Participant in cash,
to Agent, on the applicable Payment Date.

 
3.5              Protective Advances.
 
(a)                If Agent believes that a Protective Advance is needed or is advisable, Agent shall recommend such Protective Advance to the Participants.

If a Participant believes that a Protective Advance is needed or is advisable, the Participant may recommend to the other Participant that the Participants fund a
Protective Advance.

 
(b)               The Participants shall each have the right, but not the obligation, to fund a Protective Advance recommended by the Agent or by the other

Participant. However, no Participant shall fund a Protective Advance unless and until Agent and all Participants have a reasonable opportunity to confer in good
faith with regard to the need or advisability of the proposed Protective Advance. Participants acknowledge that time may be of the essence with respect to
recommended Protective Advances, and shall make commercially reasonable efforts to consult expeditiously with regard thereto.
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(c)                If both Participants, after good faith consultation, elect to participate in a given Protective Advance, then they shall fund such Protective

Advance on a pari passu  basis, based on the Senior Participation Commitment Percentage and the Junior Participation Commitment Percentage.
 
(d)               If, after good faith consultation, only one Participant elects to participate in a given Protective Advance, then that Participant, in its discretion,

may fund such Protective Advance unilaterally; provided that absent consent by both Participants, unrecovered Protective Advances, to the extent funded
unilaterally by one Participant for any purpose other than specified in clause (i) of the definition of “Protective Advance”, may not exceed $2,000,000 at any time
during the life of the Loan.

 
(e)                Any Protective Advance shall be funded by the Participant or Participants directly to Agent, and then shall be administered by Agent in

accordance with the Loan Documents and Accepted Servicing Practices.
 
(f)                Protective Advances to the extent funded by Senior Participant shall be added to the Senior Participation Principal Balance when actually

funded. Protective Advances to the extent funded by Junior Participant shall be added to the Junior Participation Principal Balance when actually funded.
Interest thereon, to the extent attributable to Protective Advances (including interest thereon that was previously added to principal), shall accrue at the
Protective Advance Interest Rate (or, when and to the extent applicable, at the Protective Advance Default Interest Rate), and shall be added to the Senior
Participation Principal Balance or the Junior Participation Principal Balance, as applicable, on each Payment Date.

 
(g)               Agent, in its capacity as Agent, shall have no obligation to make a Protective Advance from its own funds.
 

SECTION 4:   ADMINISTRATION OF THE LOAN
 

4.1              Appointment of Agent. Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, the Participants appoint Junior Participant as Agent, and
Junior Participant accepts such appointment. Junior Participant’s appointment as Agent is subject to replacement by Senior Participant upon a Loss of Control
Event pursuant to the terms and conditions of this Agreement. Except to the extent provided herein with respect to Major Decisions, the Agent shall have all of
the power and authority to exercise the rights and prerogatives of the “Lender” under the Loan Documents and applicable law. Such power and authority shall
include the power and authority to evaluate Borrower’s compliance with terms of the Loan Documents and applicable law, evaluate Borrower’s satisfaction of
conditions, and evaluate and grant or deny Borrower’s requests for consents to actions that require Lender’s consent under the Loan Documents, amendments to
the Loan Documents, and waivers of Lender’s rights under the Loan Documents, in each case, subject to Section 17. Such power and authority shall include the
right to exercise the rights and remedies of the Lender under the Loan Documents or to forebear from exercising such rights and remedies, in each case, subject
to Section 17. Subject to applicable law, the terms of this Agreement, the terms of the Loan Documents, and Acceptable Servicing Practices, Agent shall have
the authority, acting alone, to do or cause to be done any and all things in connection with the servicing and administration of the Loan that it deems necessary
or desirable.
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4.2              Servicer.
 
(a)                Agent shall have all of the rights, prerogatives, and obligations of “Servicer” under the Loan Agreement. Participants acknowledge that,

pursuant to Section 14.19(c) of the Loan Agreement, Sentio and Sentio TRS appointed Sentio as the “Servicer”. Sentio shall continue to exercise the rights and
prerogatives of “Servicer” under the Loan Agreement and have the obligations relating thereto for so long as Junior Participant is the Agent hereunder. If,
pursuant to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, Senior Participant becomes the Agent hereunder, then concurrently therewith Senior Participant shall
acquire the rights and prerogatives under Section 14.19 of the Loan Agreement pertaining to appointment of a Servicer and shall assume the obligations relating
thereto, and Sentio (or any person previously acting as Servicer) shall (i) relinquish such rights and prerogatives, (ii) be relieved from such obligations, effective
as of such date and (iii) provide Borrower with written notice of such replacement Servicer in accordance with Section 14.19(b) of the Loan Agreement.

 
(b)               Without limiting the generalities of those duties generally considered to be normal and customary in the commercial mortgage loan industry

with regard to its general mortgage servicing activities for commercial mortgage loans comparable to the Loan, Agent, in its capacity as Servicer, shall perform
the following duties with respect to the Loan in accordance with the Loan Agreement and Accepted Servicing Practices:

 
(i)                 Use reasonable efforts to collect all payments and other amounts due from Borrower and its Affiliates.
 
(ii)               Establish, maintain, and administer lockbox accounts and disburse proceeds therefrom in accordance with the applicable

provisions of the Loan Agreement.
 
(iii)             Hold all mortgage escrows and reserve payments that are required to be deposited into escrow or reserve accounts and disburse

such proceeds in accordance with the applicable provisions of the Loan Agreement.
 
(iv)             Accept prepayments on the Loan and defeasance payments with respect to the Loan where the Borrower is entitled to pay the

same as a matter of right.
 
(v)               Segregate from its corporate funds all funds received on account of the Loan and deposit such funds in a trust or custodial

account or accounts.
 
(vi)             Keep a complete and accurate account of all amounts collected on account of the Loan and the application thereof.
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(vii)           Track and calculate the Loan Principal Balance, the Senior Participation Principal Balance, and the Junior Participation Principal

Balance, all components thereof, and all interest accruing thereon, at least on a monthly basis, and whenever necessary for effective administration of
the Loan and this Agreement, in accordance with the terms of the Loan Documents, this Agreement, and Accepted Servicing Practices.

 
(viii)         Monitor all UCC financing statements and file all UCC continuation statements in appropriate jurisdictions as necessary to avoid a

lapse in continuation of a security interest on the personal property constituting collateral for the Loan.
 
(ix)             Use reasonable efforts to obtain from Borrower and its Affiliates on a timely basis all financial statements, reports and other

documents required to be furnished by Borrower and its Affiliates pursuant to the Loan Documents.
 
(x)               Provide Borrower with a statement outlining the information relating to the Loan as required by the Internal Revenue Service or

any other applicable law within the time frame required.
 
(xi)             Provide each Participant with a certification quarterly, within 30 days after the end of each calendar quarter, stating that all

amounts collected by Servicer with respect to the Loan have been properly applied in accordance with the terms of the Loan Agreement and this
Agreement.

 
(xii)           Furnish a Participant, within a reasonable time of a Participant’s written request therefor, with all information relating to the Loan

that such Participant may reasonably request to the extent such information is in possession of Servicer and can reasonably be produced without
material cost to Servicer.

 
(c)                Servicer shall maintain a servicing file with respect to the Loan, as custodian for the Participants, and retain in such servicing file its copies

of the mortgage loan documents and all other records and documents with respect to the Loan prepared by or which come into the possession of Servicer.
Servicer may subcontract with a document custodian to maintain such servicing file. Servicer shall furnish or cause to be furnished copies of all records or
documents with respect to the Loan which are held by it to the Participants upon request.

 
(d)               If any payment due under the Loan Agreement and not deferred with the written consent of the Participants (to the extent such consent is

required hereunder) is not paid when the same becomes due and payable, or if the Borrower or its Affiliates fails to perform any other material covenant or
obligation under the Loan, the Servicer shall promptly notify the Participants in accordance with its usual practice. If such delinquency or failure continues
beyond the applicable grace periods provided in the Loan Agreement, the Servicer shall promptly notify the Participants and shall take such further actions as
the Servicer deems appropriate, subject to Accepted Servicing Practices and the rights and obligations hereunder pertaining to Cure Rights and Major Decisions.
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(e)                Servicer, in its capacity as Servicer, shall have no obligation to make any advances to Borrower, for the benefit of Borrower, or for the

account of Borrower, and no obligation to make any Protective Advances or other servicing advances.
 
(f)                In consideration for its services as Servicer hereunder, Agent shall be entitled to reimbursement of its actual Costs, and shall be entitled to

retain any Additional Servicing Compensation to the extent actually collected from Borrower (to the extent not duplicative of reimbursement of Costs); but
otherwise shall not be entitled to any servicing fees.

 
4.3              Confirmation of Authority of Agent. The Participants shall execute and deliver such documentation as Agent may reasonably require to

enable Borrower and third parties to rely on the power and authority granted or delegated to Agent (including Agent in its capacity as Servicer) in this Agreement.
 
4.4              Distributions. The Agent shall distribute to each Participant, in accordance with Section 5, all payments due to each such Participant under

this Agreement; provided, however, that before calculating any amount of interest or principal due on any particular date to the Participants, the Agent shall
apply all Realized Loan Losses realized as of any Payment Date to reduce the Loan Principal Balance until it has been reduced to zero, and shall allocate such
Realized Loan Losses in accordance with Section 6.2.

 
4.5              Books, Records, and Reports to Participants . Agent shall maintain books and records with respect to the Loan and the Participations in

accordance with Accepted Servicing Practices. The Agent shall provide to each Participant, when available:
 

(i)                 a summary of the current status of principal and interest payments on the Loan, and an accounting of the Loan Principal
Balance, the Senior Participation Principal Balance, and the Junior Participation Principal Balance;

 
(ii)               copies of the Borrower’s current financial statements, to the extent in the Agent’s possession,
 
(iii)             current information, if any, as to the value of the Property, to the extent in the Agent’s possession,
 
(iv)             agreements that govern the administration of the Loan by the Agent (if any),
 
(v)               copies of any default or acceleration notices sent to the Borrower with respect to the Loan and all material correspondence

related thereto;
 
(vi)             other reporting customarily provided by administrative agents and servicers of syndicated construction loans to noteholders and

participants in such loans;
 
(vii)           copies of any Appraisals;
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(viii)         all notices, requests for approval and other correspondence received from Borrower, Guarantor or any third party that is party to any

Loan Document, including without limitation, all requests for disbursements of Loan Proceeds or Borrower equity funds, promptly upon Agent’s receipt
of the same; and

 
(ix)             any other information with respect to the Borrower or the Loan reasonably requested by any Participant, to the extent in the

Agent’s possession and can be reasonably produced without material costs to Agent.
 

4.6              Reports to Participants Following Event of Default . In addition to continuing to provide the materials set forth in Section 4.5 as required
thereunder, the Agent shall prepare a report in accordance with this Section 4.6 if an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing. Such report shall be
delivered, in electronic format, to each Participant that is not the Borrower or a Borrower Related Party. Agent shall update such report from time to time as is
reasonably necessary as a result of material changes in circumstances or material changes in Agent’s proposed strategies for dealing with the Event of Default.
Such report shall set forth such information regarding the Loan as is necessary to enable the Participants to make informed decisions hereunder and fulfill their
reporting obligations to their investors and regulators, and shall include the following information to the extent reasonably determinable:

 
(i)                 summary of the status of the Loan and any negotiations with the Borrower;
 
(ii)               a discussion of the legal and environmental considerations reasonably known at such time to the Agent that are applicable to the

exercise of remedies and to the enforcement of any related guaranties or other collateral for the Loan and whether outside legal counsel has been
retained;

 
(iii)             the most current rent rolls and income or operating statements available for the Properties;
 
(iv)             the Agent’s recommendations on how such Loan might be returned to performing status;
 
(v)               the Appraised Value of the Property together with the assumptions used in the calculation thereof;
 
(vi)             the status of any foreclosure actions or other proceedings undertaken with respect thereto, any proposed workouts with respect

thereto and the status of any negotiations with respect to such workouts, and an assessment of the likelihood of additional Events of Default thereon;
 
(vii)           a summary of any material proposed actions and an analysis of whether or not taking such action is reasonably likely to produce a

greater recovery on a present value and cost-effective basis than not taking such action, setting forth the basis on which the Agent made such
determination;
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(viii)         such other information as the Agent deems relevant in light of Accepted Servicing Practices; and
 
(ix)             to the extent reasonably determinable by and available to the Agent, such other information regarding the Loan as may be

reasonably requested by any Participant (the costs associated with providing such other information to be reimbursed by such Participant).
 

4.7              Administration of Construction and Construction Disbursements . Agent shall administer the provisions of the Loan Agreement relating to the
construction activities of the Borrower in accordance with the Loan Agreement, Section 3.3, and Accepted Servicing Practices.

 
4.8              Administration of REO Property. In the event that Agent, on behalf of the Participants, acquires the Property by foreclosure or deed in lieu

thereof, title to the Property shall be taken by a newly formed Delaware limited liability company (the “REO Holding Company ”). The Participant then serving as
Agent from time to time shall serve as the managing member of the REO Holding Company. The other Participant shall become a member of the REO Holding
Company. The Participants shall negotiate in good faith the terms of a limited liability company operating agreement and other Organizational Documents to
govern the REO Holding Company and the ownership, operation, maintenance, management, leasing and marketing of the REO Property. The Participants
agree that the terms of the operating agreement will include the following:

 
(i)                 Priorities for distribution of excess cash flow and proceeds of capital events that replicate, to the extent reasonably possible, the

distribution priorities in Section 5.3 hereof.
 
(ii)               Terms contemplating the possible transfer of the rights and responsibilities of the managing member between the members that

replicate, to the extent reasonably possible, the terms hereof pertaining to Loss of Control Events.
 
(iii)             Consent rights for the non-managing member if the non-managing member is Senior Participant, and notice and consultation

rights, but not consent rights, if the non-managing member is Junior Participant, with regard to major decisions pertaining to management and
disposition of the Property (each an “REO Major Decision ”). The list of REO Major Decisions shall be reasonably consistent with lists of major
decision consent rights customarily included in institutional two-party property-owning joint ventures for properties similar to the Property.

 
(iv)             Special purpose entity terms reasonably consistent with the requirements of institutional mortgage lenders.
 
(v)               Acknowledgement that the Property will not be held as a long-term investment but shall be marketed and sold by managing

member in an orderly manner, in an arm’s length transaction after proper exposure to the market. Managing member shall make commercially
reasonable efforts to complete the sale, consistent with the terms of the operating agreement, within twelve months after foreclosure or after
acceptance of a deed-in-lieu of foreclosure. If such a sale is not completed within twelve months after foreclosure or acceptance of a deed-in-lieu of
foreclosure and Junior Participant is still serving as managing member, then the REO Holding Company shall appoint Senior Participant as its special
agent and representative with sole authority to market and sell the Property, and managing member shall cooperate in good faith with Senior
Participant’s exercise of such authority.
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(vi)             If managing member is Junior Participant, then, after proper exposure to the market, managing member may unilaterally accept

any bona fide arm’s length offer that pays off the Senior Participation in full.
 
(vii)           If managing member is Senior Participant (or if Senior Participant is acting as the special agent and representative of the REO

Holding Company as provided above), then, after proper exposure to the market, managing member (or, if applicable, Senior Participant in its
capacity as special representative or agent) may unilaterally accept any bona fide arm’s length offer; except that if such offer does not pay off the
Junior Participation in full, then managing member (or special representative and agent) shall not accept such offer or place the Property under
binding contract to be sold until it first extends to Junior Participant a ten (10) Business Day opportunity to enter into a binding agreement to purchase
the Property on price and material economic terms substantially equivalent to those contained in the offer. Such a binding agreement shall provide for
a minimum of 45 days from the date of execution to the date of closing.

 
(viii)         The members of the REO Holding Company shall waive any rights to partition the Property.
 

SECTION 5:   DISTRIBUTIONS
 

5.1              Collection Account. Agent shall establish a Collection Account for each Participant. Each Participant hereby directs Agent, in accordance
with the priorities set forth in Section 5.2 or Section 5.3, as applicable, to deposit into each Participant’s Collection Account, not later than the Distribution Date,
all amounts distributable to the Participants hereunder. Delinquent payments received by Agent after the Related Payment Date shall be remitted by the Agent to
such Collection Accounts in accordance with the terms hereof within two (2) Business Days following receipt. If the Effective Date is not on a Payment Date, the
distributions with respect to the first Payment Date following the Effective Date shall be prorated appropriately so that Junior Participant receives all interest on
the Loan, at the Loan Interest Rate, for the portion of the month in which it still owned the entire Loan.

 
5.2              Distributions in the Absence of a Continuing Event of Default . If no Continuing Event of Default shall have occurred and then be continuing,

all amounts actually tendered by or on behalf of the Borrower or otherwise actually available for payment on the Loan (including Scheduled Payments, advances
by a Participant in respect of the Interest Reserve, any amounts received in connection with any guaranty or indemnity agreement included in the Loan
Documents, principal prepayments, balloon payments, liquidation proceeds, Yield Maintenance Premiums, Cure Payments (to the extent such Cure Payments
represent payments due on the Loan rather than Protective Advances), Late Charges, and other fees, any proceeds of the consummation of a transaction under
the Option Agreement that are applied by Borrower to repayment of the Loan, and the Participation Amount; but excluding proceeds under title, hazard or other
insurance policies or awards or settlements in respect of condemnation proceedings or similar exercise of the power of eminent domain (other than any amounts
thereof that are applied to repayment of the Loan) (individually or collectively, “Available Funds”) shall be distributed on the applicable Distribution Date by
Agent and applied in the following order of priority (at such times, and out of such funds, as are specified (if any) and the appropriate clause herein):
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(i)                 To Agent (and any Prior Agent), to reimburse any Costs incurred by Agent (and any Prior Agent) (including Costs incurred in its

capacity as Servicer) in connection with its servicing of the Loan.
 
(ii)               To Agent, any Additional Servicing Compensation actually collected from Borrower (except to the extent that such Additional

Servicing Compensation is duplicative of reimbursement of Costs pursuant to the prior paragraph).
 
(iii)             To each Participant that has made any Protective Advances in accordance with the terms hereof, in reimbursement of such

Protective Advances, until it has recovered all of its Protective Advances and interest accrued thereon at the Protective Advance Interest Rate or, with
respect to any period when the Borrower is obligated to pay interest at the Default Rate, interest accrued thereon at the Protective Advance Default
Interest Rate, to but not including the most recent Payment Date. Protective Advances and interest thereon shall be recovered in reverse in
chronological order from when such Protective Advances were made (i.e., with the most recent Protective Advances recovered first). If both
Participants participate pro-rata in funding any particular Protective Advance, such Protective Advance shall be deemed made, for purposes of this
Section 5.2(iii), on the date that both Participants have delivered to Agent their respective pro rata shares of the amount requested by Agent to fund a
Protective Advance, and recovery of that Protective Advance and interest thereon shall be pro-rata based on the Percentage Interest of Senior
Participant and the Percentage Interest of Junior Participant as of the date such Protective Advance was made.

 
(iv)             To Senior Participant until Senior Participant has received all interest accrued on the Senior Participation Principal Balance to (but

not including) the most recent Payment Date at the Senior Participant Interest Rate (giving effect to the netting contemplated by Section 3.4 to the
extent applicable).

 
(v)               To Junior Participant until Junior Participant has received the Junior Participation Interest Strip to (but not including) the most

recent Payment Date.
 
(vi)             To Junior Participant, an amount sufficient to reimburse any unreimbursed Cure Payments previously made by Junior Participant.
 
(vii)           To Senior Participant until Senior Participant has recovered Realized Losses (if any) previously allocated to Senior Participant

pursuant to Section 6.2.
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(viii)         To Junior Participant until Junior Participant has recovered Realized Losses (if any) previously allocated to Junior Participant

pursuant to Section 6.2.
 
(ix)             To the extent that Available Funds being distributed include amounts applicable to repayment or prepayment of principal with

respect to the Loan, pro rata to Senior Participant and Junior Participant based on the Senior Participant Percentage Interest and the Junior
Participant Percentage Interest, until the Loan Principal Balance is reduced to zero.

 
(x)               To the extent that Available Funds being distributed include any interest calculated at the Loan Interest Rate through (but not

including the applicable Distribution Date) that has not previously been distributed, to Senior Participant until Senior Participant has received interest
on the Senior Participant Principal Balance through (but not including) the applicable Distribution Date at the Senior Participation Interest Rate, and
the balance of such interest to Junior Participant.

 
(xi)             To Senior Participant in respect of the Exit Fee, subject to Section 5.6.
 
(xii)           To Senior Participant in respect of the Extension Fee, to the extent payable under Section 5.8 but not previously paid.
 
(xiii)         To the extent that Available Funds being distributed include any fees paid by Borrower that are not reimbursement of Costs,

Additional Servicing Compensation, Participation Amount, or Yield Maintenance Premium, pro rata to Senior Participant and Junior Participant based
on the Senior Participant Percentage Interest and the Junior Participant Percentage Interest (or, if the Loan Principal Balance has been reduced to
zero, pro rata based on the Senior Participant Commitment Percentage and the Junior Participant Commitment Percentage).

 
(xiv)         To the extent that Available Funds being distributed include any Yield Maintenance Premium actually collected, to Senior

Participant until Senior Participant has received the Senior Participation Yield Maintenance Premium, and the balance of the Yield Maintenance
Premium to Junior Participant.

 
(xv)           To the extent that Available Funds being distributed include any Participation Amount actually collected, to Junior Participant only

(and Senior Participant acknowledges that it has no right, title, or interest in any Participation Amount); provided that if after application of Section 5.6
Senior Participant is entitled to the Exit Fee, the Exit Fee must be paid in full before Junior Participant receives any Participation Amount.

 
(xvi)         To the extent that Available Funds being distributed include any Default Interest actually collected, pro rata to Senior Participant

and Junior Participant based on the Senior Participant Percentage Interest and the Junior Participant Percentage Interest (or, if the Loan Principal
Balance has been reduced to zero, based on the Senior Participation Commitment Percentage and the Junior Participation Commitment
Percentage).
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(xvii)       Any remaining amount pro rata to Senior Participant and Junior Participant based on the Senior Participation Commitment

Percentage and the Junior Participation Commitment Percentage.
 

5.3              Payments During a Continuing Event of Default . If a Continuing Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, Available Funds (including
distributable cash flow from REO Property and the proceeds of disposition of REO Property) shall be distributed on the applicable Distribution Date by Agent and
applied in the following order of priority (at such times, and out of such funds, as are specified (if any) and the appropriate clause herein):

 
(i)                 To Agent (and any Prior Agent), to reimburse any Costs incurred by Agent (and any Prior Agent) (including Costs incurred in its

capacity as Servicer) in connection with its servicing and enforcement of the Loan and its administration and disposition of REO Property.
 
(ii)               To Agent, any Additional Servicing Compensation actually collected from Borrower (except to the extent that such Additional

Servicing Compensation is duplicative of reimbursement of Costs pursuant to the prior paragraph).
 
(iii)             To each Participant that has made any Protective Advances in accordance with the terms hereof, in reimbursement of such

Protective Advances, until it has recovered all of its Protective Advances and interest accrued thereon at the Protective Advance Interest Rate or, with
respect to any period when the Borrower is obligated to pay interest at the Default Rate, interest accrued thereon at the Protective Advance Default
Interest Rate, to but not including the most recent Payment Date. Protective Advances and interest thereon shall be recovered in reverse in
chronological order from when such Protective Advances were made (i.e., with the most recent Protective Advances recovered first). If both
Participants participate pro-rata in funding any particular Protective Advance, such Protective Advance shall be deemed made, for purposes of this
Section 5.3(iii), on the date that both Participants have delivered to Agent their respective pro rata shares of the amount requested by Agent to fund a
Protective Advance, and recovery of that Protective Advance and interest thereon shall be pro-rata based on the Percentage Interest of Senior
Participant and the Percentage Interest of Junior Participant as of the date such Protective Advance was made.

 
(iv)             To Senior Participant until the Senior Participation Principal Balance and all interest accrued thereon through but not including the

applicable Distribution Date, at the Senior Participation Interest Rate, has been paid in full (excluding any Default interest or any portion of the Senior
Participation Principal Balance attributable to Default Interest).

 
(v)               To Junior Participant until the Junior Participation Principal Balance and the Junior Participation Interest Strip accrued thereon

through but not including the applicable Distribution Date has been paid in full (excluding any Default interest or any portion of the Senior
Participation Principal Balance attributable to Default Interest).
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(vi)             To Junior Participant, an amount sufficient to reimburse any unreimbursed Cure Payments previously made by Junior Participant.
 
(vii)           To Senior Participant until Senior Participant has recovered Realized Losses (if any) previously allocated to Senior Participant

pursuant to Section 6.2.
 
(viii)         To Junior Participant until Junior Participant has recovered Realized Losses (if any) previously allocated to Junior Participant

pursuant to Section 6.2.
 
(ix)             To Senior Participant in respect of the Exit Fee, subject to Section 5.6.
 
(x)               To Senior Participant in respect of the Extension Fee, to the extent payable under Section 5.8 but not previously paid.
 
(xi)             To the extent that Available Funds being distributed include any fees paid by Borrower that are not reimbursement of Costs,

Additional Servicing Compensation, Participation Amount, or Yield Maintenance Premium, pro rata to Senior Participant and Junior Participant based
on the Senior Participant Percentage Interest and the Junior Participant Percentage Interest (or, if the Loan Principal Balance has been reduced to
zero, pro rata based on the Senior Participant Commitment Percentage and the Junior Participant Commitment Percentage).

 
(xii)           To the extent that Available Funds being distributed include any Yield Maintenance Premium actually collected, to Senior

Participant until Senior Participant has received the Senior Participation Yield Maintenance Premium, and the balance of the Yield Maintenance
Premium to Junior Participant.

 
(xiii)         To the extent that Available Funds being distributed include any Participation Amount actually collected, to Junior Participant only

(and Senior Participant acknowledges that it has no right, title, or interest in any Participation Amount); provided that if after application of Section 5.6
Senior Participant is entitled to the Exit Fee, the Exit Fee must be paid in full before Junior Participant receives any Participation Amount.

 
(xiv)         Pro rata to Senior Participant and Junior Participant based on the Senior Participation Commitment Percentage and the Junior

Participation Commitment Percentage until all Default Interest payable by Borrower under the Loan Documents but not previously collected by Agent
and distributed to the Participants has been distributed to the Participants; except that, for purposes hereof, Default Interest shall cease accruing on
the date that Agent acquires the REO Property by foreclosure or deed-in-lieu thereof.

 
(xv)           Any remaining amount pro rata to Senior Participant and Junior Participant based on the Senior Participation Commitment

Percentage and the Junior Participation Commitment Percentage.
 

5.4              Clarifications Applicable to All Distribution Provisions. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement:
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(i)                 During any period when Cure Payments are being timely made by the Junior Participant (to the extent permitted hereunder), the

Loan will be treated, as between the Participants, as if no Event of Default is continuing, and enforcement of remedies against Borrower (other than
the sending of notices of default and similar communications) will be deferred or suspended.

 
(ii)               Following any period during which the terms of Section 5.3 come into in effect, if the applicable Continuing Event of Default is no

longer continuing, whether as a result of a restructuring in connection with a workout or otherwise, and no other Continuing Event of Default has
occurred and is continuing, the terms of Section 5.3 shall be suspended and Section 5.2 shall again be in effect, subject, however, to the terms of
Section 6.

 
5.5              Return of Excess Payments and Agent’s Right of Offset.
 

(i)                 If Agent determines, or a court of competent jurisdiction orders, at any time, that any amount received or collected in respect of
the Loan or either Participation pursuant to any insolvency, bankruptcy, fraudulent conveyance, preference or similar law, must be returned to the
Borrower or any other Person, Agent shall be not required to distribute any portion thereof to any Participant, and each Participant shall promptly on
demand repay to the Agent any portion thereof which shall have been theretofore distributed to the Participant, together with interest thereon at such
rate, if any, as such Agent shall have been required to pay to the Borrower or such other Person with respect thereto. Each Participant agrees that if
at any time it shall receive from any source whatsoever (other than as a distribution from Agent to which it is entitled hereunder) any payment on
account of the Loan, it will promptly remit such payment to the Agent for distribution in accordance with this Agreement. If Agent determines that a
distribution to a Participant was in error or contrary to law, this Agreement, the Loan Documents, or any other applicable agreement, the Participant
that received such distribution shall promptly on demand remit such payment to Agent for proper redistribution.

 
(ii)               The obligations of each Participant under this Section 5.5 are separate and distinct obligations from one another, and each

Participant understands that Agent shall have no right or obligation to enforce the obligations of Senior Participant against Junior Participant or the
obligations of Junior Participant against Senior Participant. The obligations of each Participant under this Section 5.5 constitute absolute,
unconditional and continuing obligations and Agent shall be deemed a third party beneficiary of these provisions.

 
(iii)             Agent shall have the right to offset any amounts due under this Section 5.5 from any Participant with respect to the Loan against

any future payments due to such Participant hereunder.
 

5.6              Exit Fee.
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(i)                 The right to the Exit Fee is personal to RCP and its Affiliates, may not be assigned, and shall not inure to the benefit of any

assignee of the Senior Participation which is not an Affiliate of RCP. The Exit Fee shall be payable, pursuant to Section 2.8 or Section 9, or
distributable pursuant to Section 5.2 or Section 5.3, only if, at the time that the Loan is paid in full or (if applicable) on the Junior Participant Purchase
Option Closing Date, a fifty percent (50%) or greater beneficial interest in the Senior Participation is owned by RCP or an Affiliate of RCP.

 
(ii)               Senior Participant shall waive the Exit Fee if the Loan is repaid from the proceeds of a permanent loan (“ Permanent Financing”),

including but not limited to, any Fannie Mae or FHA/HUD mortgage insurance processing services and other permanent loan executions, offered by
Red Mortgage Capital, LLC (“RMC”) or an Affiliate thereof; provided, however, that neither RMC nor any of its Affiliates shall have any obligation to
provide any such Permanent Financing.

 
5.7              Commitment and Origination Fees. Junior Participant shall retain the $419,120.00 loan commitment fee paid by Borrower on the Closing

Date, and no distribution with respect thereto shall be made hereunder. However, pursuant to Section 3.1, Senior Participant has received a credit on the
Effective Date representing an origination fee of $200,000.00.

 
5.8              Extension Fee. In the event that the “Maturity Date” of the Loan occurs after January 15, 2020 as a result of elections made by Sentio

pursuant to terms contained in the definitions of “Maturity Date” or “Stated Maturity Date” or negotiated written agreements between Sentio (in its capacity as
Agent) and Borrower, Junior Participant shall pay the Extension Fee to the Senior Participant on or before January 15, 2020. Notwithstanding a Loss of Control
Event, the right of Lender to extend the “Maturity Date” by operation of terms in the definitions of “Maturity Date” or “Stated Maturity Date” is reserved to Sentio,
and may not be exercised by Senior Participant in its capacity as Agent. For clarification, an extension of the “Maturity Date” negotiated by Senior Participant, in
its capacity as Agent after a Loss of Control Event, shall not trigger any obligation to pay an Extension Fee. Also, for clarification, a delay in repayment of the
Loan until after January 15, 2020, shall not give rise to any obligation to pay the Extension Fee unless Sentio actually made the foregoing elections or, in its
capacity as Agent, actually entered into a written agreement with Borrower extending the Maturity Date beyond such date.

 
SECTION 6:   WORKOUTS AND REALIZED LOAN LOSSES.
 

6.1              Limitation of Impact of Workouts on Senior Participation . Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, but subject to the
consent rights of the Participants in accordance with this Agreement, if in connection with a workout or proposed workout of the Loan the terms thereof are
modified such that:

 
(i)                 the Loan Principal Balance is decreased,
 
(ii)               the Loan Interest Rate is reduced,
 

30 

EDGAR Stream is a copyright of Issuer Direct Corporation, all rights reserved.



 

 
(iii)             payments of interest or principal on the Loan are waived or reduced or deferred (other than a deferral of principal resulting solely

from the extension of the Maturity Date of the Loan), or
 
(iv)             any other adjustment is made to any of the payment terms of the Loan, then
 

all payments to the Senior Participant pursuant to Section 5.2 and Section 5.3, as applicable, shall be made as though such workout did not occur
(except to the extent of Realized Loan Losses allocated to the Senior Participation in accordance with Section 6.2).

 
6.2              Economic Effect of Realized Loan Losses Borne by Participants in Reverse Sequential Order . The full economic effect of any Realized Loan

Losses shall be allocated first to the Junior Participation until the Junior Participation Principal Balance is reduced to zero, and only thereafter to Senior
Participation in reduction of the Senior Participation Principal Balance.

 
6.3              Distributions on Participations When Property is REO Property . If the Property shall become an REO Property, the priority of distributions

among the Participants shall continue to be made in accordance with the terms of Section 5.3 that would be applicable following the occurrence and during the
continuation of a Continuing Event of Default (whether or not the applicable Loan Documents then remain in effect).

 
SECTION 7:   [RESERVED]
 
SECTION 8:   LIMITATION ON LIABILITY.
 

8.1              Liability of Senior Participant to Junior Participant. Senior Participant shall not have any personal liability to Junior Participant with respect to
the Junior Participation, except with respect to losses actually suffered due to the gross negligence, willful misconduct or breach of this Agreement on the part of
Senior Participant.

 
8.2              Liability of Junior Participant to Senior Participant. Junior Participant shall not have any personal liability to Senior Participant with respect to

the Senior Participation except with respect to losses actually suffered due to the gross negligence, willful misconduct or breach of this Agreement on the part of
Junior Participant.

 
8.3              Liability of Agent. The limitations on personal liability in this Section 8 shall apply to Participants solely in their capacity as Participants, and

not to a Participant when acting in its capacity as Agent.
 

SECTION 9:   PURCHASE OF SENIOR PARTICIPATION BY JUNIOR PARTICIPANT.
 

9.1              Grant of Junior Participant Purchase Option. Subject to the terms and conditions of this Section 9, Senior Participant hereby grants to Junior
Participant the option (the “Junior Participant Purchase Option ”) to purchase the Senior Participation at any time for a purchase price, in cash, equal to the
Junior Participant Purchase Option Price.
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9.2              Conditions of Junior Participant Purchase Option. In order to exercise the Junior Participant Purchase Option, Junior Participant must deliver

to Senior Participant a written notice (the “Junior Participant Purchase Option Notice ”) not later than fifteen (15) Business Days prior to the scheduled and
published date of foreclosure of the Mortgage. The Junior Participant Purchase Option Notice must be duly executed by an authorized representative of Junior
Participant and must declare Junior Participant’s unconditional election to exercise the Junior Participant Purchase Option.

 
9.3              Closing of Purchase and Sale Pursuant to Junior Participant Purchase Option. If Junior Participant timely delivers a Junior Participant

Purchase Option Notice, then Junior Participant shall be unconditionally obligated to purchase, and Senior Participant shall be unconditionally obligated to sell,
the Senior Participation for a price, in cash, equal to the Junior Participant Purchase Option Price, on a mutually convenient date (the “Junior Participant
Purchase Option Closing Date”) that is not earlier than five Business Days and not later than ten (10) Business Days after delivery of the Junior Participant
Purchase Option Price Notice. The Junior Participant Purchase Option Price shall be calculated by Agent not later than three (3) Business Days prior to the
Junior Participant Purchase Option Closing Date and shall, absent manifest error, be binding upon the Participants. On the Junior Participant Purchase Option
Closing Date, Junior Participant shall pay all reasonable out of pocket costs and expenses of Senior Participant and Agent incurred in connection with such
purchase. Upon the consummation of the sale of the Senior Participation to Junior Participant, Senior Participant shall assign the Senior Participation to Junior
Participant without recourse or warranty, except that Senior Participant owns the Senior Participation free and clear of liens and encumbrances, and that Senior
Participant has the power and authority to deliver, and has executed an assignment of, and delivered all of its right, title and interest in the Senior Participation.
Upon the consummation of the Junior Participant Purchase Option, Senior Participant and Agent shall deliver the Senior Participation Certificate and all original
Loan Documents and other applicable materials in their possession to Junior Participant.

 
9.4              Deferral of Change of Control While Purchase and Sale is Pending . Following delivery of the Junior Participant Purchase Option Notice and

continuing until the Junior Participant Purchase Option Closing Date, the Loan shall continue to be serviced by Agent in accordance with this Agreement and
Accepted Servicing Practices, and any pending transfer of the rights of Agent to Senior Participant on account of a Loss of Control Event shall be suspended
until the Junior Participant Purchase Option Closing Date.

 
9.5              Exit Fee Payable Upon Exercise of Junior Participant Purchase Option. Subject to Section 5.6, on the Junior Participant Purchase Option

Closing Date, concurrently with payment of the Junior Participant Purchase Option Price, Junior Participant shall also pay to Senior Participant the Exit Fee.
However, Senior Participant shall waive the Exit Fee if an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, or if a Loss of Control Event by application of
Paragraph (a) of the definition thereof, has occurred and is continuing on the date of delivery of the Junior Participant Purchase Option Notice.
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SECTION 10:   CURE RIGHTS.
 

Upon the occurrence of an Event of Default, and upon notice from Agent (a “ Cure Option Notice ”) of the occurrence of such Event of Default (which
notice the Agent shall promptly give to Senior Participant and Junior Participant upon receipt of knowledge thereof), Junior Participant shall have the right to cure
such Event of Default (the “Cure Right”); provided, in the event that Junior Participant (the “ Curing Participant”) has elected to cure any Event of Default, in
order for the cure to be effective, the Event of Default must be cured by the Curing Participant within, in the case of an Event of Default with respect to a
Scheduled Payment, ten (10) Business Days of receipt of such Cure Option Notice and, in the case of any other Event of Default, within thirty (30) days of
receipt of such Cure Option Notice (the “Cure Period”). If Junior Participant is attempting to cure a Non-Monetary Event of Default which is reasonably capable of
cure by Junior Participant, the Cure Period may be extended for an additional sixty (60) days (for a total of up to ninety (90) days), but only for so long as (i) the
Curing Participant is diligently and expeditiously attempting to cure such Non-Monetary Event of Default, (ii) the Borrower or the Curing Participant makes all
Scheduled Payments that become due and payable during the Cure Period, (iii) such Non-Monetary Event of Default is not the result of a bankruptcy of the
Borrower, and no bankruptcy with respect to the Borrower commences during the period that the Curing Participant is otherwise permitted to cure a Non-
Monetary Event of Default in accordance with this Section and (iv) there is no material adverse effect on the value, use or operation of Property as a result of the
Event of Default and the extension of the Cure Period. In the case of concurrent Monetary Events of Default and Non-Monetary Events of Default, if all Monetary
Events of Default are timely cured by Borrower or Curing Participant, then at the request of the Curing Participant the Agent shall waive any then-existing Non-
Monetary Events of Default that are not reasonably susceptible of cure by the Curing Participant (including missed deadlines and financial covenant defaults),
provided that such uncured Non-Monetary Events of Default do not have a material adverse effect on the value, use or operation of Property or materially impair
the security for the Loan. In the event that the Curing Participant elects to cure an Event of Default that can be cured by the payment of money (each such
payment, a “Cure Payment”), the Curing Participant shall make such Cure Payment as directed by Agent and each such Cure Payment shall include all costs,
expenses, losses, liabilities, obligations, damages, penalties and disbursements imposed on, incurred by or asserted against Agent and any interest charged
thereon with respect to the Loan (but excluding any Default Interest) during the period of time from the expiration of the grace period for such Event of Default
under the Loan until such Cure Payment is made. Agent shall distribute any Cure Payment in accordance with Section 5.2. The right of the Curing Participant to
reimbursement of any Cure Payment shall be governed by Section 5.2 and Section 5.3. The commencement of a Continuing Event of Default shall be deemed
deferred until the Cure Period has expired without a timely cure of the applicable Event of Default; provided that Junior Participant’s right to defer a Continuing
Event of Default by making payments of Scheduled Payments shall be limited to five (5) consecutive Scheduled Payments and to six (6) Scheduled Payments in
the aggregate during the life of the Loan. Unless and until an Event of Default has ripened into a Continuing Event of Default (after giving effect to the Cure Right
herein), Agent shall not accelerate the Loan or commence any remedies to enforce the rights of Lender under the Loan or Loan Documents; provided that
nothing herein shall be construed to prohibit Agent from sending notices of the Event of Default to the Borrower or any related guarantor, making demands on
the related Borrower or any related guarantor, or assessing Late Charges or Default Interest against the Borrower.
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SECTION 11:   [RESERVED]
 
SECTION 12:   REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE PARTICIPANTS.
 

12.1          Representations and Warranties. As of the Effective Date, each Participant represents and warrants to the other Participant that:
 

(i)                 It is duly organized as the type of Person indicated in the preamble of this Agreement and is validly existing and in good standing
under the laws of the jurisdiction of its organization indicated in the preamble to this Agreement;

 
(ii)               The execution, delivery and performance by it of this Agreement is within its organizational powers, has been duly authorized by

all necessary organizational action, and does not contravene its Organizational Documents or any law or contractual restriction binding upon such
Participant;

 
(iii)             It has the full power and authority to enter into and consummate all transactions contemplated by this Agreement, has duly

authorized the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and has duly executed and delivered this Agreement;
 
(iv)             This Agreement is the legal, valid and binding obligation of such Participant, enforceable against such Participant in accordance

with its terms, except as such enforcement may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or other similar laws affecting the
enforcement of creditors’ rights generally, and by general principles of equity (regardless of whether such enforceability is considered in a proceeding
in equity or at law), and except that the enforcement of rights with respect to indemnification and contribution obligations may be limited by applicable
law;

 
(v)               All consents, approvals, authorizations, orders or filings of or with any court or governmental agency or body, if any, required for

the execution and delivery and performance of this Agreement by such Participant have been obtained or made;
 
(vi)             There is no pending action, suit or proceeding, arbitration or governmental investigation against such Participant, an adverse

outcome of which would materially affect its performance under this Agreement;
 
(vii)           It has not dealt with any broker, investment banker, agent or other person, other than the other Participant and its affiliates, that

may be entitled to any commission or compensation in connection with the consummation of any of the transactions contemplated hereby;
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(viii)         It is acquiring its Participation for its own account in the ordinary course of its business without any current intention of further

transfer, distribution, or syndication;
 
(ix)             Its financial records will report the creation, purchase, and sale of the Senior Participation effected hereby as a true sale, and not

as a financing;
 
(x)               None of the execution, delivery or performance by it of this Agreement will constitute a default (or an event which, with notice or

lapse of time, or both would constitute a default) under, or result in the breach of, any material agreement or other instrument to which it is a party or
that is applicable to it or any of its assets (provided that Junior Participant makes no representation or warranty as to whether the transactions
contemplated herein contravene the Loan Documents); and

 
(xi)             Such Participant is neither an employee benefit plan as defined in Section 3(3) of ERISA, that is subject to Title I of ERISA, nor a

plan as defined in Section 4975(e)(1) of the Code, that is subject to Section 4975 of the Code, nor are any of the assets to be used to purchase “plan
assets” within the meaning of the Department of Labor Regulation Section 2510.3 101, that are subject to Title I of ERISA or Section 4975 of the
Code.

 
SECTION 13:   INDEPENDENT ANALYSIS OF SENIOR PARTICIPANT.
 

13.1          Independent Analysis of Credit Decision. Subject to Section 12, Senior Participant acknowledges that it has, independently and without
reliance upon Junior Participant or its officers, directors, employees, and Affiliates, and based on such documents, investigations, and information as it has
deemed appropriate, made its own credit analysis and decision to purchase the Junior Participation (provided that the foregoing shall not limit the enforceability
of the representations and warranties made by Senior Participant in this Agreement). Senior Participant acknowledges that it has received from Junior
Participant all information it has requested from Junior Participant and has been gives a full and adequate opportunity to conduct its investigations and due
diligence, that Junior Participant has made no representations or warranties with respect to the Loan (except as expressly provided herein), and that, subject to
the representations, warranties, and covenants expressly set forth in this Agreement, Senior Participant assumes the risk of, and Junior Participant shall not
have any responsibility to Senior Participant for:

 
(i)                 the collectability of the Loan,
 
(ii)               the validity, enforceability, sufficiency, or legal effect of any of the Loan Documents or the title insurance policy or policies or any

survey furnished to Junior Participant in connection with the origination of the Loan,
 
(iii)             the validity, sufficiency or effectiveness of the lien created or to be created by the Loan Documents,
 
(iv)             the financial condition of the Borrower or any guarantor, or
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(v)               the value or condition of the Property or any other collateral for the Loan.
 

SECTION 14:   TRANSFER OF PARTICIPATIONS OR COMMITMENTS.
 

14.1          Consents to Transfer Required. Each Participant acknowledges that the financial strength and expertise of the other Participant is a material
inducement to entering into this Agreement. Accordingly, except as provided in Section 14.6, no Participant may assign, transfer, pledge, syndicate, participate,
hypothecate, contribute, or otherwise dispose of (each, a “Transfer”) its Participation or any portion thereof or any direct or indirect or beneficial interest therein
without the prior written consent of the other Participant, such consent not to be unreasonably withheld.

 
14.2          Standards for Granting Consent. Each Participant acknowledges that it shall be reasonable to withhold consent to a Transfer on any of the

following grounds:
 

(i)                 The proposed transferee is not an Eligible Transferee.
 
(ii)               The proposed Transfer could reasonably be construed to contravene Section 14.7 of the Loan Agreement (provided that, if this is

the sole basis for withholding consent, then the Participants shall cooperate in good faith in attempting to obtain the Borrower’s consent to the
Transfer).

 
(iii)             The proposed Transfer could give rise to a prohibited transaction, or subject a Participant to additional taxation, under ERISA or

under laws or regulations pertaining to real estate investment trusts; provided that the Participants shall cooperate in good faith in attempting to
structure the proposed transaction in a manner that does not contravene such laws or regulations or trigger additional taxation.

 
(iv)             After giving effect to the Transfer, more than one Person will be in direct privity with the other Participant and Agent under this

Agreement; it being the intent of the parties hereto that, at all times, each Participation be held by a single Person and any Transfer of less than an
entire Participation be solely by means of the creation and transfers of sub-participations or transfers of equity interests in a Participant, provided that
for the purposes of this Section, (i) Sentio and Sentio TRS shall be deemed one person and (ii) RCP and its Affiliates, if they jointly hold the Senior
Participation, shall be deemed one person.

 
(v)               The proposed transferee or its Affiliates are (i) in violation of United States economic sanctions laws, Executive Orders and

implementing regulations as promulgated by the United States Treasury Department’s Office of Foreign Assets Control and all applicable anti-money
laundering and counter-terrorism regulations, or (ii) a person designated by the United States government on the list of the Specially Designated
Nationals and Blocked Persons.

 
14.3          Certain Exceptions to Restrictions on Transfer.
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(a)                Notwithstanding Section 14.1, the following Transfers shall not require the consent of any Participant (provided that such Transfer does not

contravene Section 14.7 of the Loan Agreement or Borrower’s consent thereto is duly obtained):
 

(i)                 A Transfer by any Participant of its entire Participation to an Affiliate of that Participant (provided that the transferee assumes in
writing the obligations of the transferor for the benefit of the other Participant, and provided further that, if at the time of the Transfer the Participants
are committed to fund Loan Advances that have not yet been funded, then either the transferor remains obligated to fund such unfunded Loan
Advances or the transferee provides financial statements, reasonably acceptable to the other Participant, evidencing the transferee’s capability to
fund such unfunded Loan Advances);

 
(ii)               A Transfer or change in direct or indirect ownership or control of Sentio Healthcare Properties Inc.;
 
(iii)             A Transfer of the Junior Participation or of direct or indirect interests therein that is incident to a Transfer of all or substantially all of

the assets of or managed by Sentio Healthcare Properties Inc.;
 
(iv)             A Transfer of, or change in, the direct or indirect ownership or control of Senior Participant; and
 
(v)               A Transfer of the Senior Participation or of direct or indirect interests therein that is incident to a Transfer of all or substantially all

of the assets of or managed by Senior Participant.
 

(b)               Not later than ten (10) Business Days prior to consummation of a Transfer permitted pursuant to Section 14.3(a)(i), (iii), or (v) , the transferor
or transferee shall deliver to the other Participant written notice that describes the Transfer in detail reasonably sufficient to evidence that the Transfer is
permitted hereunder.

 
14.4          Transfers of Agent’s Interest. A Transfer permitted hereunder of an entire Participation shall be deemed to include the applicable Participant’s

rights, prerogatives, and obligations as Agent hereunder (if any). Agent may delegate some or all of its obligations as Agent to a loan servicer; but such
delegation shall not excuse Agent from its obligations hereunder, including its obligations as “Servicer” hereunder. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary
herein, only a Participant may serve as the Agent, and any attempt to Transfer the rights, prerogatives, and obligations of Agent to any Person other than a
Participant (other than a delegation to a servicer) shall be void ab initio.

 
14.5          Transfers to Borrower or Affiliates of Borrower . Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, a Participant, in its sole discretion, may

withhold consent to a Transfer if the transferee is Borrower or a Borrower Related Party. Any attempt to Transfer a Participation or any direct or indirect interest
in a Participation to Borrower or a Borrower Related Party shall be void ab initio; and if Borrower or a Borrower Related Party owns any direct or indirect interest
in a Participation or obtains Control of a Participation, the holder of such Participation shall be deemed to have forfeited all rights under this Agreement.
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14.6          Procedures for Proposed Transfers . Subject to Section 14.3, prior to any Transfer, the transferor shall deliver the other Participant a written

notice of the proposed Transfer and such information as the other Participant may reasonably request to evaluate whether consent should be granted, including
sufficient information to enable the other Participant to make an informed business decision whether to consent or object thereto. If the other Participant
determines to withhold consent, it shall provide written notice of such determination to the transferor, with reasonable disclosure of the reasons for such
determination. If the other Participant fails to deliver its written determination within ten (10) Business Days of the request for consent, the transferor may provide
a second written notice to the other Participant, clearly stating, in large, bold and otherwise conspicuous text, that should the other Participant fail to deliver its
written determination within ten (10) Business Days, such failure shall be deemed consent to the proposed Transfer. If the other Participant does not then
provide its written determination within such ten (10) Business Day period, such failure to respond shall be deemed to be the other Participant’s approval of the
proposed Transfer.

 
14.7          Release from Liability. Upon consummation of a Transfer of an entire interest in a Participation that does not contravene the terms and

conditions hereof, and upon assumption of the obligations hereunder by the transferee, the transferring Participant shall be deemed released from all obligations
hereunder for the period after the effective date of the Transfer.

 
14.8          Registration of Transfers.
 

(i)                 Agent shall maintain a Participation Register. Any transfer of a Participation (but not a sub-participation) shall be recorded on the
Participation Register. The Person in whose name a Participation is so registered shall be deemed and treated as the sole owner and holder of the
Participation for all purposes under this Agreement.

 
(ii)               A permitted transferee of a Participation may obtain from Agent a replacement Certificate with respect to the Participation, issued

in the name of the permitted transferee, upon surrender of the Certificate previously issued to the transferor.
 

SECTION 15:   [RESERVED]
 
SECTION 16:   AUTHORITY AND LIABILITIES OF THE AGENT.
 

16.1          Authority of Agent. Each Participant agrees that Agent, to the extent consistent with the terms of this Agreement (including Section 17), shall
have the sole and exclusive authority (provided that it has obtained the consent of any Participant whose consent is required) with respect to the administration
of, and exercise of rights and remedies with respect to, the Loan as representative of the Participants, including the sole and exclusive authority:

 
(i)                 to modify or waive any of the terms of the Loan Documents,
 
(ii)               to consent to any action or failure to act by the Borrower or any party to the Loan Documents,
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(iii)             to vote all claims with respect to the Loan in any bankruptcy, insolvency or other similar proceedings,
 
(iv)             to exercise the Lender’s right under the Loan Agreement to extend the Stated Maturity Date, and
 
(v)               to take legal action to enforce or protect the Participants’ interests with respect to the Loan or to refrain from exercising any

powers or rights under the Loan Documents, including the right at any time to call or to waive any Events of Default, or to accelerate or to refrain from
accelerating the Loan or institute and manage any foreclosure action or other enforcement action.

 
16.2          Absence of Fiduciary Relationship . Agent shall have no fiduciary duty to any Participant in connection with the administration of the Loan; but

Agent shall have a contractual duty to act in accordance with this Agreement and Accepted Servicing Practices. Such contractual duty shall be deemed
assumed by Senior Participant if Senior Participant becomes the Agent on account of a Loss of Control Event.

 
16.3          Exclusive Right of Agent to Institute Loan Enforcement and Foreclosure Proceedings . Each Participant expressly and irrevocably waives for

itself and any Person claiming through or under such Participant any and all rights that it may have under Section 1315 of the New York Real Property Actions
and Proceedings Law or the provisions of any similar law that purports to give the Participant a right to initiate any loan enforcement or foreclosure proceeding.

 
16.4          Limitation on Agent’s Liability; Agent’s Ability to Rely on Advice of Experts . Agent shall not be liable to any Participant with respect to anything

the Agent may do or omit to do in relation to the Loan, other than as set forth in this Agreement. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Agent, acting
on behalf of the Participants in accordance this Agreement, may rely on the advice of legal counsel, accountants and other experts (including those retained by
the Borrower) and upon any written communication or telephone conversation which the Agent reasonably and in good faith believes to be genuine and correct
or to have been signed, sent or made by the proper Person.

 
SECTION 17:   CONSULTATIONS AND MAJOR DECISIONS.
 

17.1          Consultations Between Agent and Participants. Agent shall consult with the Participants in good faith at any time (whether or not an Event of
Default or Loss of Control Event has occurred) with respect to proposals to take any significant action with respect to the Loan or any REO Property (including
any Major Decision) and shall consider in good faith any alternative proposal or recommendation by any Participant in connection therewith.

 
17.2          Major Decisions. Subject to Section 17.4, before consenting to or taking, as applicable, any of the actions described below (each, a “ Major

Decision”), the Agent shall be required (x) to notify the other Participant in writing of any proposal to take such action (unless such action was proposed in
writing by the other Participant), and (y) to provide the other Participant with such information requested by the other Participant as may be necessary in the
reasonable judgment of the other Participant in order to make an informed evaluation of the proposal. If the Agent is the Junior Participant, the Agent shall not
consent to or take the Major Decision without the prior written approval of the Senior Participant. Such prior written approval may be withheld in Senior
Participant’s sole discretion; except that if, under the Loan Documents or applicable law Agent is under a duty to Borrower not to unreasonably withhold consent
or approval with respect to the proposed Major Decision, then Senior Participant shall be under an equivalent duty hereunder not to unreasonably withhold
consent or approval. If the Agent is Senior Participant, then subject to Section 17.3, and provided that Junior Participant has been provided with notice,
information, and consultation rights as provided in Section 17.1 and Section 17.2, Agent shall not be required to obtain the consent of Junior Participant before
consenting to or taking the Major Decision (but Agent shall still be required to act in accordance with Accepted Servicing Practices); except that Junior
Participant’s consent shall continue to be required, even if Senior Participant has become the Agent, for any agreement that constitutes a permanent write-off of
principal or the substantial equivalent thereof. Major Decision shall mean each of the following:

 

39 

EDGAR Stream is a copyright of Issuer Direct Corporation, all rights reserved.



 

 
(i)                 Release or accept any substitution of collateral for the Loan, or approve of any transfer of any such collateral, other than in

accordance with and as specifically permitted (without the Lender’s consent) by the terms of the Loan Documents, or upon full satisfaction of the
Loan; except that Major Decision shall not include evaluating and approving Borrower’s requests for disbursement of funds from deposits, reserves, or
escrows held or controlled by Agent.

 
(ii)               Release of Borrower or any Borrower Related Party from liability under or with respect to the Loan, or modify, amend, release or

waive rights or obligations under any guaranty provided in connection with the Loan.
 
(iii)             Make any determination not to enforce a “due-on-sale” or “due on encumbrance” clause (unless such clause is not exercisable

under applicable law or such exercise is reasonably likely to result in successful legal action by the Borrower.
 
(iv)             Agree to or grant (A) any modification or waiver of a monetary term of the Loan or any modification of, or waiver with respect to,

the Loan, (B) except for an extension agreement or forbearance agreement in either case not to exceed one (1) year beyond the Maturity Date, any
change of the Maturity Date, (C) any reduction in the interest rate, Yield Maintenance Premium, or Exit Fee, (D) a deferral or a forgiveness of interest
on or principal of the Loan, (E) other than extension agreements described above, any modification or waiver of any other monetary term of the Loan
relating to the timing or amount of any payment of principal or interest or any other sums due and payable under the Loan Documents, or (F) any
modification or waiver of any provision of the Loan which restricts the Borrower or its equity owners from incurring additional indebtedness.

 
(v)               Subject to the express rights (if any) of Borrower and Borrower Related Parties under the Loan Documents to do so without

Lender’s consent, consent to any sale, transfer, pledge or assignment of the collateral for the Loan or of any controlling interest in Borrower.
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(vi)             Agree to any material changes to, or grant any waivers of any of, the insurance requirements pertaining to insurance required

under the Loan Documents or the disposition of insurance or condemnation proceeds, or settle any material insurance claim.
 
(vii)           Consent to any further encumbrance of the Collateral or incurrence of additional debt by Borrower (except as permitted by the Loan

Agreement).
 
(viii)         Exercise any offsets against collateral of Borrower or collateral for the Loan held by or under the control of Agent.
 
(ix)             Agree to an acquisition of any collateral by deed-in-lieu of foreclosure.
 
(x)               Agree to any proposed sale of the collateral or any REO Property unless as a result thereof all amounts due Senior Participant

shall be paid in full.
 
(xi)             Make any determination to bring any collateral into compliance with environmental laws or otherwise deal with hazardous

materials.
 
(xii)           Agree to any modification of escrow or reserve requirements.
 
(xiii)         Consent to or accept any cancellation or termination of any of the Loan Documents; agree to any transfer or termination of any

instrument now or hereafter assigned as security for the Loan; or release, partially or fully, any collateral for the Loan, except in connection with the
full repayment of the Loan or pursuant to the express terms of the Loan Documents.

 
(xiv)         Increase the principal amount of the Loan except for (A) Loan Advances which Lender, pursuant to the Loan Documents,

committed to make, (B) increases resulting from the assessment or accrual to the Loan Principal Balance of delinquent interest, Default Interest, Late
Charges, or Costs chargeable to Borrower under the Loan Documents and applicable law and custom, and (C) Protective Advances to the extent
permitted hereunder.

 
(xv)           Amend any intercreditor, buy-sell, recognition or subordination agreement relating to the Loan (provided that, for clarification, this

shall not be construed to apply to the Option Agreement).
 
(xvi)         Approve any direct or indirect transfer of ownership or beneficial interest in Borrower, any assumption of the Loan or release of

Borrower other than as expressly contemplated by the Loan Documents on the date hereof, or grant any consent to any material change in the
Organizational Documents of Borrower other than changes expressly contemplated by the Loan Documents.

 
(xvii)       Waive any condition to an advance of Loan proceeds (provided that, with respect to this Major Decision, Senior Participant’s

approval shall be deemed given unless its objection is duly reserved in an Objection Narrative).
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(xviii)     Take any action or make any determination which is an REO Major Decision.
 

17.3          Action Notice for Major Decisions. Subject to Section 17.4, Agent shall notify in writing each Participant which must consent to a particular
action pursuant to Section 17.2 or otherwise hereunder (such notice, an “Action Notice”). In the case of an Action Notice regarding a Major Decision, the Action
Notice shall bear a legend, in large, bold and otherwise conspicuous text, identifying the notice as a request for consent to a Major Decision. If a Participant fails
to notify the Agent of its approval or disapproval of any such proposed action within ten (10) Business Days after delivery to such Participant by Agent of the first
Action Notice, then Agent may provide a second Action Notice to the Participant, clearly stating, in large, bold and otherwise conspicuous text, that should such
Participant fail to notify the Agent of its approval or disapproval of such proposed action within ten (10) Business Days, such failure shall be deemed consent to
the proposed action. If a Participant fails to notify the Agent of its approval or disapproval of any such proposed action within ten (10) Business Days after
delivery to such Participant by Agent of the second Action Notice, then such action by the Agent shall be deemed to have been approved by the such Participant.

 
17.4          Restrictions on Powers of Participants. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, Agent shall not be bound by any advice,

direction or objection from or by any Participant to the extent that Agent, in its reasonable good faith judgment, determines that such advice, direction, or
objection, if followed, would require or cause Agent to violate any law of any applicable jurisdiction, would be inconsistent with Accepted Servicing Practices, or
would violate any other provisions of this Agreement or the Loan Documents.

 
SECTION 18:   APPOINTMENT OF NEW AGENT FOLLOWING LOSS OF CONTROL EVENT; CONTROL RETENTION COLLATERAL
 

18.1          Required Control Appraisal . Promptly upon the occurrence of an Appraisal Event, Agent shall engage an appraiser to render an Appraisal of
the Property. The appraiser shall be selected by Agent with the consent of both Participants. Thereafter, until sale of the REO Property or a Final Recovery
Determination, unless waived by both Participants, not later than six (6) months after the effective date of the most recent Appraisal or Appraisal Update, Agent
shall engage the same appraiser to render an Appraisal Update (except that at the request of either Participant, Agent shall engage a different appraiser who
must be approved by both Participants, and the new appraiser shall render a new Appraisal). Each Appraisal and Appraisal Update shall be on an as “as-is”
basis. The cost of each Appraisal and Appraisal Update shall be recoverable by Agent as a Cost.

 
18.2          Loss of Control Event. Within three (3) Business Days of its receipt of an Appraisal or Appraisal Update, the Agent shall notify the Participants

whether a Loss of Control Event exists based on such Appraisal or Appraisal Update.
 
18.3          Second Opinion re Loss of Control Event . Upon the determination that a Loss of Control Event has occurred, Junior Participant shall have the

right, for five (5) Business Days after such determination, to direct Agent to obtain a second Appraisal. The second Appraisal shall be rendered by a different
appraiser approved by both Participants, at the sole expense of Junior Participant. The Participants shall jointly direct the approved appraiser to make
commercially reasonable efforts to complete and deliver the second Appraisal within fifteen (15) Business Days from commencement of the engagement. If the
Appraised Value of the Property determined by the second Appraisal does not differ from the Appraised Value indicated in the Appraisal or Appraisal Update
used in determining the Loss of Control Event by more than 5%, the first Appraisal or Appraisal Update shall be utilized to determine the Loss of Control Event. If
the Appraised Value of the Property determined by the second Appraisal differs from the Appraised Value indicated in the Appraisal or Appraisal Update used in
determining the Loss of Control Event by more than 5%, the Agent shall direct the appraisers to jointly appoint a third Appraiser, at the expense of Junior
Participant, to reconcile the differences between the Appraised Values determined under each Appraisal. The Participants shall jointly direct the third appraiser to
make commercially reasonable efforts to complete its reconciliation within fifteen (15) Business Days from commencement of the engagement. The
determination of such third Appraiser shall be the final and binding determination of the Appraised Value of the Property for purposes of determining the Loss of
Control Event until the next Appraisal or Appraisal Update, if any, is ordered and received in accordance with the terms hereof. Until the Appraised Value has
been determined in accordance with the second or third Appraisal, as applicable, the commencement of the Loss of Control Event shall be deferred.
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18.4          Transfer of Agent Rights. Subject to Section 18.5, upon the commencement of a Loss of Control Event, Senior Participant shall have the right,

upon demand, to assume the rights, responsibilities, and prerogatives of Agent hereunder. Such assumption shall be in writing, and Junior Participant, in its
capacity as Agent, shall be released from all obligations and liabilities as Agent with respect to actions, events, or circumstances that first occur from and after
the date that Senior Participant assumes in writing the rights, responsibilities, and prerogatives as Agent. Junior Participant shall cooperate in good faith with the
transition.

 
18.5          Posting of Control Retention Collateral to Defer Loss of Control Event. Upon the final determination of a Loss of Control Event based on an

Appraisal (after giving effect to the terms of Section 18.3), Junior Participant shall have the right to defer the Loss of Control Event by delivering to Senior
Participant a Control Retention Guaranty that is secured by Control Retention Collateral. The Control Retention Collateral must be in an amount that would be
sufficient to prevent the Loss of Control Event from occurring pursuant to the definition thereof. In order to be effective, the Control Retention Guaranty and the
Control Retention Collateral must be delivered to Senior Participant within ten (10) Business Days after the final determination of the Loss of Control Event.
Upon delivery of the Control Retention Guaranty and Control Retention Collateral, the Loss of Control Event shall be deferred until delivery of the next Appraisal
or Appraisal Update, at which time the Agent, in consultation with the Participants, shall make a new determination whether a Loss of Control Event has
occurred in accordance with all of the terms and conditions of this Section 18.

 
18.6          Restoration of Agent’s Rights to Junior Participant. At its request, Junior Participant shall be restored to the rights, prerogatives, and

obligations of Agent if, based on a subsequent Appraisal or Appraisal Update and giving effect to the Control Retention Guaranty and Control Retention
Collateral then held by Senior Participant, the Loss of Control Event is no longer continuing. In such event, Junior Participant shall have the right, upon demand,
to assume the rights, responsibilities, and prerogatives of Agent hereunder. Such assumption shall be in writing, and Senior Participant, in its capacity as Agent,
shall be released from all obligations and liabilities as Agent with respect to actions, events, or circumstances that first occur from and after the date that Junior
Participant assumes in writing the rights, responsibilities, and prerogatives as Agent. Senior Participant shall cooperate in good faith with the transition.
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18.7          Release of Excess Control Retention Collateral . If Junior Participant delivers a Control Retention Guaranty secured by Control Retention

Collateral, and if the Participants determine in good faith, based on a subsequent Appraisal or Appraisal Update rendered in accordance with this Section 18 that
the Control Retention Collateral exceeds the amount required to continue deferring a Loss of Control Event, Senior Participant shall release the excess Control
Retention Collateral.

 
18.8          Application of Control Retention Collateral Upon Final Recovery Determination . Following a Final Recovery Determination and liquidation of all

other collateral for the Loan in accordance with Accepted Servicing Practices and distribution of the proceeds thereof in accordance with the terms hereof, the
Control Retention Collateral shall be liquidated and the proceeds thereof shall be distributed as Available Funds in accordance with the terms of Section 5.3.

 
SECTION 19:   CERTAIN MATTERS AFFECTING THE AGENT.
 

19.1          Certain Rights of Agent.
 

(i)                 The Agent may request and/or rely upon and shall be protected in acting or refraining from acting upon any notice or consent
delivered to the Agent pursuant to this Agreement that Agent believed reasonably and in good faith to be genuine. The Agent shall not be bound to
make any investigation into the facts or matters stated in any notice or consent delivered to the Agent pursuant to this Agreement. Notwithstanding
the foregoing, this paragraph (i) shall not excuse Agent of any liability arising from its gross negligence or willful misconduct.

 
(ii)               The Agent shall be under no obligation to institute, conduct or defend any litigation hereunder or in relation hereto at the request,

order or direction of any Participant pursuant to the provisions of this Agreement, unless it has received indemnity reasonably satisfactory to it.
 
(iii)             The Agent may execute any of the powers hereunder or perform any duties hereunder either directly or by or through agents or

attorneys or a third party servicer but shall not be relieved of its obligations hereunder, including its obligation to service the Loan in accordance with
Accepted Servicing Practices.

 
SECTION 20:   MISCELLANEOUS
 

20.1          No Pledge or Loan. This Agreement shall not be deemed to represent a pledge of any interest in the Loan by the Senior Participant to the
Junior Participant, or a loan from the Senior Participant to the Junior Participant. The transfer of the Senior Participation is intended to be a true sale and not a
financing. The Participants shall not have any interest in any property taken as security for the Loan; provided, however, that  if any such property or the proceeds
thereof shall be applied in reduction of the Loan Principal Balance, then each Participant shall be entitled to receive its share of such application in accordance
with the terms of this Agreement. The Participants acknowledge and agree that the Loan represents a single “claim” under Section 101 of the Bankruptcy Code,
and that neither Participant shall be a separate creditor of the Borrower under the Bankruptcy Code.
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20.2          No Creation of a Partnership or Exclusive Purchase Right . Nothing contained in this Agreement, and no action taken pursuant hereto shall be

deemed to constitute the arrangement between the Participants of a partnership, association, joint venture or other entity. No Participant shall have any obligation
whatsoever to offer to the other Participant the opportunity to purchase notes or participation interests relating to any future loans originated by the such
Participant or any of its Affiliates, and if a Participant chooses to offer to the other Participant the opportunity to purchase notes or any participation interests in
any future mortgage loans originated by the Participant or its Affiliates, such offer shall be at such purchase price and interest rate as the Participant chooses, in
its sole and absolute discretion. No Participant shall have any obligation whatsoever to purchase from the other Participant any notes or participation interests in
any future loans originated by the other Participant or any of its Affiliates.

 
20.3          Other Business Activities of the Participants. Each Participant acknowledges that the other Participant may make loans or otherwise extend

credit to, and generally engage in any kind of business with, any Borrower Related Party and receive payments on such other loans or extensions of credit to
Borrower Related Parties, and otherwise act with respect thereto freely and without accountability in the same manner as if this Agreement and the transactions
contemplated hereby were not in effect.

 
20.4          Not a Security . No Participation shall be deemed to be a security within the meaning of the Securities Act of 1933 or the Securities Exchange

Act of 1934.
 
20.5          Governing Law; Submission to Jurisdiction.
 

(i)                 This agreement and the rights and obligations of the parties hereto shall be construed in accordance with and be governed by
the laws of the State of New York (without giving effect to the principles thereof relating to conflicts of law).

 
(ii)               Any legal action or proceeding with respect to this agreement and any action for enforcement of any judgment in respect thereof

may be brought in the courts of the State of New York, Borough of Manhattan, or of the United States of America for the Southern District of New
York and, by execution and delivery of this agreement, each party hereby accepts for itself and in respect of its property, generally and unconditionally,
the non-exclusive jurisdiction of the aforesaid courts and appellate courts for any such action or proceeding. Each party hereby irrevocably waives
any objection which it may now or hereafter have to the laying of venue of any of the aforesaid actions or proceedings arising out of or in connection
with this agreement brought in the courts referred to above and hereby further irrevocably waives the right, and agrees not to plead or claim in any
such court that any such action or proceeding brought in any such court has been brought in an inconvenient forum. Nothing herein shall affect the
right of any Participant to serve process in any other manner permitted by law or to commence legal proceedings or otherwise proceed against
mortgage borrower in any other jurisdiction.

 

45 

EDGAR Stream is a copyright of Issuer Direct Corporation, all rights reserved.



 

 
20.6          Waiver of Jury Trial. To the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, each party to this agreement hereby irrevocably waives all right to trial

by jury in any action, proceeding or counterclaim arising out of or relating to this agreement.
 
20.7          Successors and Assigns; Third Party Beneficiaries . This Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and be binding upon the parties hereto and

their respective successors and assigns.
 
20.8          Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts and all of such counterparts shall together constitute one and

the same instrument. Delivery of an executed counterpart of a signature page to this Agreement by facsimile transmission (including by electronic transmission of
a signed signature page via fax machine or scanned file in PDF format) shall be as effective as delivery of a manually executed counterpart of this Agreement.

 
20.9          Captions. The titles and headings of the paragraphs of this Agreement have been inserted for convenience of reference only and are not

intended to summarize or otherwise describe the subject matter of the paragraphs and shall not be given any consideration in the construction of this
Agreement.

 
20.10      Notices.
 

(i)                 All notices required hereunder shall be given in writing and addressed to the respective parties as set forth on the Exhibit C (or at
such other address as any party shall hereafter inform the other party by written notice given as aforesaid) by:

 
(A)             personal delivery;
 
(B)              e-mail;
 
(C)              reputable overnight delivery service (charges prepaid); or
 
(D)             certified United States mail, postage prepaid return receipt requested.
 

(ii)               A written notice shall be deemed to have been given:
 

(A)             in the case of personal delivery, at the time of delivery (or refusal of receipt);
 
(B)              in the case of e-mail, on the Business Day delivered, provided that such notice is also sent concurrently pursuant to another

method provided for in Section 20.10(i) above;
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(C)              in the case of overnight prepaid delivery, upon the first attempted delivery on a Business Day; or
 
(D)             in the case of certified United States mail, two (2) Business Days after such deposit.
 

Notwithstanding the foregoing, any notice received after 5:00 p.m., local time of the recipient, shall be deemed to have been delivered the following
Business Day. A party receiving a notice that does not comply with the technical requirements for notice under this Section 21.10 may elect to waive any
deficiencies and treat the notice as having been properly given.

 
20.11      Severability. Wherever possible, each provision of this Agreement shall be interpreted in such a manner as to be effective and valid under

applicable law, but if any provision of this Agreement shall be prohibited by or invalid under applicable laws, such provision shall be ineffective to the extent of
such prohibition or invalidity, without invalidating the remainder of such provision or the remaining provisions of this Agreement.

 
20.12      Withholding Taxes.
 

(i)                 If Borrower, Agent, or any other Person having control of funds payable to a Participant (a “ Withholding Agent”) shall be
required by law to deduct and withhold Taxes from interest, fees or other amounts payable to a Participant (the “Non-Exempt Participant”) with
respect to the Loan as a result of such Participant constituting a Non-Exempt Person (or failing to provide to any Withholding Agent satisfactory
evidence that it is not a Non-Exempt Person, in whole or in part), the Withholding Agent shall be entitled to do so with respect to such Non-Exempt
Participant’s interest in such payment (all withheld amounts being deemed paid to the Non-Exempt Participant); provided that the Withholding Agent
shall furnish the Non-Exempt Participant with a statement setting forth the amount of Taxes withheld, the applicable rate and other information which
may reasonably be requested for purposes of assisting the Non-Exempt Participant to seek any allowable credits or deductions for the Taxes so
withheld in each jurisdiction in which the Non-Exempt Participant is subject to tax.

 
(ii)               The Non-Exempt Participant shall and hereby agrees to indemnify any Withholding Agent against and hold such Withholding

Agent harmless from and against any Taxes, interest, penalties and reasonable attorneys’ fees and disbursements arising or resulting from any failure
of the Withholding Agent to withhold Taxes from payment made to the Non-Exempt Participant in reliance upon any representation, certificate,
statement, document or instrument made or provided by the Non-Exempt Participant to a Withholding Agent, it being expressly understood and
agreed that:

 
(A)             The Withholding Agent shall be absolutely and unconditionally entitled to accept any such representation, certificate,

statement, document or instrument as being true and correct in all respects and to fully rely thereon without any obligation or responsibility to
investigate or to make any inquiries with respect to the accuracy, veracity, correctness or validity of the same; and
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(B)              The Non-Exempt Participant shall, upon request of the Withholding Agent and at its sole cost and expense, defend any claim

or action relating to the foregoing indemnification using counsel reasonably satisfactory to the Withholding Agent.
 

(iii)             Each Participant that claims exemption (in whole or in part) from withholding of U.S. income tax represents to the other Participant
(for the benefit of the Borrower and Agent) that it is not a Non Exempt Person (to the extent of its claimed exemption) and that neither the Borrower
nor Agent nor any other Person is obligated under applicable law to withhold Taxes on sums paid to it with respect to the Loan or otherwise pursuant
to this Agreement to the extent that it claims an exemption. Contemporaneously with the execution of this Agreement and from time to time as
necessary during the term of this Agreement, each Participant shall deliver to the Agent, or such other Person as shall be making distributions to the
Participant’s hereunder, evidence satisfactory to such Person substantiating that it is not a Non Exempt Person (to the extent of its claim of
exemption) and that the Withholding Agent is not obligated under applicable law to withhold Taxes on sums paid to it (to the extent of its claim of
exemption) with respect to the Loan or otherwise under this Agreement.

 
(iv)             Without limiting the effect of the foregoing, (i) if a Participant is created or organized under the laws of the United States, any state

thereof or the District of Columbia, it shall satisfy the requirements of the preceding sentence by furnishing to the Servicer or such other Person as
shall be making distributions hereunder an Internal Revenue Service Form W 9 and (ii) if the Participant is not created or organized under the laws of
the United States, any state thereof or the District of Columbia, and if the payment of interest or other amounts by the Borrower is treated for United
States income tax purposes as derived in whole or part from sources within the United States, the Participant shall satisfy the requirements of the
preceding sentence by furnishing to the Servicer or other Person making distributions hereunder Internal Revenue Service Form W 8ECI or
Form W 8BEN, or successor forms, as may be required from time to time, duly executed by such Participant, as evidence of the Participant’s whole
or partial exemption from the withholding of United States tax with respect thereto. No Person shall be obligated to make any payment hereunder to
any Participant in respect of its Participation or otherwise until the Participant shall have furnished to such Person the requested forms, certificates,
statements or documents.

 
(v)               The Agent shall treat any Participant that does not satisfy the requirements set forth herein as a Non-Exempt Participant.
 

[NO FURTHER TEXT ON THIS PAGE]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each of the Participants has caused this Agreement to be duly executed as of the day and year first above written.
 

 SENIOR PARTICIPANT

   
 RED CAPITAL PARTNERS, LLC,
 an Ohio limited liability company
   
 BY: /s/ CHRISTOPHER ADAMS
  NAME: CHISTOPHER ADAMS
  TITLE: MANAGING DIRECTOR

   
 JUNIOR PARTICIPANT:
   
 SENTIO GEORGETOWN, LLC,
 a Delaware limited liability company
   
 BY: /s/ JOHN MARK RAMSEY
  NAME: JOHN MARK RAMSEY
  TITLE: AUTHORIZED SIGNER
   
 SENTIO GEORGETOWN TRS, LLC,
 a Delaware limited liability company
   
 BY: /s/ JOHN MARK RAMSEY
  NAME: JOHN MARK RAMSEY
  TITLE: AUTHORIZED SIGNER
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CONSENT OF BORROWER

 
The undersigned is the “Borrower” under the CONSTRUCTION LOAN AGREEMENT between SENTIO GEORGETOWN, LLC, a Delaware limited liability
company and SENTIO GEORGETOWN TRS, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, collectively as Lender, and WESTMINSTER – LCS GEORGETOWN
LLC, an Iowa limited liability company as Borrower dated as of January 15, 2015 (the “Agreement”).
 
Pursuant to Section 14.17 of the Agreement, Borrower consents to the foregoing Participation Agreement, and agrees that a subsequent change in the identity of
the “Agent” thereunder, on account of a Loss of Control Event or the termination of a Loss of Control Event, shall not require the consent of Borrower.
 
Borrower acknowledges that it is not an intended beneficiary of the Participation Agreement.
 
August 31, 2016
 
WESTMINSTER – LCS GEORGETOWN LLC , an Iowa limited liability company  
    
 By: LCS Georgetown LLC, an Iowa limited liability company, its

Managing Member
 

    
 By: /s/ Joel D. Nelson  
  Name: Joel D. Nelson  
  Title: President and COO  
  

 

EDGAR Stream is a copyright of Issuer Direct Corporation, all rights reserved.



 

 
EXHIBIT A

 
SENIOR PARTICIPATION CERTIFICATE

 
THIS CERTIFICATE HAS NOT BEEN AND WILL NOT BE REGISTERED UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933 OR UNDER THE SECURITIES OR BLUE
SKY LAWS OF ANY STATE. THE HOLDER OF THIS CERTIFICATE, BY ITS ACCEPTANCE HEREOF, REPRESENTS THAT IT IS ACQUIRING THE
PARTICIPATION INTEREST EVIDENCED BY THIS CERTIFICATE FOR INVESTMENT AND NOT WITH A VIEW TO ANY SALE OR DISTRIBUTION
THEREOF.
 
THIS CERTIFICATE IS NOT A NEGOTIABLE INSTRUMENT. THE PARTICIPATION INTEREST EVIDENCED BY THIS CERTIFICATE IS SUBJECT TO THE
TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF A PARTICIPATION AGREEMENT, AND MAY NOT BE TRANSFERRED OR ENCUMBERED EXCEPT IN ACCORDANCE
WITH THE TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE PARTICIPATION AGREEMENT.
 
Senior Participation  Senior Certificate No. 1

Reference is made to a Construction Loan Agreement (the “Agreement”) dated January 15, 2015, between WESTMINSTER – LCS GEORGETOWN LLC, an
Iowa limited liability company as “Borrower”, and SENTIO GEORGETOWN, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company and SENTIO GEORGETOWN TRS, LLC,
a Delaware limited liability company, collectively as “Lender”. Capitalized terms used herein, if not otherwise defined, have the meanings ascribed to them in the
Participation Agreement (defined below).
 
The undersigned, in its capacity as “Lender” under the Agreement, hereby certifies that
 

RED CAPITAL PARTNERS, LLC, an Ohio limited liability company
 

is the registered holder of the Senior Participation in the Loan, which Senior Participation was created pursuant to the Participation Agreement, dated August
31, 2016, by and among RED CAPITAL PARTNERS, LLC, SENTIO GEORGETOWN, LLC, and SENTIO GEORGETOWN TRS, LLC (the “Participation
Agreement”).
 
The participation interest evidenced by this certificate may not be transferred except in accordance with the terms and conditions of the Participation Agreement,
and any other transfer shall be without effect and shall not be recognized by the undersigned. A permitted transferee of the participation interest evidenced this
certificate may become a registered holder thereof only by surrendering this certificate and requesting issuance of a replacement certificate in accordance with
the terms and conditions of the Participation Agreement.
 
Dated: August 31, 2016
 
SENTIO GEORGETOWN, LLC
a Delaware limited liability company
 
By: ___________________________
Name: ________________________
Title: _________________________
 

SENTIO GEORGETOWN TRS, LLC
a Delaware limited liability company
 
By: ___________________________
Name: ________________________
Title: _________________________
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EXHIBIT B

 
JUNIOR PARTICIPATION CERTIFICATE

 
THIS CERTIFICATE HAS NOT BEEN AND WILL NOT BE REGISTERED UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933 OR UNDER THE SECURITIES OR BLUE
SKY LAWS OF ANY STATE. THE HOLDER OF THIS CERTIFICATE, BY ITS ACCEPTANCE HEREOF, REPRESENTS THAT IT IS ACQUIRING THE
PARTICIPATION INTEREST EVIDENCED BY THIS CERTIFICATE FOR INVESTMENT AND NOT WITH A VIEW TO ANY SALE OR DISTRIBUTION
THEREOF.
 
THIS CERTIFICATE IS NOT A NEGOTIABLE INSTRUMENT. THE PARTICIPATION INTEREST EVIDENCED BY THIS CERTIFICATE IS SUBJECT TO THE
TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF A PARTICIPATION AGREEMENT, AND MAY NOT BE TRANSFERRED OR ENCUMBERED EXCEPT IN ACCORDANCE
WITH THE TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE PARTICIPATION AGREEMENT.
 
Junior Participation  Junior Certificate No. 1

Reference is made to a Construction Loan Agreement (the “Agreement”) dated January 15, 2015, between WESTMINSTER – LCS GEORGETOWN LLC, an
Iowa limited liability company as “Borrower”, and SENTIO GEORGETOWN, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company and SENTIO GEORGETOWN TRS, LLC,
a Delaware limited liability company, collectively as “Lender”. Capitalized terms used herein, if not otherwise defined, have the meanings ascribed to them in the
Participation Agreement (defined below).
 
The undersigned, in its capacity as “Lender” under the Agreement, hereby certifies that
 

SENTIO GEORGETOWN, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company,
and

SENTIO GEORGETOWN TRS, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company,
 

are collectively the registered holder of the Junior Participation in the Loan, which Junior Participation was created pursuant to the Participation Agreement,
dated August 31, 2016, by and among RED CAPITAL PARTNERS, LLC, SENTIO GEORGETOWN, LLC, and SENTIO GEORGETOWN TRS, LLC (the
“Participation Agreement”).
 
The participation interest evidenced by this certificate may not be transferred except in accordance with the terms and conditions of the Participation Agreement,
and any other transfer shall be without effect and shall not be recognized by the undersigned. A permitted transferee of the participation interest evidenced this
certificate may become a registered holder thereof only by surrendering this certificate and requesting issuance of a replacement certificate in accordance with
the terms and conditions of the Participation Agreement.
 
Dated: August 31, 2016
 
SENTIO GEORGETOWN, LLC
a Delaware limited liability company
 
By: ___________________________
Name: ________________________
Title: _________________________
 

SENTIO GEORGETOWN TRS, LLC
a Delaware limited liability company
 
By: ___________________________
Name: ________________________
Title: _________________________
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EXHIBIT C

 
Notice Addresses

  
 To Junior Participant:  Sentio Georgetown, LLC

c/o Sentio Investments, LLC
189 South Orange Ave.
Orlando, Florida 32801
Attention: Spencer Smith
Email: ssmith@sentioinvestments.com

    
 With a copy to:  DLA Piper LLP (US)

5251 DTC Parkway, Suite 1001
Greenwood Village, Colorado 80111
Attention: David E. Cher
Email: david.cher@dlapiper.com

    
 To Senior Participant:  Red Capital Partners, LLC

1 N. Franklin Street, Suite 1150
Chicago, Illinois 60606
Attention: John O’Toole, Managing Director
Email: JPOtoole@redcapitalgroup.com
 
and
 
Red Capital Partners, LLC
10 W. Broad Street, 8th Floor
Columbus, OH 43215-3418
Attention: James Henson, General Counsel
E-Mail: JJHenson@redcapitalgroup.com

    
 With a copy to:  Munsch Hardt Kopf & Harr, P.C.

500 N. Akard Street, Suite 3800
Dallas, Texas 75201-6659
Attention: Phillip J.F. Geheb, Esq.
Email: pgeheb@munsch.com
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EXHIBIT D

 
Distribution Spreadsheet

 
THE DELANEY AT GEORGETOWN
 
Draw Request No. 17
 

        (D)            (H)     
        Reallocated      (F)      Total   (I)  
  (B)   (C)   Budgeted   (E)   Sentio   (G)   Requests   Balance to  

(A)  Budgeted   Reallocations   Amount   Prior   Loan A Interest   Current   To Date   Completion  
Budgeted Line Items  Amount   To Budget   [(B) + (C)]   Requests   Funded 8/1/16   Request   [(E)+(F)+(G)]   [(D) - (H)]  

                         
USES OF FUNDS                         

                         
White Construction Costs (GMP)  $ 29,598,138.00  $ 325,716.37  $ 29,923,854.37  $ 25,629,947.68  $ 0.00  $ 940,725.49  $ 26,570,673.17  $ 3,353,181.20 
Construction Costs (Non-GMP) (1)   913,000.00   694,457.62   1,607,457.62   652,199.01   0.00   100,450.62   752,649.63   854,807.99 

Total Hard Costs   30,511,138.00   1,020,173.99   31,531,311.99   26,282,146.69   0.00   1,041,176.11   27,323,322.80   4,207,989.19 

                                 
Land   2,884,000.00   233,964.55   3,117,964.55   3,117,964.55   0.00   0.00   3,117,964.55   0.00 
Design Costs (1)   1,425,000.00   (33,495.30)   1,391,504.70   1,388,363.22   0.00   0.00   1,388,363.22   3,141.48 
Interior Design Costs   824,600.00   0.00   824,600.00   79,415.09   0.00   0.00   79,415.09   745,184.91 
Financing Costs   1,235,910.00   0.00   1,235,910.00   1,181,173.35   0.00   0.00   1,181,173.35   54,736.65 
Construction Period Interest   5,539,000.00   0.00   5,539,000.00   1,163,048.91   186,618.44   876.75   1,350,544.10   4,188,455.90 
Occupancy Development   286,000.00   0.00   286,000.00   221,927.75   0.00   6,266.56   228,194.31   57,805.69 
Capital Items (Non-GMP)   610,400.00   0.00   610,400.00   67,417.56   0.00   0.00   67,417.56   542,982.44 
Travel Costs   72,000.00   54,323.91   126,323.91   124,535.86   0.00   1,788.05   126,323.91   0.00 
Consultants and Legal Costs (1)   100,000.00   93,570.51   193,570.51   193,033.51   0.00   537.00   193,570.51   0.00 
Filing Costs   0.00   6,921.00   6,921.00   6,921.00   0.00   0.00   6,921.00   0.00 
General Costs   0.00   16,941.71   16,941.71   9,868.36   0.00   48.00   9,916.36   7,025.35 
Development Fee   2,084,251.00   0.00   2,084,251.00   1,521,518.00   0.00   19,230.00   1,540,748.00   543,503.00 
Start-Up Loss   1,991,502.00   0.00   1,991,502.00   547,250.00   0.00   400,000.00   947,250.00   1,044,252.00 
Project Contingency   1,644,434.00   (1,383,621.37)   260,812.63   0.00   0.00   0.00   0.00   260,812.63 

Total Soft Costs   18,697,097.00   (1,011,394.99)   17,685,702.01   9,622,437.16   186,618.44   428,746.36   10,237,801.96   7,447,900.05 

                                 
Operating Reserves (2)   100,000.00   0.00   100,000.00   3,303.71   0.00   0.00   3,303.71   96,696.29 

                                 
Total Uses of Funds  $ 49,308,235.00  $ 8,779.00  $ 49,317,014.00  $ 35,907,887.56  $ 186,618.44  $ 1,469,922.47  $ 37,564,428.47  $ 11,752,585.53 

                                 
                                 

SOURCES OF FUNDS                                 
                                 
Borrower Equity  $ 7,396,235.00  $ 0.00  $ 7,396,235.00  $ 7,396,235.00  $ 0.00  $ 0.00  $ 7,396,235.00  $ 0.00 
Reimbursement for Tree Mitigation (1)  0.00   8,779.00   8,779.00   8,779.00   0.00   0.00   8,779.00   0.00 
Sentio Loan A   40,912,000.00   0.00   40,912,000.00   27,842,237.16   186,618.44   1,434,850.83   29,463,706.43   11,448,293.57 
Sentio Loan B   1,000,000.00   0.00   1,000,000.00   660,636.40   0.00   35,071.64   695,708.04   304,291.96 

                                 
Total Sources of Funds  $ 49,308,235.00  $ 8,779.00  $ 49,317,014.00  $ 35,907,887.56  $ 186,618.44  $ 1,469,922.47  $ 37,564,428.47  $ 11,752,585.53 

 
(1) The Surveyor had improperly located a tree on the Survey, and the corrective tree mitigation included expenditures allocated to Construction Costs (Non-
GMP) ($6,050.00), Design Costs ($1,600.00) and Consultants and Legal Costs ($1,129.00).  The Surveyor reimbursed the Borrower for these costs (totaling
$8,779.00), and these funds were released in Draw Request No. 4.
 
(2) WellsOne Account Statement is not included in this Draw Request.
 
NOTE: Total Loan A and B current request for funding is $1,434,850.83 plus $35,071.64 equals $1,469,922.47.
 

i 
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Exhibit 21.1 

List of Subsidiaries
 

Entity  Jurisdiction
Sentio Healthcare Properties OP, L.P.  Delaware
HC Operating Partnership, L.P.  Delaware
Master HC TRS, LLC  Delaware
HPC LP TRS, LLC  Delaware
Caruth Haven TRS, LLC  Delaware
Caruth Haven GP, LLC  Delaware
Caruth Haven, L.P.  Delaware
The Oaks Bradenton TRS, LLC  Delaware
The Oaks Bradenton, LLC  Delaware
GreenTree Acquisition TRS, LLC  Delaware
GreenTree Acquisition, LLC  Delaware
MVI Health Center GP, LLC  Delaware
MVI Health Center, L.P.  Delaware
Floral Vale, LLC  Delaware
Floral Vale TRS, LLC  Delaware
Hilliard ALF TRS, LLC  Delaware
Hilliard ALF, LLC  Delaware
Royal Cornerstone South Carolina Portfolio LLC  Delaware
Royal Cornerstone South Carolina Tenant Portfolio LLC  Delaware
RSC Oakleaf Lexington, LLC  Florida
RSC Oakleaf Greenville, LLC  Florida
RSC Lexington, LLC  Florida
RSC Greenville, LLC  Florida
Cornerstone Oakleaf Village LLC  Delaware
Cornerstone Oakleaf Village TRS, LLC  Delaware
Meridian Rehab Littleton, LLC  Delaware
Chattanooga ALF, LLC  Delaware
Chattanooga ALF TRS, LLC  Delaware
Cornerstone Rome LTH Partners, LLC  Delaware
Rome LTH Managers, LLC  Delaware
Rome LTH Partners, LP  Texas
Cornerstone Dallas Rehab GP, LLC  Delaware
Cornerstone Dallas Rehab LP  Delaware
Hedgcoxe MOB GP, LLC  Delaware
Hedgcoxe MOB, LP  Delaware
Forestview Manor, LLC  Delaware
Forestview Manor TRS, LLC  Delaware
Lehigh Pointe Senior Living, LLC  Delaware
Lehigh Point Senior Living TRS, LLC  Delaware
Sentio Bryan MOB, LLC  Delaware
Sentio Leah Bay, LLC  Delaware
Sentio Leah Bay TRS, LLC  Delaware
Sentio Leah Bay Portfolio, LLC  Delaware
Sentio Leah Bay TRS Portfolio, LLC  Delaware
Amber Glen Landlord, LLC  Delaware
Amber Glen TRS, LLC  Delaware
Mill Creek Landlord, LLC  Delaware
Mill Creek TRS, LLC  Delaware
Hudson Creek Landlord, LLC  Delaware
Hudson Creek TRS, LLC  Delaware
Sugar Creek Landlord, LLC  Delaware
Sugar Creek TRS, LLC  Delaware
Woodbury Mews III Urban Renewal, LLC  Delaware
WM III TRS, LLC  Delaware
Woodbury Mews IV Urban Renewal, LLC  Delaware
WM IV TRS, LLC  Delaware
Woodbury Mews Urban Renewal Land Parcels, LLC  Delaware
WM Land Urban Renewal TRS, LLC  Delaware
Sentio Boston, LLC  Delaware
Sentio Boston TRS, LLC  Delaware
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Sentio- SLR Boston Portfolio, LLC  Delaware
Sentio- SLR Boston Portfolio TRS, LLC  Delaware
Standish Village Landlord, LLC  Delaware
Standish Village TRS, LLC  Delaware
Compass Landlord, LLC  Delaware
Compass TRS, LLC  Delaware
Sentio Buffalo Crossing TRS, LLC  Delaware
Sentio STAV Landlord, LLC  Delaware
Sentio Blue Springs, LLC  Delaware
Sentio Blue Springs TRS, LLC  Delaware
Blue Springs Senior Community, LLC  Missouri
Blue Springs SLC TRS, LLC  Delaware
Winter Park, LLC  Delaware
Winter Park TRS, LLC  Delaware
Sentio Hammond Landlord, LLC  Delaware
Hammond TRS, LLC  Delaware
Sentio Slidell Landlord, LLC  Delaware
Slidell TRS, LLC  Delaware
Wildewood Owner, LLC  Delaware
Wildewood TRS, LLC  Delaware
Gables of Hudson, LLC  Delaware
Gables of Hudson TRS, LLC  Delaware
Gables of Kentridge, LLC  Delaware
Gables of Kentridhe TRS, LLC  Delaware
Sumter Place Owner, LLC  Delaware
Sumter Place TRS, LLC  Delaware
Sumter Grand Owner, LLC  Delaware
Sumter Grand TRS, LLC  Delaware
Retirement Two, LLC  Delaware
Sentio Georgetown, LLC  Delaware
Sentio Georgetown TRS, LLC  Delaware
Sentio Armbrook, LLC  Delaware
Sentio Armbrook TRS, LLC  Delaware
Sentio- SLR Armbrook Village, LLC  Delaware
Sentio- SLR Armbrook Village TRS, LLC  Delaware
Armbrook Village Owner, LLC  Delaware
Armbrook Village TRS, LLC  Delaware
Golden Ridge Landlord, LLC  Delaware
SHP Essex TRS, LLC  Delaware
SHP Essex Landlord, LLC  Delaware
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Exhibit 23.1

 
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

 
The Board of Directors
Sentio Healthcare Properties, Inc.:

 
We consent to the incorporation by reference in the registration statement (No. 333-189458) on Form S-3 of Sentio Healthcare Properties, Inc. of our report
dated March 17, 2017, with respect to the consolidated balance sheets of Sentio Healthcare Properties, Inc. as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, and the related
consolidated statements of operations, equity and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2016, and related financial
statement schedule III, which report appears in the December 31, 2016 Annual Report on Form 10-K of Sentio Healthcare Properties, Inc.
 
/s/ KPMG LLP

 
Orlando, Florida
March 17, 2017
Certified Public Accountants
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Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATIONS
 

I, John Mark Ramsey, certify that:
 

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Sentio Healthcare Properties, Inc.;
 

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements
made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

 
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

 
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and
have:

 
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure

that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during
the period in which this report is being prepared;

 
(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to

provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles;

 
(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness

of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 
(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal

quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

 
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s
auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

 
(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to

adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
 
(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over

financial reporting.
 

 /s/ JOHN MARK RAMSEY
Date: March 17, 2017 John Mark Ramsey
 President, Chief Executive Officer and Director
 (Principal Executive Officer)
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Exhibit 31.2

 
CERTIFICATIONS

 
I, Spencer A. Smith, certify that:

 
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Sentio Healthcare Properties, Inc.;

 
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements
made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

 
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

 
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and
have:

 
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure

that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during
the period in which this report is being prepared;

 
(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to

provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles;

 
(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness

of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 
(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal

quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

 
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s
auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

 
(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to

adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
 
(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over

financial reporting.
 

Date: March 17, 2017 /s/ SPENCER A. SMITH
 Spencer A. Smith
 Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer and Secretary
 (Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer)
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Exhibit 32.1

 
CERTIFICATIONS PURSUANT TO

18 U.S.C. Sec.1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
 

John Mark Ramsey and Spencer A. Smith, do each hereby certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to the best of his or her knowledge, the Annual Report of Sentio Healthcare Properties, Inc. on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2016 fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and that information contained in such
Form 10-K fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of Sentio Healthcare Properties, Inc.

 
Date: March 17, 2017 /s/ JOHN MARK RAMSEY
 John Mark Ramsey
 President, Chief Executive Officer and Director
 (Principal Executive Officer)
  
Date: March 17, 2017 /s/ SPENCER A. SMITH
 Spencer A. Smith
 Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer and Secretary
 (Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer)
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